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LETTER FROM OUR EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

January 3, 2025

Dear Fellow Stockholder:

On behalf of the Board of Directors and our entire company, I invite you to attendMicroStrategy’s Special Meeting of

Stockholders on Tuesday, January 21, 2025, at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Standard Time. Thismeetingwill be held exclusively

via live webcast at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/MSTR2025SM. This means there will not be a physical

meeting location, and stockholders will not be able to attend the Special Meeting in person at a physical location.

At the Special Meeting, you will be asked to approve and adopt (i) an amendment to Article Four of our

Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of class A common stock

from 330,000,000 shares to 10,330,000,000 shares, (ii) an amendment to Article Four of our Second Restated

Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of preferred stock from 5,000,000 shares to

1,005,000,000 shares, (iii) an amendment to our 2023 Equity Incentive Plan to provide for automatic equity award

grants to new directors upon their appointment to the Board of Directors and (iv) one or more proposals to adjourn

the Special Meeting if necessary to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the Special

Meeting to approve the proposals noted above.

In October 2024, we announced an ambitious three-year $42 billion capital plan, known as the 21/21 Plan, to raise

$21 billion of equity capital and $21 billion of fixed-income instruments, including debt, convertible notes and

preferred stock. Since then, we have been able to seize favorable market conditions to raise over $18.1 billion in net

proceeds from sales of class A common stock under our at-the-market equity program and a Rule 144A offering of

convertible notes, with the proceeds used to purchase approximately 195,250 bitcoins. In doing so, we have been

executing on our 21/21 Plan significantly faster than originally anticipated.

Proposals 1 and 2 for this Special Meeting request an increase in the authorized shares of the capital stock of the

Company to support further implementation of our 21/21 Plan and future capital markets activity more generally as

well as other corporate purposes. Proposal 1, which seeks an increase in our authorized shares of class A common

stock, will enable us to continue to issue both common equity and instruments convertible into class A common stock

to allow us flexibility to raise capital in a manner that is most advantageous under then prevailing market conditions.

Proposal 2, which seeks an increase in our authorized shares of preferred stock, will similarly enable us to issue

preferred stock with rights, preferences and privileges established by the Board of Directors at the time of issuance,

which alsowill allowus to expand the types of securitiesweoffer in furtherance of the 21/21 Plan to the extentmarket

conditions warrant.

In addition, we recently welcomed three new members to our Board of Directors ― Brian Brooks, Jane Dietze and

Gregg Winiarski. These directors bring a wealth of experience and expertise in digital assets, capital markets and

regulatory matters, and we believe they will make significant contributions to our strategy as a Bitcoin Treasury

Company. Proposal 3 for this Special Meeting seeks an amendment to our 2023 Equity Incentive Plan to help ensure

thatwe appropriately compensate newnon-employee directorswho join our Board in light of their roles as important

stewards of our business, the novel nature of our bitcoin acquisition strategy and the demands it imposes on our

directors.



The proposals we are asking you to consider reflect a new chapter in our evolution as a Bitcoin Treasury Company and

our ambitious goals for the future. The accompanying Notice of Special Meeting and Proxy Statement contain

information about the proposals that will be presented at the Special Meeting and on which you are asked to vote.

Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting online, it is important that your shares be represented and voted at

the meeting. I encourage you to read the materials carefully and vote promptly. We thank you for your ongoing

confidence in MicroStrategy, and we look forward to your participation at the Special Meeting.

Very truly yours,

Michael J. Saylor

Chairman of the Board & Executive Chairman



NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Date: Tuesday, January 21, 2025

Time: 10:00 a.m., Eastern Standard Time (‘‘EST’’)

Place: Exclusively via live webcast at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/MSTR2025SM

Record Date: January 2, 2025. Only stockholders of record at the close of business on the record date are entitled

to receive notice of, and to attend and vote at, the special meeting (such meeting, including any

adjournments or postponements thereof, the ‘‘Special Meeting’’).

A list of registered stockholders as of the close of business on the record date will be available for

examination by any stockholder for any purpose germane to the Special Meeting for a period of at

least 10 days prior to the Special Meeting. The stockholder list will also be available to stockholders

of record for examination during the Special Meeting at

www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/MSTR2025SM. To inspect the stockholder list before the

Special Meeting, stockholders can email our Investor Relations department at

ir@microstrategy.com. Youwill need the 16-digit control number includedon yourNotice of Special

Meeting of Stockholders, proxy card, or the instructions that accompanied your proxy materials.

Proxy Voting: Your vote is important. Please submit a proxy to vote your shares as soon as possible over the

telephone, on the Internet, or bymail by completing, signing, dating, and returning your proxy card

or voting instruction form. Submitting your proxy now will not prevent you from attending the

Special Meeting and voting your shares during the Special Meeting, as your proxy is revocable at

your option. We are requesting your vote as to the matters of business set forth below.

Matters of Business:

1. approve and adopt an amendment to Article Four of the Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of

MicroStrategy Incorporated to increase the number of authorized shares of class A common stock, par value

$0.001 per share, from 330,000,000 shares to 10,330,000,000 shares (‘‘Proposal 1’’);

2. approve and adopt an amendment to Article Four of the Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of

MicroStrategy Incorporated to increase the number of authorized shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per

share (‘‘Preferred Stock’’) from 5,000,000 shares to 1,005,000,000 shares (‘‘Proposal 2’’);

3. approve and adopt an amendment to the MicroStrategy Incorporated 2023 Equity Incentive Plan to provide for

automatic equity award grants to newdirectors upon their appointment to theBoardofDirectors (‘‘Proposal 3’’);

and

4. approve one or more proposals to adjourn the Special Meeting if necessary to solicit additional proxies if there

are insufficient votes at the time of the Special Meeting to approve Proposal 1, Proposal 2 and/or Proposal 3.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

W. Ming Shao

Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Tysons Corner, Virginia

January 3, 2025

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials

This proxy statement and the enclosed proxy card are being mailed on or about January 3, 2025.
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INFORMATION REGARDING THE SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

These proxy materials are furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors (the

‘‘Board’’) of MicroStrategy Incorporated (the ‘‘Company,’’ ‘‘MicroStrategy,’’ ‘‘we,’’ or ‘‘us’’) for use at the Special

Meeting of Stockholders (such meeting, including any adjournments or postponements thereof, the ‘‘Special

Meeting’’) to be held exclusively via live webcast atwww.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/MSTR2025SM on Tuesday,

January 21, 2025 at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Standard Time (‘‘EST’’), and at any continuation, postponement or

adjournment thereof. This proxy statement summarizes information needed to help you cast an informed vote at the

Special Meeting with respect to the proposals set forth in this proxy statement. We first made available this proxy

statement, the Notice of Special Meeting of Stockholders, the proxy card and the portions of the documents

incorporated herein by reference on or about January 3, 2025, to all stockholders entitled to vote at the Special

Meeting. We intend to mail this proxy statement, Notice of Special Meeting of Stockholders, the proxy card and the

portions of the documents incorporated herein by reference on or about January 3, 2025, to all stockholders of record

entitled to vote at the Special Meeting. See the discussion below under the heading "Incorporation by Reference" for

additional information.

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Special Meeting to be Held on January 21,
2025

We have elected to utilize the ‘‘full set delivery’’ option of providing paper copies of the proxy materials by mail. The

Notice of Special Meeting and the proxy statement are also available at www.proxyvote.com. Instructions on how to

access the proxy materials on the Internet may be found in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials.

Stockholders Entitled to Vote

If you ownedour class A common stock, par value $0.001 per share (‘‘Class A Stock’’), or our class B common stock, par

value $0.001 per share (‘‘Class B Stock’’ and collectively with Class A Stock, the ‘‘Common Stock’’), at the close of

business on January 2, 2025 (the ‘‘record date’’), you are entitled to vote at the Special Meeting. On the record date,

there were an aggregate of 226,138,248 shares of our Class A Stock and 19,640,250 shares of our Class B Stock

outstanding and entitled to vote. Each share of Class A Stock entitles the record holder thereof to one (1) vote on each

of thematters to be voted on at the SpecialMeeting, and each share of Class B Stock entitles the record holder thereof

to ten (10) votes on each of the matters to be voted on at the Special Meeting.

Votes Required

The holders of shares of Common Stock representing amajority in voting power of the outstanding shares of Common

Stock entitled to vote at the Special Meeting, present in person or virtually represented by proxy, at the Special

Meeting shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the Special Meeting. Shares of Common Stock

represented in person or by proxy, including shares which abstain or do not vote with respect to one or more of the

matters presented for stockholder approval, will be counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum is

present at the Special Meeting. Proxies reflecting broker non-votes (where a broker or nominee does not have

discretionary authority to vote on a proposal), if any, will be considered as present for purposes of determining

whether a quorum is present provided that the shares cast a vote on at least one matter presented for a vote.

Assuming that a quorum is present at the Special Meeting:

The proposal (‘‘Proposal 1’’) to approve and adopt an amendment to our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation

to increase the number of authorized shares of Class A Stock from 330,000,000 to 10,330,000,000 (‘‘the Common

Stock Amendment’’) requires the affirmative vote the holders of a majority of the voting power of all outstanding

Common Stock entitled to vote thereon.

The proposal (‘‘Proposal 2’’) to approve and adopt an amendment to our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation

to increase the number of authorized shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share (‘‘Preferred Stock’’) from

5,000,000 to 1,005,000,000 (the ‘‘Preferred Stock Amendment’’) requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a

majority of the voting power of all outstanding Common Stock entitled to vote thereon.

The proposal (‘‘Proposal 3’’) to approve and adopt an amendment (the ‘‘2024 Plan Amendment’’) to the

MicroStrategy Incorporated 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the ‘‘Current Plan’’ and, such plan, as amended by the 2024

Plan Amendment, the ‘‘Amended Plan’’) to provide for automatic equity award grants to new directors upon their

appointment to theBoard requires the affirmative vote of amajority of the votes cast by the holders of CommonStock

entitled to vote thereon.

1



The proposal (‘‘Proposal 4’’) to approve one or more proposals to adjourn the Special Meeting if necessary to solicit

additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the Special Meeting to approve Proposal 1, Proposal 2

and/or Proposal 3 requires the affirmative vote of amajority of the votes cast by theholders of CommonStock entitled

to vote thereon.

Shares present virtually during the Special Meeting will be considered shares of Common Stock present in person at

the meeting.

All validly granted proxies will be voted in accordance with the stockholders’ instructions on the matters set forth in

the accompanying Notice of Special Meeting, and if no choice is specified, executed proxies will be voted in

accordance with the Board’s recommendations on such matters as set forth in this proxy statement.

Attending the Special Meeting

We have determined to hold the Special Meeting in virtual format only, with no physical in-person meeting.

Stockholders of record as of the record date, or those that hold a valid proxy, may attend the Special Meeting online

at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/MSTR2025SM. You will need the 16-digit control number included on your

Notice of Special Meeting of Stockholders, proxy card, or the instructions that accompanied your proxy materials. If

you are not a stockholder of record but hold shares as a beneficial owner in street name, in addition to obtaining a

valid proxy from the record holder, you may be required to provide proof of beneficial ownership, such as your most

recent account statement as of the record date, a copy of the voting instruction form provided by your broker,

financial institution, or other nominee, or other similar evidence of ownership. Even if you plan to attend the Special

Meeting, we recommend that you submit a proxy to vote your shares in advance, so that your vote will be counted if

you later decide not to attend the Special Meeting.

How to Submit Questions

Stockholders of record as of the record date may submit questions in advance of the Special Meeting at

www.proxyvote.com using the 16-digit control number included on your Notice of Special Meeting of Stockholders,

proxy card, or the instructions that accompanied your proxymaterials. Questions to be submitted prior to the Special

Meetingmust be receivedby 5:00 p.m., EST, on January 20, 2025.Questions pertinent to thematters to be votedupon

at the SpecialMeetingmay also be asked during the SpecialMeeting by logging into the virtualmeeting platformusing

the 16-digit control number included on your Notice of Special Meeting of Stockholders, proxy card, or the

instructions that accompanied your proxy materials and typing your question into the questions/chat pane of the

control panel. Only questions that are pertinent to the matters to be voted upon at the Special Meeting will be

answered during the Special Meeting and we reserve the right to edit profanity or other inappropriate language and

to exclude questions that are not pertinent to Special Meeting matters or that are otherwise inappropriate. If we

receive substantially similar questions, we will group such questions together and provide a single response to avoid

repetition.

We will not be providing a business update at the Special Meeting or discussing matters related to our business or

operations. If there are any matters of individual concern to a stockholder or questions not related to the matters to

be voted on at the Special Meeting, such matters and questions may be raised separately by contacting Investor

Relations.

How to Vote

You do not need to attend the Special Meeting to have your shares voted at the Special Meeting. You may submit a

proxy to vote your shares over the telephone, on the Internet, or by mail, and your votes will be cast for you at the

Special Meeting. This process is described below.
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Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name

If you are a stockholder of record, youmay (i) attend and vote online during the SpecialMeeting or (ii) submit a proxy.

Whether or not you plan to attend the Special Meeting, we urge you to submit a proxy to vote your shares over the

telephone, on the Internet, or bymail as instructed below to help ensure your vote is counted. Youmay still attend the

Special Meeting and vote during the meeting even if you have already submitted a proxy; your vote at the Special

Meeting will revoke any earlier submitted proxy.

During the

Meeting:

To vote online during the Special Meeting, visit www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/MSTR2025SM

and vote by Internet as instructed. You will need the 16-digit control number included on your Notice

of Special Meeting of Stockholders, proxy card, or the instructions that accompanied your proxy

materials.

Phone: To submit a proxy by telephone, dial toll-free 1-800-690-6903 using a touch-tone phone and follow the

recorded instructions. You will be asked to provide the 16-digit control number included on your

Notice of SpecialMeeting of Stockholders, proxy card, or the instructions that accompanied your proxy

materials. Your vote must be received by 11:59 p.m., EST, on January 20, 2025, to be counted.

Internet: To submit a proxy on the Internet, go towww.proxyvote.com to complete an electronic proxy card. You

will be asked to provide the 16-digit control number included on your Notice of Special Meeting of

Stockholders, proxy card, or the instructions that accompanied your proxy materials. Your vote must

be received by 11:59 p.m., EST, on January 20, 2025, to be counted.

Proxy Card: To submit a proxy bymail, simply complete, sign, and date the proxy card and return it promptly in the

postage-paid envelope provided or return it to Vote Processing, c/o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way,

Edgewood, NY 11717. If we receive your signed proxy card by January 20, 2025, the designated proxy

holders will vote your shares as you direct.

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of Broker, Financial Institution, or Other Nominee

If, as of the close of business on January 2, 2025, the record date, your shares were held not in your name, but rather

in an account at a brokerage firm, financial institution, or other similar organization, then you are the beneficial owner

of shares held in ‘‘street name’’ and these proxy materials are being forwarded to you by that organization. The

organization holding your account is considered to be the stockholder of record for purposes of voting at the Special

Meeting.

As a beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker or other agent regarding how to vote the shares in your

account. You should have received a proxy card and voting instructions with these proxy materials from that

organization rather than fromus. Simply complete andmail the proxy card and voting instructions to help ensure that

your vote is counted. Alternatively, you may submit your voting instructions over the telephone or on the Internet as

instructed by your broker, financial institution, or other nominee, if applicable. To attend the Special Meeting and

vote online during the Special Meeting, youmust obtain a valid proxy from your broker, financial institution, or other

nominee. You will need the 16-digit control number included in your proxy card or the instructions that accompanied

your proxy materials. Follow the instructions from your broker, financial institution, or other nominee included with

these proxy materials, or contact your broker, financial institution, or other nominee to request a proxy.

List of Registered Stockholders

A list of registered stockholders as of the close of business on the record date will be available for examination by any

stockholder for any purpose germane to the Special Meeting for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the Special

Meeting. The stockholder list will also be available to stockholders of record for examination during the Special

Meeting at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/MSTR2025SM. To inspect the stockholder list before the Special

Meeting, stockholders can email our Investor Relations department at ir@microstrategy.com. You will need the

16-digit control number included on your Notice of Special Meeting of Stockholders, proxy card, or the instructions

that accompanied your proxy materials.

The Effect of Not Casting Your Vote, Broker Non-votes and Abstentions

Stockholder of Record. If you do not submit a proxy or vote your shares in person at the Special Meeting, no votes will

be cast on your behalf on any of the matters of business at the Special Meeting, which will have the effect of voting

your shares ‘‘against’’ Proposal 1 and Proposal 2 and will have no effect on Proposal 3 or Proposal 4. If you abstain
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from voting on Proposal 1, then your shares will be counted as votes ‘‘against’’ Proposal 1 and if you abstain from

voting on Proposal 2, then your shares will be counted as votes ‘‘against’’ Proposal 2. If you abstain from voting on

Proposal 3, then your shares will not be counted as shares casting votes on Proposal 3 and accordingly will have no

effect on the outcome of such proposal. If you abstain from voting on Proposal 4, then your shareswill not be counted

as shares casting votes on Proposal 4 and accordingly will have no effect on the outcome of such proposal.

Beneficial Owner. If you abstain from voting on Proposal 1 or Proposal 2, then your shares will be counted as shares

casting votes ‘‘against’’ Proposal 1 and/or ‘‘against’’ Proposal 2, as applicable. If you abstain from voting on Proposal 3

or Proposal 4, then your shares will not be counted as shares casting votes on Proposal 3 and/or Proposal 4, as

applicable, and accordingly will have no effect on the voting of such proposal. If you are a beneficial owner whose

shares are held in the name of a bank, broker or other nominee (i.e. you do not provide your bank, broker or other

nominee with voting instructions), such bank, broker or other nominee may in some cases vote the shares in their

discretion. However, banks, brokers and other nominees holding shares in ‘‘street name’’ for their beneficial owners

are prohibited from voting on behalf of their clients on certain matters unless the brokers have received specific

voting instructions from those clients. Based on the expected timing of themailing of this proxy statement, we expect

that a bank, broker or other nominee will be unable to vote shares held on behalf of a beneficial owner who has not

submitted voting instructions on each of Proposal 1, Proposal 2, Proposal 3 and Proposal 4. Broker non-voteswill have

the effect of voting your shares ‘‘against’’ Proposal 1 or Proposal 2, as applicable, and will not be counted as shares

casting votes on Proposal 3 or Proposal 4 and accordingly will have no effect on the voting of Proposal 3 or Proposal

4, as applicable.

Changing Your Vote and Revoking Your Proxy

Stockholder of Record. You may revoke any previously granted proxy prior to the taking of the vote at the Special

Meeting by (i) submitting a new proxy over the telephone or on the Internet by 11:59 p.m. EST on January 20, 2025,

(ii) delivering a written revocation or a subsequently dated and properly completed proxy card to MicroStrategy’s

General Counsel at 1850 Towers Crescent Plaza, Tysons Corner, Virginia 22182 by 11:59 p.m. EST on January 20, 2025,

or (iii) attending the Special Meeting and voting online during the Special Meeting.

Beneficial Owner. You may change your voting instructions prior to the taking of the vote at the Special Meeting by

(i) submitting new voting instructions to your broker or nominee by following the instructions they provided by

11:59 p.m. EST on January 20, 2025 or (ii) if you have obtained a legal proxy from your broker or nominee giving you

the right to vote your shares, by attending the Special Meeting and voting online during the Special Meeting.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of our Common Stock as of December 13, 2024, unless

otherwise indicated, by:

• each person who is known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of any class of our Common Stock as of

such date;

• each director or nominee for director;

• each of our named executive officers for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 as defined in

Item 402(a)(3) of Regulation S-K; and

• all directors and current executive officers as a group.

Except as otherwise indicated below, we believe, based on the information furnished to us, that the persons and

entities named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares that they beneficially

own, subject to any applicable community property laws. Percentages have been calculated based on

223,892,874 shares of Class A Stock and 19,640,250 shares of Class B Stock outstanding as of December 13, 2024. Any

shares of Class A Stock (i) subject to (x) outstanding stock options that are currently exercisable or will become

exercisable and (y) any shares of Class A Stock subject to outstanding restricted stock units (‘‘RSUs’’) that will vest, in

each case, within 60 days after December 13, 2024, and (ii) issuable upon conversion of Class B Stock are deemed

outstanding for the purpose of calculating such director’s or officer’s percentage ownership, but are not deemed

outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

On July 11, 2024, the Company announced a 10-for-1 stock split (the ‘‘Stock Split’’) of the Company’s Class A Stock and

Class B Stock. The Stock Split was effected by means of a stock dividend to the holders of record of the Company’s

Class A Stock and Class B Stock as of the close of business on August 1, 2024, the record date for the dividend. Shares

held in treasury were not impacted by the stock split. The dividend was distributed after the close of trading on

August 7, 2024, and trading commenced on a split-adjusted basis at market open on August 8, 2024.

Except as otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner named below is in care of MicroStrategy

Incorporated, 1850 Towers Crescent Plaza, Tysons Corner, Virginia 22182.

Number of Shares and Percent of Class
Owned(1)

Beneficial
Ownership of
Class A Stock
(Shares)(1)

Beneficial
Ownership of
Class A Stock
(% of Class)(1)

Total
Voting

Power (%)(1)

Class A Stock Class B Stock

Beneficial Owner Shares
% of
Class Shares

% of
Class

Named Executive Officers and Directors:

Michael J. Saylor(2) 381,900 * 19,616,680 99.9 19,998,580 8.2 46.8

Phong Q. Le(3) 1,165,080 * — — 1,165,080 * *

Andrew Kang(4) 61,950 * — — 61,950 * *

W. Ming Shao(5) 307,708 * — — 307,708 * *

Brian Brooks — — — — — — —

Jane Dietze — — — — — — —

Stephen X. Graham(6) 227,080 * — — 227,080 * *

Jarrod M. Patten(7) 375,080 * — — 375,080 * *

Leslie J. Rechan(8) 167,580 * — — 167,580 * *

Carl J. Rickertsen — — — — — — —

Gregg Winiarski — — — — — — —

All Other 5% Stockholders:

Capital International

Investors(9) 15,588,970 7.0 — — 15,588,970 7.0 3.7

The Vanguard Group, Inc.(10) 15,530,480 6.9 — — 15,530,480 6.9 3.7
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All directors and current

executive officers as a

group (11 persons)(11) 2,686,378 1.2 19,616,680 99.9 22,303,058 9.1 47.1

* Less than 1.0%.

(1) The inclusion of any shares of Common Stock deemed owned or beneficially owned does not constitute an admission of beneficial ownership

of those shares. The number of shares and percentage of class owned is calculated for the Class A Stock by treating any shares of Class A Stock

subject to outstanding stock options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after December 13, 2024, and

any shares of Class A Stock subject to outstanding RSUs that will vest within 60 days after December 13, 2024 held by each applicable person

as outstanding for the purpose of calculating such applicable person’s ownership and percentage ownership of Class A Stock, but shares

subject to such outstanding stock options and RSUs are not deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of

any other person. The number of shares and percentage of class owned for the Class B Stock reflect only outstanding shares of Class B Stock

as there are no outstanding rights to acquire Class B Stock and, accordingly, the amounts and percentages of Class B Stock reported as owned

are also the amounts and percentages of Class B Stock that are beneficially owned. The number of shares beneficially owned and the

beneficial ownership percentage of Class A Stock is calculated on the same basis as the number and percentage of Class A Stock owned,

except that the amounts beneficially owned for each applicable person also include any shares of Class A Stock issuable upon conversion of

Class B Stock owned by such person, and for the purpose of calculating each applicable person’s beneficial ownership percentage, such

shares of Class A Stock issuable upon conversion of Class B Stock are deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage

ownership of such person, but are not deemedoutstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. The

percentage of total voting power is calculated by treating the shares of our Class A Stock and Class B Stock together as a single class. Shares

of Class A Stock generally have the same rights, including rights to dividends, as shares of Class B Stock, except that shares of Class A Stock

have one vote per share while shares of Class B Stock have ten votes per share. Each share of Class B Stock is convertible at any time, at the

option of the holder, into one share of Class A Stock.

(2) Mr. Saylor’s holdings of Common Stock consist of (i) 19,616,680 shares of Class B Stock owned by Alcantara LLC, which is wholly owned by

Mr. Saylor and (ii) 381,900 shares of Class A Stock held by a charitable foundation for which Mr. Saylor serves as the sole trustee and as to

which he disclaims beneficial ownership.

(3) Mr. Le’s holdings of Common Stock consist of (i) 13,918 shares of Class A Stock held byMr. Le directly and (ii) options exercisable on or within

60 days after December 13, 2024 to purchase 1,151,162 shares of Class A Stock.

(4) Mr. Kang’s holdings of Common Stock consist of (i) 12,080 shares of Class A Stock held byMr. Kang directly and (ii) options exercisable on or

within 60 days after December 13, 2024 to purchase 49,870 shares of Class A Stock.

(5) Mr. Shao’s holdings of Common Stock consist of (i) 7,708 shares of Class A Stock held by Mr. Shao directly and (ii) options exercisable on or

within 60 days after December 13, 2024 to purchase 300,000 shares of Class A Stock.

(6) Mr. Graham’s holdings of Common Stock consist of (i) 6,970 shares of Class A Stock held by Mr. Graham directly and (ii) options exercisable

on or within 60 days after December 13, 2024 to purchase 220,110 shares of Class A Stock.

(7) Mr. Patten’s holdings of Common Stock consist of (i) 4,970 shares of Class A Stock held by Mr. Patten directly and (ii) options exercisable on

or within 60 days after December 13, 2024 to purchase 370,110 shares of Class A Stock.

(8) Mr. Rechan’s holdings of Common Stock consist of (i) 4,970 shares of Class A Stock held by Mr. Rechan directly, (ii) 20,000 shares of Class A

Stock held byMr. Rechan indirectly through a trust, of whichMr. Rechan and his five children are beneficiaries and for whichMr. Rechan and

two of his children serve as trustees, and (iii) options exercisable on or within 60 days after December 13, 2024 to purchase 142,610 shares

of Class A Stock.

(9) As of the date of this proxy statement, Capital International Investors has not filed a Schedule 13G/A reporting its Common Stock holdings

since the effective date of the Stock Split. As such, the number of shares beneficially owned (and other information in this footnote) is as of

December 29, 2023, based on a Schedule 13G/A filed on January 10, 2024, with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the ‘‘SEC’’) by

Capital International Investors, as adjusted by the Stock Split. Capital International Investors beneficially owns 15,588,970 shares of Class A

Stock and has sole voting power with respect to all of these shares and sole dispositive power with respect to all of these shares. Capital

International Investors is a division of Capital Research Management Company, as well as its investment management subsidiaries and

affiliates Capital Bank and Trust Company, Capital International, Inc., Capital International Limited, Capital International Sarl, Capital

International K.K., Capital Group Private Client Services, Inc., and Capital Group Investment Management Private Limited. Capital

International Investors’ divisions of each of the investment management entities collectively provide investment management services

under the name ‘‘Capital International Investors.’’ The address for Capital International Investors is 333 South Hope Street, 55th Fl, Los

Angeles, CA 90071.

(10) As of the date of this proxy statement, Vanguard Group, Inc. has not filed a Schedule 13G/A reporting its Common Stock holdings since the

effective date of the Stock Split. As such, the number of shares beneficially owned (and other information in this footnote) is as of March 28,

2024, based on a Schedule 13G/A filed on April 10, 2024, with the SEC by The Vanguard Group, Inc., as adjusted by the Stock Split. The

VanguardGroup, Inc. beneficially owns 15,530,480 shares of Class A Stock and has sole dispositive powerwith respect to 15,100,630 of these

shares, shared voting power with respect to 270,970 of these shares, and shared dispositive power with respect to 429,850 of these shares.

The address for The Vanguard Group, Inc. is 100 Vanguard Boulevard, Malvern, PA 19355.

(11) Shares of Common Stock held by the directors and current executive officers as a group consist of (i) 452,516 shares of Class A Stock,

(ii) options exercisable on or within 60 days after December 13, 2024 to purchase an aggregate of 2,233,862 shares of Class A Stock and

(iii) 19,616,680 shares of Class B Stock, which are convertible into the same number of shares of Class A Stock at any time at the option of the

holder.
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PROPOSAL 1 – APPROVAL AND ADOPTION OF AN AMENDMENT TO OUR SECOND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF
INCORPORATION TO INCREASE NUMBER OF AUTHORIZED SHARES OF CLASS A COMMON STOCK

Background

Our authorized capital stock presently consists of 330,000,000 shares of Class A Stock, 165,000,000 shares of Class B

Stock, and 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock. On December 20, 2024, the Board adopted and declared advisable,

the Common Stock Amendment to increase the number of authorized shares of Class A Stock from 330,000,000 to

10,330,000,000, and directed that the Common Stock Amendment be submitted to stockholders for approval and

adoption. The number of authorized shares of Class B Stock and Preferred Stock would not be affected by the

Common Stock Amendment. The total number of authorized shares of capital stock (which is the sum of the

authorized number of Class A Stock, Class B Stock, and Preferred Stock) would, by virtue of the increase in (i) Class A

Stock, if Proposal 1 is approved, correspondingly increase from 500,000,000 to 10,500,000,000 shares of capital stock

or (ii) Class A Stock and Preferred Stock, if both Proposal 1 and Proposal 2 are approved, correspondingly increase

from 500,000,000 to 11,500,000,000 shares of capital stock.

As of the record date, a total of 226,138,248 shares of Class A Stockwere issued and outstanding. In addition, as of the

record date, there were:

• 4,956,022 shares of Class A Stock issuable upon exercise of stock options outstanding as of the record date

at a weighted average exercise price of $38.56 per share;

• 1,230,672 shares of Class A Stock issuable upon the vesting of restricted stock units outstanding as of the

record date;

• 613,878 shares of Class A Stock issuable upon the vesting of performance stock units outstanding as of the

record date;

• 2,608,540 and 502,402 additional shares of Class A Stock available as of the record date for future issuance

under our 2023 Equity Incentive Plan and 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, respectively;

• 19,640,250 shares of Class A Stock issuable upon conversion of shares of Class B Stock issued and

outstanding as of the record date;

• 10,994,550 shares of Class A Stock potentially issuable as of the record date upon conversion of our 0%

Convertible Senior Notes due 2027 (the ‘‘2027 Convertible Notes’’), subject to adjustment in accordance

with the terms of such notes;

• 7,718,824 shares of Class A Stock potentially issuable as of the record date upon conversion of our 0.625%

Convertible Senior Notes due 2028 (the ‘‘2028 Convertible Notes’’), subject to adjustment in accordance

with the terms of such notes;

• 6,915,600 shares of Class A Stock potentially issuable as of the record date upon conversion of our 0%

Convertible Senior Notes due 2029 (the ‘‘2029 Convertible Notes’’), subject to adjustment in accordance

with the terms of such notes;

• 7,611,200 shares of Class A Stock potentially issuable as of the record date upon conversion of our 0.625%

Convertible Senior Notes due 2030 (the ‘‘2030 Convertible Notes’’), subject to adjustment in accordance

with the terms of such notes;

• 3,632,160 shares of Class A Stock potentially issuable as of the record date upon conversion of our 0.875%

Convertible Senior Notes due 2031 (the ‘‘2031 Convertible Notes’’), subject to adjustment in accordance

with the terms of such notes;

• 5,285,600 shares of Class A Stock potentially issuable as of the record date upon conversion of our 2.25%

Convertible Senior Notes due 2032 (the ‘‘2032 Convertible Notes’’ and, together with the 2027 Convertible

Notes, the 2028 Convertible Notes, the 2029 Convertible Notes, the 2030 Convertible Notes and the 2031

Convertible Notes, the ‘‘Convertible Notes’’), subject to adjustment in accordance with the terms of such

notes; and

• 21,328,463 shares of Class A Stock reserved for issuance as of the record date under our current at-the-

market equity offering program.
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Accordingly, as of the record date, out of the 330,000,000 shares of Class A Stock presently authorized,

319,176,409 shareswere issued and outstanding or reserved for issuance and 10,823,591 shares of Class A Stockwere

not reserved and remained available for future issuance.

If the stockholders approve and adopt the Common Stock Amendment, but not the Preferred Stock Amendment,

Article Four of our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation will be amended in the form set forth in Appendix A

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, to provide for an increase in the number of authorized shares

of Class A Stock from 330,000,000 to 10,330,000,000 (and a corresponding increase to the number of authorized

shares of capital stock from 500,000,000 to 10,500,000,000 shares of capital stock). If the stockholders approve and

adopt both the Common Stock Amendment and the Preferred Stock Amendment, Article Four of our Second Restated

Certificate of Incorporation will be amended in the form set forth in Appendix C attached hereto and incorporated

herein by reference, to provide for an increase in the number of authorized shares of Class A Stock from 330,000,000

to 10,330,000,000, an increase in the number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock from 5,000,000 to

1,005,000,000, and a corresponding increase to the number of authorized shares of capital stock from500,000,000 to

11,500,000,000.

The Common Stock Amendment, if approved by our stockholders, would become effective upon the filing of the

certificate of amendment with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, in the form of (i) Appendix A hereto, if

the Preferred Stock Amendment is not also approved or (ii) Appendix C hereto, if the Preferred Stock Amendment is

also approved, or at the later time set forth in the applicable certificate of amendment. The Board reserves the right,

notwithstanding stockholder approval and without further action by stockholders, to abandon and elect not to

proceed with the Common Stock Amendment if the Board determines that the Common Stock Amendment is no

longer in our best interests and the best interests of our stockholders.

If our stockholders approve and adopt the Common Stock Amendment, but not the Preferred Stock Amendment,

subject to the discretion of the Board, we intend to file a certificate of amendment in the form attached as Appendix A

hereto to our SecondRestated Certificate of Incorporationwith the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as soon

as practicable after the Special Meeting. If our stockholders approve and adopt both the Common Stock Amendment

and the Preferred Stock Amendment, subject to the discretion of the Board, we intend to file a certificate of

amendment in the form attached hereto as Appendix C to our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the

Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as soon as practicable after the Special Meeting.

Reasons for the Proposed Increase

Over the past several years, we have used shares of our Class A Stock to, among other things, engage in at-the-market

equity offering programs (including our existing at-the-market equity offering program), reserve shares of our Class A

Stock for offerings of convertible notes, settle conversions and redemptions of certain convertible notes, conduct the

Stock Split, and incentivize and compensate our employees by offering employee stock purchase programs and

issuing equity awards exercisable or settleable in Class A Stock. We anticipate that we may issue additional shares of

Class A Stock and securities or equity awards whichmay be convertible, exercisable or otherwise settleable in Class A

Stock in the future in connection with one or more of the following:

• financing transactions, such as public or private offerings of Class A Stock or securities which may be

convertible, exercisable or otherwise settleable in Class A Stock;

• sales under our existing and any future at-the-market equity offering program;

• settlement of redemptions and/or conversions of our Convertible Notes or other securities which may be

convertible, exercisable or otherwise settleable in Class A Stock that we may issue in the future;

• employee incentives and compensation through our stock purchase plans and equity incentive plans; and

• for other corporate purposes that have not yet been identified.

Other than sales through our existing at-the-market equity offering program, conversions or exercises of outstanding

securities convertible or exercisable into Class A Stock and future issuance under our 2023 Equity Incentive Plan and

2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and any shares of Class A Stock which may be issuable upon conversions of

Preferred Stock in connection with the Offering (as defined below), we do not currently have any specific plans,

proposals or arrangements, written or oral, to issue any of the proposed additional authorized shares of Class A Stock.

For additional information regarding the Offering, see the discussion included below in Proposal 2 under the heading

‘‘Reasons for the Proposed Increase’’. The Board believes that the increase in the availability of additional authorized
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shares of our Class A Stock is necessary to allow us to continue to execute our business strategy, including the capital

plan we previously announced on October 30, 2024 of raising $42 billion of capital over the next three years,

comprised of $21 billion of equity and $21 billion of fixed income securities, including debt, convertible notes and

preferred stock, which we refer to as our ‘‘21/21 Plan.’’ Unless required by applicable law or stock exchange rules, no

further vote of the holders of Common Stock will be required with respect to the issuance of shares of Class A Stock

for any such transaction.

Potential Effects of the Proposed Increase

The additional shares of Class A Stock for which authorization is sought would have identical powers, privileges and

rights to the shares of Class A Stock that are now authorized. Holders of Class A Stock do not have preemptive rights

to subscribe to additional securities that we may issue.

The issuanceof additional shares of Class A Stockmay, amongother things, have adilutive effect on earnings per share

and on stockholders’ equity and voting rights. Furthermore, future sales of substantial amounts of our Class A Stock,

or the perception that these sales might occur, could adversely affect the prevailing market price of our Class A Stock

or limit our ability to raise additional capital. Stockholders should recognize that, as a result of this proposal, they will

own a smaller percentage of shares relative to the total authorized shares of the Company than they presently own.

Effectiveness of Common Stock Amendment

If the Common Stock Amendment is approved and adopted, but the Preferred Stock Amendment is not, the Common

Stock Amendment will become effective upon the filing of a certificate of amendment in the form attached hereto as

Appendix A to our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

If both the Common Stock Amendment and the Preferred Stock Amendment are adopted, they will become effective

upon the filing of a certificate of amendment in the form attached hereto as Appendix C to our Second Restated

Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

Recommendation of the Board

The Board Recommends a Vote ‘‘FOR’’ the approval and adoption of the Amendment to our Second

Restated Certificate of Incorporation to Increase the Number of Authorized Shares of Class A

Common Stock from 330,000,000 to 10,330,000,000.
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PROPOSAL 2 - APPROVAL AND ADOPTION OF AN AMENDMENT TO OUR SECOND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF
INCORPORATION TO INCREASE NUMBER OF AUTHORIZED SHARES OF PREFERRED STOCK

Background

Our authorized capital stock presently consists of 330,000,000 shares of Class A Stock, 165,000,000 shares of Class B

Stock, and 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock. On December 20, 2024, the Board approved and declared advisable,

the Preferred Stock Amendment to increase the number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock from 5,000,000 to

1,005,000,000 and directed that the Preferred Stock Amendment be submitted to stockholders for approval and

adoption. The number of authorized shares of Common Stock would not be affected by the Preferred Stock

Amendment. The total number of authorized shares of capital stock would, by virtue of the increase (i) in Preferred

Stock, if Proposal 2 is approved, correspondingly increase from 500,000,000 to 1,500,000,000 shares of capital stock

or (ii) in Class A Stock and Preferred Stock, if Proposal 1 and Proposal 2 are approved, correspondingly increase from

500,000,000 to 11,500,000,000 shares of capital stock.

As of the record date, no shares of Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding or held in treasury. Accordingly, as of

the record date, all 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock presently authorized remain available for future issuance.

If the stockholders approve and adopt the Preferred Stock Amendment, but not the Common Stock Amendment,

Article Four of our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation will be amended in the form set forth in Appendix B

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, to provide for an increase in the number of authorized shares

of Preferred Stock from 5,000,000 to 1,005,000,000 (and a corresponding increase to the number of authorized

shares of capital stock from 500,000,000 to 1,500,000,000 shares of capital stock). If the stockholders approve and

adopt both the Common Stock Amendment and the Preferred Stock Amendment, Article Four of our Second Restated

Certificate of Incorporation will be amended in the form set forth in Appendix C attached hereto and incorporated

herein by reference, to provide for an increase in the number of authorized shares of Class A Stock from 330,000,000

to 10,330,000,000, an increase in the number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock from 5,000,000 to

1,005,000,000, and a corresponding increase to the number of authorized shares of capital stock from500,000,000 to

11,500,000,000.

The Preferred Stock Amendment, if approved and adopted by our stockholders, would become effective upon the

filing of the certificate of amendmentwith the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, in the formof (i) Appendix B

hereto, if the Common Stock Amendment is not also approved or (ii) Appendix C hereto, if the Common Stock

Amendment is also approved, or at the later time set forth in the applicable certificate of amendment. The Board

reserves the right, notwithstanding stockholder approval andwithout further action by stockholders, to abandon and

elect not to proceed with the Preferred Stock Amendment if the Board determines that the Preferred Stock

Amendment is no longer in our best interests and the best interests of our stockholders.

If our stockholders approve and adopt the Preferred Stock Amendment, but not the Common Stock Amendment,

subject to the discretion of the Board, we intend to file a certificate of amendment in the form attached as Appendix B

hereto to our SecondRestated Certificate of Incorporationwith the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as soon

as practicable after the Special Meeting. If our stockholders approve and adopt both the Common Stock Amendment

and the Preferred Stock Amendment, subject to the discretion of the Board, we intend to file a certificate of

amendment in the form attached hereto as Appendix C to our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the

Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as soon as practicable after the Special Meeting.

Reasons for the Proposed Increase

To date, we have not issued shares of our Preferred Stock. We are seeking stockholder approval to increase the

number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock so that we may (i) expand the types of securities we offer into the

market (including in connection with the Offering described below), to execute on our business strategy, including as

part of our 21/21 Plan, and/or (ii) engage in other strategic activities without using cash or Class A Stock.

We are targeting an initial capital raise of up to $2 billion through one or more public underwritten offerings

(the ‘‘Offering’’) of shares of perpetual Preferred Stock, which will be senior to our Class A Stock or, if the Offering is

consummated prior to the approval of the Preferred Stock Amendment, depositary shares, each representing an

interest in a share of perpetual Preferred Stock. The perpetual Preferred Stock may include features such as

(i) convertibility to our Class A Stock, (ii) payment of cash dividends, and (iii) provisions allowing for redemptions of

shares, among other features. However, we have no binding agreement with any investor at the present time and as
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such, the actual terms of the Offering are not determinable at this time, including with respect to dividend or interest

rates, conversion prices, voting rights, redemption prices, maturity dates, and similar matters. Any such terms will be

determined by the Board in its sole discretion. The Offering is expected to be registered via a registration statement

on Form S-3 to be filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. The purpose of the Offering is to allow us

to continue to strengthen our balance sheet and acquiremore bitcoin. TheOffering is expected to occur, if at all, in the

first quarter of 2025. However, the decision whether to proceed with and consummate the Offering is in our sole

discretion and is subject to market and other conditions. We may choose not to proceed with or consummate the

Offering at all. If the Offering is consummated with depositary shares, to the extent the Preferred Stock Amendment

is approved, we may elect to have all of the depositary shares redeemed for shares of perpetual Preferred Stock.

The disclosure related to the Offering contained herein does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an

offer to buy any securities. Any offers, solicitations or offers to buy, or any sales of securities will be made in

accordance with the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the ‘‘Securities Act’’).

Other than the possible issuance of Preferred Stock in the Offering, as of the date of this Proxy Statement, we do not

currently have any specific plans, proposals or arrangements, written or oral, to issue any of the proposed additional

authorized shares of Preferred Stock. Unless required by applicable lawor stock exchange rules, no further vote of the

holders of Common Stock will be required with respect to the issuance of shares of Preferred Stock for any such

transaction, including in connection with the Offering.

Board Right to Designate Rights and Preferences of Preferred Shares

Under our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation, we are authorized to issue ‘‘blank check’’ preferred stock,

which may be issued in one or more series upon authorization of the Board. The Preferred Stock that would be

authorized by the Preferred Stock Amendment also would be ‘‘blank check’’ preferred stock. The Board is authorized

to fix the designations, powers, preferences and the relative, participating, optional or other special rights and any

qualifications, limitations and restrictions of the shares of each series of Preferred Stock, including in connection with

the Offering. The authorized shares of our Preferred Stock are available for issuance without further action by our

stockholders, unless such action is required by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange on which our

securities may be listed. If the approval of our stockholders is not required for the issuance of shares of our Preferred

Stock, the Board may determine not to seek stockholder approval.

Under our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation, our Preferred Stock has par value $0.001 per share. The

Preferred Stock Amendment does not change the par value of the preferred stock.

Possible Anti-Takeover Effects

A series of Preferred Stock could, depending on the terms of such series, impede the completion of a merger, tender

offer or other takeover attempt. The Board will make any determination to issue Preferred Stock based upon its

judgment as to the best interests of our stockholders. TheBoard, in so acting, could issue Preferred Stock having terms

that could discourage an acquisition attempt throughwhich an acquirermay be able to change the composition of the

Board, including a tender offer or other transaction that some, or a majority, of our stockholders might believe to be

in their best interests or in which stockholders might receive a premium for their stock over the then-current market

price of the stock.

Specifically, if in the due exercise of its fiduciary obligations, the Board were to determine that a takeover proposal

was not in our best interest, shares could be issued by the Board without stockholder approval in one or more

transactions that might prevent or render more difficult or costly the completion of the takeover by:

• financing transactions, such as public or private offerings of Preferred Stock;

• diluting the voting or other rights of the proposed acquirer or insurgent stockholder group;

• putting a substantial voting bloc in institutional or other hands that might undertake to support the

incumbent Board; or

• effecting an acquisition that might complicate or preclude the takeover.

The Board is not aware of any attempt, or contemplated attempt, to acquire control of the Company, nor is this

proposal being presented with the intent that it be used to prevent or discourage any acquisition attempt. However,

nothing would prevent the Board from taking any such actions that it deems to be consistent with its fiduciary duties.
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Potential Effects of the Proposed Increase

Our stockholders have no preemptive rights to acquire shares of Preferred Stock, which means that current

stockholders do not have a right to purchase any new issuances of shares of Preferred Stock in order tomaintain their

proportionate ownership interest in the Company. Stockholders should recognize that, as a result of this proposal,

they will own a smaller percentage of shares relative to the total authorized shares of the Company than they

presently own.

Any issuance of Preferred Stock (either from the currently authorized but unissuedpool of Preferred Stock or fromany

additional Preferred Stock authorized by our stockholders pursuant to this proposal), including in connectionwith the

Offering,may, among other things, have a dilutive effect on earnings per share and on stockholders’ equity and voting

rights. In addition, since the Board is vestedwith the authority under our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation

to designate the rights and preferences for any series of Preferred Stock (without further stockholder approval) that

may be different from, or superior to, the rights of existing holders of Common Stock, the issuance of Preferred Stock

could result in a significant reduction in the voting power of the CommonStock they hold, the liquidation value of their

holdings, the book and market value of existing shares.

Effectiveness of Preferred Stock Amendment

If the Preferred Stock Amendment is approved and adopted, but the Common Stock Amendment is not, the Preferred

Stock Amendment will become effective upon the filing of a certificate of amendment in the form attached hereto as

Appendix B to our Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

If both the Common Stock Amendment and the Preferred Stock Amendment are adopted, they will become effective

upon the filing of a certificate of amendment in the form attached hereto as Appendix C to our Second Restated

Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

Forward-Looking Statements

Statements contained herein and documents incorporated herein by reference about future expectations, plans, and

prospects, as well as any other statements regarding matters that are not historical facts, may constitute

‘‘forward-looking statements’’ within the meaning of The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These

statements include, but are not limited to, statements relating to MicroStrategy’s plan to consummate the Offering,

size and timing of the Offering, the anticipated use of any proceeds from the Offering, and the terms of the Offering.

The words ‘‘anticipate,’’ ‘‘believe,’’ ‘‘continue,’’ ‘‘could,’’ ‘‘estimate,’’ ‘‘expect,’’ ‘‘intend,’’ ‘‘may,’’ ‘‘plan,’’

‘‘potential,’’ ‘‘predict,’’ ‘‘project,’’ ‘‘should,’’ ‘‘target,’’ ‘‘will,’’ ‘‘would,’’ and similar expressions are intended to

identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words.

Actual results may differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements as a result of various

important factors, including the uncertainties related tomarket conditions and the completion of the Offering on the

anticipated terms or at all, the other factors discussed in the ‘‘Risk Factors’’ section of MicroStrategy’s Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q filedwith the Securities and Exchange Commission onOctober 31, 2024, and the risks described

in other filings that MicroStrategy may make with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Any forward-looking

statements contained herein speak only as of the date hereof, andMicroStrategy specifically disclaims any obligation

to update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.

Recommendation of the Board

The Board Recommends a Vote ‘‘FOR’’ the approval and adoption of the Amendment to our Second

Restated Certificate of Incorporation to Increase the Number of Authorized Shares of Preferred Stock

from 5,000,000 to 1,005,000,000.
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PROPOSAL 3—APPROVAL AND ADOPTION OF AN AMENDMENT TO THE
MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED 2023 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Introduction

On December 20, 2024, the Board adopted, subject to stockholder approval, the 2024 Plan Amendment, which

amends the Current Plan. The Current Planwas originally approved by the Board in April 2023 and by our stockholders

in May 2023. We refer to the Current Plan, as amended by the 2024 Plan Amendment, as the Amended Plan.

If the 2024 Plan Amendment is approved by our stockholders, the Current Plan will be amended to provide that,

beginning on December 20, 2024, each non-employee director who is newly appointed to the Board shall

automatically receive, upon the date of such director’s initial appointment to the Board, equity awards having an

aggregate fair value equal to $2,000,000, one-half of which ($1,000,000) will consist of a non-statutory stock option

and one-half of which ($1,000,000) will consist of RSUs, with each award vesting annually in equal installments over

four years, as described in greater detail below. No other amendments are being made to the Current Plan. Pursuant

to the 2024 Plan Amendment, each of Brian Brooks, Jane Dietze and GreggWiniarski, whowere appointed to serve as

non-employee directors on December 20, 2024, automatically received such equity awards pursuant to the terms of

the Amended Plan (the ‘‘Initial Director Grants’’), without further action by the Board or the Compensation

Committee of the Board (the ‘‘Compensation Committee’’), which grants are subject to approval by the stockholders

of the 2024 Plan Amendment.

If the 2024 Plan Amendment is not approved and adopted by our stockholders, the Initial Director Grants to each of

Brian Brooks, Jane Dietze and Gregg Winiarski would terminate; however, the Current Plan will remain in effect and

we would expect to continue our practice of granting awards pursuant to the Current Plan and may further consider

the need to grant equity awards to non-employee directors in connection with their initial appointment to the Board

pursuant to the terms of the Current Plan. If the 2024 Plan Amendment is approved and adopted by our stockholders,

because the grants to non-employee directors upon their initial appointment to the Board are self-executing, these

grants will be made to future new non-employee directors without further action by the Board, the Compensation

Committee or the stockholders. Additionally, given the self-executing nature of the grants to non-employee directors

upon their initial appointment to the Board, if a majority of the votes cast to adopt and approve the 2024 Plan

Amendment includes a majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares held by disinterested stockholders or

satisfies a lower voting standard for ratification asmaybe interpreted or determinedby a court of lawwith jurisdiction

over the matter, such adoption and approval would (i) ratify the Initial Director Grants made to Brian Brooks, Jane

Dietze and Gregg Winiarski, which were made subject to stockholder approval of the 2024 Plan Amendment and (ii)

serve as a defense against any subsequent challenge to such grants or future grants made pursuant to the 2024 Plan

Amendment. Accordingly, stockholders should be aware that by approving and adopting the 2024 Plan Amendment,

the ability of stockholders to successfully challenge these grants (or future grants made pursuant to the 2024 Plan

Amendment) in the future may be significantly diminished or extinguished.

As used in this proposal, except where the context otherwise requires, the term ‘‘Company’’ shall include any of the

Company’s present or future parent or subsidiary corporations and any other business venture inwhich the Company

has a controlling interest, as determined by the Board. Unless otherwise stated, all share numbers and awards in this

proposal have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Stock Split for all periods presented.

Background

The Board believes that our success depends, in large part, on our ability to maintain a competitive position by

attracting, retaining and motivating the best talent in a competitive labor market. This philosophy informs not only

our executive compensation program, but also our approach to compensating non-employee directors. In mid-2024,

the Board began to consider whether to increase the size of the Board and appoint new directors with relevant skills

and experience in capital markets and digital assets who could support the Company’s growing focus on its bitcoin

acquisition strategy. The Compensation Committee subsequently engagedWillis TowersWatson (‘‘WTW’’) to provide

a competitive review of the compensation provided by the Company to its non-employee directors and to assess such

compensation against an enterprise software peer group. In addition to the enterprise software peer group, the

Compensation Committee also requested that WTW provide, for the Compensation Committee’s reference,

non-employee director compensation information for companies in the digital assets industry, other companies with

high market capitalizations, and other specified large companies in the technology and financial services industries.
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In December 2024, the Board reviewed the analysis and market data prepared by WTW. WTW’s report provided a

summary of market practices as requested by the Compensation Committee, but did not contain a recommendation

to the Compensation Committee or the Board. With respect to equity compensation for newly appointed directors,

WTW’s report suggested thatmarket practicewas split between providing additional compensation to non-employee

directors upon appointment, and not providing such additional compensation. Among the companies reviewed that

provided additional compensation to non-employee directors upon their initial appointment, the grants made upon

initial appointment were typically equal in value to the grants made by such companies in connection with annual

equity awards to non-employee directors but without any vesting period.

The Board tookWTW’s analysis into account in connection with its approval of the 2024 Plan Amendment. In light of

the data presented in the analysis, the Board considered whether it would be appropriate to amend the Current Plan

to provide for initial equity awards to newly appointed non-employee directors. Based in part on its discussions with

director candidates and its analysis of a number of factors unique to the Company (as described below), the Board

determined that compensation to newly appointed non-employee directors consistent with the companies included

in the WTW analysis would be insufficient to attract qualified candidates to the Company.

After undertaking consideration of these various factors, the Board determined that the Amended Plan should

provide for initial equity awards to newly appointed non-employee directors with an aggregate fair value equal to

$2,000,0000 on the date of their initial appointment to the Board, with such awards split evenly between stock

options and RSUs. In light of the data presented in the analysis, in contrast to the annual equity awards to

non-employee directors provided for under the Current Plan, which vest in full after one year, the Board additionally

determined that the equity awards to newly appointed non-employee directors would vest annually in equal

installments over four years. In determining to adopt the Amended Plan and recommend it for approval and adoption

by stockholders, the Board considered a number of important factors unique to the Company in support of awarding

non-employee director compensation greater than that awarded by the companies included in the WTW analysis.

Specifically, due to the Company’s novel bitcoin acquisition strategy and frequent participation in capital markets

transactions, the Company’s directors are expected to:

• provide a high degree of engagement and responsiveness;

• possess a high level of experience, qualifications, attributes, and skills; and

• be capable of evaluating complex equity and debt capital markets transactions in support of the Company’s

strategic initiatives and nimbly assessing and changing direction based on variations in, and the

unpredictability of, the capital markets.

In addition, the Board considered the significant competition for talent in the Company’s industry. Accordingly, on

December 20, 2024, the Board adopted the 2024 Plan Amendment, subject to stockholder approval.
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Outstanding equity awards under equity-based compensation plans and arrangements

The following table includes information, as of December 13, 2024, regarding all of our outstanding equity awards

under all of our equity-based compensation plans and arrangements under which Class A Stock may be issued. This

includes Class A Stock subject to outstanding awards under the Current Plan and under the MicroStrategy

Incorporated 2013 Stock Incentive Plan (the ‘‘2013 Plan’’) and up to 2,603,250 shares of Class A Stock available under

the Current Plan for future awards that we may make after December 13, 2024. The table does not include shares

issuable under theMicroStrategy Incorporated 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ‘‘2021 ESPP’’) or outstanding

equity awards that may only be settled in cash. No additional shares of Class A Stock are being requested pursuant to

the 2024 Plan Amendment.

Number of outstanding stock options 4,970,482

Weighted average exercise price of outstanding stock options $ 38.55

Weighted average remaining contractual term of outstanding stock options (years) 6.6

Number of outstanding share-settled RSUs and performance-based share units (‘‘PSUs’’)(1) 1,849,840

Shares of Class A Stock available under the Current Plan for awards that we may grant after

December 13, 2024 2,603,250

Estimated total number of shares of Class A Stock underlying the Initial Director Grants to

Brian Brooks, Jane Dietze and Gregg Winiarski 19,362

Estimated total number of shares of Class A Stock available for the grant of new awards under

all equity-based compensation plans, assuming stockholder approval of the 2024 Plan

Amendment 2,583,918

Number of shares of Class A Stock outstanding 223,892,874

(1) The amount of PSUs shown is equal to the aggregate number of shares into which the PSUs will convert if maximum performance objectives
are met.

As of December 13, 2024, we also have 1,250 outstanding cash-settled restricted stock units, and 3,750 outstanding

other stock-based awards, which are also cash-settled. There were no outstanding stock appreciation rights (‘‘SARs’’)

as of December 13, 2024.

On January 2, 2025, the closing sale price of the Class A Stock on The Nasdaq Global Select Market was $300.01 per

share.

Description of the Amended Plan

The following is a brief summary of the Amended Plan. The following summary is qualified in its entirety by reference

to the full text of the Amended Plan, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix D. Please note

that the following summary describes the Amended Plan as amended by the 2024 Plan Amendment, as opposed to

the Current Plan. The only change between the Current Plan and the Amended Plan is described below under ‘‘Initial

Grants to Non-Employee Directors.’’

Types of Awards

The Amended Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options intended to qualify as such under Section 422 of

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder (the ‘‘Code’’), non-statutory stock

options, restricted stock, RSUs, SARs, other stock-based awards, and cash-based awards (collectively, ‘‘Awards’’) as

more fully described below.

Shares Available, Share Counting and Limitations

Subject to adjustment in the event of stock splits, stock dividends or similar events (but after retroactive adjustment

to reflect the Stock Split), Awards may be made under the Amended Plan (any or all of which Awards may be in the

form of incentive stock options) for up to the sum of: (i) 2,000,000 shares of Class A Stock plus (ii) such additional

number of shares of Class A Stock (up to 17,327,030 shares) as is equal to the number of shares of Class A Stock

reserved for issuance under the 2013 Plan that remained available for grant as of May 23, 2023 (the date our

stockholders approved the Current Plan) and the number of shares of Class A Stock subject to awards granted under
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the 2013 Plan that were outstanding as of May 23, 2023 and which subsequently expire, terminate or are otherwise

surrendered, cancelled or forfeited or repurchased by the Company at their original issuance price pursuant to a

contractual repurchase right, including shares subject to awards granted under the 2013 Plan that are delivered

(either by actual delivery, attestation or net exercise) to the Company by a participant to (x) purchase shares upon the

exercise of such award or (y) satisfy taxwithholding obligationswith respect to such awards, including shares retained

from the award creating the tax obligation (subject, in the case of incentive stock options, to any limitations under the

Code)).

For purposes of counting the number of shares available for the grant of Awards under the Amended Plan, all shares

of Class A Stock covered by a SARwill be counted against the number of shares available for the grant of Awards. If we

grant a SAR in tandem with an option for the same number of shares of Class A Stock and provide that only one such

Awardmaybe exercised,whichwe refer to as a tandemSAR, only the shares covered by the option, andnot the shares

covered by the tandem SAR, will be so counted, and the expiration of one in connection with the other’s exercise will

not restore shares to the Amended Plan.

Shares covered by Awards under the Amended Plan that expire, lapse or are terminated, exchanged for or settled in

cash, surrendered or cancelledwithout having been fully exercised or are forfeited inwhole or in part (including as the

result of shares subject to such Award being repurchased by the Company at the original issuance price pursuant to

a contractual repurchase right) or that result in any shares not being issued (including as a result of an SAR or an RSU

that was settleable either in cash or in stock actually being settled in cash) will again be available for the grant of

Awards under the Amended Plan (subject, in the case of incentive stock options, to any limitations under the Code).

In the case of the exercise of a SAR, the number of shares counted against the shares available for the grant of Awards

will be the full number of shares subject to the SAR multiplied by the percentage of the SAR actually exercised,

regardless of the number of shares actually used to settle the SAR upon exercise, and the shares covered by a tandem

SAR will not again become available for grant upon the expiration or termination of the tandem SAR.

Shares of Class A Stock that are delivered (by actual delivery, attestation, or net exercise) to the Company by a

participant to purchase shares of Class A Stock upon exercise of an Award or to satisfy tax withholding obligations

(including shares retained from the Award creating the tax obligation) will be added back to the number of shares

available for the future grant of Awards under the Amended Plan. SARs and RSUs thatmay be settled only in cash shall

not count against the number of shares that may be granted under the Amended Plan. Shares purchased by the

Company on the open market using proceeds from the exercise of an Award will not increase the number of shares

available for future grant of Awards.

Initial Grants to Non-Employee Directors

Beginning on December 20, 2024, upon initial appointment to the Board, each non-employee director will

automatically be granted Awards with an aggregate fair market value (calculated based on grant date fair value for

financial reporting purposes) equal to $2,000,000, one-half of which ($1,000,000) will consist of a non-statutory stock

option and one-half of which ($1,000,000) will consist of RSUs. Each such Award will vest with respect to 25% of the

shares on each of the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant.

Annual Grants to Non-Employee Directors

OnMay 31 of each year, each non-employee director who is then serving as a non-employee director as of such date

will automatically be grantedAwardswith an aggregate fairmarket value (calculated basedon grant date fair value for

financial reporting purposes) equal to $300,000, one-half of which ($150,000) will consist of a non-statutory stock

option and one-half of which ($150,000) will consist of RSUs. Each such Award will vest on the first anniversary of the

date of grant.

Incentive Stock Options and Non-statutory Stock Options

Option holders receive the right to purchase a specified number of shares of Class A Stock at a specified exercise price

and subject to such other terms and conditions as are specified in connection with the option grant. Options shall be

granted at an exercise price not less than 100% of the fair market value of the Class A Stock on the grant date. The

Amended Plan permits the following forms of payment of the exercise price of options: (i) payment by cash, check, or

in connection with a ‘‘cashless exercise’’ through a broker, which we refer to as exercises for ‘‘cash;’’ (ii) surrender to

the Company of shares of Class A Stock; or (iii) any other lawful means. No option award will contain a provision

entitling the participant to the automatic grant of additional options in connection with any exercise of the original

option, and no option will provide for the payment or accrual of dividend equivalents.
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Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock holders receive shares of Class A Stock subject to vesting or forfeiture provisions. RSU holders are

granted the right to receive shares of Class A Stock, cash or a combination thereof at the time such Award settles.

Restricted stock and RSUs may be granted subject to such restrictions, conditions, and other terms as the Board may

determine, including the conditions for vesting and repurchase (or forfeiture) and the issue price, if any. Under the

Amended Plan, holders of RSUs shall have no voting rights with respect to such Awards unless and until the shares of

Class A Stock with respect to which the RSUs were granted are issued upon vesting and settlement of the RSUs. Any

dividends (whether paid in cash, stock, or property) declared and paid by the Company with respect to shares of

restricted stock shall be paid to the holder only if such shares become free from the restrictions on transferability and

forfeitability that apply to such shares. The Award agreement for RSUs may provide holders with the right to receive

an amount equal to any dividends or other distributions declared and paid on an equal number of outstanding shares

of Class A Stock, and such dividend equivalents will be subject to the same restrictions on transfer and forfeitability as

the RSUs.

Stock Appreciation Rights

SAR holders receive the right to acquire the number of shares of Class A Stock (or cash or a combination of cash and

shares) determined by reference to appreciation from and after the grant date, in the fair market value of a share of

Class A Stock over a predetermined measurement price. SARs shall be granted at a measurement price not less than

100% of the fair market value of the Class A Stock on the grant date. No SAR award will contain any provision entitling

the participant to the automatic grant of additional SARs in connection with any exercise of the original SAR, and no

SAR will provide for the payment or accrual of dividend equivalents.

Other Stock-Based Awards and Cash-Based Awards

Other Awards with respect to shares of Class A Stock under the Amended Plan may be paid in shares of Class A Stock

or cash, as the Board shall determine. The Company may also grant Awards denominated in cash rather than shares.

The Board shall determine the applicable terms and conditions of any such other stock-based or cash-based award.

Other stock-based awards may provide participants with the right to receive dividend equivalents, which may be

settled in cash and/or shares and which will be subject to the same restrictions on transfer and forfeitability as the

other stock-based award with respect to which the dividend equivalent is paid.

Performance Awards

Any type of Award granted under the Amended Plan may be granted subject to the achievement of specified

performance goals. The Boardmay specify that the degree of granting, vesting and/or payout of any Award subject to

performance-based vesting conditions will be subject to the achievement of one or more of the following

performance measures established by the Board, which may be based on the relative or absolute attainment of

specified levels of one or any combination of the following measures (and which may be determined pursuant to

generally accepted accounting principles (‘‘GAAP’’), or on a non-GAAPbasis, as determinedby theBoard): net income,

earnings before or after discontinued operations, interest, taxes, depreciation and/or amortization, operating profit

before or after discontinued operations and/or taxes, sales, sales growth, earnings growth, cash flowor cash position,

gross margins, stock price, market share, return on sales, assets, equity or investment, improvement of financial

ratings, achievement of balance sheet or income statement objectives, total stockholder return or any other metric

determined by the Board. These goals may reflect absolute entity or business unit performance or a relative

comparison to the performance of a peer group of entities or other external measure of the selected performance

criteria and may be absolute in their terms or measured against or in relationship to other companies comparably,

similarly or otherwise situated. The Board may specify that such performance measures will be adjusted to exclude

any one or more of (i) extraordinary items; (ii) gains or losses on the dispositions of discontinued operations; (iii) the

cumulative effects of changes in accounting principles; (iv) the write-down of any asset; (v) fluctuation in foreign

currency exchange rates; (vi) charges for restructuring and rationalization programs; (vii) non-cash, mark-to-market

adjustments on derivative instruments; (viii) amortization of purchased intangibles; (ix) the net impact of tax rate

changes; (x) non-cash asset impairment charges; and (xi) any other factors as the Board may determine. Such

performance measures: (A) may vary by participant and may be different for different Awards; (B) may be particular

to a participant or the department, branch, line of business, subsidiary or other unit in which the participant works;

and (C) may cover such period as may be specified by the Board. The Board may make equitable adjustments to the

performance goals to account for unusual or non-recurring events affecting the Company or the financial results of
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the Company, in response to changes in applicable laws or regulations or to account for items of gain, loss or expense

determined to be extraordinary or unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence or related to the disposal of a

segment of a business or related to a change in accounting principles. The Board may also adjust the cash or number

of shares of Class A Stock payable pursuant to such performance award, and the Board may, at any time, waive the

achievement of the applicable performance measures.

Transferability of Awards

Awards may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered by the person to whom they are

granted, either voluntarily or by operation of law, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution or, other than

in the case of an incentive stock option, pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order; provided that, except with

respect to Awards subject to Section 409A and incentive stock options, the Board may permit or provide in an Award

for the gratuitous transfer of the Award by a participant to or for the benefit of any immediate family member, family

trust or other entity established for the benefit of the participant and/or an immediate family member thereof if the

Company would be eligible to use a Form S-8 under the Securities Act for the registration of the sale of the Class A

Stock subject to such Award to such proposed transferee. During the life of the participant, Awards are exercisable

only by the participant or a permitted transferee.

Eligibility to Receive Awards

Employees, officers, directors, consultants, and advisors (as the terms consultants and advisors are defined and

interpreted for purposes of Form S-8 under the Securities Act or any successor form) of the Companymay be granted

Awards under the Amended Plan. As of December 20, 2024, approximately 1,555 persons were eligible to receive

Awards under the Amended Plan, including four named executive officers who are current employees,

1,541 employees (excluding named executive officers), seven non-employee directors, and 3 consultants and

advisors.

Administration

The Board administers the Amended Plan, and has the authority to adopt, amend, and repeal the administrative rules,

guidelines, and practices relating to the Amended Plan and to interpret its provisions. Pursuant to the terms of the

Amended Plan, the Board may delegate authority under the Amended Plan to one or more committees or

subcommittees of the Board. Subject to any requirements of applicable law, the Board may, by resolution, delegate

to one or more persons (including officers of the Company) or bodies the power to grant Awards (subject to any

limitations under the Amended Plan) to persons eligible to be plan participants and to exercise such other powers

under the Amended Plan as the Board may determine, provided that the Board will fix: (i) the maximum number of

Awards, and the maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise thereof, that may be granted by such delegates,

(ii) the time period during which such Awards may be granted, (iii) the time period during which the shares issuable

upon exercise or vesting of such Awards may be issued, and (iv) the minimum amount of consideration (if any) for

which such Awards may be issued, and a minimum amount of consideration for the shares issuable upon exercise

thereof. However, no such delegate will be authorized to grant Awards to itself or to any ‘‘executive officer’’ of the

Company (as defined by Rule 3b-7 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the ‘‘Exchange Act’’)) or to

any ‘‘officer’’ of the Company (as defined by Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange Act). Awards to non-employee

directorswill be granted and administered by a committee or subcommittee of the Board, all of themembers ofwhich

are independent directors as defined by Section 5605(a)(2) of the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules, or the rules and

regulations of such other national securities exchange on which the Company then maintains its primary listing, as

applicable.

The Board has authorized the Compensation Committee to administer certain aspects of the Amended Plan, including

the grant of Awards under the Amended Plan, but excluding the right to amend the Amended Plan unless specifically

delegated the right to do so by the Board.

The Board determines the effect of a holder’s disability, death, termination or other cessation of employment,

authorized leave of absence, or other change in employment status on such holder’s Award(s).

Acceleration

The Board may, at any time, provide that any Award becomes immediately exercisable in whole or in part, free of

some or all restrictions or conditions, or otherwise realizable in whole or in part.
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Limitation on Repricing

Unless approved by our stockholders and except for permissible adjustments such as stock splits or reorganization

events, the Company may not (i) amend any outstanding option or SAR granted under the Amended Plan to provide

an exercise or measurement price that is lower than the then-current exercise or measurement price of such option

or SAR, (ii) cancel any outstanding option or SAR (whether or not granted under the Amended Plan) and grant in

substitution for that option or SAR any new Awards under the Amended Plan (other than substitute awards granted

in connectionwith amergerwith another entity or acquisition of the property or stock of an entity) covering the same

or a different number of shares and having an exercise ormeasurement price lower than the then-current exercise or

measurement price of the canceled option or SAR, (iii) cancel in exchange for a cash payment an option or SAR with

an exercise ormeasurement price above the then-current fair market value of the shares, or (iv) take any other action

under the Amended Plan that constitutes a repricing under the rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market.

Reorganization Events

The Amended Plan contains provisions addressing the consequences of any reorganization event (as defined in the

Amended Plan).

Amendment of Award

Except as otherwise provided under the Amended Plan with respect to repricing outstanding stock options or SARs,

the Board may amend, modify or terminate any outstanding Award, provided that the participant’s consent to any

such action will be required unless the Board determines that the action, taking into account any related action, does

not materially and adversely affect the participant’s rights under the Amended Plan or the change is otherwise

permitted under the terms of the Amended Plan in connectionwith a change in capitalization or reorganization event.

Amendment or Termination

No Awardsmay be granted under the Amended Plan after the expiration date of the Amended Plan, which is May 23,

2033, but Awards previously grantedmay extend beyond that date. In addition, no option or SARmay be grantedwith

a term in excess of 10 years. The Board may, at any time, amend, suspend, or terminate the Amended Plan, provided

that (i) neither the provisions of the plan requiring stockholder approval of any option or SAR repricing may be

amended without stockholder approval; (ii) no amendment that would require stockholder approval under the rules

of the national securities exchange on which the Company then maintains its primary listing will be effective unless

and until the Company’s stockholders approve such amendment; and (iii) if the national securities exchange onwhich

the Company then maintains its primary listing does not have rules regarding when stockholder approval of

amendments to equity compensation plans is required (or if the Class A Stock is not then listed on any national

securities exchange), then no amendment to the Amended Plan (A) materially increasing the number of shares

authorized under the Amended Plan (other than pursuant the specific terms of the plan), (B) expanding the types of

Awards that may be granted under the Amended Plan, or (C) materially expanding the class of participants eligible to

participate in the Amended Plan shall be effective until the Company’s stockholders approve such amendment.

Clawback

In accepting an Award under the Amended Plan, the Participant agrees to be bound by any clawback policy that the

Company has in effect or may adopt in the future.
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Awards Granted and Outstanding under the Current Plan

The following table sets forth information about equity-based awards granted since the adoption of the Current Plan

and that remain outstanding on December 20, 2024, to the individuals and groups described in the below table.

Name and Position

Number of
Shares Subject to
Options

Number of
Shares
Subject to
RSUs

Number of
Shares Subject to

PSUs(1)

Michael J. Saylor

Executive Chairman 0 0 0

Phong Q. Le

Chief Executive Officer 26,730 65,040 228,000

Andrew Kang

Chief Financial Officer 59,040 34,080 81,440

W. Ming Shao

Executive Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary 5,730 31,470 69,300

Current executive officers as a group (4 persons) 91,500 130,590 378,740

Non-executive directors as a group (7 persons) 28,390 3,920 0

Non-executive officer employees as a group (1,027 persons as of

December 20, 2024) 238,210 754,382 235,138

(1) The amount of PSUs shown is equal to the aggregate number of shares into which the PSUs will convert if maximum performance objectives

are met.

New Plan Benefits

Other than initial and annual awardsmade toour non-employeedirectors, the granting of awards under theAmended

Plan is discretionary, and we cannot now determine the number or type of awards to be granted in the future to any

particular person or group, other than as set forth below.

Name and Position

Number of
Shares Subject to
Options

Dollar Value
of Options
($)

Number of
Shares
Subject to
RSUs

Dollar Value of
RSUs
($)

Michael J. Saylor

Executive Chairman(1) 0 0 0 0

Phong Q. Le

Chief Executive Officer(1) 0 0 0 0

Andrew Kang

Chief Financial Officer(1) 0 0 0 0

W. Ming Shao

Executive Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary(1) 0 0 0 0

Current executive officers as a group (4 persons) 0 0 0 0

Non-executive directors as a group (7 persons)(2) 11,127 $3,000,000 8,235 $3,000,000

Non-executive officer employees as a group

(1,541 persons as of December 20, 2024)(1) 0 0 0 0

(1) The Company may from time-to-time grant awards to these individuals in the future under the Amended Plan, but the granting of awards
under the Amended Plan to such individuals is discretionary, and we cannot now determine the number or type of awards to be granted in
the future.

(2) Represents the Initial Director Grants to Brian Brooks, Jane Dietze and Gregg Winiarski pursuant to the Amended Plan. Excludes (i) annual
awards to non-employee directors pursuant to the Amended Plan, as no changes are being made to the criteria used to determine such
annual awards as set forth in the Current Plan, (ii) awards that the non-employee directors will be entitled to receive for subsequent years
following 2024 and (iii) any discretionary awards that any non-employee directormay be awarded under the Amended Plan. The closing sale
price of theClass A Stock on TheNasdaqGlobal SelectMarket as ofDecember 20, 2024of $364.20per sharewas used to calculate thenumber
of RSUs and the number of options, and the exercise price of the stock options, granted to the newly appointed non-employee directors.
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Information Regarding Overhang and Dilution

While the 2024 Plan Amendment does not include an increase in the number of shares available for issuance under

the Current Plan, in approving the 2024 Plan Amendment and analyzing the impact of utilizing equity as a means of

compensation on our stockholders, we considered both our ‘‘overhang’’ and our ‘‘burn rate.’’

Overhang is a measure of potential dilution. As used here, and as considered by the Board, ‘‘equity overhang’’ means

the total number of shares of Class A Stock subject to outstanding stock-settled stock options, RSUs, and PSUs, plus

the total number of shares of Class A Stock available for grant under the Current Plan, as a percentage of (i) the total

number of shares of Class A Stock subject to outstanding stock-settled stock options, RSUs, and PSUs plus the total

number of shares of Class A Stock available for grant under the Current Plan, plus (ii) the total number of shares

outstanding of our Class A Stock and Class B Stock. For purposes of this calculation, we counted the number of equity

awards subject to any performance-based achievement based on themaximumnumber of shares of our Class A Stock

issuable under such awards. As of December 13, 2024, there were 6,820,322 shares underlying all equity awards

outstanding, 2,603,250 shares available under the Current Plan for future awards after December 13, 2024,

223,892,874 shares of Class A Stock outstanding, and 19,640,250 shares of Class B Stock outstanding. Accordingly, our

overhang at December 13, 2024 was 3.7%.

Burn rate provides ameasure of the potential dilutive impact of our equity award program. As used here, ‘‘burn rate’’

means shares subject to awards granted during a fiscal year less terminations of awards during that fiscal year,

together as a percentage of total shares of our Class A Stock and Class B Stock outstanding. Set forth below is a table

that reflects our burn rate for the 2024 (as of December 13, 2024), 2023, and 2022 calendar years, as well as an

average over those years.

Calendar Year

Awards Granted, Net of
Terminations
(#)(1)

Total Shares of Class A
and Class B Common
Stock Outstanding

(#) Burn Rate(2)

2024 (92,260) 243,533,124 0.0%

2023 (1,304.640) 168,681,250 (0.8)%

2022 4,629,320 115,487,570 4.0%

Three-Year Average 1,077,473 175,900,648 1.1%

(1) Awards granted, net of terminations, subject to any performance-based achievement are included at the maximum number of shares
issuable under such awards.

(2) For purposes of this calculation, for each year, we counted the number of equity awards subject to any performance-based achievement
based on the maximum number of shares of our Class A Stock issuable under such awards.

The Board and Compensation Committee continue to evaluate our needs and may propose additional grants under,

andmay consider amendments to increase the number of shares authorized for issuance under, the Amended Plan in

the future.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2024, about our Class A Stock authorized for issuance

under the 2013 Plan, the Current Plan and the 2021 ESPP, which were our only equity compensation plans in effect as

ofDecember 31, 2024. The table does not reflect the issuanceof the Initial DirectorGrants to BrianBrooks, JaneDietze

and Gregg Winiarski, which are subject to stockholder approval and adoption of the 2024 Plan Amendment.

Plan category

Number of securities
to be issued upon

exercise of outstanding
options, warrants, and rights

(#)

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants, and rights

($/Sh)

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance
under equity

compensation plans
(#)

Equity compensation plans approved by

stockholders 6,800,572 $38.56(1) 3,110,942(2)

Equity compensation plans not approved by

stockholders — — —

Total 6,800,572 $38.56(1) 3,110,942(2)

21



(1) Represents the weighted-average exercise price of 4,956,022 options, 1,230,672 RSUs, and 613,878 PSUs (which is the maximum shares
issuable upon vesting of the 306,939 PSUs granted under the Current Plan) issued under the 2013 Plan and the Current Plan. The
weighted-average exercise price of the options is $38.56. The RSUs and PSUs do not have an exercise price.

(2) Consists of 2,608,540 shares remaining available for issuance under the Current Plan and 502,402 shares remaining available for issuance
under the 2021 ESPP. This number excludes shares that are issuable at the end of the ongoing ESPP purchase period, which began on
September 1, 2024, and ends on February 28, 2025. Shares available for issuance under the Current Planmay be issued pursuant to options,
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, RSUs, PSUs and other stock-based awards.

A description of the material terms of the 2021 ESPP, which was adopted by the Board in 2021, is included in Note 11

to the consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

December 31, 2023.

Federal Tax Consequences

The following is a summary of the United States federal income and employment tax consequences that generally will

arise with respect to Awards granted under the Amended Plan and with respect to the sale of shares of Class A Stock

acquired under the Amended Plan. This summary is based on the federal tax laws in effect as of the date of this proxy

statement. Changes to these laws could alter the tax consequences described below. In addition, this summary

assumes that all Awards are exempt from, or comply with, the rules under Section 409A of the Code regarding

nonqualified deferred compensation.

Incentive Stock Options

In general, a participant will not recognize taxable income upon the grant or exercise of an incentive stock option.

Also, except as described below, a participant will not recognize income upon exercise of an incentive stock option if

the participant has been employed by the Company or a 50% or more-owned corporate subsidiary at all times

beginning with the grant date and ending three months before the date the participant exercises the option. Thus,

income taxwithholding, Federal Insurance Contributions Act (‘‘FICA’’) taxes (i.e., Social Security taxes up to applicable

annual wage base and Medicare taxes), and, if the participant’s income exceeds certain thresholds, the additional

Medicare tax and the net investment income tax will not apply at the time of exercise. However, if at exercise, the

participant has not been so employed during that time, the tax consequence will be the same as for ‘‘Non-statutory

Stock Options’’ described below.

Otherwisewith respect to incentive stock options, a participant will recognize taxable income upon the sale of Class A

Stock acquired through the exercise of the option (‘‘ISO Stock’’). However, such income is generally not subject to

income tax withholding and employment taxes, including FICA taxes and the additional Medicare tax (if applicable).

The exercise of an incentive stock option, however, may subject the participant to the alternative minimum tax.

Generally, the tax consequences of selling ISO Stock will vary with the length of time that the participant has owned

the ISO Stock at the time it is sold. If the participant sells ISO Stock after having owned it formore than two years from

the grant date and one year from the exercise date of the option, then the participant will recognize long-term capital

gain in an amount equal to the excess of the sale price of the ISO Stock over the exercise price. In addition to income

tax, the participant may be subject to the net investment income tax on the amount of the capital gain if the

participant’s income exceeds certain thresholds.

If the participant sells ISO Stock formore than the exercise price prior to having owned it formore than two years from

the grant date and one year from the exercise date (a ‘‘Disqualifying Disposition’’), then all or a portion of the gain

recognized by the participant will be ordinary compensation income and the remaining gain, if any, will be a capital

gain. The portion of the gain treated as ordinary compensation income is based on the excess of the fair market value

on the exercise date over the exercise price. No portion of the ordinary compensation income is subject to income tax

withholding (although it is subject to income tax), FICA taxes, the additional Medicare tax, or the net investment

income tax. The capital gain portion will be treated as long-term capital gain if the participant has held the ISO Stock

for more than one year prior to the date of sale. In addition to income tax, the portion of the recognized gain that is

treated as a capital gain may be subject to the net investment income tax, if the participant’s income exceeds certain

thresholds.

If a participant sells ISO Stock for less than the exercise price, then the participant will recognize capital loss in an

amount equal to the excess of the exercise price over the sale price of the ISO Stock. This capital loss will be a

long-term capital loss if the participant has held the ISO Stock for more than one year prior to the date of sale.
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Non-statutory Stock Options

As in the case of an incentive stock option, a participant will not recognize taxable income upon the grant of a

non-statutory stock option. Unlike the case of an incentive stock option, however, a participant who exercises a

non-statutory stock option generally will recognize ordinary compensation income in an amount equal to the excess

of the fairmarket value of the Class A Stock acquired through the exercise of the option (‘‘NSO Stock’’) on the exercise

date over the exercise price. In addition to income tax withholding, the ordinary compensation income is generally

subject to FICA taxes, including, if the participant’s income exceeds certain thresholds, the additional Medicare tax.

With respect to any NSO Stock, a participant will have a tax basis equal to the exercise price plus any income

recognized upon the exercise of the option. Upon selling NSO Stock, a participant generally will recognize capital gain

or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the sale price of the NSO Stock and the participant’s tax basis in

theNSOStock. This capital gain or losswill be a long-termgain or loss if the participant has held theNSOStock formore

than one year prior to the date of the sale. In addition to income tax, any capital gain recognizedmay be subject to the

net investment income tax, if the participant’s income exceeds certain thresholds.

Restricted Stock

A participant acquiring restricted stock generally will recognize ordinary income equal to the fair market value of the

shares on the vesting date. If the participant is an employee, such ordinary income generally is subject to withholding

of income and employment taxes, including FICA taxes, and, if applicable, the additionalMedicare tax. The participant

may elect, pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Code, to accelerate the ordinary income tax event to the date the award

is granted to the participant by filing an electionwith the Internal Revenue Service no later than 30 days after the date

the award is granted. Upon the sale of shares acquired pursuant to a restricted stock award, any gain or loss, based on

the difference between the sale price and the fair market value on the date the ordinary income tax event occurs, will

be taxed as capital gain or loss, with the gain or loss being long-term if the participant held the shares for more than

one year after vesting (if participant did not make an 83(b) election) or grant (if participant made an 83(b) election)

and otherwise will be short-term. In addition to income tax, any capital gain recognized may be subject to the

net investment income tax, if the participant’s income exceeds certain thresholds.

Restricted Stock Units

There are no immediate tax consequences of receiving an Award of RSUs. A participant is not permitted to make a

Section 83(b) election with respect to an Award of RSUs. A participant who is awarded RSUs will be deemed to have

wages subject to FICA taxes, including the additionalMedicare tax (if applicable), based on the value of the RSUs at the

end of the applicable vesting period. For income tax and income tax withholding purposes, a participant who is

awarded RSUs will be required to recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to the fair market value of shares

issued to such participant (or the cash paid in settlement of the RSUs in lieu of shares) on the settlement date elected

by the Compensation Committee or a participant. Any additional gain or loss recognized upon any later disposition of

any shares received would be capital gain or loss, with the gain or loss being long-term if the participant held the

shares formore than one year after receipt and otherwise being short-term. In addition to income tax, any capital gain

recognized may be subject to the net investment income tax, if the participant’s income exceeds certain thresholds.

A cash payment in lieu of shares would be treated as ordinary compensation income.

Stock Appreciation Rights

In general, no taxable income is reportable when a SAR is granted to a participant. Upon exercise, the participant will

recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to the fair market value of any shares of Class A Stock received. If the

participant is an employee, such ordinary income is generally subject to withholding of income taxes and FICA taxes,

including the additional Medicare tax (if applicable). Any additional gain or loss recognized upon any later disposition

of the shares would be capital gain or loss, with the gain or loss being long-term if the participant held the shares for

more than one year after receipt and otherwise being short-term. In addition to income tax, any capital gain

recognized may be subject to the net investment income tax, if the participant’s income exceeds certain thresholds.

Other Stock-Based / Cash-Based Awards

The tax consequences associated with any other stock-based award or other cash-based award granted under the

AmendedPlanwill vary depending on the specific termsof suchAward. Among the relevant factors arewhether or not

the Award has a readily ascertainable fair market value, whether or not the Award is subject to forfeiture provisions

or restrictions on transfer, the nature of the property to be received by the participant under the Award, and the

participant’s holding period and tax basis for the Award or underlying Class A Stock.
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Tax Consequences to the Company

In general, when a participant recognizes ordinary income from the exercise of non-statutory stock options, restricted

stock, RSUs, SARs, or other stock-based awards, the Company is liable for Federal Unemployment Tax Act taxes and

the employer’s share of FICA taxes on the ordinary income recognized. Therewill be no other tax consequences to the

Company except that we will be entitled to a deduction when a participant has compensation income. Any such

deduction will be subject to the limitations of Section 162(m).

Certain Interests of Executive Officers and Directors

In considering the recommendation of the Board with respect to the Amended Plan, stockholders should be aware

that members of the Board and our executive officers are eligible to receive Awards under the Amended Plan and,

accordingly, may from time to time have interests that present themwith conflicts of interest in connection with this

proposal to approve the Amended Plan. For example, each of the Company’s non-employee directors is entitled

under the Current Plan to receive automatic annual stock option andRSUgrantswith respect to shares of Class A Stock

with an aggregate grant date fair value equal to $300,000, and will continue to be entitled to receive such automatic

annual stock option and RSU grants under the Amended Plan. Further, under the Amended Plan each of Brian Brooks,

Jane Dietze and Gregg Winiarski automatically received equity awards, effective December 20, 2024, having an

aggregate fair value equal to $2,000,000, one-half of which ($1,000,000) consist of a non-statutory stock option and

one-half of which ($1,000,000) consist of RSUs, vesting annually in equal installments over four years, which awards

are subject to the approval and adoption of the 2024 Plan Amendment by stockholders. However, even if the 2024

Plan Amendment is not approved by stockholders, the Current Plan will remain in effect and under the Current Plan,

the Board or Compensation Committee is permitted to make discretionary equity grants to executive officers and

members of the Board, subject to the terms of the Current Plan.

The Board believes that approval of the 2024 Plan Amendment will advance the interests of the Company and its

stockholders by enabling the Company to identify and recruit qualified candidates to join its Board, and to encourage

them to make significant contributions to the long-term success of the Company.

Recommendation of the Board

The Board Recommends a Vote ‘‘FOR’’ the Approval and Adoption of an Amendment to the

MicroStrategy Incorporated 2023 Equity Incentive Plan.
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PROPOSAL 4 - ADJOURNMENT OF THE SPECIAL MEETING

Background

We are asking you to approve one or more proposals to adjourn the Special Meeting if necessary to solicit additional

proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the Special Meeting to approve Proposals 1, 2 and/or 3.

If the Company’s stockholders approve Proposal 4, we could adjourn the Special Meeting and any adjourned session

of the Special Meeting and use the additional time to solicit additional proxies, including the solicitation of proxies

from stockholders that have previously provided proxies to vote against the approval of Proposal 1, Proposal 2 and/or

Proposal 3 (other than in respect of any proposal for which the vote has been taken and the polls have been closed at

the Special Meeting). Among other things, approval of Proposal 4 could mean that, even if we had received proxies

representing a sufficient number of votes against Proposal 1, Proposal 2 and/or Proposal 3 such that such proposal(s)

would be defeated,we could adjourn the SpecialMeetingwithout a vote on such proposal(s) and seek to convince the

holders of those shares of Common Stock to change their votes to votes in favor of any such proposal(s).

Under our Amended and Restated By-Laws, if a quorum is not present, the holders of a majority of the voting power

of CommonStock at the SpecialMeeting present and entitled to vote at themeetingmay adjourn the SpecialMeeting,

and this Proposal 4 would not be brought before the Special Meeting. Additionally, under our Amended and Restated

By-Laws, the Special Meeting may be adjourned by order of the chairman of the meeting and without a vote of the

stockholders.

Recommendation of the Board

The Board Recommends a Vote ‘‘FOR’’ the approval of one or more proposals to adjourn the Special

Meeting if necessary to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the

Special Meeting to approve Proposal 1, Proposal 2 and/or Proposal 3
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OTHER MATTERS

No other matters will be brought before the Special Meeting. However, if any other matters are properly presented

at the Special Meeting, it is the intention of the persons named in the accompanying proxy to vote or otherwise act in

accordance with their judgment on such matters.

Costs of Solicitation

All costs of solicitation of proxies will be borne by us. In addition to solicitations by mail, our directors, officers, and

employees, without additional remuneration, may solicit proxies by telephone and personal interviews, and we

reserve the right to retain outside agencies for the purpose of soliciting proxies. Brokers, custodians, and fiduciaries

will be requested to forward proxy soliciting material to the owners of stock held in their names and, as required by

law, we will reimburse them for their out-of-pocket expenses in this regard.

Householding of Proxy Materials

The SEC has adopted rules that permit companies and intermediaries (e.g., brokers) to satisfy the delivery

requirements for the specialmeetingmaterials with respect to two ormore stockholders sharing the same address by

delivering a single copy of the special meeting materials addressed to those stockholders. This process, which is

commonly referred to as ‘‘householding,’’ is intended to provide extra convenience for stockholders and cost savings

for companies.

A number of brokers, financial institutions, and other nomineeswith account holderswho are our stockholderswill be

householding our proxymaterials. Under this practice, a single copy of the special meetingmaterials will be delivered

to multiple stockholders sharing an address, unless contrary instructions have been received from the affected

stockholders. Once you have received notice fromus (if you are a stockholder of record) or from your broker, financial

institution, or other nominee (if you are a beneficial owner) that we or they will be householding communications to

your address, householding will continue until you are notified otherwise or until we receive contrary instructions

from you or the other stockholder(s) you share an address with. If, at any time, you no longer wish to participate in

householding andwould prefer to receive the specialmeetingmaterials or if you currently receivemultiple copies and

would like to request householding of your communications, please notify us or your broker, financial institution, or

other nominee. You can submit your written request to us at MicroStrategy Incorporated, located at 1850 Towers

Crescent Plaza, Tysons Corner, Virginia 22182, Attention: Investor Relations, or by calling 703-848-8600. We will

promptly deliver, upon oral or written request, a separate copy of the special meeting materials to a stockholder at a

shared address to which a single copy of the documents was delivered.

Stockholder Proposals for 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Proposals of stockholders intended to be presented at the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, including director

nominations described under the caption ‘‘Corporate Governance and the Board of Directors and its Committees-

Director Candidates’’ to our Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on April 12, 2024, were required to be

received by us at our principal offices at MicroStrategy Incorporated, 1850 Towers Crescent Plaza, Tysons Corner,

Virginia 22182, Attention: General Counsel, by December 13, 2024 for inclusion in the proxy materials for the 2025

Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

If a stockholder wishes to present a proposal before the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, but does not wish to

have the proposal considered for inclusion in our proxy statement and proxy card, such stockholder must also give

written notice to the General Counsel of the Company at the address noted above. The General Counsel must receive

such notice by February 26, 2025 and, if a stockholder fails to provide such timely notice of a proposal to be presented

at the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the proxies designated by the Board will have discretionary authority to

vote on any such proposal.

In addition to the above, a stockholder intending to solicit proxies in support of director nominees other than the

Company’s nominees in connection with the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders must comply with the additional

requirements of Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act, including sending notice, no later thanMarch 24, 2025, setting

forth the information required by Rule 14a-19(b) to the Company at the address set forth above.
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Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

KPMG LLP (‘‘KPMG’’) acts as the independent registered public accounting firm for the Company for the current fiscal

year and the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. A representative of KPMG is expected to be in attendance at the

Special Meeting, will have an opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so, and is expected to be available

to respond to appropriate questions.

Incorporation by Reference

The SEC allows the Company to “incorporate by reference” certain information the Company files with it, which

means that the Company can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The

information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this Proxy Statement, and information that the

Company files later with the SEC will automatically update and supersede previously filed information, including

information contained in this document. We are incorporating by reference the following, which include the

information required by Item 13(a) of Schedule 14A in connection with Proposal 2:

• Sections of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on

February 15, 2024 and attached hereto as Appendix E: ‘‘Part II. Item 7 - Management’s Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,’’ ‘‘Part II. Item 8 - Financial Statements and

Supplementary Data,’’ ‘‘Part II. Item 7A - Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk,’’

‘‘Part II. Item 9 - Changes in and DisagreementsWith Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure,’’

‘‘Part II. Item 15 – Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules’’ and ‘‘Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying

Accounts’’; and

• Sections of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2024, filed

with the SEConOctober 31, 2024 and attachedhereto as Appendix F: ‘‘Part I. Item1 - Financial Statements,’’

‘‘Part I. Item 2 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,’’

‘‘Part I. Item 3 - Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk’’.

The foregoing sections of our Annual Report on Form 10-K are attached as Annex E and the foregoing sections of our

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are attached as Annex F.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

W. Ming Shao

Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

January 3, 2025

The Board hopes that stockholders will attend the Special Meeting. Whether or not you plan to attend, to help

ensure representation of your shares at the Special Meeting, you are urged to submit your proxy or voting

instructions over the telephone or on the Internet or, if you received a printed copy of the proxy materials, by

completing, signing, dating, and returning your proxy card or voting instruction form. Submitting voting

instructions or a proxy card will not prevent you from attending the Special Meeting and voting online during the

Special Meeting.
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APPENDIX A

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
TO

SECOND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF

MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

Pursuant to Section 242 of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware

MicroStrategy Incorporated (hereinafter called the ‘‘Corporation’’), a corporation organized and existing under

and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, does hereby certify as follows:

FIRST: A resolutionwas duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the Corporation pursuant to Section 242 of the

General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware setting forth an amendment to the Second Restated Certificate of

Incorporation of the Corporation and declaring said amendment to be advisable. The stockholders of the Corporation

duly approved and adopted said proposed amendment at a meeting of stockholders in accordance with Section 242

of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. The resolution setting forth the amendment is as follows:

RESOLVED: That Article Four of the Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation be and

hereby is deleted in its entirety and the following is inserted in lieu thereof:

‘‘ARTICLE FOUR
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The total number of shares of capital stock which the corporation shall have the authority to issue is

10,500,000,000 shares, consisting of three classes of capital stock:

(a) 10,330,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the ‘‘Class A Common Stock’’);

(b) 165,000,000 shares of Class B CommonStock, par value $0.001per share (the ‘‘Class B CommonStock’’) (the

Class A Common Stock and the Class B Common Stock are collectively referred to as the ‘‘Common Stock’’);

and

(c) 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the ‘‘Preferred Stock’’).’’

***
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate of Amendment has been executed by a duly authorized officer of the

Corporation on this day of , 2025.

MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

By:

Name:

Title:
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APPENDIX B

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
TO

SECOND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF

MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

Pursuant to Section 242 of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware

MicroStrategy Incorporated (hereinafter called the ‘‘Corporation’’), a corporation organized and existing under

and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, does hereby certify as follows:

FIRST: A resolutionwas duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the Corporation pursuant to Section 242 of the

General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware setting forth an amendment to the Second Restated Certificate of

Incorporation of the Corporation and declaring said amendment to be advisable. The stockholders of the Corporation

duly approved and adopted said proposed amendment at a meeting of stockholders in accordance with Section 242

of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. The resolution setting forth the amendment is as follows:

RESOLVED: That Article Four of the Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation be and

hereby is deleted in its entirety and the following is inserted in lieu thereof:

‘‘ARTICLE FOUR
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The total number of shares of capital stock which the corporation shall have the authority to issue is

1,500,000,000 shares, consisting of three classes of capital stock:

(a) 330,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the ‘‘Class A Common Stock’’);

(b) 165,000,000 shares of Class B CommonStock, par value $0.001per share (the ‘‘Class B CommonStock’’) (the

Class A Common Stock and the Class B Common Stock are collectively referred to as the ‘‘Common Stock’’);

and

(c) 1,005,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the ‘‘Preferred Stock’’).’’

***
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate of Amendment has been executed by a duly authorized officer of the

Corporation on this day of , 2025.

MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

By:

Name:

Title:
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APPENDIX C

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
TO

SECOND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF

MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

Pursuant to Section 242 of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware

MicroStrategy Incorporated (hereinafter called the ‘‘Corporation’’), a corporation organized and existing under

and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, does hereby certify as follows:

FIRST: A resolutionwas duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the Corporation pursuant to Section 242 of the

General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware setting forth an amendment to the Second Restated Certificate of

Incorporation of the Corporation and declaring said amendment to be advisable. The stockholders of the Corporation

duly approved and adopted said proposed amendment at a meeting of stockholders in accordance with Section 242

of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. The resolution setting forth the amendment is as follows:

RESOLVED: That Article Four of the Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation be and

hereby is deleted in its entirety and the following is inserted in lieu thereof:

‘‘ARTICLE FOUR

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The total number of shares of capital stock which the corporation shall have the authority to issue is

11,500,000,000 shares, consisting of three classes of capital stock:

(a) 10,330,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the ‘‘Class A Common Stock’’);

(b) 165,000,000 shares of Class B CommonStock, par value $0.001per share (the ‘‘Class B CommonStock’’) (the

Class A Common Stock and the Class B Common Stock are collectively referred to as the ‘‘Common Stock’’);

and

(c) 1,005,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the ‘‘Preferred Stock’’).’’

***
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate of Amendment has been executed by a duly authorized officer of the

Corporation on this day of , 2025.

MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

By:

Name:

Title:
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APPENDIX D

MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO 2023 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Pursuant to Section 12(d) of the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the ‘‘Plan’’) of MicroStrategy Incorporated (the

‘‘Company’’), the Plan is hereby amended as follows:

1. Section 4(c) of the Plan is amended to read in its entirety as follows:

(c) Awards to Outside Directors.

(i) Annual Grant. Beginning in 2023, onMay 31 of each year, each Outside Director who is then serving

as anOutsideDirector (as defined in Section 4(c)(vii)) as of such date shall automatically be granted (without

further action by the Board or any committee thereof) Awards having an aggregate fair value (calculated

based on grant date fair value for financial reporting purposes) equal to $300,000, with half of such Awards

($150,000 in fair value) being granted in the form of Nonstatutory Stock Options and half of such Awards

($150,000 in fair value) being granted in the form of RSUs (such Awards, together, the ‘‘Annual Grant’’).

(ii) Terms of Annual Grant. Options granted pursuant to Section 4(c)(i) shall (i) have an exercise price

equal to the Grant Date FairMarket Value of the Common Stock (as defined below); (ii) become exercisable

as to 100% of the shares subject to such Option on the first anniversary of the date of grant; (iii) unless

earlier terminated, expire at 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the tenth anniversary of the date of grant; and

(iv) otherwise be on and subject to such other terms and conditions as are set forth in theOption agreement

with respect to such grant and as the Board may determine. RSUs granted pursuant to Section 4(c)(i) shall

vest and be settled as to 100% of the shares subject to such RSU on the first anniversary of the date of grant

and otherwise be on and subject to such other terms and conditions as are set forth in the RSU agreement

with respect to such grant and as the Board may determine.

(iii) Initial Grant. Beginning on December 20, 2024, each Outside Director who is newly appointed to

the Board, upon the date of such Outside Director’s initial appointment to the Board, shall automatically be

granted (without further action by the Board or any committee thereof) Awards having an aggregate fair

value (calculated based on grant date fair value for financial reporting purposes) equal to $2,000,000, with

half of such Awards ($1,000,000 in fair value) being granted in the form of Nonstatutory Stock Options and

half of such Awards ($1,000,000 in fair value) being granted in the form of RSUs (such Awards, together, the

‘‘Initial Grant’’).

(iv) Terms of Initial Grant. Options granted pursuant to Section 4(c)(iii) shall (i) have an exercise price

equal to the Grant Date Fair Market Value of the Common Stock; (ii) become exercisable as to 25% of the

shares subject to suchOptiononeachof the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant;

(iii) unless earlier terminated, expire at 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the tenth anniversary of the date of

grant; and (iv) otherwise be on and subject to such other terms and conditions as are set forth in the Option

agreement with respect to such grant and as the Board may determine. RSUs granted pursuant to

Section 4(c)(iii) shall vest and be settled as to 25% of the shares subject to such RSU on each of the first,

second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant and otherwise be on and subject to such other

terms and conditions as are set forth in the RSU agreementwith respect to such grant and as the Boardmay

determine.

(v) Limitations. Notwithstanding Sections 4(c)(i) and 4(c)(iii), in the event that the number of shares of

Common Stock prescribed by Section 4(a)(i) is not sufficient to cover the Awards granted pursuant to

Sections 4(c)(i) or 4(c)(iii), the remaining shares of Common Stock available for issuance shall be prorated

among the Outside Directors entitled to receive either such Awards. Any further grants pursuant to

Sections 4(c)(i) or 4(c)(iii) shall thenbedeferreduntil such time, if any, as additional shares of CommonStock

become available for grant under the Plan, whether pursuant to amendment of the Plan pursuant to

Section 12(d) to increase the number of shares available for issuance under the Plan or pursuant to the

mechanisms set forth in Section 4(a)(ii)(C) or otherwise.
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(vi) Definition. An ‘‘Outside Director’’ shall mean a member of the Board who is not employed by the

Company. Payments by the Company to amember of the Board solely in connectionwith providing services

to the Company as a member of the Board shall not be sufficient to constitute ‘‘employment’’ by the

Company.

Adopted by the Board of Directors on December 20, 2024
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

2023 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

1. Purpose

The purpose of this 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the ‘‘Plan’’) of MicroStrategy Incorporated, a Delaware

corporation (the ‘‘Company’’), is to advance the interests of the Company’s stockholders by enhancing the Company’s

ability to attract, retain andmotivate personswho are expected tomake important contributions to the Company and

by providing such persons with equity ownership opportunities and performance-based incentives that are intended

to better align the interests of such persons with those of the Company’s stockholders. Except where the context

otherwise requires, the term ‘‘Company’’ shall include any of the Company’s present or future parent or subsidiary

corporations as defined in Sections 424(e) or (f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any

regulations thereunder (the ‘‘Code’’) and any other business venture (including, without limitation, joint venture or

limited liability company) in which the Company has a controlling interest, as determined by the Board of Directors of

the Company (the ‘‘Board’’).

2. Eligibility

All of the Company’s employees, officers and directors, as well as consultants and advisors to the Company (as

the terms consultants and advisors are defined and interpreted for purposes of Form S-8 under the Securities Act of

1933, as amended (the ‘‘Securities Act’’), or any successor form) are eligible to be granted Awards (as defined below)

under the Plan. Each personwho is granted an Award under the Plan is deemed a ‘‘Participant.’’ The Plan provides for

the following types of awards, each of which is referred to as an ‘‘Award’’: Options (as defined in Section 5), SARs (as

defined in Section 6), Restricted Stock (as defined in Section 7), RSUs (as defined in Section 7), Other Stock-Based

Awards (as defined in Section 8) and Cash-Based Awards (as defined in Section 8). Any type of Award may be granted

as a Performance Award under Section 9. Except as otherwise provided by the Plan, each Award may be made alone

or in addition or in relation to any other Award. The terms of each Award need not be identical, and the Board need

not treat Participants uniformly.

3. Administration and Delegation

(a) Administration by Board of Directors. The Plan will be administered by the Board. The Board shall have

authority to grant Awards and to adopt, amend and repeal such administrative rules, guidelines and practices relating

to the Plan as it shall deem advisable. The Board may construe and interpret the terms of the Plan and any Award

agreements entered into under the Plan. The Board may correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any

inconsistency in the Plan or any Award. All actions and decisions by the Boardwith respect to the Plan and any Awards

shall be made in the Board’s discretion and shall be final and binding on all persons having or claiming any interest in

the Plan or in any Award.

(b) Appointment of Committees. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Boardmay delegate any or all of

its powers under the Plan to one ormore committees or subcommittees of the Board (a ‘‘Committee’’). All references

in the Plan to the ‘‘Board’’ shall mean the Board or a Committee of the Board or the Delegated Persons referred to in

Section 3(c) to the extent that theBoard’s powers or authority under the Plan have beendelegated to suchCommittee

or such Delegated Persons.

(c) Delegation to Delegated Persons. Subject to any requirements of applicable law (including as applicable

Sections 152(b) and 157(c) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware), the Board may, by resolution,

delegate to one or more persons (including officers of the Company) or bodies (such persons or bodies, the

‘‘Delegated Persons’’) the power to grant Awards (subject to any limitations under the Plan) to persons eligible to be

Participants and to exercise such other powers under the Plan as the Board may determine, provided that the Board

shall fix: (i) themaximumnumber of Awards, and themaximumnumber of shares issuable upon exercise thereof, that

may be granted by such Delegated Persons, (ii) the time period during which such Awards may be granted, (iii) the

time period during which the shares issuable upon exercise or vesting of such Awards may be issued, and (iv) the

minimum amount of consideration (if any) for which such Awards may be issued, and a minimum amount of

consideration for the shares issuable upon exercise thereof; and provided further, that no Delegated Person shall be

authorized to grant Awards to itself; and provided further, that no Delegated Person shall be authorized to grant

Awards to any ‘‘executive officer’’ of the Company (as defined by Rule 3b-7 under the Securities ExchangeAct of 1934,

as amended (the ‘‘Exchange Act’’)) or to any ‘‘officer’’ of the Company (as defined by Rule 16a-1(f) under the

Exchange Act).
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(d) Awards to Non-Employee Directors. Awards to non-employee directors will be granted and administered by

a Committee, all of the members of which are independent directors as defined by Section 5605(a)(2) of the Nasdaq

Marketplace Rules, or the rules and regulations of such other national securities exchange on which the Company

then maintains its primary listing, as applicable.

4. Stock Available for Awards

(a) Number of Shares; Share Counting.

(i) Authorized Number of Shares. Subject to adjustment under Section 10, Awards may be made under the

Plan (any or all of which Awards may be in the form of Incentive Stock Options, as defined in Section 5(b)) for up

to a number of shares of class A common stock, $0.001 par value per share, of the Company (the ‘‘Common

Stock’’), as is equal to the sum of:

(A) 200,000 shares of Common Stock; and

(B) such additional number of shares of Common Stock (up to 1,732,703) as is equal to the sum of

(x) the number of shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance under the Company’s 2013 Stock Incentive

Plan (the ‘‘Existing Plan’’) that remain available for grant under the Existing Plan immediately prior to the

date that the Plan is approved by the Company’s stockholders (the ‘‘Effective Date’’) and (y) the number of

shares of Common Stock subject to awards granted under the Existing Plan that are outstanding as of the

Effective Date and which awards expire, terminate or are otherwise surrendered, cancelled, forfeited or

repurchased by the Company at their original issuance price pursuant to a contractual repurchase right

(including shares subject to awards granted under the Existing Plan that are delivered (either by actual

delivery, attestation or net exercise) to the Company by a Participant after the Effective Date to (i) purchase

shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of such award or (ii) satisfy tax withholding obligations with

respect to such awards (including shares retained from the award creating the tax obligation) (subject,

however, in the case of Incentive Stock Options to any limitations under the Code)).

Shares of Common Stock issued under the Plan may consist in whole or in part of authorized but unissued

shares or treasury shares.

(ii) Share Counting. For purposes of counting the number of shares available for the grant of Awards under

the Plan under this Section 4(a):

(A) all shares of Common Stock covered by SARs (as defined below) shall be counted against the

number of shares available for the grant of Awards under the Plan; provided, however, that (i) SARs thatmay

be settled only in cash shall not be so counted and (ii) if the Company grants an SAR in tandem with an

Option for the same number of shares of Common Stock and provides that only one such Award may be

exercised (a ‘‘Tandem SAR’’), only the shares covered by the Option, and not the shares covered by the

Tandem SAR, shall be so counted, and the expiration of one in connection with the other’s exercise will not

restore shares to the Plan;

(B) to the extent that an RSUmay be settled only in cash, no shares shall be counted against the shares

available for the grant of Awards under the Plan;

(C) if any Award (i) expires, lapses or is terminated, exchanged for or settled in cash, surrendered or

cancelled without having been fully exercised or is forfeited in whole or in part (including as the result of

shares of Common Stock subject to such Award being repurchased by the Company at the original issuance

price (as adjusted upon the occurrence of the events described in 10(a) herein) pursuant to a contractual

repurchase right) or (ii) results in any Common Stock not being issued (including as a result of an SAR or an

RSU that was settleable either in cash or in stock actually being settled in cash), the unused Common Stock

covered by such Award shall again be available for the grant of Awards; provided, however, that (1) in the

case of Incentive Stock Options, the foregoing shall be subject to any limitations under the Code, (2) in the

case of the exercise of an SAR, the number of shares counted against the shares available under the Plan

shall be the full number of shares subject to the SAR multiplied by the percentage of the SAR actually

exercised, regardless of the number of shares actually used to settle such SAR upon exercise and (3) the

shares covered by a Tandem SAR shall not again become available for grant upon the expiration or

termination of such Tandem SAR;
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(D) shares of Common Stock delivered (either by actual delivery, attestation or net exercise) to the

Company by a Participant to (i) purchase shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of an Award or

(ii) satisfy tax withholding obligations with respect to Awards (including shares retained from the Award

creating the tax obligation) shall be added back to the number of shares available for the future grant of

Awards; and

(E) shares of Common Stock repurchased by the Company on the openmarket using the proceeds from

the exercise of an Award shall not increase the number of shares available for future grant of Awards.

(b) Substitute Awards. In connection with a merger or consolidation of an entity with the Company or the

acquisition by the Company of property or stock of an entity, the Boardmay grant Awards in substitution for any

options or other stock or stock-based awards granted by such entity or an affiliate thereof prior to such

transaction. Substitute Awards may be granted on such terms as the Board deems appropriate in the

circumstances, notwithstanding any limitations on Awards contained in the Plan. Substitute Awards shall not

count against the overall share limit set forth in Section 4(a)(i) (nor shall shares of Common Stock subject to a

Substitute Award be added to the shares available for Awards under the Plan as provided above), except as may

be required by reason of Section 422 and related provisions of the Code.

(c) Annual Awards to Outside Directors.

(i) Annual Grant. Beginning in 2023, onMay 31 of each year, each Outside Director who is then serving

as anOutside Director (as defined in Section 4(c)(iv)) as of such date shall automatically be granted (without

further action by the Board or any committee thereof) Awards having an aggregate fair value (calculated

based on grant date fair value for financial reporting purposes) equal to $300,000, with half of such Awards

($150,000 in fair value) being granted in the form of Nonstatutory Stock Options and half of such Awards

($150,000 in fair value) being granted in the form of RSUs (such Awards, together, the ‘‘Annual Grant’’).

(ii) Terms of Annual Grant. Options granted pursuant to Section 4(c)(i) shall (i) have an exercise price

equal to the Grant Date FairMarket Value of the Common Stock (as defined below); (ii) become exercisable

as to 100% of the shares subject to such Option on the first anniversary of the date of grant; (iii) unless

earlier terminated, expire at 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the tenth anniversary of the date of grant; and

(iv) otherwise be on and subject to such other terms and conditions as are set forth in theOption agreement

with respect to such grant and as the Board may determine. RSUs granted pursuant to Section 4(c)(i) shall

vest and be settled as to 100% of the shares subject to such RSU on the first anniversary of the date of grant

and otherwise be on and subject to such other terms and conditions as are set forth in the RSU agreement

with respect to such grant and as the Board may determine.

(iii) Limitations. Notwithstanding Section 4(c)(i), in the event that the number of shares of Common

Stock prescribed by Section 4(a)(i) is not sufficient to cover the Awards granted pursuant to Section 4(c)(i),

the remaining shares of CommonStock available for issuance shall be prorated among theOutsideDirectors

entitled to receive such Awards. Any further grants pursuant to Section 4(c)(i) shall then be deferred until

such time, if any, as additional shares of Common Stock become available for grant under the Plan, whether

pursuant to amendment of the Plan pursuant to Section 12(d) to increase the number of shares available for

issuance under the Plan or pursuant to the mechanisms set forth in Section 4(a)(ii)(C) or otherwise.

(iv) Definition. An ‘‘Outside Director’’ shall mean a member of the Board who is not employed by the

Company. Payments by the Company to amember of the Board solely in connectionwith providing services

to the Company as a member of the Board shall not be sufficient to constitute ‘‘employment’’ by the

Company.

5. Stock Options

(a) General. The Board may grant options to purchase Common Stock (each, an ‘‘Option’’) and determine

the number of shares of Common Stock to be covered by each Option, the exercise price of each Option and the

conditions and limitations applicable to the exercise of each Option, including conditions relating to applicable

federal or state securities laws, as the Board considers necessary or advisable.

(b) Incentive Stock Options. An Option that the Board intends to be an ‘‘incentive stock option’’ as defined

in Section 422 of the Code (an ‘‘Incentive Stock Option’’) shall only be granted to employees of MicroStrategy

Incorporated, any of MicroStrategy Incorporated’s present or future parent or subsidiary corporations as

D-5



defined in Sections 424(e) or (f) of the Code, and any other entities the employees of which are eligible to receive

Incentive Stock Options under the Code, and shall be subject to and shall be construed consistently with the

requirements of Section 422 of the Code. An Option that is not intended to be an Incentive Stock Option shall be

designated a ‘‘Nonstatutory Stock Option.’’ The Company shall have no liability to a Participant, or any other

person, if anOption (or any part thereof) that is intended to be an Incentive StockOption is not an Incentive Stock

Option or if the Company converts an Incentive Stock Option to a Nonstatutory Stock Option.

(c) Exercise Price. The Board shall establish the exercise price of each Option or the formula by which such

exercise price will be determined. The exercise price shall be specified in the applicable Option agreement. The

exercise price shall be not less than 100% of the Grant Date FairMarket Value (as defined below) of the Common

Stock on the date the Option is granted; provided that if the Board approves the grant of an Option with an

exercise price to be determined on a future date, the exercise price shall be not less than 100% of the Grant Date

FairMarket Value on such future date. ‘‘GrantDate FairMarket Value’’ of a share of CommonStock for purposes

of the Plan will be determined as follows:

(i) if the Common Stock trades on a national securities exchange, the closing sale price (for the primary

trading session) on the date of grant; or

(ii) if the Common Stock does not trade on any such exchange, the average of the closing bid and asked

prices on the date of grant as reported by an over-the-counter marketplace designated by the Board; or

(iii) if the Common Stock is not publicly traded, the Board will determine the Grant Date Fair Market

Value for purposes of the Plan using any measure of value it determines to be appropriate (including, as it

considers appropriate, relying on appraisals) in a manner consistent with the valuation principles under

Code Section 409A of the Code or any successor provision thereto, and the regulations thereunder

(‘‘Section 409A’’), except as the Board may expressly determine otherwise.

For any date that is not a trading day, the Grant Date FairMarket Value of a share of Common Stock for such

date shall be determined by using the closing sale price or average of the bid and asked prices, as

appropriate, for the immediately preceding trading day andwith the timing in the formulas above adjusted

accordingly. The Board can substitute a particular time of day or other measure of ‘‘closing sale price’’ or

‘‘bid and asked prices’’ if appropriate because of exchange or market procedures or can, use weighted

averages either on a daily basis or such longer period, in each case to the extent permitted by Section 409A.

The Board shall determine the Grant Date Fair Market Value for purposes of the Plan, and all Awards are

conditioned on the Participant’s agreement that the Board’s determination is conclusive and binding even

though others might make a different determination.

(d) Duration of Options. Each Option shall be exercisable at such times and subject to such terms and

conditions as the Board may specify in the applicable Option agreement; provided, however, that no Option will

be granted with a term in excess of 10 years.

(e) Exercise of Options. Options may be exercised by delivery to the Company of a notice of exercise in a

form (which may be electronic) approved by the Company, together with, as applicable, payment in full (in the

manner specified in Section 5(f)) of the exercise price for the number of shares for which the Option is exercised.

Shares of Common Stock subject to theOptionwill be delivered by the Company as soon as practicable following

exercise.

(f) Payment Upon Exercise. Common Stock purchased upon the exercise of an Option granted under the

Plan shall be paid for as follows:

(i) in cash, wire transfer of immediately available funds or by check, payable to the order of the

Company, provided that the Company may limit the use of one of the foregoing payment forms if one or

more of the payment forms below is permitted;

(ii) except asmay otherwise be provided in the applicableOption agreement or approved by the Board,

by (i) delivery of an irrevocable and unconditional undertaking by a creditworthy broker to deliver promptly

to the Company sufficient funds to pay the exercise price and any required taxwithholding or (ii) delivery by

the Participant to the Company of a copy of irrevocable and unconditional instructions to a creditworthy

broker to deliver promptly to the Company funds sufficient to pay the exercise price and any required tax

withholding;
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(iii) to the extent provided for in the applicable Option agreement or approved by the Board, by

delivery (either by actual delivery or attestation) of shares of Common Stock owned by the Participant

valued at their fair market value (valued in the manner determined or approved by the Board), provided

(i) such method of payment is then permitted under applicable law, (ii) such Common Stock, if acquired

directly from the Company, was owned by the Participant for such minimum period of time, if any, as may

be established by the Board and (iii) such Common Stock is not subject to any repurchase, forfeiture,

unfulfilled vesting or other similar requirements;

(iv) to the extent provided for in the applicable Nonstatutory Stock Option agreement or approved by

the Board, by delivery of a notice of ‘‘net exercise’’ to the Company, as a result of which the Participant

would receive (i) the number of shares underlying the portion of the Option being exercised, less (ii) such

number of shares as is equal to (A) the aggregate exercise price for the portion of theOption being exercised

divided by (B) the fairmarket value of the Common Stock (valued in themanner determined or approved by

the Board) on the date of exercise;

(v) to the extent permitted by applicable law and provided for in the applicable Option agreement or

approved by the Board, by payment of such other lawful consideration as the Board may determine; or

(vi) by any combination of the above permitted forms of payment.

(g) Limitation on Repricing. Unless such action is approved by the Company’s stockholders, the Company

may not (except as provided for under Section 10): (1) amend any outstanding Option granted under the Plan to

provide an exercise price per share that is lower than the then-current exercise price per share of such

outstanding Option; (2) cancel any outstanding option (whether or not granted under the Plan) and grant in

substitution therefor new Awards under the Plan (other than Awards granted pursuant to Section 4(b)) covering

the same or a different number of shares of Common Stock and having an exercise or measurement price per

share lower than the then-current exercise price per share of the cancelled option; (3) cancel in exchange for a

cash payment any outstanding Option with an exercise price per share above the then-current fair market value

of the Common Stock (valued in themanner determined or approved by the Board); or (4) take any other action

under the Plan that constitutes a ‘‘repricing’’ within the meaning of the rules of the Nasdaq StockMarket or any

other exchange or marketplace on which the Company’s stock is listed or traded (the ‘‘Exchange’’).

(h) No Reload Options. No Option granted under the Plan shall contain any provision entitling the

Participant to the automatic grant of additional Options in connection with any exercise of the original Option.

(i) No Dividend Equivalents. No Option shall provide for the payment or accrual of dividend equivalents.

6. Stock Appreciation Rights

(a) General. The Board may grant Awards consisting of stock appreciation rights (‘‘SARs’’) entitling the

holder, upon exercise, to receive an amount of Common Stock or cash or a combination thereof (such form to be

determined by the Board) determined by reference to appreciation, from and after the date of grant, in the fair

market value of a share of Common Stock (valued in themanner determined or approved by the Board) over the

measurement price established pursuant to Section 6(b). The date as of which such appreciation is determined

shall be the exercise date.

(b) Measurement Price. The Board shall establish the measurement price of each SAR and specify it in the

applicable SAR agreement. The measurement price shall not be less than 100% of the Grant Date Fair Market

Value of the Common Stock on the date the SAR is granted; provided that if the Board approves the grant of an

SAR effective as of a future date, the measurement price shall be not less than 100% of the Grant Date Fair

Market Value on such future date.

(c) Duration of SARs. Each SAR shall be exercisable at such times and subject to such terms and conditions

as the Board may specify in the applicable SAR agreement; provided, however, that no SAR will be granted with

a term in excess of 10 years.

(d) Exercise of SARs. SARs may be exercised by delivery to the Company of a notice of exercise in a form

(whichmay be electronic) approved by the Company, togetherwith any other documents required by the Board.

(e) Limitation on Repricing. Unless such action is approved by the Company’s stockholders, the Company

may not (except as provided for under Section 10): (1) amend any outstanding SAR granted under the Plan to
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provide ameasurement price per share that is lower than the then-currentmeasurement price per share of such

outstanding SAR; (2) cancel any outstanding SAR (whether or not granted under the Plan) and grant in

substitution therefor new Awards under the Plan (other than Awards granted pursuant to Section 4(b)) covering

the same or a different number of shares of Common Stock and having an exercise or measurement price per

share lower than the then-current measurement price per share of the cancelled SAR; (3) cancel in exchange for

a cash payment any outstanding SAR with a measurement price per share above the then-current fair market

value of the Common Stock (valued in the manner determined or approved by the Board); or (4) take any other

action under the Plan that constitutes a ‘‘repricing’’ within the meaning of the rules of the Exchange.

(f) NoReload SARs. No SAR granted under the Plan shall contain any provision entitling the Participant to the

automatic grant of additional SARs in connection with any exercise of the original SAR.

(g) No Dividend Equivalents. No SAR shall provide for the payment or accrual of dividend equivalents.

7. Restricted Stock; RSUs

(a) General. The Board may grant Awards entitling recipients to acquire shares of Common Stock

(‘‘Restricted Stock’’), subject to the right of the Company to repurchase all or part of such shares at their issue

price or other stated or formula price (or to require forfeiture of such shares if issued at no cost) from the

recipient in the event that conditions specified by the Board in the applicable Award are not satisfied prior to the

end of the applicable restriction period or periods established by the Board for such Award. The Board may also

grant Awards entitling the recipient to receive shares of Common Stock or cash to be delivered at the time such

Award vests or on a deferred basis (‘‘RSUs’’).

(b) Terms andConditions for Restricted Stock andRSUs. TheBoard shall determine the terms and conditions

of Restricted Stock and RSUs, including the conditions for vesting and repurchase (or forfeiture) and the issue

price, if any.

(c) Additional Provisions Relating to Restricted Stock.

(i) Dividends. Any dividends (whether paid in cash, stock or property) declared and paid by the

Companywith respect to shares of Restricted Stock (‘‘Unvested Dividends’’) shall be paid to the Participant

only if and when such shares become free from the restrictions on transferability and forfeitability that

apply to such shares. Each payment of Unvested Dividends will be made no later than the end of the

calendar year in which the dividends are paid to stockholders of that class of stock or, if later, the 15th day

of the thirdmonth following the lapsing of the restrictions on transferability and the forfeitability provisions

applicable to the underlying shares of Restricted Stock. No interest will be paid on Unvested Dividends.

(ii) Stock Certificates/Issuance. The Company may require that any stock certificates issued in respect

of shares of Restricted Stock, as well as dividends or distributions paid on such Restricted Stock, shall be

deposited in escrow by the Participant, together with a stock power endorsed in blank, with the Company

(or its designee) or, alternatively, that such shares be issued in book entry only, in the name of the

Participant with appropriate transfer and forfeiture restrictions. At the expiration of the applicable

restriction periods, the Company (or such designee) shall deliver the certificates no longer subject to such

restrictions (or, to the extent the Restricted Stock was issued in book entry, remove the restrictions) to the

Participant or if the Participant has died, to his or her Designated Beneficiary (as defined below).

(d) Additional Provisions Relating to RSUs.

(i) Settlement. Upon the vesting of and/or lapsing of any other restrictions with respect to each RSU,

the Participant shall be entitled to receive from the Company (i.e., settlement) the number of shares of

Common Stock specified in the Award agreement or (if so provided in the applicable Award agreement or

otherwise determined by the Board) an amount of cash equal to the fairmarket value (valued in themanner

determined or approved by the Board) of such number of shares or a combination thereof. The Board may

provide that settlement of RSUs shall be deferred, on amandatory basis or at the election of the Participant,

in a manner that complies with Section 409A.

(ii) Voting Rights. A Participant shall have no voting rights with respect to any RSUs.

(iii) Dividend Equivalents. The Award agreement for RSUs may provide Participants with the right to

receive an amount equal to any dividends or other distributions declared and paid on an equal number of
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outstanding shares of Common Stock (‘‘Dividend Equivalents’’). Dividend Equivalentsmay be credited to an

account for the Participant and may be settled in cash and/or shares of Common Stock, in each case to the

extent provided in the applicable Award agreement. Dividend Equivalents with respect to RSUs will be

subject to the same restrictions on transfer and forfeitability as the RSUs with respect to which paid. No

interest will be paid on Dividend Equivalents.

8. Other Stock-Based and Cash-Based Awards

(a) General. The Board may grant other Awards of shares of Common Stock, and other Awards that are

valued in whole or in part by reference to, or are otherwise based on, shares of Common Stock or other property

(‘‘Other Stock-Based Awards’’). Such Other Stock-Based Awards shall also be available as a form of payment in

the settlement of other Awards granted under the Plan or as payment in lieu of compensation to which a

Participant is otherwise entitled. Other Stock-Based Awards may be paid in shares of Common Stock or cash, as

the Board shall determine. The Company may also grant Awards denominated in cash rather than shares of

Common Stock (‘‘Cash-Based Awards’’).

(b) Terms and Conditions. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Board shall determine the terms and

conditions of each Other Stock-Based Award or Cash-Based Award, including any purchase price applicable

thereto.

(c) Dividend Equivalents. The Award agreement for an Other Stock-Based Award may provide Participants

with the right to receive Dividend Equivalents. Dividend Equivalents may be credited to an account for the

Participant andmay be settled in cash and/or shares of Common Stock, in each case to the extent provided in the

applicable Award agreement. Dividend Equivalents with respect to Other-Stock Based Awards will be subject to

the same restrictions on transfer and forfeitability as the Other Stock-Based Award with respect to which paid.

No interest will be paid on Dividend Equivalents.

9. Performance Awards.

(a) Grants. Awards under the Planmay bemade subject to the achievement of performance goals pursuant

to this Section 9 (‘‘Performance Awards’’).

(b) PerformanceMeasures. The Boardmay specify that the degree of granting, vesting and/or payout of any

Performance Award shall be subject to the achievement of one or more performance measures established by

the Board, which may be based on the relative or absolute attainment of specified levels of one or any

combination of the following, and which may be determined pursuant to generally accepted accounting

principles (‘‘GAAP’’) or on a non-GAAP basis, as determined by the Board:

(1) net income;

(2) earnings before or after discontinued operations, interest, taxes, depreciation and/or amortization;

(3) operating profit before or after discontinued operations and/or taxes,

(4) sales;

(5) sales growth;

(6) earnings growth;

(7) cash flow or cash position;

(8) gross margins;

(9) stock price;

(10) market share;

(11) return on sales, assets, equity or investment;

(12) improvement of financial ratings;

(13) achievement of balance sheet or income statement objectives;

(14) total stockholder return; or

(15) any other metric determined by the Board.
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Such goals may reflect absolute entity or business unit performance or a relative comparison to the

performance of a peer group of entities or other external measure of the selected performance criteria and

may be absolute in their terms or measured against or in relationship to other companies comparably,

similarly or otherwise situated. The Boardmay specify that such performancemeasures shall be adjusted to

exclude any one or more of:

i. extraordinary items;

ii. gains or losses on the dispositions of discontinued operations;

iii. the cumulative effects of changes in accounting principles;

iv. the writedown of any asset;

v. fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates;

vi. charges for restructuring and rationalization programs;

vii. non-cash, mark-to-market adjustments on derivative instruments;

viii. amortization of purchased intangibles;

ix. the net impact of tax rate changes;

x. non-cash asset impairment charges; and

xi. any other factors as the Board may determine.

Such performance measures:

a) may vary by Participant and may be different for different Awards;

b) may be particular to a Participant or the department, branch, line of business, subsidiary or other unit in

which the Participant works and may cover such period as may be specified by the Board; and

c) may cover such period as may be specified by the Board.

The Board shall have the authority to make equitable adjustments to the performance goals in recognition

of unusual or non-recurring events affecting the Company or the financial statements of the Company, in

response to changes in applicable laws or regulations or to account for items of gain, loss or expense

determined to be extraordinary or unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence or related to the disposal

of a segment of a business or related to a change in accounting principles.

(c) Adjustments. The Boardmay adjust the cash or number of shares payable pursuant to such Performance

Award, and the Board may, at any time, waive the achievement of the applicable performance measures.

(d) Dividends; Dividend Equivalents. Notwithstanding its designation as a Performance Award, noOption or

SAR shall provide for the payment or accrual of dividend equivalents in accordancewith Sections 5(i) and 6(g), as

applicable, any dividends declared and paid by the Company with respect to shares of Restricted Stock shall be

subject to Section 7(c)(i), and any right to receive Dividend Equivalents on an award of RSUs and Other

Stock-Based Awards shall be subject to Sections 7(d)(iii) and 8(c), as applicable.

10. Adjustments for Changes in Common Stock and Certain Other Events

(a) Changes in Capitalization. In the event of any stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend,

recapitalization, combination of shares, reclassification of shares, spin-off or other similar change in

capitalization or event, or any dividend or distribution to holders of Common Stock other than an ordinary cash

dividend, (i) the number and class of securities available under the Plan, (ii) the share counting rules, (iii) the

number and class of securities and exercise price per share of each outstanding Option, (iv) the share and

per-share provisions and the measurement price of each outstanding SAR, (v) the number of shares subject to

and the repurchase price per share subject to each outstanding award of Restricted Stock and (vi) the share and

per-share-related provisions and the purchase price, if any, of each outstanding RSU and eachOther Stock-Based

Award, shall be equitably adjusted by the Company (or substituted Awards may be made, if applicable) in the

manner determined by the Board. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event the Company

effects a split of the Common Stock by means of a stock dividend and the exercise price of and the number of
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shares subject to an outstanding Option are adjusted as of the date of the distribution of the dividend (rather

than as of the record date for such dividend), then an optioneewho exercises anOption between the record date

and the distribution date for such stock dividend shall be entitled to receive, on the distribution date, the stock

dividend with respect to the shares of Common Stock acquired upon such Option exercise, notwithstanding the

fact that such shares were not outstanding as of the close of business on the record date for such stock dividend.

(b) Reorganization Events.

(i) Definition. A ‘‘Reorganization Event’’ shall mean: (a) any merger or consolidation of the Company

with or into another entity as a result of which all of the Common Stock of the Company is converted into or

exchanged for the right to receive cash, securities or other property or is canceled, (b) any transfer or

disposition of all of the Common Stock of the Company for cash, securities or other property pursuant to a

share exchange or other transaction or (c) any liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

(ii) Consequences of a Reorganization Event on Awards Other than Restricted Stock.

(A) In connection with a Reorganization Event, the Board may take any one or more of the

following actions as to all or any (or any portion of) outstanding Awards other than Restricted Stock on

such terms as the Board determines (except to the extent specifically provided otherwise in an

applicable Award agreement or another agreement between the Company and the Participant):

i. provide that such Awards shall be assumed, or substantially equivalent Awards shall be

substituted, by the acquiring or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof);

ii. upon written notice to a Participant, provide that all of the Participant’s unvested Awards will

be forfeited immediately prior to the consummation of such Reorganization Event and/ or that all

of the Participant’s unexercised Awardswill terminate immediately prior to the consummation of

such Reorganization Event unless exercised by the Participant (to the extent then exercisable)

within a specified period following the date of such notice;

iii. provide that outstanding Awards shall become exercisable, realizable or deliverable, or

restrictions applicable to an Award shall lapse, in whole or in part prior to or upon such

Reorganization Event;

iv. in the event of a Reorganization Event under the terms of which holders of Common Stock will

receive upon consummation thereof a cash payment for each share surrendered in the

Reorganization Event (the ‘‘Acquisition Price’’), make or provide for a cash payment to

Participants with respect to each Award held by a Participant equal to (A) the number of shares of

Common Stock subject to the vested portion of the Award (after giving effect to any acceleration

of vesting that occurs upon or immediately prior to such Reorganization Event) multiplied by

(B) the excess, if any, of (I) the Acquisition Price over (II) the exercise, measurement or purchase

price of such Award and any applicable tax withholdings, in exchange for the termination of such

Award, provided, that if the Acquisition Price per share (as determined by the Board) does not

exceed the exercise price of such Award, then the Award shall be canceled without any payment

of consideration therefor;

v. provide that, in connection with a liquidation or dissolution of the Company, Awards shall

convert into the right to receive liquidation proceeds (if applicable, net of the exercise,

measurement or purchase price thereof and any applicable tax withholdings); and

vi. any combination of the foregoing.

In taking any of the actions permitted under this Section 10(b)(ii)(A), the Board shall not be

obligated by the Plan to treat all Awards, all Awards held by a Participant, or all Awards of the

same type, identically.

(B) Notwithstanding the terms of Section 10(b)(ii)(A)(i), in the case of outstanding RSUs that are

subject to Section 409A: (i) if the applicable RSU agreement provides that the RSUs shall be settled

upon a ‘‘change in control event’’ within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5)(i),

and the Reorganization Event constitutes such a ‘‘change in control event’’, then no assumption or

substitution shall be permitted pursuant to Section 10(b)(ii)(A)(i) and the RSUs shall instead be settled

D-11



in accordance with the terms of the applicable RSU agreement; and (ii) the Board may only undertake

the actions set forth in clauses (iii), (iv) or (v) of Section 10(b)(ii)(A) if the Reorganization Event

constitutes a ‘‘change in control event’’ as defined under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5)(i)

and such action is permitted or required by Section 409A; if the Reorganization Event is not a ‘‘change

in control event’’ as so defined or such action is not permitted or required by Section 409A, and the

acquiring or succeeding corporation does not assume or substitute the RSUs pursuant to clause (i) of

Section 10(b)(ii)(A), then the unvested RSUs shall terminate immediately prior to the consummation of

the Reorganization Event without any payment in exchange therefor.

(C) For purposes of Section 10(b)(ii)(A)(i), an Award (other than Restricted Stock) shall be

considered assumed if, following consummation of the Reorganization Event, such Award confers the

right to purchase or receive pursuant to the terms of such Award, for each share of Common Stock

subject to the Award immediately prior to the consummation of the Reorganization Event, the

consideration (whether cash, securities or other property) received as a result of the Reorganization

Event by holders of Common Stock for each share of Common Stock held immediately prior to the

consummation of the Reorganization Event (and if holders were offered a choice of consideration, the

type of consideration chosen by the holders of amajority of the outstanding shares of Common Stock);

provided, however, that if the consideration received as a result of the Reorganization Event is not

solely common stock of the acquiring or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof), the Company

may, with the consent of the acquiring or succeeding corporation, provide for the consideration to be

received upon the exercise or settlement of the Award to consist solely of such number of shares of

common stock of the acquiring or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof) that the Board

determined to be equivalent in value (as of the date of such determination or another date specified by

the Board) to the per share consideration received by holders of outstanding shares of Common Stock

as a result of the Reorganization Event.

(D) The Board may impose a limitation on the ability of Participants holding Options and/or SARs

to exercise their Awards for the minimum number of days prior to the closing of the Reorganization

Event as is reasonably necessary to facilitate the orderly closing of the Reorganization Event. The

Company shall provide reasonable notice to Participants of any such limitation on exercise.

(iii) Consequences of a Reorganization Event on Restricted Stock. Upon the occurrence of a

Reorganization Event other than a liquidation or dissolution of the Company, the repurchase and other

rights of the Company with respect to outstanding Restricted Stock shall inure to the benefit of the

Company’s successor and shall, unless the Board determines otherwise, apply to the cash, securities or

other property which the Common Stock was converted into or exchanged for pursuant to such

Reorganization Event in the samemanner and to the same extent as they applied to such Restricted Stock;

provided, however, that the Board may either provide for termination or deemed satisfaction of such

repurchase or other rights under the instrument evidencing any Restricted Stock or any other agreement

between a Participant and the Company, either initially or by amendment, or provide for forfeiture of such

Restricted Stock if issued at no cost. Upon the occurrence of a Reorganization Event involving the liquidation

or dissolution of the Company, except to the extent specifically provided to the contrary in the instrument

evidencing any Restricted Stock or any other agreement between a Participant and the Company, all

restrictions and conditions on all Restricted Stock then outstanding shall automatically be deemed

terminated or satisfied.

11. General Provisions Applicable to Awards

(a) Transferability of Awards. Awards shall not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise

encumbered by a Participant, either voluntarily or by operation of law, except by will or the laws of descent and

distribution or, other than in the case of an Incentive Stock Option, pursuant to a qualified domestic relations

order, and, during the life of the Participant, shall be exercisable only by the Participant; provided, however, that,

except with respect to Awards subject to Section 409A and Incentive Stock Options, the Board may permit or

provide in an Award for the gratuitous transfer of the Award by the Participant to or for the benefit of any

immediate family member, family trust or other entity established for the benefit of the Participant and/or an

immediate family member thereof if the Company would be eligible to use a Form S-8 under the Securities Act

for the registration of the sale of the CommonStock subject to suchAward to such proposed transferee; provided

further, that the Company shall not be required to recognize any such permitted transfer until such time as such
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permitted transferee shall, as a condition to such transfer, deliver to the Company a written instrument in form

and substance satisfactory to the Company confirming that such transferee shall be boundby all of the terms and

conditions of the Award. References to a Participant, to the extent relevant in the context, shall include

references to authorized transferees. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing contained in this Section 11(a) shall be

deemed to restrict a transfer to the Company.

(b) Documentation. Each Award shall be evidenced in such form (written, electronic or otherwise) as the

Board shall determine. Each Award may contain terms and conditions in addition to those set forth in the Plan.

(c) Termination of Status. The Board shall determine the effect on an Award of the disability, death,

termination or other cessation of employment or service, authorized leave of absence or other change in the

employment or other service status of a Participant and the extent to which, and the period during which, the

Participant, or the Participant’s legal representative, conservator, guardian or Designated Beneficiary, may

exercise rights, or receive any benefits, under an Award. ‘‘Designated Beneficiary’’ means (i) the beneficiary

designated, in a manner determined by the Board, by a Participant to receive amounts due or exercise rights of

the Participant in the event of the Participant’s death or (ii) in the absence of an effective designation by a

Participant, the Participant’s estate.

(d) Withholding. The Participant must satisfy all applicable federal, state, and local or other income and

employment tax withholding obligations before the Company will deliver stock certificates or otherwise

recognize ownership of Common Stock under an Award. The Company may elect to satisfy the withholding

obligations through additional withholding on salary or wages. If the Company elects not to or cannot withhold

from other compensation, the Participant must pay the Company the full amount, if any, required for

withholding or have a broker tender to the Company cash equal to the withholding obligations. Payment of

withholding obligations is due before the Company will issue any shares on exercise, vesting or release from

forfeiture of an Award or at the same time as payment of the exercise or purchase price, unless the Company

determines otherwise. If provided for in an Award or approved by the Board, a Participant may satisfy the tax

obligations in whole or in part by delivery (either by actual delivery or attestation) of shares of Common Stock,

including shares retained from the Award creating the tax obligation, valued at their fair market value (valued in

the manner determined or approved by the Company); provided, however, except as otherwise provided by the

Board, that the total tax withholding where stock is being used to satisfy such tax obligations cannot exceed the

Company’s minimum statutory withholding obligations (based on minimum statutory withholding rates for

federal and state tax purposes, including payroll taxes, that are applicable to such supplemental taxable income),

except that, to the extent that the Company is able to retain shares of Common Stock having a fair market value

(determined or approved by the Company) that exceeds the statutory minimum applicable withholding tax

without financial accounting implications or the Company is withholding in a jurisdiction that does not have a

statutoryminimumwithholding tax, the Companymay retain such number of shares of Common Stock (up to the

number of shares having a fair market value equal to the maximum individual statutory rate of tax (determined

or approved by, the Company)) as the Company shall determine to be necessary to satisfy the tax liability

associated with any Award. Shares used to satisfy tax withholding requirements cannot be subject to any

repurchase, forfeiture, unfulfilled vesting or other similar requirements.

(e) Amendment of Award. Except as otherwise provided in Section 5(g) and 6(e) with respect to repricings,

the Board may amend, modify or terminate any outstanding Award, including but not limited to, substituting

therefor another Award of the same or a different type, changing the date of exercise or realization, and

converting an Incentive Stock Option to a Nonstatutory Stock Option. The Participant’s consent to such action

shall be required unless (i) the Board determines that the action, taking into account any related action, does not

materially and adversely affect the Participant’s rights under the Plan or (ii) the change is permitted under

Section 10.

(f) Conditions on Delivery of Stock. The Company will not be obligated to deliver any shares of Common

Stock pursuant to the Plan or to remove restrictions from shares previously issued or delivered under the Plan

until (i) all conditions of the Award have been met or removed to the satisfaction of the Company, (ii) in the

opinion of the Company’s counsel, all other legal matters in connection with the issuance and delivery of such

shares have been satisfied, including any applicable securities laws and regulations and any applicable stock

exchange or stock market rules and regulations, and (iii) the Participant has executed and delivered to the

Company such representations or agreements as the Company may consider appropriate to satisfy the

requirements of any applicable laws, rules or regulations.
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(g) Acceleration. The Board may at any time provide that any Award shall become immediately exercisable

in whole or in part, free from some or all restrictions or conditions or otherwise realizable in whole or in part, as

the case may be.

12. Miscellaneous

(a) No Right To Employment or Other Status. No person shall have any claim or right to be granted an Award

by virtue of the adoption of the Plan, and the grant of an Award shall not be construed as giving a Participant the

right to continued employment or any other relationship with the Company. The Company expressly reserves

the right at any time to dismiss or otherwise terminate its relationshipwith a Participant free from any liability or

claim under the Plan, except as expressly provided in the applicable Award.

(b) No Rights As Stockholder; Clawback. Subject to the provisions of the applicable Award, no Participant or

Designated Beneficiary shall have any rights as a stockholder with respect to any shares of Common Stock to be

issued with respect to an Award until becoming the record holder of such shares. In accepting an Award under

the Plan, the Participant agrees to be bound by any clawback policy that the Company has in effect ormay adopt

in the future.

(c) Effective Date and Term of Plan. The Plan shall become effective on the Effective Date. No Awards shall

be granted under the Plan after the expiration of 10 years from the EffectiveDate, but Awards previously granted

may extend beyond that date.

(d) Amendment of Plan. The Boardmay amend, suspend or terminate the Plan or any portion thereof at any

time provided that (i) neither Section 5(g) nor Section 6(e) requiring stockholder approval of any Option or SAR

repricing may be amended without stockholder approval; (ii) no amendment that would require stockholder

approval under the rules of the national securities exchange on which the Company then maintains its primary

listing will be effective unless and until the Company’s stockholders approve such amendment; and (iii) if the

national securities exchange on which the Company then maintains its primary listing does not have rules

regarding when stockholder approval of amendments to equity compensation plans is required (or if the

Company’s Common Stock is not then listed on any national securities exchange), then no amendment to the

Plan (A) materially increasing the number of shares authorized under the Plan (other than pursuant to

Section 4(b) or 10), (B) expanding the types of Awards that may be granted under the Plan, or (C) materially

expanding the class of participants eligible to participate in the Plan shall be effective unless and until the

Company’s stockholders approve such amendment. In addition, if at any time the approval of the Company’s

stockholders is required as to any other modification or amendment under Section 422 of the Code or any

successor provision with respect to Incentive Stock Options, the Board may not effect such modification or

amendment without such approval. Unless otherwise specified in the amendment, any amendment to the Plan

adopted in accordance with this Section 12(d) shall apply to, and be binding on the holders of, all Awards

outstanding under the Plan at the time the amendment is adopted, provided the Board determines that such

amendment, taking into account any related action, does not materially and adversely affect the rights of

Participants under the Plan. No Award shall be made that is conditioned upon stockholder approval of any

amendment to the Plan unless the Award provides that (i) it will terminate or be forfeited if stockholder approval

of such amendment is not obtained within nomore than 12months from the date of grant and (2) it may not be

exercised or settled (or otherwise result in the issuance of Common Stock) prior to such stockholder approval.

(e) Authorization of Sub-Plans (including for Grants to non-U.S. Employees). The Board may from time to

time establish one or more sub-plans under the Plan for purposes of satisfying applicable securities, tax or other

laws of various jurisdictions. The Board shall establish such sub-plans by adopting supplements to the Plan

containing (i) such limitations on theBoard’s discretion under the Plan as theBoard deemsnecessary or desirable

or (ii) such additional terms and conditions not otherwise inconsistent with the Plan as the Board shall deem

necessary or desirable. All supplements adopted by the Board shall be deemed to be part of the Plan, but each

supplement shall apply only to Participants within the affected jurisdiction and the Company shall not be

required to provide copies of any supplement to Participants in any jurisdiction which is not the subject of such

supplement.

(f) Compliancewith Section 409A. If and to the extent (i) any portion of any payment, compensation or other

benefit provided to a Participant in connection with his or her employment termination constitutes

‘‘nonqualified deferred compensation’’ within the meaning of Section 409A and (ii) the Participant is a specified

employee as defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, in each case as determined by the Company in
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accordance with its procedures, by which determinations the Participant (through accepting the Award) agrees

that to be bound, such portion of the payment, compensation or other benefit shall not be paid before the day

that is six months plus one day after the date of ‘‘separation from service’’ (as determined under Section 409A)

(the ‘‘New Payment Date’’), except as Section 409A may then permit. The aggregate of any payments that

otherwise would have been paid to the Participant during the period between the date of separation from

service and theNewPayment Date shall be paid to the Participant in a lump sumon suchNewPayment Date, and

any remaining payments will be paid on their original schedule.

The Company makes no representations or warranty and shall have no liability to the Participant or any

other person if any provisions of or payments, compensation or other benefits under the Plan are determined to

constitute nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A but do not to satisfy the conditions of

that section.

(g) Limitations on Liability. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan, no individual acting as a

director, officer, employee or agent of the Company will be liable to any Participant, former Participant, spouse,

beneficiary, or any other person for any claim, loss, liability, or expense incurred in connectionwith the Plan, nor

will such individual be personally liablewith respect to the Plan because of any contract or other instrument such

individual executes in his or her capacity as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company. The Company

will indemnify and hold harmless each director, officer, employee or agent of the Company to whom any duty or

power relating to the administration or interpretation of the Plan has been or will be delegated, against any cost

or expense (including attorneys’ fees) or liability (including any sumpaid in settlement of a claimwith the Board’s

approval) arising out of any act or omission to act concerning the Plan unless arising out of such person’s own

fraud or bad faith.

(h) Governing Law. The provisions of the Plan and all Awards made hereunder shall be governed by and

interpreted in accordancewith the laws of the State of Delaware, excluding choice-of-law principles of the law of

such state that would require the application of the laws of a jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware.
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Appendix E

Excerpts from the Annual Report on Form 10-K of MicroStrategy Incorporated for the fiscal year ended

December 31, 2023 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 15, 2024

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

☒ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023

OR
□ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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Commission File Number 000-24435
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Delaware 1850 Towers Crescent Plaza, Tysons Corner, VA 22182 51-0323571

(State of Incorporation) (Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code) (I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code: (703) 848-8600
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Trading Symbol Name of Each Exchange on which Registered

Class A common stock, par value $0.001 per share MSTR The Nasdaq Global Select Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Not applicable

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes☒ No□

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes □ No☒

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to
such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes☒ No□

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to
Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to submit such files). Yes☒ No□

Indicate by checkmarkwhether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company,
or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of ‘‘large accelerated filer,’’ ‘‘accelerated filer,’’ ‘‘smaller reporting company,’’ and ‘‘emerging
growth company’’ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☒ Accelerated filer □
Non-accelerated filer □ Smaller reporting company □

Emerging growth company □

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with
any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. □

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its
internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm
that prepared or issued its audit report.☒

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included
in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. □

Indicate by checkmarkwhether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation
received by any of the registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b).□

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes □ No☒

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant (based on the last reported sale
price of the registrant’s class A common stock on June 30, 2023 on the Nasdaq Global Select Market) was approximately $4.133 billion.

As of February 1, 2024, the registrant had 15,004,100 and 1,964,025 shares of class A common stock and class B common stock outstanding,
respectively.

Documents incorporated by reference: Portions of the definitive proxy statement for the 2024 AnnualMeeting of Stockholders of the Registrant to
be filed subsequently with the SEC are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the extent indicated herein.

Auditor Firm Id: 185 Auditor Name: KPMG LLP Auditor Location: McLean, Virginia
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Information

The following discussion and analysis provides information which our management believes is relevant to an

assessment andunderstanding of our financial condition and results of operations. This discussion and analysis should

be read together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes that are included elsewhere in this

Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical financial information, this discussion and analysis contains

forward-looking statements that are based upon our current expectations, beliefs, estimates and projections, and

various assumptions,many ofwhich, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and beyondour control. See the section

of this Annual Report on Form 10-K entitled ‘‘Forward Looking Information and Risk Factor Summary.’’ Actual results

and timing of selected events may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a

result of various factors, including those set forth under ‘‘Part I. Item 1A. Risk Factors’’ or elsewhere in this Annual

Report on Form 10-K.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations for the year ended

December 31, 2021, including comparison of our results for the years endedDecember 31, 2022 and 2021, is included

in Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Business Overview

MicroStrategy® recently announced that it considers itself the world’s first Bitcoin development company. We are a

publicly-traded operating company committed to the continued development of the Bitcoin network through our

activities in the financial markets, advocacy and technology innovation. As an operating business, we are able to use

cash flows as well as proceeds from equity and debt financings to accumulate bitcoin, which serves as our primary

treasury reserve asset. We also develop and provide industry-leading AI-powered enterprise analytics software that

promotes our vision of Intelligence Everywhere™, and are using our software development capabilities to develop

bitcoin applications. Our software business, which we have operated for over 30 years, is our predominant

operational focus, providing cash flows and enabling us to pursue our bitcoin strategy. We believe that the

combination of our operating structure, bitcoin strategy and focus on technology innovation differentiates us in the

digital assets industry.

Bitcoin Strategy

Our bitcoin strategy includes (i) acquiring bitcoin using cash flows fromoperations and proceeds fromequity and debt

financings, (ii) developing product innovations that leverage Bitcoin blockchain technology, and (iii) periodically

engaging in advocacy and educational activities regarding the continued acceptance and value of bitcoin as an open,

secure protocol for an internet-native digital asset and the Lightning Network.

Enterprise Analytics Software Strategy

MicroStrategy is a pioneer in AI-powered business intelligence (BI), and a global leader in enterprise analytics

solutions. We provide software and services designed to turn complex, chaotic data environments into rich, reliable,

and convenient information feeds for our customers. Our vision is tomake everyworker a domain expert by delivering

Intelligence Everywhere™.

Our cloud-native flagship, MicroStrategy ONE™, powers some of the largest analytics deployments in the world for

customers spanning a wide range of industries, including retail, banking, technology, manufacturing, insurance,

consulting, healthcare, telecommunications, and the public sector.

Integral to the MicroStrategy ONE platform are Generative AI capabilities that are designed to automate and

accelerate the deployment of AI-enabled applications across our customers’ enterprises. By making advanced

analytics accessible through conversational AI, MicroStrategy ONE provides non-technical users with the ability to

directly access novel and actionable insights for decision-making.

The analytics market is highly competitive and subject to rapidly changing technology and market conditions. Our

ability to compete successfully depends on a number of factors within and outside of our control. Some of these

factors include software quality, performance and reliability; the quality of our service and support teams; marketing

and prospecting effectiveness, the ability to incorporate artificial intelligence and other technically advanced

features; and our ability to differentiate our products.
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As we continue to transition our business strategy and product offerings to a cloud-native model, we are enhancing

our go-to-market and sales strategies with the goal of focusing on acquiring new customers, driving revenue growth,

increasing margins, and streamlining our operations. As part of this strategic transformation, we have taken and will

continue to take measures to reorganize and optimize efficiency across our business functions, including sales,

marketing, consulting, product, engineering, as well as other corporate functions.

Our Bitcoin Acquisition Strategy

Our bitcoin acquisition strategy generally involves acquiring bitcoin with our liquid assets that exceed working capital

requirements, and from time to time, subject to market conditions, issuing debt or equity securities or engaging in

other capital raising transactions with the objective of using the proceeds to purchase bitcoin. We view our bitcoin

holdings as long-term holdings and expect to continue to accumulate bitcoin. We have not set any specific target for

the amount of bitcoin we seek to hold, and we will continue to monitor market conditions in determining whether to

engage in additional financings to purchase additional bitcoin. This overall strategy also contemplates that we may

(i) periodically sell bitcoin for general corporate purposes, including to generate cash for treasurymanagement (which

may include debt repayment), or in connection with strategies that generate tax benefits in accordance with

applicable law, (ii) enter into additional capital raising transactions that are collateralized by our bitcoin holdings, and

(iii) consider pursuing strategies to create income streams or otherwise generate funds using our bitcoin holdings.

Under our Treasury Reserve Policy, our treasury reserve assets consist of:

• Cash Assets held by us that exceed working capital requirements; and

• bitcoin held by us, with bitcoin serving as the primary treasury reserve asset on an ongoing basis, subject to

market conditions and anticipated needs of the business for Cash Assets.

During 2022 and 2023, we used proceeds from various capital raising transactions to purchase bitcoin. As of

December 31, 2023, we held an aggregate of approximately 189,150 bitcoins, with 16,081 bitcoins held directly by

MicroStrategy Incorporated and 173,069 bitcoins held by MacroStrategy. As of December 31, 2023, all of the

approximately 16,081 bitcoins held directly by MicroStrategy Incorporated, which had a market value of

$683.9 million based on the $42,531.41 market price of one bitcoin on the Coinbase exchange at 4:00 p.m. Eastern

Time on December 31, 2023, are held in a separate custodial account from those held byMacroStrategy and serve as

part of the collateral securing the 2028 Secured Notes. See below for further disclosure surrounding market value

calculations of our bitcoin.

The following table presents a roll-forward of our bitcoin holdings, including additional information related to our

bitcoin purchases, sales, and digital asset impairment losses within the respective periods:

Source of
Capital Used
to Purchase
Bitcoin

Digital Asset
Original Cost
Basis

(in thousands)

Digital Asset
Impairment
Losses

(in thousands)

Digital Asset
Carrying Value
(in thousands)

Approximate
Number of
Bitcoins Held
(Disposed)

Approximate
Average Purchase
or Sale Price Per
Bitcoin

Balance at December 31, 2021 $3,751,529 $ (901,319) $ 2,850,210 124,391 $30,159
Digital asset purchases (a) 287,921 287,921 8,813 32,670
Digital asset impairment

losses (1,287,213) (1,287,213)
Digital asset sales * (46,260) 35,370 (10,890) (704) 16,786
Balance at December 31, 2022 $3,993,190 $(2,153,162) $ 1,840,028 132,500 $30,137
Digital asset purchases (b) 1,902,299 1,902,299 56,650 33,580
Digital asset impairment

losses (115,851) (115,851)
Balance at December 31, 2023 $5,895,489 $(2,269,013) $ 3,626,476 189,150 $31,168

* During 2022, we sold approximately 704 bitcoins having an original cost basis of $46.3million and cumulative digital asset impairment losses
of $35.4 million, resulting in a carrying value of $10.9 million at the time of sale. The approximately 704 bitcoins were sold for cash proceeds
of $11.8 million, net of fees and expenses, resulting in gains on sale of $0.9 million.

(a) During 2022, we purchased bitcoin using $190.5 million of the net proceeds from the issuance of the 2025 Secured Term Loan, $44.6 million
of the net proceeds from our sale of class A common stock under an at-the-market equity offering program, $11.8 million in proceeds from
sales of bitcoin, and Excess Cash.

(b) During 2023,wepurchased bitcoin using $1.864 billion of the net proceeds fromour sale of class A common stock under at-the-market equity
offering programs, and Excess Cash.
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Excess Cash refers to cash in excess of the minimum Cash Assets that we are required to hold under our Treasury

Reserve Policy, which may include cash generated by operating activities and cash from the proceeds of financing

activities.

The following table shows the approximate number of bitcoins held at the end of each respective period, as well as

market value calculations of our bitcoin holdings basedon the lowest, highest, and endingmarket prices of onebitcoin

on the Coinbase exchange (our principal market) for each respective year, as further defined below:

Approximate
Number of
Bitcoins Held
at End of
Year

Lowest
Market Price
Per Bitcoin
During Year
(a)

Market Value
of Bitcoin Held
at End of Year
Using Lowest
Market Price
(in thousands)

(b)

Highest
Market Price
Per Bitcoin
During Year
(c)

Market Value
of Bitcoin Held
at End of Year
Using Highest
Market Price
(in thousands)

(d)

Market Price
Per Bitcoin at
End of Year
(e)

Market Value
of Bitcoin Held
at End of Year
Using Ending
Market Price
(in thousands)

(f)

December 31, 2021 124,391 $27,678.00 $3,442,894 $69,000.00 $8,582,979 $45,879.97 $5,707,055

December 31, 2022 132,500 $15,460.00 $2,048,450 $48,240.00 $6,391,800 $16,556.32 $2,193,712

December 31, 2023 189,150 $16,490.00 $3,119,084 $45,000.00 $8,511,750 $42,531.41 $8,044,816

(a) The ‘‘Lowest Market Price Per Bitcoin During Year’’ represents the lowest market price for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange

during the respective year, without regard to when we purchased any of our bitcoin.

(b) The ‘‘Market Value of Bitcoin Held Using Lowest Market Price’’ represents a mathematical calculation consisting of the lowest market price

for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange during the respective year multiplied by the number of bitcoins held by us at the end of

the applicable year.

(c) The ‘‘Highest Market Price Per Bitcoin During Year’’ represents the highest market price for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange

during the respective year, without regard to when we purchased any of our bitcoin.

(d) The ‘‘Market Value of Bitcoin Held Using HighestMarket Price’’ represents amathematical calculation consisting of the highest market price

for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange during the respective year multiplied by the number of bitcoins held by us at the end of

the applicable year.

(e) The ‘‘Market Price Per Bitcoin at End of Year’’ represents themarket price of one bitcoin on the Coinbase exchange at 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time

on the last day of the respective year.

(f) The ‘‘Market Value of Bitcoin Held at End of Year Using EndingMarket Price’’ represents amathematical calculation consisting of themarket

price of one bitcoin on the Coinbase exchange at 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time on the last day of the respective year multiplied by the number of

bitcoins held by us at the end of the applicable year.

The amounts reported as ‘‘Market Value’’ in the above table represent only a mathematical calculation consisting of

the price for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange (our principal market) in each scenario defined above

multiplied by the number of bitcoins held by us at the end of the applicable year. Bitcoin and bitcoin markets may be

subject to manipulation and the spot price of bitcoin may be subject to fraud and manipulation. Accordingly, the

Market Value amounts reported above may not accurately represent fair market value, and the actual fair market

value of our bitcoinmay be different from such amounts and such deviationmay bematerial.Moreover, (i) the bitcoin

market historically has been characterized by significant volatility in price, limited liquidity and trading volumes

compared to sovereign currencies markets, relative anonymity, a developing regulatory landscape, potential

susceptibility to market abuse and manipulation, compliance and internal control failures at exchanges, and various

other risks that are, or may be, inherent in its entirely electronic, virtual form and decentralized network and (ii) we

may not be able to sell our bitcoins at theMarket Value amounts indicated above, at the market price as reported on

the Coinbase exchange (our principal market) on the date of sale, or at all.

Our digital asset impairment losses, net of gains on sale, have significantly contributed to our operating expenses.

During 2023, digital asset impairment losses of $115.9 million represented 23.1% of our operating expenses,

compared to digital asset impairment losses, net of gains on sale, of $1.286 billion during 2022, representing 76.9% of

our operating expenses and contributing to our net loss of $1.470 billion for 2022.

As of February 14, 2024, we held approximately 190,000 bitcoins that were acquired at an aggregate purchase price

of $5.933 billion and an average purchase price of approximately $31,224 per bitcoin, inclusive of fees and expenses.

As of February 14, 2024, at 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time, themarket price of one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange

was $51,744.68.
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Operating Highlights

The following table sets forth certain operating highlights (in thousands) for the years ended December 31, 2023 and

2022:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Revenues

Product licenses $ 75,351 $ 86,498

Subscription services 81,179 60,746

Total product licenses and subscription services 156,530 147,244

Product support 263,888 266,521

Other services 75,843 85,499

Total revenues 496,261 499,264

Cost of revenues

Product licenses 1,929 1,672

Subscription services 31,776 24,770

Total product licenses and subscription services 33,705 26,442

Product support 22,434 21,264

Other services 53,805 55,283

Total cost of revenues 109,944 102,989

Gross profit 386,317 396,275

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 149,671 146,882

Research and development 120,530 127,428

General and administrative 115,312 111,421

Digital asset impairment losses (gains on sale), net 115,851 1,286,286

Total operating expenses 501,364 1,672,017

Loss from operations $(115,047) $(1,275,742)

We have incurred and may continue to incur significant impairment losses on our digital assets, and we have

recognized andmay continue to recognize gains upon sale of our digital assets in the future, which are presented net

of any impairment losses within operating expenses. In addition, we base our internal operating expense forecasts on

expected revenue trends and strategic objectives in our enterprise analytics software business. Many of our

expenses, such as office leases and certain personnel costs, are relatively fixed. Accordingly, any decrease in the price

of bitcoin during any quarter, any sales by us of our bitcoin at prices above their then current carrying costs or any

shortfall in revenue in our software business may cause significant variation in our operating results. We therefore

believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results may not be a good indication of our future

performance.
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Share-based Compensation Expense

As discussed in Note 11, Share-based Compensation, to the Consolidated Financial Statements, under our 2013 Stock

Incentive Plan (as amended, the ‘‘2013 Equity Plan’’) and 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the ‘‘2023 Equity Plan’’, and

together with the 2013 Equity Plan, the ‘‘Stock Incentive Plans’’), we have awarded stock options to purchase shares

of our class A common stock, restricted stock units, performance stock units, and certain other stock-based awards.

Each restricted stock unit and performance stock unit represents a contingent right to receive a share of our class A

common stock upon the satisfaction of applicable vesting requirements. We also provide opportunities for eligible

employees to purchase shares of our class A common stock under our 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ‘‘2021

ESPP’’). Share-based compensation expense (in thousands) from these awardswas recognized in the following cost of

revenues and operating expense line items for the periods indicated:

setcolor;;;0> Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Cost of subscription services revenues $ 361 $ 304

Cost of product support revenues 2,156 2,039

Cost of consulting revenues 1,940 1,754

Cost of education revenues 99 177

Sales and marketing 18,022 18,274

Research and development 13,549 13,896

General and administrative 33,444 27,175

Total share-based compensation expense $69,571 $63,619

The $6.0 million increase in share-based compensation expense during 2023, as compared to the prior year, is

primarily due to the grant of additional awards under the Stock Incentive Plans as part of the expansion of our equity

award programworldwide and the revaluation of certain liability-classified stock-based awards, partially offset by the

forfeiture of certain stock awards and certain awards that became fully vested. As of December 31, 2023, we

estimated that an aggregate of approximately $131.7 million of additional share-based compensation expense

associated with the Stock Incentive Plans and the 2021 ESPP will be recognized over a remaining weighted average

period of 2.3 years.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our Consolidated

Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. See Note 2, Summary of Significant

Accounting Policies, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of our significant accounting policies.

As described in Note 2, the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and

judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and equity, the disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the

reporting period. Actual results and outcomes could differ from these estimates and assumptions.

Critical accounting estimates involve a significant level of estimation uncertainty and are estimates that have had or

are reasonably likely to have amaterial impact on our financial condition or results of operations.We consider certain

estimates and judgments related to revenue recognition to be critical accounting estimates for us, as discussed

further below.

Revenue Recognition

See Note 2(n), Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Revenue Recognition, to the Consolidated Financial

Statements for information regarding our significant accounting policies over revenue recognition.

Many of our contracts with customers include multiple performance obligations, and we make estimates and

judgments to allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation based on an observable or estimated

standalone selling price (‘‘SSP’’). The SSP is the price, or estimated price, of the software or service when sold on a

standalone basis at contract inception. We consider our evaluation of SSP to be a critical accounting estimate.

An observable price of a good or service sold separately provides the best evidence of SSP. However, in many

situations, SSP will not be readily observable, but must still be estimated using reasonably available information. We
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have observable standalone selling prices of our product support, consulting services, and education services, and

therefore use historical transaction data on a standalone basis, along with our judgment, to establish SSP ranges for

each of these services, as described inNote 2(n). However, SSP is not directly observable for product licenses (product

licenses are not sold on a standalone basis and pricing is highly variable) and subscription services (the selling price of

subscription services is highly variable), andwe use a residual approach to establish SSP for these revenue streams. As

such, the establishment of SSP of our product support, consulting services, and education services directly impacts the

amount of product licenses and subscription services revenues recognized, and therefore also impacts the overall

timing of revenue recognition.

We review and analyze the SSP ranges we have established for product support, consulting services, and education

services semi-annually, and these SSP ranges do not change significantly year to year. We also perform analyses on a

semi-annual basis using historical pricing data for both product license and subscription services transactions to

assess whether the selling price is highly variable in order to support our conclusion that the residual method to

estimate SSPof our product licenses and subscription services continues to be a fair allocation of the transaction price.

In the future, SSP for our software and services could be impacted by various factors, including potential changes in

our pricing practices, customer demand for our products and services, and various market or economic conditions.

However, we consider the risk of significant volatility in our established SSP to be small given our historical transaction

experience and internal processes tomonitor SSP ranges on an ongoing basis andworkwithmanagement in the event

a trend that could impact the future ranges is detected.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Revenues

Except as otherwise indicated herein, the term ‘‘domestic’’ refers to operations in the United States and Canada and

the term ‘‘international’’ refers to operations outside of the United States and Canada.

Product licenses and subscription services revenues. The following table sets forth product licenses and subscription

services revenues (in thousands) and related percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

% Change2023 2022

Product Licenses and Subscription Services Revenues:

Product Licenses

Domestic $ 39,193 $ 54,794 -28.5%

International 36,158 31,704 14.0%

Total product licenses revenues 75,351 86,498 -12.9%

Subscription Services

Domestic 52,528 42,428 23.8%

International 28,651 18,318 56.4%

Total subscription services revenues 81,179 60,746 33.6%

Total product licenses and subscription services revenues $156,530 $147,244 6.3%

Product licenses revenues. Product licenses revenues decreased $11.1 million during 2023, as compared to the prior

year, primarily due to an overall decrease in the volume and average size of deals, with two particularly large deals

occurring during 2022. During 2023, our top three product licenses transactions totaled $8.9 million in recognized

revenue, or 11.8% of total product licenses revenues, compared to $13.1 million, or 15.1% of total product licenses

revenues, during 2022. Our product licenses revenues may continue to experience declines in future periods as we

continue to promote our cloud offering to new and existing customers.

Subscription services revenues. Subscription services revenues are derived from our MCE cloud subscription service

and are recognized ratably over the service period in the contract. Subscription services revenues increased

$20.4 million during 2023, as compared to the prior year, primarily due to conversions to cloud-based subscriptions
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from existing on-premises customers, a net increase in the use of subscription services by existing customers, and

sales contracts with new customers. We expect our subscription services revenues to continue to grow in future

periods as we continue to promote our cloud offering to new and existing customers.

Product support revenues. The following table sets forth product support revenues (in thousands) and related

percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

% Change2023 2022

Product Support Revenues:

Domestic $158,308 $159,385 -0.7%

International 105,580 107,136 -1.5%

Total product support revenues $263,888 $266,521 -1.0%

Product support revenues are derived fromproviding technical software support and software updates and upgrades

to customers. Product support revenues are recognized ratably over the term of the contract, which is generally

one year. Product support revenues decreased $2.6million during 2023, as compared to the prior year, primarily due

to certain existing customers converting from perpetual product licenses with separate support contracts to our

subscription services or term product licenses offerings, partially offset by a $1.5 million favorable foreign currency

exchange impact. Our product support revenues may experience declines in future periods as we continue to

promote our cloud offering to new and existing customers.

Other services revenues. The following table sets forth other services revenues (in thousands) and related percentage

changes for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

% Change2023 2022

Other Services Revenues:

Consulting

Domestic $35,261 $39,147 -9.9%

International 36,814 41,697 -11.7%

Total consulting revenues 72,075 80,844 -10.8%

Education 3,768 4,655 -19.1%

Total other services revenues $75,843 $85,499 -11.3%

Consulting revenues. Consulting revenues are derived from helping customers plan and execute the deployment of

our software. Consulting revenues decreased $8.8 million during 2023, as compared to the prior year, primarily due

to a decrease in billable hours worldwide, partially offset by an increase in average bill rates.

Education revenues. Education revenues are derived from the education and training that we provide to our

customers to enhance their ability to fully utilize the features and functionality of our software. These offerings

include self-tutorials, custom course development, joint training with customers’ internal staff, and standard course

offerings,with pricing dependent on the specific offering delivered. Education revenues decreased $0.9million during

2023, as compared to the prior year, primarily due to lower sales of annual subscriptions to training courses.
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Costs and Expenses

Cost of revenues. The following table sets forth cost of revenues (in thousands) and related percentage changes for

the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

% Change2023 2022

Cost of Revenues:

Product licenses and subscription services:

Product licenses $ 1,929 $ 1,672 15.4%

Subscription services 31,776 24,770 28.3%

Total product licenses and subscription services 33,705 26,442 27.5%

Product support 22,434 21,264 5.5%

Other services:

Consulting 51,311 50,820 1.0%

Education 2,494 4,463 -44.1%

Total other services 53,805 55,283 -2.7%

Total cost of revenues $109,944 $102,989 6.8%

Cost of product licenses revenues. Cost of product licenses revenues consists of referral fees paid to channel partners,

the costs of product manuals and media, and royalties paid to third-party software vendors. Cost of product licenses

revenues did not materially change during 2023 as compared to the prior year.

Cost of subscription services revenues. Cost of subscription services revenues consists of equipment, facility and

other related support costs (including cloud hosting infrastructure costs), and personnel and related overhead costs.

Cost of subscription services revenues increased$7.0million during 2023, as compared to theprior year, primarily due

to (i) a $5.7 million increase in cloud hosting infrastructure costs, which is a result of the increased usage by new and

existing cloud subscription services customers, (ii) a $0.5 million increase in employee salaries primarily attributable

to an increase in average staffing levels and wage increases, and (iii) a $0.4million increase in variable compensation.

Cost of product support revenues. Cost of product support revenues consists of personnel and related overhead

costs, including those under our Enterprise Support program. Our Enterprise Support program utilizes primarily

consulting personnel to provide product support to our customers at our discretion. Compensation related to

personnel providing Enterprise Support services is reported as cost of product support revenues. Cost of product

support revenues increased $1.2 million during 2023, as compared to the prior year, primarily due to a $1.7 million

increase in compensation and related costs attributable to non-product support personnel providing an increased

level of Enterprise Support services.

Cost of consulting revenues. Cost of consulting revenues consists of personnel and related overhead costs, excluding

those under our Enterprise Support program which are allocated to cost of product support revenues. Cost of

consulting revenues increased $0.5 million during 2023, as compared to the prior year, primarily due to (i) a

$1.8 million increase in variable compensation, (ii) a $1.6 million increase in severance costs associated with

streamlining our organization, (iii) a $0.6 million increase in facility and other related support costs, and (iv) a

$0.5million increase in employee salaries primarily attributable towage increases, partially offset by a shift in staffing

levels to lower cost regions, partially offset by (v) a $2.0million decrease in subcontractor costs and (vi) a $1.8million

decrease in compensation and related costs attributable to consulting personnel providing an increased level of

Enterprise Support services. Included in cost of consulting revenues for 2023 is an aggregate $0.7million unfavorable

foreign currency exchange impact.

Cost of education revenues. Cost of education revenues consists of personnel and related overhead costs. Cost of

education revenues decreased $2.0 million during 2023, as compared to the prior year, primarily due to (i) a

$1.2 million decrease in employee salaries primarily attributable to a decrease in average staffing levels and (ii) a

$0.4 million decrease in variable compensation.
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Sales and marketing expenses. Sales and marketing expenses consist of personnel costs, commissions, office

facilities, travel, advertising, public relations programs, and promotional events, such as trade shows, seminars, and

technical conferences. The following table sets forth sales and marketing expenses (in thousands) and related

percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

% Change2023 2022

Sales and marketing expenses $149,671 $146,882 1.9%

Sales andmarketing expenses increased $2.8million during 2023, as compared to the prior year, primarily due to (i) a

$3.0 million increase in severance costs associated with streamlining our organization, (ii) a $2.3 million increase in

travel and entertainment expenditures due to the return of in-person events andmeetings, (iii) a $1.9million increase

in marketing costs due to the return of in-person events and meetings, and (iv) a $0.8 million increase in facility and

other related support costs, partially offset by (v) a $2.8 million decrease in employee salaries primarily attributable

to a decrease in average staffing levels, partially offset by wage increases, (vi) a $2.4 million decrease in variable

compensation primarily attributable to a decrease in commissions earned, partially offset by a decrease in net

capitalized commissions and increases in other personnel costs and employee relations expenses, and (vii) a

$0.2 million net decrease in share-based compensation expense primarily attributable to the forfeiture of certain

awards, being substantially offset by the grant of additional awards under the Stock Incentive Plans and the fair value

remeasurement of certain liability-classified awards at the end of the reporting period. Included in sales and

marketing expenses for 2023 is an aggregate $0.7 million unfavorable foreign currency exchange impact.

Research and development expenses. Research and development expenses consist of the personnel costs for our

software engineering personnel and related overhead costs. The following table summarizes research and

development expenses (in thousands) and related percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

% Change2023 2022

Research and development expenses $120,530 $127,428 -5.4%

Research anddevelopment expenses decreased $6.9million during 2023, as compared to theprior year, primarily due

to (i) a $3.9 million decrease in employee salaries primarily attributable to a decrease in average staffing levels,

partially offset by wage increases, (ii) a $2.0 million decrease in variable compensation, (iii) a $0.6 million decrease in

recruiting costs, (iv) a $0.6 million decrease in facility and other related support costs, (v) a $0.5 million decrease in

subcontractor costs, and (vi) a $0.3 million net decrease in share-based compensation expense primarily attributable

to the forfeiture of certain awards, being substantially offset by the grant of additional awards under the Stock

Incentive Plans and the fair value remeasurement of certain liability-classified awards at the end of the reporting

period, partially offset by (vii) a $1.7million increase in severance costs associatedwith streamlining our organization.

Included in research and development expenses for 2023 is an aggregate $1.2 million favorable foreign currency

exchange impact.

General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses consist of personnel and related

overhead costs, and other costs of our executive, finance, human resources, information systems, and administrative

departments, as well as third-party consulting, legal, and other professional fees. The following table sets forth

general and administrative expenses (in thousands) and related percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

% Change2023 2022

General and administrative expenses $115,312 $111,421 3.5%

General and administrative expenses increased $3.9million during 2023, as compared to the prior year, primarily due

to (i) a $6.3million net increase in share-based compensation expense primarily attributable to the grant of additional

awards under the Stock Incentive Plans, partially offset by certain awards that became fully vested, (ii) a $1.2 million

increase in the estimated minimum loss with respect to the Brazilian matters noted in Note 9, Commitments and

Contingencies, to the Consolidated Financial Statements, (iii) a $0.7 million increase in severance costs associated

with streamlining our organization, and (iv) a $0.5million increase in directors and officers liability insurance expense,
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partially offset by (v) a $2.3 million decrease in costs related to the maintenance and operations of our corporate

aircraft, (vi) a $0.9 million decrease in recruiting costs, (vii) a $0.6 million decrease in legal, consulting, advisory, and

other third-party costs, and (viii) a $0.5 million decrease in variable compensation.

Digital asset impairment losses, (gains on sale), net. Digital asset impairment losses are recognized when the

carrying value of our digital assets exceeds their lowest fair value at any time since their acquisition. Impaired digital

assets arewritten down to fair value at the time of impairment, and such impairment loss cannot be recovered for any

subsequent increases in fair value. Gains (if any) are not recorded until realized upon sale. The following table

sets forth digital asset impairment losses (gains on sale), net (in thousands) and related percentage changes for the

periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

% Change2023 2022

Digital asset impairment losses $115,851 $1,287,213 -91.0%

Gains on sale of digital assets 0 927 -100.0%

Digital asset impairment losses (gains on sale), net $115,851 $1,286,286 -91.0%

We may continue to incur significant digital asset impairment losses in the future. For example, we have incurred at

least $28.9 million in digital asset impairment losses during the first quarter of 2024 on bitcoin we held as of

December 31, 2023.

Interest Expense, Net

In 2023, interest expense, net, was comprised primarily of contractual interest expense and amortization of issuance

costs related to our long-term debt arrangements and contractual interest expense incurred on short-term trade

credits to purchase bitcoin, partially offset by interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents. In 2022, interest

expense, net, was comprised primarily of contractual interest expense and amortization of issuance costs related to

our long-term debt arrangements. Interest expense, net, decreased $4.2 million during 2023, as compared to the

prior year, and is expected to continue to decrease in the first quarter of 2024 compared to the same period in 2023,

as a result of the repayment of the 2025 Secured Term Loan in March 2023. Refer to Note 8, Long-term Debt, and

Note 4, Digital Assets, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Gain on Debt Extinguishment

In 2023, the $44.7 million gain on debt extinguishment resulted from the repayment of the 2025 Secured Term Loan.

Refer to Note 8, Long-term Debt, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Other (Expense) Income, Net

Other expense, net, of $5.2 million in 2023 was comprised primarily of foreign currency transaction net losses. Other

income, net, of $6.4 million in 2022 was comprised primarily of foreign currency transaction net gains.

(Benefit from) Provision for Income Taxes

During 2023, we recorded a benefit from income taxes of $553.6 million on a pre-tax loss of $124.5 million that

resulted in an effective tax rate of 444.6%, as compared to a provision for income taxes of $147.3 million on a pre-tax

loss of $1.322 billion that resulted in an effective tax rate of (11.1)% during 2022. Our benefit from income taxes

increased compared to the prior year primarily due (i) the release of the valuation allowance during 2023 on our

deferred tax asset related to the impairment on our bitcoin holdings, attributable to the increase in market value of

bitcoin as of December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022, compared to (ii) the establishment of a valuation

allowance during 2022 on our deferred tax asset related to the impairment on our bitcoin holdings, attributable to the

decrease in market value of bitcoin as of December 31, 2022 compared to December 31, 2021.

The U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act imposed a mandatory deemed repatriation transition tax (‘‘Transition Tax’’) on

previously untaxed accumulated and current earnings and profits of certain of our foreign subsidiaries. As of

December 31, 2023, $16.6 million of the Transition Tax was unpaid, of which $9.2 million is included in ‘‘Other

long-term liabilities’’ and $7.4million is netted against certain tax overpayments within ‘‘Prepaid expenses and other

current assets’’ in our Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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As of December 31, 2023, we had no U.S. federal net operating loss (‘‘NOL’’) carryforwards and $3.0million of foreign

NOL carryforwards. As of December 31, 2023, we also had gross state NOLs of $10.1 million of which $9.1 million will

expire by 2042 and the remainder can be carried forward indefinitely. As of December 31, 2023, digital asset

impairment losses, other temporary differences and carryforwards resulted in deferred tax assets, net of valuation

allowances and deferred tax liabilities, of $757.2 million.

As of December 31, 2023, we had a valuation allowance of $1.4 million primarily related to our deferred tax assets

related to foreign tax credits in certain jurisdictions. This is a significant change from the valuation allowance as of

December 31, 2022 of $511.4million. The largest deferred tax asset relates to the impairment on our bitcoin holdings.

During 2023, the value of bitcoin increased substantially which allowed us to release the valuation allowance

recorded against the deferred tax asset for impairment on our bitcoin holdings. Changes to the valuation allowance

against the deferred tax asset are largely dependent on the change in the market value of bitcoin from the previous

reporting date. If themarket value of bitcoin declines orwe are unable to regain profitability in future periods,wemay

be required to increase the valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets, which could result in a charge that

would materially adversely affect net income (loss) in the period in which the charge is incurred. We routinely

consider actions necessary to preserve or utilize tax attributes.Wewill continue to regularly assess the realizability of

deferred tax assets.

As of December 31, 2023, we have not indefinitely reinvested any of our undistributed foreign earnings and have

recorded a deferred tax liability of $2.9 million on undistributed foreign earnings related to foreign withholding tax

and U.S. state income taxes.

Deferred Revenue and Advance Payments

Deferred revenue and advance payments represent amounts received or due from our customers in advance of our

transferring our software or services to the customer. In the case of multi-year service contract arrangements, we

generally do not invoice more than one year in advance of services and do not record deferred revenue for amounts

that have not been invoiced. Revenue is subsequently recognized in the period(s) in which control of the software or

services is transferred to the customer.

The following table summarizes deferred revenue and advance payments (in thousands), as of:

December 31,

2023 2022

Current:

Deferred product licenses revenue $ 3,579 $ 2,825

Deferred subscription services revenue 65,512 51,861

Deferred product support revenue 152,012 155,366

Deferred other services revenue 7,059 7,376

Total current deferred revenue and advance payments $228,162 $217,428

Non-current:

Deferred product licenses revenue $ 0 $ 2,742

Deferred subscription services revenue 3,097 3,030

Deferred product support revenue 4,984 6,387

Deferred other services revenue 443 604

Total non-current deferred revenue and advance payments $ 8,524 $ 12,763

Total current and non-current:

Deferred product licenses revenue $ 3,579 $ 5,567

Deferred subscription services revenue 68,609 54,891

Deferred product support revenue 156,996 161,753

Deferred other services revenue 7,502 7,980

Total current and non-current deferred revenue and advance payments $236,686 $230,191
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The portions of multi-year contracts that will be invoiced in the future are not presented on the balance sheet in

‘‘Accounts receivable, net’’ and ‘‘Deferred revenue and advance payments’’ and instead are included in the remaining

performance obligation disclosure below. Total deferred revenue and advance payments increased $6.5 million in

2023, as compared to the prior year, primarily due to an increase in deferred revenue from new and renewed

subscription services contracts, partially offset by (i) a decrease in deferred product support revenue froman increase

in conversions from on-premises to subscription services contracts, and (ii) a decrease in deferred licenses revenue

from the recognition of an early renewal of a large term license deal at the end of 2022.

Our remaining performance obligation represents all future revenue under contract and includes deferred revenue

and advance payments and billable non-cancelable amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in future

periods. The remaining performance obligation excludes contracts that are billed in arrears, such as certain time and

materials contracts. As of December 31, 2023,wehad an aggregate transaction price of $339.7million allocated to the

remaining performance obligation related to product support, subscription services, product licenses, and other

services contracts. We expect to recognize approximately $255.5 million of the remaining performance obligation

over the next 12months and the remainder thereafter. However, the timing and ultimate recognition of our deferred

revenue and advance payments and other remaining performance obligations depend on our satisfaction of various

performance obligations, and the amount of deferred revenue and advance payments and remaining performance

obligations at any date should not be considered indicative of revenues for any succeeding period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity.

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents and on-going collection of our accounts receivable.

Cash and cash equivalents may include holdings in bank demand deposits, moneymarket instruments, certificates of

deposit, and U.S. Treasury securities. Under our Treasury Reserve Policy and bitcoin acquisition strategy, we use a

significant portion of our cash, including cash generated from capital raising transactions, to acquire bitcoins. In 2023

and 2022, we issued and sold 5,097,890 shares and 218,575 shares, respectively, of our class A common stock under

our at-the-market equity offering programs for aggregate net proceeds (net of sales commissions and expenses) of

$2.020 billion and $46.2 million, respectively. For additional information, see ‘‘-At-the-Market Equity Offerings’’

below.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the amount of cash and cash equivalents held by our U.S. entities was

$10.5 million and $14.8 million, respectively, and by our non-U.S. entities was $36.3 million and $29.0 million,

respectively. We earn a significant amount of our revenues outside the United States and we repatriated foreign

earnings and profits of $20.3 million during 2023 and $44.7 million during 2022.

Our material contractual obligations (explained in further detail in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements, as referenced below) and cash requirements consist of:

• principal and interest payments related to our long-term debt (Note 8, Long-term Debt);

• rent payments under noncancellable operating leases (Note 7, Leases);

• payments related to the Transition Tax (Note 9, Commitments and Contingencies);

• payments under various purchase agreements, primarily related to third-party cloud hosting services and

third-party software supporting our products, marketing, and operations (Note 9, Commitments and

Contingencies); and

• ongoing personnel-related expenditures and vendor payments.

We believe that existing cash and cash equivalents held by us and cash and cash equivalents anticipated to be

generated by us are sufficient to meet working capital requirements, anticipated capital expenditures, and

contractual obligations for at least the next 12months. Beyond the next 12months, our long-term cash requirements

are primarily for obligations related to our long-termdebt.Wehaveprincipal dueuponmaturity of our long-termdebt

instruments in the aggregate of $2.208 billion in addition to $2.4 million in coupon interest due each semi-annual

period for the 2025 Convertible Notes, $15.3 million in coupon interest due each semi-annual period for the 2028

SecuredNotes, and $0.1million duemonthly in principal and interest related to our other long-term secured debt.We

also have long-term cash requirements for obligations related to our operating leases, the Transition Tax, and our

various purchase agreements. As of December 31, 2023,wedonot expect cash and cash equivalents generated by our

enterprise analytics software business to be sufficient to satisfy these obligations. As a result, wewould seek to satisfy
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these obligations through various options that we expect to be available to us, such as refinancing our debt or

generating cash from other sources, which may include the issuance and sale of shares of our class A common stock,

borrowings collateralized by bitcoin, or the sale of our bitcoin. Furthermore, we may elect to settle the Convertible

Notes upon a conversion of such Convertible Notes in cash, shares of our class A common stock, or a combination of

cash and shares of class A common stock,whichmay enable us to reduce the amount of our cash obligations under the

Convertible Notes.

The 2028 Secured Notes have a stated maturity date of June 15, 2028, but include a springing maturity feature that

will cause the stated maturity date to spring ahead to the date that is (i) 91 days prior to the existing maturity date of

the 2025 Convertible Notes (which is September 15, 2025), (ii) 91 days prior to the existing maturity date of the 2027

Convertible Notes (which is November 16, 2026), or (iii) 91 days prior to the maturity date of any future convertible

debt thatwemay issue that is then outstanding, unless on such dateswemeet specified liquidity requirements or less

than $100,000,000 of aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes, the 2027 Convertible Notes, or such

future convertible debt, as applicable, remains outstanding.

As of December 31, 2023, we held approximately 189,150 bitcoins, of which approximately 173,069 are

unencumbered. We do not believe we will need to sell or engage in other transactions with respect to any of our

bitcoinswithin the next twelvemonths tomeet ourworking capital requirements, althoughwemay from time to time

sell or engage in other transactions with respect to our bitcoins as part of treasury management operations, as noted

above. The bitcoin market historically has been characterized by significant volatility in its price, limited liquidity and

trading volumes compared to sovereign currencies markets, relative anonymity, a developing regulatory landscape,

susceptibility to market abuse and manipulation, compliance and internal control failures at exchanges, and various

other risks inherent in its entirely electronic, virtual form and decentralized network. During times of instability in the

bitcoin market, we may not be able to sell our bitcoins at reasonable prices or at all. As a result, our bitcoins are less

liquid than our existing cash and cash equivalents and may not be able to serve as a source of liquidity for us to the

same extent as cash and cash equivalents. In addition, upon sale of our bitcoin, wemay incur additional taxes related

to any realized gains or we may incur capital losses as to which the tax deduction may be limited.

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows (in thousands) and related percentage changes for the

periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

% Change2023 2022

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 12,712 $ 3,211 295.9%

Net cash used in investing activities $(1,905,237) $(278,590) 583.9%

Net cash provided by financing activities $ 1,889,886 $ 265,188 612.7%

Net cash provided by operating activities. The primary source of our cash provided by operating activities is cash

collections of our accounts receivable from customers following the sales and renewals of our product licenses,

subscription services and product support, as well as consulting and education services. Our primary uses of cash in

operating activities are for personnel-related expenditures for software development, personnel-related

expenditures for providing consulting, education, and subscription services, and for sales and marketing costs,

general and administrative costs, interest expense related to our long-term debt arrangements, and income taxes. In

2023 and 2022, non-cash items to further reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities

consist primarily of depreciation and amortization, reduction in the carrying amount of operating lease right-of-use

assets, credit losses and sales allowances, deferred taxes, release of liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits,

share-based compensation expense, digital asset impairment losses, net of gains on sale, amortization of the issuance

costs on our long-term debt, and gain on extinguishment of debt.

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $9.5 million during 2023, as compared to the prior year, due to a

$1.899 billion increase in net income and a $15.6 million increase from changes in operating assets and liabilities,

partially offset by a $1.905 billion decrease in non-cash items (principally related to digital asset impairment losses

and deferred taxes and gain on extinguishment of debt).

Net cash used in investing activities. In 2023 and 2022, the changes in cash used in andprovided by investing activities

primarily relate to purchases and sales of digital assets and expenditures on property and equipment. Net cash used

in investing activities increased $1.627 billion during 2023, as compared to the prior year, primarily due to a

$1.614 billion increase in purchases of bitcoins and an $11.8 million decrease in sales of bitcoins. During 2023, we
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purchased $1.902 billion of bitcoin using net proceeds from the sale of class A common stock under our at-the-market

offering programs, and Excess Cash. During 2022, we purchased $287.9million of bitcoin using net proceeds from the

issuance of the 2025 Secured Term Loan, net proceeds from the sale of class A common stock under our at-the-market

offering program, proceeds from sales of bitcoin, and Excess Cash.

Net cash provided by financing activities. In 2023 and 2022, the changes in cash provided by and used in financing

activities primarily relate to the sale of class A common stock under our at-the-market equity offering program, the

issuance and subsequent repayment of our long-term debt, the exercise or vesting of certain awards under the 2013

Equity Plan, and the sales of class A common stock under the 2021 ESPP. Net cash provided by financing activities

increased $1.625 billion during 2023, as compared to the prior year, primarily due to (i) a $1.974 billion increase in net

proceeds from the sale of class A common stock under our at-the-market equity offering program during 2023 as

compared to 2022, (ii) a $29.1 million increase in proceeds from the exercise of stock options under the 2013 Equity

Plan during 2023 compared to 2022, partially offset by (iii) a $215.4 million decrease in long-term debt proceeds, net

of lender fees and issuance costs during 2023 as compared to 2022, (iv) the $160.0 million repayment of the 2025

Secured Term Loan and related third-party extinguishment costs during 2023, which was repaid using proceeds from

our sale of class A common stock offered under our at-the-market equity offering program, (v) a $2.0million increase

in payment ofwithholding tax on vesting of restricted stock units during 2023 compared to 2022 and (vi) a $0.5million

decrease in proceeds from the sales of class A common stock under the 2021 ESPP during 2023 compared to 2022.

Long-term Debt

The terms of each of the long-term debt instruments described below are discussed more fully in Note 8, Long-term

Debt, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2020, we issued $650.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes and in

February 2021, we issued $1.050 billion aggregate principal amount of the 2027 Convertible Notes. We used the net

proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Notes to acquire bitcoin. During 2023 and 2022, we paid $4.9 million

and $4.9million, respectively, in interest to holders of the 2025 Convertible Notes. The 2027 Convertible Notes do not

bear regular interest and we have not paid any special interest to holders of the 2027 Convertible Notes to date.

In June 2021, we issued $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes. We used the net

proceeds from the issuance of the 2028 Secured Notes to acquire bitcoin. As of December 31, 2023, approximately

16,081 bitcoins held byMicroStrategy Incorporated serve as part of the collateral for the 2028 Secured Notes. During

2023 and 2022,we paid $30.6million and $30.6million, respectively, in interest to holders of the 2028 SecuredNotes.

In March 2022, MacroStrategy, our wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a Credit and Security Agreement with

Silvergate Bank, pursuant to which Silvergate Bank issued the $205.0 million 2025 Secured Term Loan to

MacroStrategy. We used $190.5 million of the net proceeds from the issuance of the 2025 Secured Term Loan to

acquire bitcoin, $5.0 million of the net proceeds to establish a reserve account that served as collateral for the 2025

Secured Term Loan, and the remaining net proceeds to pay fees, interest, and expenses related to the 2025 Secured

Term Loan. OnMarch 24, 2023, MacroStrategy and Silvergate Bank entered into a Prepayment, Waiver and Payoff to

Credit and Security Agreement, pursuant to which MacroStrategy voluntarily prepaid Silvergate approximately

$161.0 million (the ‘‘Payoff Amount’’), in full repayment, satisfaction, and discharge of the 2025 Secured Term Loan

and all other obligations under the Credit and Security Agreement. Upon Silvergate’s receipt of the Payoff Amount on

March 24, 2023, the Credit and Security Agreement was terminated, and Silvergate released its security interest in all

of MacroStrategy’s assets collateralizing the 2025 Secured Term Loan, including the bitcoin that was serving as

collateral. During the first quarter of 2023, wemade a final $5.1million interest payment to Silvergate, $1.1million of

which was included in the Payoff Amount. During 2022 we paid $7.7 million in interest to Silvergate.

In June 2022, we, through one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, entered into a secured term loan agreement in the

amount of $11.1million, bearing interest at an annual rate of 5.2%, andmaturing in June 2027. During 2023 and 2022,

we paid $1.1 million and $0.5 million, respectively, in principal and interest to the lender.

At-the-Market Equity Offerings

During 2022 and 2023, we entered into various sales agreements with sales agents pursuant to which we could issue

and sell shares of our class A common stock through at-the-market equity offering programs. See Note 13, At-the-

Market Equity Offerings, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the terms and provisions of each sales

agreement.
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The following table sets forth shares sold and net proceeds received (net of sales commissions and expenses) from

shares sold under each sales agreement during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands, except

number of shares):

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Shares Net proceeds Shares Net proceeds

2022 Sales Agreement 1,348,855 $ 338,962 218,575 $46,219

May 2023 Sales Agreement 1,079,170 333,494 n/a n/a

August 2023 Sales Agreement 1,592,950 737,760 n/a n/a

November 2023 Sales Agreement 1,076,915 609,873 n/a n/a

Total 5,097,890 $2,020,089 218,575 $46,219

As of December 31, 2023, approximately $137.8 million of our class A common stock remained available for issuance

and sale pursuant to the November 2023 Sales Agreement. The remaining sales agreements have been terminated as

of December 31, 2023.

Debt repurchases and repayments.During the first quarter of 2023,MacroStrategy voluntarily prepaid Silvergate the

Payoff Amount in full repayment, satisfaction, and discharge of the 2025 Secured Term Loan and all other obligations

under the Credit and Security Agreement. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we did not

repurchase or prepay any of our other outstanding debt. We or our affiliates may, at any time and from time to time,

seek to retire or purchase our outstanding debt through cash purchases and/or exchanges for equity or debt, in

open-market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. Such repurchases or exchanges, if any,will be

upon such terms and at such prices as we may determine, and will depend on prevailing market conditions, our

liquidity requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors.Wemay also prepay our outstanding indebtedness.

The amounts involved in any such repurchase or repayment may be material. We may effect debt repurchases or

prepayments using proceeds from the sale of our class A common stock pursuant to the November 2023 Sales

Agreement (under which approximately $137.8 million remains available for sale as of the date hereof).

Unrecognized tax benefits. As of December 31, 2023, we had $8.3 million of total gross unrecognized tax benefits,

including accrued interest, all of whichwas recorded in ‘‘Other long-term liabilities.’’ The timing of any payments that

could result from these unrecognized tax benefits will depend on a number of factors, and accordingly the amount

and period of any future payments cannot be estimated. We do not expect any significant tax payments related to

unrecognized tax benefits during 2024.

Recent Accounting Standards

See Note 3, Recent Accounting Standards, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We are providing supplemental non-GAAP financial measures below which management uses internally to help

understand, manage, and evaluate our business performance and to help make operating decisions. We believe that

these non-GAAP financial measures are also useful to investors and analysts in comparing our performance across

reporting periods on a consistent basis. We also believe the use of these non-GAAP financial measures can facilitate

comparison of our operating results to those of our competitors. These supplemental financial measures are not

measurements of financial performance under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States

(‘‘GAAP’’) and, as a result, these supplemental financial measuresmay not be comparable to similarly titledmeasures

of other companies.

Non-GAAP financial measures are subject to material limitations as they are not measurements prepared in

accordance with GAAP, and are not a substitute for such measurements. For example, we expect that share-based

compensation expense, which is excluded from certain of the non-GAAP financialmeasures below,will continue to be

a significant recurring expense over the coming years and is an important part of the compensation provided to

certain employees, officers, and directors. Similarly, we expect that interest expense arising from the amortization of

debt issuance costs on our long-termdebt, which is excluded from certain of the non-GAAP financialmeasures below,

will continue to be a recurring expense over the terms of our long-term debt arrangements. Our non-GAAP financial
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measures are not meant to be considered in isolation and should be read only in conjunction with our Consolidated

Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. We rely primarily on such Consolidated

Financial Statements to understand,manage, and evaluate our business performance and use the non-GAAP financial

measures only supplementally.

Non-GAAP loss from operations

Non-GAAP loss fromoperations excludes share-based compensation expense,which is a significant non-cash expense

that we believe is not reflective of our general business performance, and for which the accounting requires

management judgment. Consequently, our accounting for share-based compensation expense could vary

significantly in comparison to other companies. The following is a reconciliation of our non-GAAP loss fromoperations

to loss from operations, its most directly comparable GAAP measure, (in thousands) for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Reconciliation of non-GAAP loss from operations:

Loss from operations $(115,047) $(1,275,742)

Share-based compensation expense 69,571 63,619

Non-GAAP loss from operations $ (45,476) $(1,212,123)

Non-GAAP net income (loss) and non-GAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share

Non-GAAP net income (loss) and non-GAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share each exclude the impact of (i) share-

based compensation expense, (ii) interest expense arising from the amortization of debt issuance costs on our

long-term debt, (iii) gain on extinguishment of debt, and (iv) related income taxes. We believe non-GAAP net income

(loss) and non-GAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share offer management and investors insight as they exclude

significant non-cash expenses, gains on debt extinguishment, and their related income tax effects. The following are

reconciliations of our non-GAAP net income (loss) and non-GAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share to net income (loss)

and diluted earnings (loss) per share, respectively, their most directly comparable GAAP measures (in thousands,

except per share data), for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Reconciliation of non-GAAP net income (loss):

Net income (loss) $429,121 $(1,469,797)

Share-based compensation expense 69,571 63,619

Interest expense arising from amortization of debt issuance costs 8,808 8,694

Gain on debt extinguishment (44,686) 0

Income tax effects(1) (6,062) (13,250)

Non-GAAP net income (loss) $456,752 $(1,410,734)

Reconciliation of non-GAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share(2):

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 26.42 $ (129.83)

Share-based compensation expense (per diluted share) 4.20 5.62

Interest expense arising from amortization of debt issuance costs

(per diluted share)(3) 0.10 0.77

Gain on debt extinguishment (per diluted share) (2.70) 0.00

Income tax effects (per diluted share)(3) (0.24) (1.17)

Non-GAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 27.78 $ (124.61)

(1) Income tax effects reflect the net tax effects of share-based compensation expense, which includes tax benefits and expenses on exercises
of stock options and vesting of share-settled restricted stock units, interest expense for amortization of debt issuance costs, and gain on debt
extinguishment.
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(2) For reconciliation purposes, the non-GAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share calculations use the same weighted average shares outstanding
as that used in the GAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share calculations for the same period. For example, in periods of GAAP net loss,
otherwise dilutive potential shares of common stock fromour share-based compensation arrangements and Convertible Notes are excluded
from the GAAP diluted loss per share calculation as they would be antidilutive, and therefore are also excluded from the non-GAAP diluted
earnings or loss per share calculation.

(3) For the year ended December 31, 2023, interest expense from the amortization of issuance costs of the Convertible Notes has been added
back to the numerator in theGAAPdiluted earnings per share calculation (as disclosed inNote 12, Basic andDiluted Earnings (Loss) per Share,
to the Consolidated Financial Statements), and therefore the per diluted share effects of the amortization of issuance costs of the Convertible
Notes have been excluded from the ‘‘Interest expense arising from amortization of debt issuance costs (per diluted share)’’ and ‘‘Income tax
effects (per diluted share)’’ lines in the above reconciliation for the year ending December 31, 2023.

Non-GAAP Constant Currency Revenues, Cost of Revenues, and Operating Expenses

We present certain of our revenues, cost of revenues, and operating expenses on a non-GAAP constant currency

basis, which excludes certain changes resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. These non-GAAP

constant currency metrics allow our management and investors to compare operating results to prior years without

the effects of certain changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which are not reflective of our general business

performance andmay vary significantly between periods. The following are reconciliations of our non-GAAP constant

currency revenues, cost of revenues, and operating expenses to their most directly comparable GAAP measures (in

thousands) for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

GAAP

Foreign
Currency

Exchange Rate
Impact(1)

Non-GAAP
Constant
Currency(2) GAAP

GAAP %
Change

Non-GAAP
Constant
Currency %
Change(3)

2023 2023 2023 2022 2023 2023

Product licenses revenues $ 75,351 $ 300 $ 75,051 $ 86,498 -12.9% -13.2%

Subscription services revenues 81,179 296 80,883 60,746 33.6% 33.1%

Product support revenues 263,888 1,514 262,374 266,521 -1.0% -1.6%

Other services revenues 75,843 186 75,657 85,499 -11.3% -11.5%

Cost of product support revenues 22,434 46 22,388 21,264 5.5% 5.3%

Cost of other services revenues 53,805 666 53,139 55,283 -2.7% -3.9%

Sales and marketing expenses 149,671 694 148,977 146,882 1.9% 1.4%

Research and development expenses 120,530 (1,163) 121,693 127,428 -5.4% -4.5%

General and administrative expenses 115,312 235 115,077 111,421 3.5% 3.3%

GAAP

Foreign
Currency

Exchange Rate
Impact(1)

Non-GAAP
Constant
Currency(2) GAAP

GAAP %
Change

Non-GAAP
Constant
Currency %
Change(3)

2022 2022 2022 2021 2022 2022

Product licenses revenues $ 86,498 $ (2,762) $ 89,260 $101,804 -15.0% -12.3%

Subscription services revenues 60,746 (2,118) 62,864 43,069 41.0% 46.0%

Product support revenues 266,521 (11,261) 277,782 281,209 -5.2% -1.2%

Other services revenues 85,499 (5,140) 90,639 84,680 1.0% 7.0%

Cost of product support revenues 21,264 (745) 22,009 19,254 10.4% 14.3%

Cost of other services revenues 55,283 (3,956) 59,239 54,033 2.3% 9.6%

Sales and marketing expenses 146,882 (5,698) 152,580 160,141 -8.3% -4.7%

Research and development expenses 127,428 (2,249) 129,677 117,117 8.8% 10.7%

General and administrative expenses 111,421 (1,567) 112,988 95,501 16.7% 18.3%

(1) The ‘‘Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Impact’’ reflects the estimated impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on
international components of our Consolidated Statements of Operations. It shows the increase (decrease) inmaterial international revenues
or expenses, as applicable, from the same period in the prior year, based on comparisons to the prior year quarterly average foreign currency
exchange rates. Beginning in the third quarter of 2023, the term ‘‘international’’ refers to operations outside of theUnited States and Canada
only where the functional currency is the local currency (i.e., excluding any location whose economy is considered highly inflationary). Prior
year comparative periods have been recast to conform to current period presentation.

(2) The ‘‘Non-GAAP Constant Currency’’ reflects the current period GAAP amount, less the Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Impact.

(3) The ‘‘Non-GAAP Constant Currency % Change’’ reflects the percentage change between the current period Non-GAAP Constant Currency
amount and the GAAP amount for the same period in the prior year.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The following discussion about our market risk exposures involves forward-looking statements. Actual results could

differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements.

We are exposed to the impact of market price changes in bitcoin and foreign currency fluctuations.

Market Price Risk of Bitcoin.We have used a significant portion of our cash, including cash generated from capital

raising transactions, to acquire bitcoin and, as of December 31, 2023, we held approximately 189,150 bitcoins. The

carrying value of our bitcoins as of December 31, 2023 was $3.626 billion, which reflects cumulative impairments of

$2.269 billion, on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. As discussed in Note 2(g), Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies - Digital Assets, to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we account for our bitcoin as indefinite-lived

intangible assets, which are subject to impairment losses if the fair value of our bitcoin decreases below their carrying

value at any time since their acquisition. Impairment losses cannot be recovered for any subsequent increase in fair

value. For example, the market price of one bitcoin on the Coinbase exchange (our principal market for bitcoin)

ranged from a low of $16,490.00 to a high of $45,000.00 during the year ended December 31, 2023, but the carrying

value of each bitcoin we held at the end of the reporting period reflects the lowest price of one bitcoin quoted on the

active exchange at any time since its acquisition. Therefore, negative swings in themarket price of bitcoin could have

a material impact on our earnings and on the carrying value of our digital assets. Positive swings in the market price

of bitcoin are not reflected in the carrying value of our digital assets and impact earnings only when the bitcoin is sold

at a gain. For the year ended December 31, 2023, we incurred impairment losses of $115.9 million on our bitcoin.

Foreign Currency Risk.We conduct a significant portion of our business in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, the

currency in which we report our Consolidated Financial Statements. International revenues accounted for 42.7%,

41.0%, and 44.7% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. We

anticipate that international revenues will continue to account for a significant portion of our total revenues. The

functional currency of each of our foreign subsidiaries is generally the local currency.

Assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect as of the

applicable Balance Sheet date and any resulting translation adjustments are included as an adjustment to

stockholders’ equity. Revenues and expenses generated from these subsidiaries are translated at average monthly

exchange rates during the quarter in which the transactions occur. Transaction gains and losses arising from

transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity involved are included in the

results of operations.

As a result of transacting in multiple currencies and reporting our Consolidated Financial Statements in U.S. dollars,

our operating results may be adversely impacted by currency exchange rate fluctuations in the future. The impact of

foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on current and comparable periods is described in the ‘‘Non-GAAP

FinancialMeasures’’ section under ‘‘Item 7.Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations.’’

We cannot predict the effect of exchange rate fluctuations upon our future results. We attempt to minimize our

foreign currency risk by converting our excess foreign currency held in foreign jurisdictions toU.S. dollar-denominated

cash and investment accounts.

As of December 31, 2023, a 10% adverse change in foreign currency exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar would have

decreasedour aggregate reported cash and cash equivalents by 5.4%. If average exchange rates during the year ended

December 31, 2023 had changed unfavorably by 10%, our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2023 would

have decreased by 3.6%. During the year ended December 31, 2023, our revenues were higher by 0.5% as a result of

a 1.5% favorable change in weighted average exchange rates, as compared to the prior year.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our Consolidated Financial Statements, together with the related notes and the associated Reports of Independent

Registered Public Accounting Firm, are set forth on the pages indicated in Item 15.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

Page

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm E-21

Consolidated Financial Statements:

Balance Sheets E-26

Statements of Operations E-27

Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) E-28

Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) E-29

Statements of Cash Flows E-31

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements E-33

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts E-70

(b) Exhibits

We hereby file as part of this Annual Report the exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits.

(c) Financial Statement Schedule

The following financial statement schedule is filed herewith:

Schedule II-Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other items included in an Annual Report on Form10-K are omitted because they are not applicable or the answers

thereto are none.
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KPMG LLP
Suite 900
8350 Broad Street
McLean, VA 22102

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of MicroStrategy Incorporated:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited MicroStrategy Incorporated and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013)

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company

maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based

on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related

consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows

for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and the financial

statement schedule, Schedule II, Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (collectively, the consolidated financial

statements), and our report dated February 15, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated

financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for

its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the

Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered

with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal

securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting

was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an

understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and

testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit

also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that

our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those

policies and procedures that (1) pertain to themaintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance

regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that

could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reportingmay not prevent or detectmisstatements.

Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate.

McLean, Virginia

February 15, 2024
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KPMG LLP
Suite 900
8350 Broad Street
McLean, VA 22102

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of MicroStrategy Incorporated:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

Wehave audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets ofMicroStrategy Incorporated and subsidiaries (the

Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive

income (loss), stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended

December 31, 2023, and the related notes and financial statement schedule, Schedule II, Valuation and Qualifying

Accounts, (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements

present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and

the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period endedDecember 31, 2023,

in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria

established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 15, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion on the

effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’smanagement. Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm

registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the

U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and

the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of

material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks

of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing

procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the

amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated

financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that:

(1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our

especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter

in anyway our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as awhole, andwe are not, by communicating

the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or

disclosures to which they relate.
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Evaluation of standalone selling price for standard product support

As discussed in Note 2(n) to the consolidated financial statements, the Company typically sells its software licenses

(product licenses) together with technical support services and rights to when-and-if available software upgrades

(standard product support). Product license revenue is recognized at the point when control to the license is

transferred to the customer while standard product support revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the

product support period. The accounting for revenue from contracts with multiple performance obligations requires

the transaction price to be allocated to each distinct performance obligation based on their respective relative

standalone selling price (SSP). Because product licenses are not sold on a standalone basis and because pricing is

highly variable, the Company establishes SSP of product licenses using a residual approach after first establishing the

SSP of standard product support based on observable standalone sales with pricing within a narrow range as a

percentage of the net license fee.

We identified the evaluation of the SSP for standard product support as a critical audit matter. Especially subjective

auditor judgment was required in evaluating the range of prices used to establish the SSP for standard product

support which directly affects the amount of product license revenue recognized using a residual approach. Changes

to the product support fee range could have a significant impact on the determination of the SSP for standard product

support, impacting the amount and timing of revenues recognized.

The following are the primary procedureswe performed to address this critical auditmatter.We evaluated the design

and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls over the Company’s revenue process, including

controls over themethodology used to determine the standard product support SSP and controls over the Company’s

validation of the underlying data used in the SSP analysis.We assessed the range of prices based on observable inputs

the Company used to determine SSP of standard product support by comparing them to the selling prices of

standalone renewals for standard product support and evaluating whether the standalone prices were sufficiently

clustered within a narrow range.

Evaluation of audit evidence pertaining to the existence and control of the digital assets

As discussed in Notes 2(g) and 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company accounts for its digital assets

as indefinite-lived intangible assets. The digital assets are recorded at cost, net of any impairment losses incurred

since acquisition. As of December 31, 2023, the carrying value of the Company’s digital assets was $3.626 billion, net

of $2.269 billion in cumulative impairments.

We identified the evaluation of audit evidence pertaining to the existence of the digital assets and whether the

Company controls the digital assets as a critical audit matter. Especially subjective auditor judgment was involved in

determining the nature and extent of evidence required to assess the existence of the digital assets and whether the

Company controls the digital assets, as control over the digital assets is provided through private cryptographic keys

stored using third-party custodial services at multiple locations that are geographically dispersed. In addition,

information technology (IT) professionalswith specialized skills and knowledge in blockchain technologywereneeded

to assist in the evaluation of the sufficiency of certain audit procedures.
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The following are the primary procedureswe performed to address this critical auditmatter.We evaluated the design

and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls over the digital assets process, including a control

over the comparison of the Company’s records of digital assets held to the custodial records. We involved

IT professionals with specialized skills and knowledge in blockchain technology, who assisted in evaluating certain

internal controls over the digital assets process performed at the custodial locations, related specifically to the

generation of the private cryptographic keys, the storing of these keys, and the reconciliation of digital assets per the

custodial service ledgers to the public blockchain. We obtained confirmation of the Company’s digital assets in

custody as of December 31, 2023 and compared the total digital assets confirmed to the Company’s record of digital

asset holdings. We also compared the Company’s record of digital asset transactions to the records on the public

blockchain using a software audit tool. We applied auditor judgment in determining the nature and extent of audit

evidence required, especially related to assessing the existence of the digital assets and whether the Company

controls the digital assets. We evaluated the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence obtained by assessing

the results of procedures performed over the digital assets.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.

McLean, Virginia

February 15, 2024
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

December 31,
2023

December 31,
2022

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 46,817 $ 43,835

Restricted cash 1,856 7,033

Accounts receivable, net 183,815 189,280

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 35,407 24,418

Total current assets 267,895 264,566

Digital assets 3,626,476 1,840,028

Property and equipment, net 28,941 32,311

Right-of-use assets 57,343 61,299

Deposits and other assets 24,300 23,916

Deferred tax assets, net 757,573 188,152

Total assets $4,762,528 $ 2,410,272

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and operating lease liabilities $ 43,090 $ 42,976

Accrued compensation and employee benefits 50,045 53,716

Accrued interest 1,493 2,829

Current portion of long-term debt, net 483 454

Deferred revenue and advance payments 228,162 217,428

Total current liabilities 323,273 317,403

Long-term debt, net 2,182,108 2,378,560

Deferred revenue and advance payments 8,524 12,763

Operating lease liabilities 61,086 67,344

Other long-term liabilities 22,208 17,124

Deferred tax liabilities 357 198

Total liabilities 2,597,556 2,793,392

Commitments and Contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Preferred stock undesignated, $0.001 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; no

shares issued or outstanding 0 0

Class A common stock, $0.001 par value; 330,000 shares authorized; 23,588

shares issued and 14,904 shares outstanding, and 18,269 shares issued and

9,585 shares outstanding, respectively 24 18

Class B convertible common stock, $0.001 par value; 165,000 shares authorized;

1,964 shares issued and outstanding, and 1,964 shares issued and

outstanding, respectively 2 2

Additional paid-in capital 3,957,728 1,841,120

Treasury stock, at cost; 8,684 shares and 8,684 shares, respectively (782,104) (782,104)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (11,444) (13,801)

Accumulated deficit (999,234) (1,428,355)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 2,164,972 (383,120)

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $4,762,528 $ 2,410,272
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Revenues:

Product licenses $ 75,351 $ 86,498 $ 101,804

Subscription services 81,179 60,746 43,069

Total product licenses and subscription services 156,530 147,244 144,873

Product support 263,888 266,521 281,209

Other services 75,843 85,499 84,680

Total revenues 496,261 499,264 510,762

Cost of revenues:

Product licenses 1,929 1,672 1,721

Subscription services 31,776 24,770 16,901

Total product licenses and subscription services 33,705 26,442 18,622

Product support 22,434 21,264 19,254

Other services 53,805 55,283 54,033

Total cost of revenues 109,944 102,989 91,909

Gross profit 386,317 396,275 418,853

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 149,671 146,882 160,141

Research and development 120,530 127,428 117,117

General and administrative 115,312 111,421 95,501

Digital asset impairment losses (gains on sale), net 115,851 1,286,286 830,621

Total operating expenses 501,364 1,672,017 1,203,380

Loss from operations (115,047) (1,275,742) (784,527)

Interest expense, net (48,960) (53,136) (29,149)

Gain on debt extinguishment 44,686 0 0

Other (expense) income, net (5,204) 6,413 2,287

Loss before income taxes (124,525) (1,322,465) (811,389)

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (553,646) 147,332 (275,909)

Net income (loss) 429,121 (1,469,797) (535,480)

Basic earnings (loss) per share(1) $ 31.39 $ (129.83) $ (53.44)

Weighted average shares outstanding used in computing basic earnings

(loss) per share 13,671 11,321 10,020

Diluted earnings (loss) per share(1) $ 26.42 $ (129.83) $ (53.44)

Weighted average shares outstanding used in computing diluted earnings

(loss) per share 16,566 11,321 10,020

(1) Basic and fully diluted earnings (loss) per share for class A and class B common stock are the same.
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Net income (loss) $429,121 $(1,469,797) $(535,480)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of applicable taxes:

Foreign currency translation adjustment 2,357 (6,258) (3,658)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 2,357 (6,258) (3,658)

Comprehensive income (loss) $431,478 $(1,476,055) $(539,138)
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(in thousands)

Total

Class A
Common Stock

Class B
Convertible
Common Stock

Additional
Paid-in Treasury Stock

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

(Accumulated
Deficit)
Retained
EarningsShares Amount Shares Amount Capital Shares Amount

Balance at
January 1, 2021 $ 446,192 16,307 $16 1,964 $2 $ 655,241 (8,684) $(782,104) $(3,885) $ 576,922

Net loss (535,480) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (535,480)

Other
comprehensive
loss (3,658) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (3,658) 0

Issuance of
class A common
stock upon
exercise of
stock options 40,651 269 0 0 0 40,651 0 0 0 0

Issuance of
class A common
stock under
employee stock
purchase plan 2,854 5 0 0 0 2,854 0 0 0 0

Issuance of
class A common
stock upon
vesting of
restricted stock
units, net of
withholding
taxes (4,754) 11 0 0 0 (4,754) 0 0 0 0

Issuance of
class A common
stock under
public offerings,
net of issuance
costs 990,463 1,414 2 0 0 990,461 0 0 0 0

Share-based
compensation
expense 42,690 0 0 0 0 42,690 0 0 0 0

Balance at
December 31,
2021 $ 978,958 18,006 $18 1,964 $2 $1,727,143 (8,684) $(782,104) $(7,543) $ 41,442

Net loss (1,469,797) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,469,797)

Other
comprehensive
loss (6,258) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (6,258) 0

Issuance of
class A common
stock upon
exercise of
stock options 1,393 9 0 0 0 1,393 0 0 0 0

Issuance of
class A common
stock under
employee stock
purchase plan 4,473 16 0 0 0 4,473 0 0 0 0
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Total

Class A
Common Stock

Class B
Convertible
Common Stock

Additional
Paid-in Treasury Stock

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

(Accumulated
Deficit)
Retained
EarningsShares Amount Shares Amount Capital Shares Amount

Issuance of
class A common
stock upon
vesting of
restricted stock
units, net of
withholding
taxes (2,213) 19 0 0 0 (2,213) 0 0 0 0

Issuance of
class A common
stock under
public offerings,
net of issuance
costs 46,219 219 0 0 0 46,219 0 0 0 0

Share-based
compensation
expense 64,105 0 0 0 0 64,105 0 0 0 0

Balance at
December 31,
2022 $ (383,120) 18,269 $18 1,964 $2 $1,841,120 (8,684) $(782,104) $(13,801) $(1,428,355)

Net income 429,121 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 429,121

Other
comprehensive
income 2,357 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,357 0

Issuance of
class A common
stock upon
exercise of
stock options 30,519 175 1 0 0 30,518 0 0 0 0

Issuance of
class A common
stock under
employee stock
purchase plan 3,955 20 0 0 0 3,955 0 0 0 0

Issuance of
class A common
stock upon
vesting of
restricted stock
units, net of
withholding
taxes (4,344) 26 0 0 0 (4,344) 0 0 0 0

Issuance of
class A common
stock under
public offerings,
net of issuance
costs 2,020,089 5,098 5 0 0 2,020,084 0 0 0 0

Share-based
compensation
expense 66,395 0 0 0 0 66,395 0 0 0 0

Balance at
December 31,
2023 $2,164,972 23,588 $24 1,964 $2 $3,957,728 (8,684) $(782,104) $(11,444) $ (999,234)
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 429,121 $(1,469,797) $ (535,480)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by

operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 14,527 10,874 11,358
Reduction in carrying amount of right-of-use assets 8,643 8,072 8,189
Credit losses and sales allowances 1,387 939 1,509
Deferred taxes (568,949) 131,493 (284,221)
Release of liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits (506) (360) (561)
Share-based compensation expense 69,571 63,619 44,126
Digital asset impairment losses (gains on sale), net 115,851 1,286,286 830,621
Amortization of issuance costs on long-term debt 8,808 8,694 7,201
Gain on debt extinguishment (44,686) 0 0

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 10,307 (5,292) 2,618
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (11,358) (6,342) (25)
Deposits and other assets (632) (7,455) (1,713)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (634) (3,521) 3,749
Accrued compensation and employee benefits (12,000) (12,344) 2,374
Accrued interest (1,336) 1,336 1,222
Deferred revenue and advance payments 2,362 14,839 14,710
Operating lease liabilities (10,218) (9,634) (10,222)
Other long-term liabilities 2,454 (8,196) (1,622)
Net cash provided by operating activities 12,712 3,211 93,833

Investing activities:
Purchases of digital assets (1,902,299) (287,921) (2,626,529)
Proceeds from sale of digital assets 0 11,817 0
Purchases of property and equipment (2,938) (2,486) (2,706)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,905,237) (278,590) (2,629,235)
Financing activities:
Proceeds from convertible senior notes 0 0 1,050,000
Issuance costs paid for convertible senior notes 0 0 (24,796)
Proceeds from senior secured notes 0 0 500,000
Issuance costs paid for senior secured notes 0 0 (12,792)
Proceeds from secured term loan, net of lender fees 0 204,693 0
Issuance costs paid for secured term loan, excluding lender fees 0 (107) 0
Repayments of secured term loan and third-party extinguishment

costs (160,033) 0 0
Proceeds from other long-term secured debt 0 11,100 0
Issuance costs paid for other long-term secured debt 0 (270) 0
Repayments of other long-term secured debt (513) (246) 0
Proceeds from sale of common stock under public offerings 2,029,214 46,592 1,000,000
Issuance costs paid related to sale of common stock under public

offerings (9,141) (358) (9,537)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 30,518 1,393 40,651
Proceeds from sales under employee stock purchase plan 3,955 4,473 2,854
Payment of withholding tax on vesting of restricted stock units (4,114) (2,082) (4,695)

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,889,886 265,188 2,541,685
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Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents,

and restricted cash 444 (3,375) (2,608)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (2,195) (13,566) 3,675
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of year 50,868 64,434 60,759
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of year $48,673 $ 50,868 $64,434
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for interest $41,229 $ 43,448 $20,416
Cash paid during the year for income taxes, net of tax refunds $30,318 $ 21,973 $ 7,010

E-32

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.



MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Organization

MicroStrategy is committed to the continued development of the Bitcoin network through its activities in the financial

markets, advocacy and technology innovation. The Company’s enterprise analytics software business, which it has

operated for over 30 years, is its predominant operational focus. The Company uses the cash flows generated by its

software business, as well as proceeds from equity and debt financings, to accumulate bitcoin, which serves as its

primary treasury reserve asset.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All

significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements, in conformity with GAAP, requires management to make

estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and

accompanying notes. On an on-going basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including, but not limited to, those

related to revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, investments, fixed assets, digital assets, leases, debt,

share-based compensation, income taxes, including the carrying value of deferred tax assets, and litigation and

contingencies, including liabilities that the Company deems not probable of assertion. The Company bases its

estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets, liabilities,

and equity that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results and outcomes could differ from these

estimates and assumptions.

(c) Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring or nonrecurring basis. Fair value is

defined as the price that is expected to be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Company uses a three-level hierarchy that

prioritizes fair valuemeasurements based on the types of inputs used for the various valuation techniques. The three

levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for

identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are either directly or indirectly observable, such as quoted prices

in activemarkets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities

in inactive markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market

data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3: Inputs that are generally unobservable, supported by little or no market activity, and typically reflect

management’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or

liability.

The categorization of an asset or liability within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is

significant to the fair value measurement. The valuation techniques used by the Company whenmeasuring fair value

maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

TheCompany also estimates the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts

payable and accrued expenses, and accrued compensation and employee benefits. The Company considers the

carrying value of these instruments in the Consolidated Financial Statements to approximate fair value due to their

short maturities.
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(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash equivalents may include bank demand deposits, money market instruments, certificates of deposit,

U.S. Treasury securities, and equivalent funds. The Company generally considers all highly liquid investments with an

original maturity of threemonths or less to be cash equivalents. Restricted cash consists of cash balances restricted in

use by contractual obligations with third parties.

(e) Credit Losses on Accounts Receivable

The Company maintains an allowance for credit losses on its accounts receivable balances, which represents its best

estimate of current expected credit losses over the contractual life of the accounts receivable. When evaluating the

adequacy of its allowance for credit losses each reporting period, the Company analyzes accounts receivable balances

with similar risk characteristics on a collective basis, considering factors such as the aging of receivable balances,

payment terms, geographic location, historical loss experience, current information, and future expectations. Each

reporting period, theCompany reassesseswhether any accounts receivable no longer share similar risk characteristics

and should instead be evaluated as part of another pool or on an individual basis. Changes to the allowance for credit

losses are adjusted through credit loss expense, which is presented within ‘‘General and administrative’’ operating

expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(f) Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash

and cash equivalents, restricted cash, and accounts receivable. The Company places its cash equivalents with high

credit-quality financial institutions and has established guidelines relative to credit ratings andmaturities that seek to

maintain safety and liquidity.

The Company sells its offerings to various companies across several industries throughout the world in the ordinary

course of business. The Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers andmaintains allowances

for anticipated losses. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, no individual customer accounted for 10% or more of net

accounts receivable, and for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, no individual customer accounted

for 10% or more of revenue.

(g) Digital Assets

The Company accounts for its digital assets, which are comprised solely of bitcoin, as indefinite-lived intangible assets

in accordancewithAccounting Standards Codification (‘‘ASC’’) 350, Intangibles-Goodwill andOther. The Companyhas

ownership of and control over its bitcoin and uses third-party custodial services at multiple locations that are

geographically dispersed to store its bitcoin. The Company’s digital assets are initially recorded at cost. Subsequently,

they are measured at cost, net of any impairment losses incurred since acquisition.

The Company determines the fair value of its bitcoin on a nonrecurring basis in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value

Measurement, based on quoted (unadjusted) prices on the Coinbase exchange, the active exchange that the

Company has determined is its principal market for bitcoin (Level 1 inputs). The Company performs an analysis each

quarter to identify whether events or changes in circumstances, principally decreases in the quoted (unadjusted)

prices on the active exchange, indicate that it is more likely than not that any of the assets are impaired. In

determining if an impairment has occurred, the Company considers the lowest price of one bitcoin quoted on the

active exchange at any time since acquiring the specific bitcoin held by the Company. If the carrying value of a bitcoin

exceeds that lowest price, an impairment loss has occurred with respect to that bitcoin in the amount equal to the

difference between its carrying value and such lowest price.

Impairment losses are recognized in the period inwhich the impairment occurs and are reflectedwithin ‘‘Digital asset

impairment losses (gains on sale), net’’ in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. The impaired digital

assets are written down to their fair value at the time of impairment and this new cost basis will not be adjusted

upward for any subsequent increase in fair value. Gains (if any) are not recorded until realized upon sale, at which

point they are presented net of any impairment losses in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. In

determining the gain to be recognized upon sale, the Company calculates the difference between the sales price and

carrying value of the specific bitcoins sold immediately prior to sale.

See Note 4, Digital Assets, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information regarding the Company’s

purchases and sales of digital assets.
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(h) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the

straight-linemethod over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows: three years for computer equipment and

purchased software; five years for office equipment; 10 years for office furniture; and 19 years for the Company’s

corporate aircraft, which has an estimated salvage value of 21%. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the

straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the term of the lease, whichever is

shorter. The Company periodically evaluates the appropriateness of the estimated useful lives and salvage value of all

property and equipment. Any change in the estimated useful life or salvage value is treated as a change in estimate

and accounted for prospectively in the period of change.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. When assets are retired or sold, the

capitalized cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the property and equipment accounts and

any resulting gain or loss is recognized in the results of operations.

Eligible internal-use software development costs are capitalized subsequent to the completion of the preliminary

project stage. Such costs include external direct material and service costs, employee payroll, and payroll-related

costs. After all substantial testing and deployment is completed and the software is ready for its intended use,

capitalization ceases and internal-use software development costs are amortized using the straight-linemethod over

the estimated useful life of the software, generally three years.

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances

indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of these assets are

no longer appropriate. Each impairment test is based on a comparison of the undiscounted cash flows to the recorded

value of the asset. If an asset is impaired, the asset is written down by the amount by which the carrying value of the

asset exceeds the related fair value of the asset.

(i) Leases

A lease is a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to both (i) obtain economic benefits from and

(ii) direct the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company evaluates its

contracts to determine if they contain a lease and classifies any lease components identified as anoperating or finance

lease. For each lease component, the Company recognizes a right-of-use (‘‘ROU’’) asset and a lease liability.

ROU assets and lease liabilities are presented separately for operating and finance leases; however, the Company

currently has no material finance leases. The Company’s operating leases are primarily related to office space in the

United States and foreign locations.

In a contract that contains a lease, a component is an item or activity that transfers a good or service to the lessee.

Such contracts may be comprised of lease components, non-lease components, and elements that are not

components. Each lease component represents a lessee’s right to use an underlying asset in the contract if the lessee

can benefit from the right of use of the asset either on its own or together with other readily available resources and

if the right of use is neither highly dependent nor highly interrelated with other rights of use. Non-lease components

include items such as common area maintenance and utilities provided by the lessor. The Company has elected the

practical expedient to not separate lease components from non-lease components for office space, which is the

Company’s only material underlying asset class. For each lease within this asset class, the non-lease components and

related lease components are accounted for as a single lease component. Itemsor activities that donot transfer goods

or services to the lessee, such as administrative tasks to set up the contract and reimbursement or payment of lessor

costs, are not components of the contract and therefore no contract consideration is allocated to such items or

activities.

Consideration in the contract is comprised of any fixed payments and variable payments that depend on an index or

rate. Payments in theCompany’s operating lease arrangements are typically comprisedof base office rent andparking

fees. Costs related to the Company’s non-lease components, as described above, are generally variable and do not

depend on an index or rate and are therefore excluded from the contract consideration allocated to the lease

components. The Company’s operating lease arrangements generally do not contain any payments related to items

or activities that are not components.

Operating lease liabilities are initially and subsequently measured at the present value of unpaid lease payments,

discounted at the discount rate of the lease. Operating lease ROU assets are initiallymeasured as the sumof the initial

lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred, and any prepaid lease payments, less any lease incentives received. The
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ROU asset is amortized over the term of the lease. The amortization of operating lease ROU assets is included in

‘‘Reduction in carrying amount of right-of-use assets’’ within the operating activities section of the Consolidated

Statements of Cash Flows. A single lease expense is recorded within operating expenses in the Consolidated

Statements of Operations on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that are not included

in the measurement of the lease liability are recognized in the period when the obligations for those payments are

incurred. In the Company’s lease agreements, these variable payments typically include certain taxes, utilities, and

maintenance costs, and other fees.

The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for all of its leases, as the rate implicit in the

lease is not readily determinable in any of its lease contracts. In order to estimate a collateralized borrowing rate

curve, the Company first estimates a synthetic credit rating and then applies modeling methodologies to an

unsecured borrowing rate curve. In determining the incremental borrowing rate of each lease, the Company uses a

centralized treasury approach and considers the currency of the contract, the economic environment in which the

lease exists, and the term of the lease.

The Company does not recognize lease liabilities or ROU assets for any short-term leases with a non-cancellable lease

term of 12 months or less. Instead, the lease payments for these short-term leases are expensed on a straight-line

basis over the lease term, and any variable payments are recognized in the period when the obligations for those

payments are incurred. The Company believes that, using this methodology, the expense recorded reasonably

reflects the Company’s short-term lease commitments.

(j) Software Development Costs

The Company did not capitalize any software development costs during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,

and 2021. Due to the pace of the Company’s software development efforts and frequency of its software releases, the

Company’s software development costs are expensed as incurred within ‘‘Research and development’’ in the

Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(k) Loss Contingencies and Legal Costs

The Company accrues loss contingencies that are believed to be probable and can be reasonably estimated. As events

evolve during the administration and litigation process and additional information becomes known, the Company

reassesses its estimates related to loss contingencies. Legal costs are expensed in the period in which the costs are

incurred.

(l) Deferred Revenue and Advance Payments

Deferred revenue and advance payments are contract liabilities that represent amounts received or due from

customers in advance of the Company transferring its software or services to the customer under an enforceable

contract. Revenue is subsequently recognized in the period(s) in which control of the software or services is

transferred to the customer. Deferred revenue is comprised of deferred product licenses and subscription services,

product support, or other services revenue based on the transaction price allocated to the specific performance

obligation in the contract with the customer, and presented as either current or non-current in the Consolidated

Balance Sheets, depending onwhether the software or services are expected to be transferred to the customerwithin

the next year.

(m) Debt Arrangements

As discussed in Note 8, Long-term Debt, to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company issued convertible

senior notes in December 2020 and February 2021 and senior secured notes in June 2021, and entered into secured

term loan agreements in March 2022 and June 2022. The embedded conversion features in each of the convertible

notes are indexed to the Company’s class A common stock and meet the criteria for classification in stockholders’

equity, and therefore derivative accounting does not apply. The Company records the aggregate principal amount of

each of its debt instruments as a liability on its Consolidated Balance Sheets, offset by the issuance costs associated

with each instrument. The issuance costs are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over

the expected term of each debt instrument.
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(n) Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue using a five-step model:

(i) Identifying the contract(s) with a customer,

(ii) Identifying the performance obligation(s),

(iii) Determining the transaction price,

(iv) Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and

(v) Recognizing revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company has elected to exclude taxes assessed by government authorities in determining the transaction price,

and therefore revenue is recognized net of taxes collected from customers. The Company enters into non-cancellable

nonrefundable orders with customers and does not have a history of granting returns or refunds and therefore does

not have a reserve for future returns.

Performance Obligations and Timing of Revenue Recognition

The Company primarily sells goods and services that fall into the categories discussed below. Each category contains

one or more performance obligations that are either (i) capable of being distinct (i.e., the customer can benefit from

the good or service on its own or togetherwith readily available resources, including those purchased separately from

the Company) and distinct within the context of the contract (i.e., separately identifiable from other promises in the

contract) or (ii) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of

transfer to the customer. Aside from the Company’s term and perpetual product licenses, which are delivered at a

point in time, the majority of the Company’s services are delivered over time.

Product Licenses

The Company sells different types of business intelligence software, licensed on a term or perpetual basis and

installed either on premises or on a public cloud that is procured and managed by the customer. Although product

licenses are sold with product support, the software is fully functional at the outset of the arrangement and is

considered a distinct performance obligation. Revenue from product license sales is recognized when control of the

license is transferred to the customer, which is the later of delivery or commencement of the license term. The

Company may also sell through resellers and OEMs who purchase the Company’s software for resale. In reseller

arrangements, revenue is generally recognized when control of the license is transferred to the end user. In OEM

arrangements, revenue is recognized when control of the license is transferred to the OEM.

Subscription Services

The Company also sells access to its software through MCE, a cloud subscription service, wherein customers access

the software through a cloud environment that the Company manages on behalf of the customer. Control of the

software itself does not transfer to the customer under this arrangement and is not considered a separate

performance obligation. Cloud subscriptions are regularly sold on a standalone basis and include technical support,

monitoring, backups, updates, and quarterly service reviews. Additionally, customers with existing on-premise

software licenses may convert their installations to MCE, at which time the on-premise licenses are typically

terminated and replaced by a new subscription to the MCE service. At conversion, an analysis is performed for each

contract to determine whether any revenue adjustments are necessary given that the contract modifications revoke

previously transferred rights to perpetual on-premise software. Such revenue adjustments were not material for the

years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021. Revenue related to cloud subscriptions is recognized on a

straight-line basis over the contract period, which is the period over which the customer has continuous access to the

software.

Product Support

In all product license transactions, customers are required to purchase a standard product support package (either

separately or as an included component of a term license transaction) that may subsequently be renewed at their

option. Customers may also purchase a premium product support package for a fixed annual fee. All product support

packages include both technical support and when-and-if-available software upgrades, which are treated as a
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single performance obligation as they are considered a series of distinct services that are substantially the same and

have the same duration andmeasure of progress. Revenue fromproduct support is recognized on a straight-line basis

over the contract period, which is the period over which the customer has continuous access to product support.

Consulting Services

The Company sells consulting services to help customers plan and execute deployment of the Company’s software.

Customers are not required to use consulting services to fully benefit from the software. Consulting services are

regularly sold on a standalone basis and either (i) prepaid upfront or (ii) sold on a time andmaterials basis. Consulting

arrangements are each considered separate performance obligations because they do not integrate with each other

orwith other offerings to deliver a combined output to the customer, do notmodify or customize (or are notmodified

or customized by) each other or other offerings, and do not affect the customer’s ability to use the other consulting

services or the Company’s other offerings. Revenue under consulting arrangements is recognized over time as

services are delivered. For time andmaterials-based consulting arrangements, the Company has elected the practical

expedient of recognizing revenue upon invoicing since the invoiced amount corresponds directly to the value of the

Company’s service to date.

Education Services

The Company sells various education and training services to its customers. Education services are sold on a

standalone basis under two different types of arrangements: (i) annual subscriptions to live and on-demand training

courses and (ii) custom courses purchased on an hourly basis. Education arrangements are each considered separate

performance obligations because they do not integrate with each other or with other offerings to deliver a combined

output to the customer, do not modify or customize (or are not modified or customized by) each other or other

offerings, and do not affect the customer’s ability to use the other education services or the Company’s other

offerings. Revenue on annual subscriptions is recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract period, which is the

period over which the customer has continuous access to the training courses. Revenue on custom courses is

recognized on a time and materials basis as the services are delivered.

SeeNote 16, Segment Information, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding total revenues

by geographic region.

Estimates and Judgments

The Company makes estimates and judgments to allocate the transaction price based on an observable or estimated

SSP. The Company also makes estimates and judgments with respect to capitalizing incremental costs to obtain a

customer contract and determining the subsequent amortization period. These estimates and judgments are

discussed further below.

Determining the Transaction Price

The transaction price includes both fixed and variable consideration. Variable consideration is included in the

transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal will not occur. The amount of variable

consideration excluded from the transaction price was not material for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,

and 2021. The Company’s estimates of variable consideration are also subject to subsequent true-up adjustments and

may result in changes to its transaction prices. Such true-up adjustments have not been and are not expected to be

material. The Company has the following sources of variable consideration:

(i) Performance penalties - Subscription services and product support arrangements generally contain

performance response time guarantees. For subscription services arrangements, the Company estimates

variable consideration using a portfolio approach because performance penalties are tied to standard

up-time requirements. For product support arrangements, the Company estimates variable consideration

on a contract basis because such arrangements are customer-specific. For both subscription services and

product support arrangements, the Company uses an expected value approach to estimate variable

consideration based on historical business practices and current and future performance expectations to

determine the likelihood of incurring penalties.

(ii) Extended payment terms - The Company’s standard payment terms are generally within 180 days of

invoicing. If extended payment terms are granted to customers, those terms generally do not exceed
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one year. For contracts with extended payment terms, the Company estimates variable consideration on a

contract basis because such estimates are customer-specific and uses an expected value approach to

analyze historical business experience on a customer-by-customer basis to determine the likelihood that

extended payment terms lead to an implied price concession.

(iii) Sales and usage-based royalties - Certain product license arrangements include sales or usage-based

royalties, covering both product license and product support. In these arrangements, the Company uses an

expected value approach to estimate and recognize revenue for royalty sales each period, utilizing historical

data on a contract-by-contract basis. True-up adjustments are recorded in subsequent periodswhen royalty

reporting is received from the OEMs and during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were

not material.

The Company provides a standard software assurance warranty to repair, replace, or refund software that does not

perform in accordance with documentation. The standard software assurance warranty period is generally less than

one year. Assurance warranty claims were not material for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

The Company does not adjust the transaction price for significant financing components where the time period

between cash payment and performance is one year or less. However, there are circumstances where the timing

between cash payment and performance may exceed one year. These circumstances generally involve prepaid

multi-year license, product support and subscription services arrangements where the customer determines when

the service is utilized. In these circumstances, the Company has determined no significant financing component exists

because the customer controls when to utilize the service and because there are significant business purposes behind

the timing difference between payment and performance (e.g., ensuring collectability in the case of subscription

services).

Allocating the Transaction Price Based on Standalone Selling Prices (SSP)

The Company allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation in a contract based on its relative SSP.

The SSP is the price, or estimated price, of the software or service when sold on a standalone basis at contract

inception. In circumstances where SSP is not directly observable, the Company estimates SSP using the following

methodologies:

(i) Product licenses - Product licenses are not sold on a standalone basis and pricing is highly variable. The

Company establishes SSP of product licenses using a residual approach after first establishing the SSP of

standard product support. Standard product support is sold on a standalone basis within a narrow range of

the stated net license fee, and because an economic relationship exists between product licenses and

standard product support, the Company has concluded that the residualmethod to estimate SSP of product

licenses sold on both a perpetual and term basis is a fair allocation of the transaction price.

(ii) Subscription services - Given the highly variable selling price of subscription services, the Company

establishes the SSP of its subscription services arrangements using a similar residual approach after

first establishing the SSP of consulting and education services to the extent they are included in the

arrangement. The Company has concluded that the residual method to estimate SSP of its subscription

services is a fair allocation of the transaction price.

(iii) Standard product support - The Company establishes SSP of standard product support as a percentage of

the stated net license fee, given such pricing is consistent with its normal pricing practices and there exists

sufficient history of customers renewing standard product support on a standalone basis at similar

percentages. Semi-annually, the Company tracks renewal rates negotiatedwhen standard product support

is initially sold with a perpetual license in order to determine the SSP of standard product support within

each geographic region for the upcoming quarter. If the stated standard product support fee falls within the

SSP range, the specific rate in the contract will be used to determine SSP. If the stated fee is above or below

SSP, the highest or lowest endof the range, respectively,will generally be used to determine SSPof standard

product support for perpetual licenses. For term licenses, the Company determines SSP of standard product

support at the lower end of the SSP range used for perpetual licenses because the term licenses are time

bound, resulting in a lower value placed on product support as compared to a perpetual license.
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(iv) Premium product support, consulting services, and education services -SSP of premium product support,

consulting services, and education services is established by using a bell-shaped curve approach to define a

narrow range within each geographic region in which the services are discounted off of the list price on a

standalone basis.

The Company often provides options to purchase future offerings at a discount. The Company analyzes the option

price against the previously established SSP of the goods or services to determine if the options represent material

rights that should be accounted for as separate performance obligations. In general, an option sold at or above SSP is

not considered a material right because the customer could have received that right without entering into the

contract. If a material right exists, revenue associated with the option is deferred and recognized when the future

goods or services are transferred, or when the option expires. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and

2021, separate performance obligations arising from future purchase options have not been material.

(o) Incremental Costs to Obtain Customer Contracts

The Company capitalizes costs incurred to obtain a contract with a customer when they are deemed incremental to

obtaining the contract and expected to be recoverable. Capitalizable costs are generally limited to sales incentives

paid to the Company’s sales team. The Company capitalizes the amounts related to new product support, cloud

subscription, and term license contracts. Costs capitalized are amortized over a period of time that is consistent with

the pattern of transfer to the customer, which the Company has determined is generally three years and includes

consideration for contract length, anticipated renewals, product life cycle, and customer behavior. The Company

amortizes the cost over this period on a straight-line basis for product support and subscription service components,

and at point(s) in time coinciding with delivery of the license component of term license contracts. The Company has

elected thepractical expedient to expense capitalizable costs as incurredwhere the amortization periodwould beone

year or less, which includes those amounts earned on perpetual license, consulting, and education contracts, and

renewals of product support, cloud subscription, and term license contracts.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, capitalized costs to obtain customer contracts, net of accumulated amortization,

were $15.7 million and $15.8 million, respectively, and are presented within ‘‘Deposits and other assets’’ in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, amortization expenses

related to these capitalized costs were $8.1 million, $4.5 million, and $2.7 million, respectively, and are reflected

within ‘‘Sales and marketing’’ in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(p) Advertising Costs

Advertising costs include production costs, which are expensed the first time the advertisement takes place, and

media placement costs, which are expensed in the month the advertising appears. Total advertising costs were

$0.1 million, $0.8 million, and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. As

of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had no prepaid advertising costs.

(q) Share-based Compensation

The Company maintains the 2013 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended, the ‘‘2013 Equity Plan’’), and the 2023 Equity

Incentive Plan (the ‘‘2023 Equity Plan,’’ and, together with the 2013 Equity Plan, the ‘‘Stock Incentive Plans’’). As of

May 2023, no new awards will be granted under the 2013 Equity Plan, though awards previously granted under the

2013 Equity Plan remain outstanding in accordance with their terms. Under the Stock Incentive Plans, the Company’s

employees, officers, directors, and other eligible participants may be (with respect to the 2023 Equity Plan) and have

been (with respect to both the 2023 Equity Plan and the 2013 Equity Plan) awarded various types of share-based

compensation, including options to purchase shares of the Company’s class A common stock, restricted stock units,

and other stock-based awards. Additionally, under the 2023 Equity Plan, awards may be and have been granted that

are subject to the achievement of one or more performance measures established by the Company’s Board of

Directors or a duly authorized committee thereof. During 2021, the Company adopted and the Company’s

stockholders approved the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ‘‘2021 ESPP’’), underwhich eligible employees of

the Company and certain of its subsidiaries may be provided with opportunities to purchase shares of the Company’s

class A common stock.

For options and other stock-based awards, the share-based compensation expense is based on the fair value of the

awards on the date of grant, as estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model. For restricted stock units, the

share-based compensation expense is based on the fair value of the Company’s class A common stock on the date of
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grant. The fair value of liability-classified awards (e.g., the other stock-based awards and cash-settled restricted stock

units) is remeasured at each reporting date. For performance stock units subject to amarket condition, the Company

uses a Monte Carlo simulation model to determine the grant date fair value. For the 2021 ESPP, the share-based

compensation expense is based on the grant date fair value, which consists of the intrinsic value of any purchase

discount and the fair value of the look-back provision using the Black-Scholes valuation model.

TheCompany recognizes share-based compensation expense for service-conditioned awards grantedunder the Stock

Incentive Plans and the 2021 ESPP on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period (generally, the vesting

period for service-conditioned awards under the Stock Incentive Plans and the offering period under the 2021 ESPP).

The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense for market-conditioned performance stock units

granted under the 2023 Equity Plan ratably over the performance period using an accelerated attribution cost

recognition method. Share-based compensation expense is recorded in cost of revenues or operating expense line

items in the Statement of Operations corresponding to the respective participant’s role or function.

See Note 11, Share-based Compensation, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information regarding

the Stock Incentive Plans, the 2021 ESPP, related share-based compensation expense, and assumptions used in

determining fair value.

(r) Income Taxes

The Company is subject to federal, state, and local income taxes in the United States and a number of foreign

countries. The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the

recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that

have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, the Company determines deferred tax assets and

deferred tax liabilities on the basis of differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and

liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which differences are expected to reverse. The effect of

a change in the tax rates on deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is recognized in income in the period that

includes the enactment date.

For uncertain income tax positions, the Company uses a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold based on the

technical merits of the income tax position taken. Income tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not

recognition threshold aremeasured in order to determine the tax benefit recognized in the financial statements. The

Company recognizes accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as part of income tax expense. Penalties,

if incurred, are recognized as a component of income tax expense.

The Company provides a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to their estimated realizable value, when

appropriate.

(s) Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is determined by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by

the weighted average number of shares of common stock, including shares of class A common stock and class B

common stock, outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is determined by dividing the net

income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock and

potential shares of common stock outstanding during the period. The impact from potential shares of common stock

on the diluted earnings per share calculation are includedwhen dilutive. Potential shares of common stock consisting

of class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding employee stock options, the vesting of restricted

stock units and performance stock units considered probable of achievement, and in connection with the 2021 ESPP,

are computed using the treasury stockmethod. Potential shares of class A common stock issuable upon conversion of

the Company’s convertible senior notes are computed using the if-converted method. In computing diluted earnings

per share, the Company first calculates the earnings per incremental share (‘‘EPIS’’) for each class of potential shares

of common stock and ranks the classes from themost dilutive (i.e., lowest EPIS) to the least dilutive (i.e., highest EPIS).

Basic earnings per share is then adjusted for the effect of each class of shares, in sequence and cumulatively, until a

particular class no longer produces further dilution.

The Company has two classes of common stock: class A common stock and class B common stock. Holders of class A

common stock generally have the same rights, including rights to dividends, as holders of class B common stock,

except that holders of class A common stock have one vote per share while holders of class B common stock have

ten votes per share. Each share of class B common stock is convertible at any time, at the option of the holder, into
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one share of class A common stock. As such, basic and fully diluted earnings per share for class A common stock and

for class B common stock are the same. The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends on either class A

or class B common stock. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no shares of preferred stock issued or

outstanding.

(t) Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s international operations is generally the local currency. Accordingly, such

assets and liabilities of international subsidiaries are translated using exchange rates in effect at the end of the period,

and revenue and expenses are translated using average monthly exchange rates for the period in which the

transactions occur. The related translation adjustments are reported in ‘‘Accumulated other comprehensive loss’’ in

stockholders’ equity (deficit). In general, upon complete or substantially complete liquidation of an investment in an

international subsidiary, the amount of accumulated translation adjustments attributable to that subsidiary is

reclassified from stockholders’ equity (deficit) to the statement of operations. Transaction gains and losses arising

from transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity involved are included in

the results of operations.

As of December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the cumulative foreign currency translation balances were $(11.4) million,

$(13.8)million, and $(7.5)million, respectively. No taxeswere recognized on the temporary differences resulting from

foreign currency translation adjustments for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Transaction gains and losses arising from transactions denominated in foreign currencies resulted in a net loss of

$5.6 million in 2023 and net gains of $6.2 million and $2.5 million in 2022 and 2021, respectively, and are included in

‘‘Other (expense) income, net’’ in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(3) Recent Accounting Standards

Crypto Assets

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) issued Accounting Standards Update

No. 2023-08, Intangibles-Goodwill andOther-CryptoAssets (Subtopic 350-60): Accounting for andDisclosure of Crypto

Assets (‘‘ASU2023-08’’). ASU2023-08 requires in-scope crypto assets (including theCompany’s bitcoin holdings) to be

measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, with gains and losses from changes in the fair value of

such crypto assets recognized in net income each reporting period. ASU 2023-08 also requires certain interim and

annual disclosures for crypto assets within the scope of the standard. The standard is effective for the Company for

interim and annual periods beginning January 1, 2025, with a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of

retained earnings as of the beginning of the annual reporting period inwhich the Company adopts the guidance. Prior

periods will not be restated. Early adoption is permitted in any interim or annual period for which an entity’s financial

statements have not been issued as of the beginning of the annual reporting period.

The Company expects the adoption of ASU 2023-08 will have a material impact on its consolidated balance sheets,

statements of operations, statements of cash flows and disclosures. Although the Company will continue to initially

record its bitcoin purchases at cost, upon adopting ASU 2023-08, any subsequent increases or decreases in fair value

will be recognized as incurred in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations, and the fair value of the

Company’s bitcoin will be reflected within the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets each reporting period-end.

Upon adopting ASU 2023-08, the Company will no longer account for its bitcoin under a cost-less-impairment

accounting model.

The Company is currently evaluating early adoption of ASU 2023-08 and the potential implications of unrealized fair

value gains and losses as they relate to the changing global tax landscape. If the Companywere to adopt this guidance

during 2024, it estimates that its 2024 beginning retained earnings balance would increase by approximately

$3.1 billion.

Income Taxes

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740):

Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (‘‘ASU 2023-09’’). ASU 2023-09 requires enhanced disclosures surrounding

income taxes, particularly related to rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. In particular, on an annual

basis, companies will be required to disclose specific categories in the rate reconciliation and provide additional

information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold. Companies will also be required to disclose, on

E-42



an annual basis, the amount of income taxes paid, disaggregated by federal, state, and foreign taxes, and also

disaggregated by individual jurisdictions above a quantitative threshold. The standard is effective for the Company for

annual periods beginning January 1, 2025 on a prospective basis, with retrospective application permitted for all prior

periods presented. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its

disclosures.

Segment Reporting

In November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280):

Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (‘‘ASU 2023-07’’). ASU 2023-07 requires enhanced disclosures

surrounding reportable segments, particularly (i) significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the

chief operating decisionmaker (‘‘CODM’’) and included in the reportedmeasure(s) of a segment’s profit and loss and

(ii) other segment items that reconcile segment revenue and significant expenses to the reported measure(s) of a

segment’s profit and loss, both on an annual and interim basis. Companies are also required to provide all annual

disclosures currently required under Topic 280 in interim periods, in addition to disclosing the title and position of the

CODMandhow theCODMuses the reportedmeasure(s) of segment profit and loss in assessing segment performance

and allocating resources. The standard is effective for the Company for annual periods beginning January 1, 2024 and

for interim periods beginning January 1, 2025, with updates applied retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The

Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its disclosures.

(4) Digital Assets

The following table summarizes the Company’s digital asset holdings (in thousands, except number of bitcoins), as of:

December 31,

2023 2022

Approximate number of bitcoins held 189,150 132,500

Digital assets carrying value $3,626,476 $1,840,028

Cumulative digital asset impairment losses $2,269,013 $2,153,162

The carrying value on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at each period-end represents the lowest fair value

(based on Level 1 inputs in the fair value hierarchy) of the bitcoins at any time since their acquisition. Therefore, these

fair value measurements were made during the period from their acquisition through December 31, 2023 or 2022,

respectively, and not as of December 31, 2023 or 2022, respectively.

The following table summarizes the Company’s digital asset purchases, digital asset sales, digital asset impairment

losses, and gains on sale of digital assets (in thousands, except number of bitcoins) for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Approximate number of bitcoins purchased 56,650 8,813 53,922

Approximate number of bitcoins sold 0 704 0

Digital asset purchases $1,902,299 $ 287,921 $2,626,529

Digital asset sales $ 0 $ 11,817 $ 0

Digital asset impairment losses $ 115,851 $1,287,213 $ 830,621

Gains on sale of digital assets $ 0 $ 927 $ 0

From time to time, the Companymay be extended short-term credits from its execution partners to purchase bitcoin

in advance of using cash funds in the Company’s trading account. The trade credits are due and payable in cashwithin

days after they are extended. In 2023, certain of the assets, including bitcoin, of MacroStrategy LLC

(‘‘MacroStrategy’’), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, were subject to a first priority security interest and

lien in order to secure the repayment of short-term trade credits taken in its name. While trade credits are

outstanding, the Company may incur interest fees and be required to maintain minimum balances in its trading and

collateral accounts with such execution partners. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had no

outstanding trade credits payable.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, approximately 16,081 and 14,890 of the bitcoins held by the

Company, which had carrying values of approximately $263.9 million and $230.2 million on the Company’s
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Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, served as part of the collateral for the

Company’s 6.125% Senior Secured Notes due 2028 (the ‘‘2028 Secured Notes’’), as further described in Note 8,

Long-term Debt, to the Consolidated Financial Statements. As of December 31, 2022, approximately 34,619 of the

bitcoins held by the Company, which had a carrying value of approximately $420.0 million on the Company’s

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2022, served as part of the collateral for a $205.0 million term loan

(the ‘‘2025 Secured Term Loan’’) issued to MacroStrategy by Silvergate Bank (‘‘Silvergate’’). Upon the repayment of

the 2025 Secured Term Loan during the first quarter of 2023, Silvergate released its security interest in the

aforementioned bitcoin. Refer toNote 8, Long-termDebt, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further details

of the 2025 Secured Term Loan and its repayment.

(5) Contract Balances

The Company invoices its customers in accordancewith billing schedules established in each contract. The Company’s

rights to consideration from customers are presented separately in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets

depending on whether those rights are conditional or unconditional.

The Company presents unconditional rights to consideration from customers within ‘‘Accounts receivable, net’’ in its

Consolidated Balance Sheets. All of the Company’s contracts are generally non-cancellable and/or non-refundable,

and therefore an unconditional right generally exists when the customer is billed or amounts are billable per the

contract.

Accounts receivable (in thousands) consisted of the following, as of:

December 31,

2023 2022

Billed and billable $186,884 $191,844

Less: allowance for credit losses (3,069) (2,564)

Accounts receivable, net $183,815 $189,280

Changes in the allowance for credit losses were not material for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Rights to consideration that are subject to a condition other than the passage of time are considered contract assets

until they are expected to becomeunconditional and transfer to accounts receivable. Current contract assets included

in ‘‘Prepaid expenses and other current assets’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of $1.2 million and

$0.6 million, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, related to accrued sales and usage-based royalty

revenue and performance obligations or services being rendered in advance of future invoicing associated with

multi-year contracts. In royalty-based arrangements, consideration is not billed or billable until the royalty reporting

is received, generally in the subsequent quarter, at which time the contract asset transfers to accounts receivable and

a true-up adjustment is recorded to revenue. These true-up adjustments are generally not material. Non-current

contract assets included in ‘‘Deposits and other assets’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of $0.9 million

and$0.7million, as ofDecember 31, 2023 and2022, respectively, related to performanceobligations or services being

rendered in advance of future invoicing associated with multi-year contracts. During the years ended December 31,

2023, 2022, and 2021, there were no significant impairments to the Company’s contract assets, nor were there any

significant changes in the timing of the Company’s contract assets being reclassified to accounts receivable.

Contract liabilities are amounts received or due from customers in advance of the Company transferring the software

or services to the customer and presented as ‘‘Deferred revenue and advance payments’’ in the Consolidated Balance

Sheets. In the case of multi-year service contract arrangements, the Company generally does not invoice more than

one year in advance of services and does not record deferred revenue for amounts that have not been invoiced.

Revenue is subsequently recognized in the period(s) in which control of the software or services is transferred to the

customer.

The Company’s ‘‘Accounts receivable, net’’ and ‘‘Deferred revenue and advance payments’’ balances in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets include unpaid amounts related to contracts under which the Company has an

enforceable right to invoice the customer for non-cancellable and/or non-refundable software and services. Changes

in accounts receivable and changes in deferred revenue and advance payments are presented net of these unpaid

amounts in ‘‘Operating activities’’ in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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Deferred revenue and advance payments (in thousands) from customers consisted of the following, as of:

December 31,

2023 2022

Current:

Deferred product licenses revenue $ 3,579 $ 2,825

Deferred subscription services revenue 65,512 51,861

Deferred product support revenue 152,012 155,366

Deferred other services revenue 7,059 7,376

Total current deferred revenue and advance payments $228,162 $217,428

Non-current:

Deferred product licenses revenue $ 0 $ 2,742

Deferred subscription services revenue 3,097 3,030

Deferred product support revenue 4,984 6,387

Deferred other services revenue 443 604

Total non-current deferred revenue and advance payments $ 8,524 $ 12,763

During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company recognized revenues of $215.9 million,

$203.1 million, and $188.7 million, respectively, from amounts included in the total deferred revenue and advance

payments balances at the beginning of the respective year. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021,

there were no significant changes in the timing of revenue recognition on the Company’s deferred balances.

The Company’s remaining performance obligation represents all future revenueunder contract and includes deferred

revenue and advance payments and billable non-cancelable amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue

in future periods. The remaining performance obligation excludes contracts that are billed in arrears, such as certain

time andmaterials contracts. The portions ofmulti-year contracts thatwill be invoiced in the future are not presented

on the balance sheet within accounts receivable and deferred revenues and are instead included in the following

remaining performance obligation disclosure. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had an aggregate transaction

price of $339.7 million allocated to the remaining performance obligation related to product support, subscription

services, product licenses, and other services contracts. The Company expects to recognize $255.5 million within the

next 12 months and the remainder thereafter.

(6) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment (in thousands) consisted of the following, as of:

December 31,

2023 2022

Corporate aircraft and related equipment $ 48,645 $ 48,645

Computer equipment and purchased software 60,979 60,375

Furniture and equipment 9,920 9,936

Leasehold improvements 29,944 28,755

Internally developed software 9,917 9,917

Property and equipment, gross 159,405 157,628

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (130,464) (125,317)

Property and equipment, net $ 28,941 $ 32,311

Depreciation and amortization expenses related to property and equipment were $6.4 million, $6.7 million, and

$8.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.
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(7) Leases

The Company leases office space in the United States and foreign locations under operating lease agreements. Office

space is the Company’s only material underlying asset class under operating lease agreements. The Company has no

material finance leases.

Under the Company’s office space lease agreements, fixed payments and variable payments that depend on an index

or rate are typically comprised of base rent and parking fees. Additionally, under these agreements the Company is

generally responsible for certain variable payments that typically include certain taxes, utilities and maintenance

costs, and other fees. These variable lease payments are generally based on the Company’s occupation or usage

percentages and are subject to adjustments by the lessor.

The Company’s ROU asset and total lease liability balances were $57.3 million and $71.5 million, respectively, as of

December 31, 2023, and $61.3million and $77.4million, respectively, as of December 31, 2022. The Company’s most

significant lease is for its corporate headquarters in Northern Virginia. The ROU asset and total lease liability balances

related to the Company’s corporate headquarters lease were $48.1 million and $61.7 million, respectively, as of

December 31, 2023, and $52.5million and $68.2million, respectively, as of December 31, 2022. The lease agreement

for the Company’s corporate headquarters location is set to expire inDecember 2030,with anoption for the Company

to extend the term for an additional five or 10 consecutive years. The Company is currently not reasonably certain it

will exercise this renewal option and therefore has not included the renewal option in the lease term. Several of the

Company’s remaining leases contain options for renewal or options to terminate all or a portion of the leased space.

The Company continually assesses the likelihood of exercising these options and recognizes an option as part of its

ROU assets and lease liabilities if and when it is reasonably certain that it will exercise the option.

The following table presents the Company’s total lease cost and other lease details for the periods indicated (in

thousands, except years and discount rates):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Lease cost:

Operating lease cost $13,081 $13,008 $13,522
Short-term lease cost 579 582 558
Variable lease cost 783 514 1,224

Total lease cost $14,443 $14,104 $15,304

Other information:

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease

liabilities $ 9,862 $14,224 $15,772
ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 6,183 $ 1,563 $ 2,420
Weighted average remaining lease term in years - operating leases 6.6 7.5 8.3
Weighted average discount rate - operating leases 6.0% 6.1% 6.1%

The following table presents the maturities of the Company’s operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 (in

thousands):

For the year ended December 31,
2024 $ 14,415
2025 13,357
2026 13,509
2027 12,865
2028 12,590
Thereafter 19,352

Total lease payments 86,088
Less: imputed interest (14,539)

Total $ 71,549

Reported as:
Current operating lease liabilities $ 10,463
Non-current operating lease liabilities 61,086

Total $ 71,549
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(8) Long-term Debt

The net carrying value of the Company’s long-term debt (in thousands) consisted of the following as of:

December 31,

2023 2022

2025 Convertible Notes $ 643,931 $ 640,888

2027 Convertible Notes 1,037,306 1,033,277

2028 Secured Notes 491,193 489,547

2025 Secured Term Loan 0 204,688

Other long-term secured debt 9,678 10,160

Total $2,182,108 $2,378,560

Convertible Senior Notes

In December 2020, the Company issued $650.0 million aggregate principal amount of 0.750% Convertible Senior

Notes due 2025 (the ‘‘2025 Convertible Notes’’) in a private offering. The 2025 Convertible Notes are senior

unsecured obligations of the Company and bear interest at a fixed rate of 0.750% per annum, payable semiannually

in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on June 15, 2021. Holders of the 2025 Convertible

Notes may receive additional interest under specified circumstances as outlined in the indenture relating to the

issuance of the 2025 Convertible Notes (the ‘‘2025 Convertible Notes Indenture’’). The 2025 Convertible Notes will

mature on December 15, 2025, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased in accordance with their terms.

The total net proceeds from the 2025 Convertible Notes offering, after deducting initial purchaser discounts and

issuance costs, were approximately $634.7 million.

In February 2021, the Company issued $1.050 billion aggregate principal amount of 0% Convertible Senior Notes due

2027 (the ‘‘2027 Convertible Notes’’) in a private offering. The 2027 Convertible Notes are senior unsecured

obligations of the Company and do not bear regular interest. However, holders of the 2027 Convertible Notes may

receive special interest under specified circumstances as outlined in the indenture relating to the issuance of the

2027 Convertible Notes (the ‘‘2027 Convertible Notes Indenture’’). Any special interest is payable semiannually in

arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, beginning on August 15, 2021. The 2027 Convertible Notes will

mature on February 15, 2027, unless earlier converted, redeemed, or repurchased in accordancewith their terms. The

total net proceeds from the 2027 Convertible Notes offering, after deducting initial purchaser discounts and issuance

costs, were approximately $1.026 billion.

The 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes (collectively, the ‘‘Convertible Notes’’) are senior unsecured

obligations and rank senior in right of payment to any of the Company’s indebtedness that is expressly subordinated

in right of payment to the Convertible Notes; equal in right of payment to any of the Company’s unsecured

indebtedness that is not so subordinated; effectively junior in right of payment to any of the Company’s secured

indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and structurally junior to all

indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) of the Company’s subsidiaries.

The Convertible Notes are convertible into shares of the Company’s class A common stock at initial conversion rates

of 2.5126 shares and 0.6981 shares per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Notes for the 2025 Convertible Notes

and 2027ConvertibleNotes, respectively (equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $397.99 per share

and $1,432.46 per share of class A common stock for the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes,

respectively). The conversion rates are subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments. In addition, following certain

events that may occur prior to the respective maturity dates or if the Company delivers a notice of redemption, the

Companywill increase the conversion rate for a holder who elects to convert its Convertible Notes in connectionwith

such corporate event or notice of redemption, as the case may be, in certain circumstances as provided in the 2025

Convertible Notes Indenture and the 2027 Convertible Notes Indenture (collectively, the ‘‘Convertible Notes

Indentures’’), respectively. There have been no adjustments to the initial conversion rates for each of the Convertible

Notes as of December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, themaximumnumber of shares intowhich the Convertible

Notes could bepotentially converted if the conversion features are triggered are 1,633,190 and733,005 shares for the

2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively.

Prior to June 15, 2025 and August 15, 2026 for the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively,

the Convertible Notes are convertible only under the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter
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commencing after the calendar quarter ending onMarch 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 for the 2025 Convertible Notes

and 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of the

Company’s class A common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the period of

30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar

quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price of the 2025 Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible

Notes, respectively, on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day period after any five consecutive

trading day period (the ‘‘measurement period’’) in which the ‘‘trading price’’ (as defined in the Convertible Notes

Indentures) per $1,000 principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively, for

each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the

Company’s class A common stock and the applicable conversion rate on each such trading day; (3) if the Company calls

any or all of the 2025 Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively, for redemption, at any time prior to

the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the redemption date; and (4) upon

occurrence of specified corporate events as described in the Convertible Notes Indentures.

On or after June 15, 2025 or August 15, 2026 for the 2025 ConvertibleNotes and 2027 ConvertibleNotes, respectively,

until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding thematurity dates of the 2025

Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively, holders may convert the 2025 Convertible Notes or 2027

Convertible Notes, respectively, at any time. Upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, the Company will pay or

deliver, as the casemay be, cash, shares of the Company’s class A common stock, or a combination of cash and shares

of class A common stock, at the Company’s election.

Prior to December 20, 2023 or February 20, 2024 for the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes,

respectively, the Companymay not redeem the Convertible Notes. The Companymay redeem for cash all or a portion

of the 2025 Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible Notes, at its option, on or after December 20, 2023 or February 20,

2024, respectively, if the last reported sale price of the Company’s class A common stock has been at least 130%of the

conversion price of the 2025 Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively, then in effect for at least 20

trading days (whether or not consecutive), including the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the

Company provides a notice of redemption, during any 30 consecutive trading day period ending on, and including, the

trading day immediately preceding the date on which the Company provides notice of redemption. The redemption

pricewill be equal to 100%of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid

interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. The Company has not redeemed any of the Convertible Notes as of

December 31, 2023.

If the Company undergoes a ‘‘fundamental change,’’ as defined in the ConvertibleNotes Indentures, prior tomaturity,

subject to certain conditions, holders may require the Company to repurchase for cash all or any portion of their

ConvertibleNotes at a fundamental change repurchase price equal to 100%of the principal amount of the Convertible

Notes to be repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase

date.

The Convertible Notes Indentures contain customary terms and covenants, including that upon certain events of

default occurring and continuing, either the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the

outstanding 2025 Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively, may declare 100% of the principal of,

and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on, all the 2025 Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively, to

be due and payable.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the 2025 Convertible Notes were not convertible at any time. During the

year ended December 31, 2022, the 2025 Convertible Notes were convertible at the option of the holders of the 2025

Convertible Notes during the first quarter of 2022 only. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the 2025

Convertible Notes were convertible at the option of the holders of the 2025 Convertible Notes during the second

quarter and fourth quarter of 2021 only. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the 2027

Convertible Notes were not convertible at any time. No conversions of the Convertible Notes occurred during the

years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021. The Convertible Notes may be convertible in future periods if one

or more of the conversion conditions is satisfied during future measurement periods. As of December 31, 2023, the

last reported sale price of the Company’s class A common stock for at least 20 trading days during the 30 consecutive

trading days ending on, and including, December 31, 2023 was greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price

of the 2025 Convertible Notes on each applicable trading day. Therefore, the 2025 Convertible Notes are convertible

at the option of the holders of the 2025 Convertible Notes during the first quarter of 2024.
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The Company incurred approximately $15.3million and $24.2million in customary offering expenses associatedwith

the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively (‘‘issuance costs’’). The Company accounts for

these issuance costs as a reduction to the principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible

Notes, respectively, and amortizes the issuance costs to interest expense over the contractual term of the 2025

Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively, at an effective interest rate of 1.23% and 0.39%,

respectively.

Although the Convertible Notes each contain embedded conversion features, the Company accounts for each of the

Convertible Notes in its entirety as a liability because the conversion features are indexed to the Company’s class A

common stock andmeet the criteria for classification in stockholders’ equity and therefore do not qualify for separate

derivative accounting. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the net carrying value of the Convertible Notes was

classified as a long-term liability in the ‘‘Long-termdebt, net’’ line item in the Company’s ConsolidatedBalance Sheets.

The following is a summary of the Company’s convertible debt instruments as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023

Outstanding
Principal Amount

Unamortized
Issuance Costs

Net Carrying
Value

Fair Value

Amount Leveling

2025 Convertible Notes $ 650,000 $ (6,069) $ 643,931 $1,074,713 Level 2

2027 Convertible Notes 1,050,000 (12,694) 1,037,306 913,808 Level 2

Total $1,700,000 $(18,763) $1,681,237 $1,988,521

The following is a summary of the Company’s convertible debt instruments as of December 31, 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2022

Outstanding
Principal Amount

Unamortized
Issuance Costs

Net Carrying
Value

Fair Value

Amount Leveling

2025 Convertible Notes $ 650,000 $ (9,112) $ 640,888 $364,000 Level 2

2027 Convertible Notes 1,050,000 (16,723) 1,033,277 394,800 Level 2

Total $1,700,000 $(25,835) $1,674,165 $758,800

The fair value of the Convertible Notes is determined using observable market data other than quoted prices,

specifically the last traded price at the end of the reporting period of identical instruments in the over-the-counter

market (Level 2).

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, interest expense related to the Convertible Notes was as

follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Year Ended December 31, 2022 Year Ended December 31, 2021

Contractual
Interest
Expense

Amortization
of

Issuance
Costs Total

Contractual
Interest
Expense

Amortization
of

Issuance
Costs Total

Contractual
Interest
Expense

Amortization
of

Issuance
Costs Total

2025 Convertible

Notes $4,875 $3,043 $ 7,918 $4,875 $3,006 $ 7,881 $4,875 $2,970 $ 7,845

2027 Convertible

Notes 0 4,029 4,029 0 4,014 4,014 0 3,433 3,433

Total $4,875 $7,072 $11,947 $4,875 $7,020 $11,895 $4,875 $6,403 $11,278

The Company paid $4.9 million, $4.9 million and $4.9 million, respectively, in interest related to the 2025 Convertible

Notes during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021. The Company has not paid any additional interest

or special interest related to the 2025 Convertible Notes or the 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively, to date.

Senior Secured Notes

On June 14, 2021, the Company issued $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2028 Secured Notes. The 2028

Secured Notes were sold under a purchase agreement, dated as of June 8, 2021, entered into by and among the

Company, MicroStrategy Services Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the ‘‘Guarantor’’), and
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Jefferies LLC, for resale to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as

amended (the ‘‘Securities Act’’), and to persons outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S under the

Securities Act. The terms of the 2028 Secured Notes are governed by an indenture, dated as of June 14, 2021 (the

‘‘2028 SecuredNotes Indenture’’), among theCompany, theGuarantor, andU.S. BankNational Association, as trustee

and collateral agent.

The 2028 Secured Notes are unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior secured basis by the

Guarantor and certain subsidiaries of the Company (excluding MacroStrategy) that may be formed or acquired on or

after June 14, 2021 (collectively, the ‘‘Subsidiary Guarantors’’). The 2028 Secured Notes bear interest at a fixed rate

of 6.125% per annum, payable semiannually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on

December 15, 2021. The 2028 Secured Notes have a stated maturity date of June 15, 2028, unless earlier redeemed

or repurchased in accordance with their terms and subject to a springing maturity date of September 15, 2025 or

November 16, 2026 as discussed further below. The total net proceeds from the 2028 Secured Notes, after deducting

initial purchaser discounts and issuance costs, were approximately $487.2 million.

The 2028 Secured Notes and the related guarantees are secured, on a senior secured basis with the Company’s

existing and future senior indebtedness, by a security interest in substantially all of the Company’s and the Subsidiary

Guarantors’ assets (the ‘‘Collateral’’). The Collateral includes any bitcoins or other digital assets acquired by the

Company or a SubsidiaryGuarantor on or after June 14, 2021, but excludes bitcoins held byMacroStrategy and certain

other excluded assets. As of December 31, 2023, approximately 16,081 of the bitcoins held by the Company serve as

part of the Collateral. MacroStrategy is the Company’s subsidiary formed to hold bitcoins and digital assets that are

not included in the Collateral, including bitcoins acquired before June 14, 2021, bitcoins thatMacroStrategy acquired

using the proceeds from the 2025 Secured Term Loan, and bitcoins purchased by MacroStrategy from contributions

made to it by the Company with the proceeds from sales of the Company’s class A common stock, such as sales of the

Company’s class A common stock pursuant to the equity offerings described in Note 13, At-the-Market Equity

Offerings, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The 2028 Secured Notes and the related guarantees are the general senior secured obligations of the Company and

the Subsidiary Guarantors and rank pari passu in right of paymentwith the Company’s and the Subsidiary Guarantors’

existing and future senior indebtedness, are senior in right of payment to all future subordinated indebtedness of the

Company and the SubsidiaryGuarantors, and are effectively senior to any existing and future unsecured indebtedness

of the Company and the Subsidiary Guarantors (including the Convertible Notes) to the extent of the value of the

Collateral (after giving effect to the sharing of such Collateral with holders of equal or prior ranking liens on the

Collateral).

The 2028 Secured Notes and the guarantees are: (i) secured on a first priority basis by liens on the Collateral (subject

to certain permitted liens and certain other exceptions, as provided in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture) or to the

extent there is outstanding ABL Indebtedness (as defined in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture), secured on a

first priority basis by the Notes Priority Collateral (as defined in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture) and on a second

priority basis by liens on the ABL Priority Collateral (as defined in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture) (subject to

certain permitted liens and certain other exceptions), (ii) effectively subordinated to any future ABL Indebtedness to

the extent of the value of the ABL Priority Collateral securing such future ABL Indebtedness, (iii) effectively

subordinated to any existing and future indebtedness of the Company or any Subsidiary Guarantor that is secured by

liens on assets of the Company or any Subsidiary Guarantor that do not constitute a part of the Collateral, and

(iv) structurally subordinated to any existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities of MacroStrategy and any

other Company subsidiaries that are not Subsidiary Guarantors, other than intercompany indebtedness and liabilities

owed to the Company or a Subsidiary Guarantor.

At any time and from time to time prior to June 15, 2024, the Company may redeem some or all of the 2028 Secured

Notes at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes being redeemed, plus

accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date, plus a ‘‘make-whole’’ premium as set

forth in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture. At any time and from time to time on or after June 15, 2024, the Company

may redeem some or all of the 2028 Secured Notes at the redemption prices described in the 2028 Secured Notes

Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. At any time prior to

June 15, 2024, but not more than once during each consecutive twelve-month period, the Company may redeem up

to 10% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes at a redemption price equal to 103% of the

principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but

excluding, the redemption date. At any time prior to June 15, 2024, the Company may redeem, on one or more
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occasions, up to 40%of the aggregate principal amount of the 2028 SecuredNoteswith the proceeds of certain equity

offerings, at a redemption price equal to 106.125% of the principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes to be

redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. The Company has not

redeemed any of the 2028 Secured Notes as of December 31, 2023.

If the Company experiences a Change of Control or Fundamental Change (each as defined in the 2028 Secured Notes

Indenture), the Companymay be required to offer to repurchase the 2028 Secured Notes at a purchase price equal to

101% of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the repurchase date. In

certain circumstances, the Company must use certain of the proceeds from a sale of assets to make an offer to

repurchase 2028 Secured Notes at a purchase price equal to 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid

interest, if any, to, but excluding, the repurchase date.

The 2028 Secured Notes include a springing maturity feature that will cause the stated maturity date to spring ahead

to: (1) September 15, 2025 (the ‘‘First Springing Maturity Date’’), unless on the First Springing Maturity Date (i) the

Company has Liquidity (as defined in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture) in excess of 130% of the amount required to

pay in full in cash the then outstanding aggregate principal amount of, and accrued interest on, the 2025 Convertible

Notes or (ii) less than $100,000,000 of the aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes remains

outstanding, (2) November 16, 2026 (the ‘‘Second SpringingMaturity Date’’), unless on the Second SpringingMaturity

Date (i) the Company has Liquidity in excess of 130%of the amount required to pay in full in cash the then outstanding

aggregate principal amount of, and accrued interest on, the 2027 Convertible Notes or (ii) less than $100,000,000 of

the aggregate principal amount of the 2027 Convertible Notes remains outstanding, or (3) the date (such date, an

‘‘FCCR SpringingMaturity Date’’) that is 91 days prior to thematurity date of any future convertible debt that wemay

issue that is then outstanding (the ‘‘FCCR Convertible Indebtedness’’), unless on the FCCR Springing Maturity Date

(i) the Company has Liquidity in excess of 130% of the amount required to pay in full in cash the then outstanding

aggregate principal amount of and accrued interest on such FCCR Convertible Indebtedness or (ii) less than

$100,000,000 of the aggregate principal amount of such FCCR Convertible Indebtedness remains outstanding.

‘‘Liquidity’’ is defined in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture and includes the Digital Asset Market Value (as defined in

the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture) of the bitcoin owned by the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries (as defined

in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture) immediately prior to the issuance of the 2028 Secured Notes (which are

referred to as ‘‘Existing Digital Assets’’). As of December 31, 2023, for purposes of calculating Liquidity, the Company

and its Restricted Subsidiaries owned approximately 92,079 Existing Digital Assets, all of which were unencumbered.

The 2028 Secured Notes Indenture contains certain covenants with which the Company must comply, including

covenants with respect to limitations on (i) additional indebtedness, (ii) liens, (iii) certain payments and investments,

(iv) the ability to merge or consolidate with another person, or sell or otherwise dispose of substantially all the

Company’s assets, and (v) certain transactionswith affiliates. The Companywas in compliancewith its debt covenants

as of December 31, 2023.

The Company incurred approximately $12.8million in customary offering expenses associatedwith the 2028 Secured

Notes. The Company accounts for these issuance costs as a reduction to the principal amount of the 2028 Secured

Notes and amortizes the issuance costs to interest expense over the contractual termof the 2028 SecuredNotes at an

effective interest rate of 6.58%. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the net carrying value of the 2028 Secured Notes

was classified as a long-term liability in the ‘‘Long-term debt, net’’ line item in the Company’s Consolidated Balance

Sheets.

The following is a summary of the 2028 Secured Notes as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023

Outstanding
Principal Amount

Unamortized
Issuance Costs

Net Carrying
Value

Fair Value

Amount Leveling

2028 Secured Notes $500,000 $(8,807) $491,193 $485,070 Level 2

The following is a summary of the 2028 Secured Notes as of December 31, 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2022

Outstanding
Principal Amount

Unamortized
Issuance Costs

Net Carrying
Value

Fair Value

Amount Leveling

2028 Secured Notes $500,000 $(10,453) $489,547 $369,800 Level 2
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The fair value of the 2028 Secured Notes is determined using observable market data other than quoted prices,

specifically the last traded price at the end of the reporting period of identical instruments in the over-the-counter

market (Level 2).

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, interest expense related to the 2028 Secured Notes was as

follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Year Ended December 31, 2022 Year Ended December 31, 2021

Contractual
Interest
Expense

Amortization
of

Issuance Costs Total

Contractual
Interest
Expense

Amortization
of

Issuance
Costs Total

Contractual
Interest
Expense

Amortization
of

Issuance
Costs Total

2028 Secured

Notes $30,625 $1,646 $32,271 $30,625 $1,541 $32,166 $16,674 $798 $17,472

The Company paid $30.6million, $30.6million, and $15.4million, respectively, in interest related to the 2028 Secured

Notes during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Secured Term Loan

On March 23, 2022, MacroStrategy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Credit and Security

Agreement (the ‘‘Credit and Security Agreement’’) with Silvergate pursuant to which Silvergate issued the

$205.0 million 2025 Secured Term Loan to MacroStrategy.

On March 24, 2023, MacroStrategy and Silvergate entered into a Prepayment, Waiver and Payoff to Credit and

Security Agreement, pursuant to which MacroStrategy voluntarily prepaid Silvergate approximately $161.0 million

(the ‘‘Payoff Amount’’), in full repayment, satisfaction, and discharge of the 2025 Secured Term Loan and all other

obligations under the Credit and Security Agreement. Upon Silvergate’s receipt of the Payoff Amount on March 24,

2023, the Credit and Security Agreement was terminated and Silvergate released its security interest in all of

MacroStrategy’s assets collateralizing the 2025 Secured Term Loan, including the bitcoin that was serving as

collateral.

The Payoff Amount consisted of a $159.9 million payment to repay the full $205.0 million outstanding principal

amount of the 2025 Secured Term Loan as of March 24, 2023 and a $1.1 million payment for accrued unpaid interest

on the 2025 Secured Term Loan as of March 24, 2023. The Company also incurred $0.1 million in third party fees in

connectionwith the repayment of the 2025 Secured Term Loan. The net carrying value of the 2025 Secured Term Loan

as ofMarch 24, 2023, immediately prior to the loan’s repayment, was $204.7million, which resulted in a $44.7million

gain on debt extinguishment recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations in the first quarter

of 2023.

MacroStrategy previously maintained a $5.0 million cash reserve account (the ‘‘Reserve Account’’) with Silvergate to

serve as additional collateral for the 2025 Secured Term Loan. On March 24, 2023, the $5.0 million then held in the

Reserve Account was applied against the Payoff Amount, reducing the amount of additional funds that were required

to be paid by MacroStrategy to Silvergate in connection with the payoff of the 2025 Secured Term Loan. As of

December 31, 2022, the Reserve Account was presented within ‘‘Restricted cash’’ in the Company’s Consolidated

Balance Sheet and the Bitcoin Collateral Account was presented within ‘‘Digital assets’’ in the Company’s

Consolidated Balance Sheet as further described in Note 4, Digital Assets, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Prior to the prepayment, the 2025 Secured Term Loan was a senior secured obligation of MacroStrategy that bore

interest at a floating rate equal to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate 30 Day Average, as published by the Federal

Reserve Bank of New York’s website, plus 3.70%, with a floor of 3.75%, with interest payable monthly in arrears

beginningMay 2022. The 2025 Secured TermLoanwas scheduled tomature onMarch 23, 2025, unless earlier prepaid

or repaid in accordance with the terms of the Credit and Security Agreement. The total net proceeds from the 2025

Secured Term Loan, after deducting lender fees and third-party costs, were approximately $204.6 million.

In accordance with the terms of the Credit and Security Agreement, the 2025 Secured Term Loan was initially

collateralized at closing by bitcoin with a value of approximately $820.0 million placed in a collateral account (the

‘‘Bitcoin Collateral Account’’) with a custodian mutually authorized by Silvergate andMacroStrategy. While the 2025
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Secured Term Loan was outstanding, MacroStrategy was required to maintain a loan to collateral value ratio

(‘‘LTV Ratio’’) of less than 50%. As a result, MacroStrategy was required to maintain more than $410.0 million of

bitcoin in the Bitcoin Collateral Account, assuming the full $205.0 million of 2025 Secured Term Loan principal

remained outstanding.

The Company incurred approximately $0.4 million in lender fees and third-party costs (‘‘issuance costs’’) associated

with the 2025 Secured Term Loan. The Company accounted for these issuance costs as a reduction to the principal

amount of the 2025 Secured Term Loan and amortized the issuance costs to interest expense over the contractual

term of the 2025 Secured Term Loan at an effective interest rate of 3.87% until the 2025 Secured Term Loan’s

prepayment in March 2023. As of December 31, 2022, the net carrying value of the 2025 Secured Term Loan was

classified as a long-term liability in the ‘‘Long-term debt, net’’ line item in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The following is a summary of the 2025 Secured Term Loan as of December 31, 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2022

Outstanding
Principal Amount

Unamortized
Issuance Costs

Net Carrying
Value

Fair Value

Amount Leveling

2025 Secured Term Loan $205,000 $(312) $204,688 $205,000 Level 3

The outstanding principal amount of the 2025 Secured Term Loan approximated its fair value as of December 31, 2022

as the 2025 Secured Term Loan bore interest at a floating rate andwas over-collateralized (the Companywas required

to maintain an LTV ratio of less than 50%). Additionally, the Company had approximately 82,991 unencumbered

bitcoins that were available to be pledged as additional collateral at December 31, 2022.

No interest expense related to the 2025 Secured Term Loanwas recognized after the debtwas repaid in full during the

first quarter of 2023. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, interest expense related to the 2025 Secured

Term Loan was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Year Ended December 31, 2022

Contractual
Interest Expense

Amortization of
Issuance Costs Total

Contractual
Interest Expense

Amortization of
Issuance Costs Total

2025 Secured Term Loan $3,781 $31 $3,812 $9,006 $103 $9,109

The Company paid a final $5.1 million in interest related to the 2025 Secured Term Loan during the first quarter of

2023, $1.1 million of which was included in the Payoff Amount. The Company paid $7.7 million in interest related to

the 2025 Secured Term Loan during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Other long-term secured debt

In June 2022, the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a secured term loan agreement in the

amount of $11.1million, bearing interest at an annual rate of 5.2%, andmaturing in June 2027. The loan is secured by

certain non-bitcoin assets of the Company that are not otherwise serving as collateral for any of the Company’s other

indebtedness. After monthly payments made under the terms of the agreement, the loan had a net carrying value of

$10.2million and $10.6million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and an outstanding principal balance

of $10.3million and $10.9million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022,

$0.5million and $0.5million of the respective net carrying values were short-term and presented in ‘‘Current portion

of long-term debt, net’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Maturities

The following table shows thematurities of the Company’s debt instruments as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands).

The principal payments related to the 2028 SecuredNotes are included in the table belowbased on the First Springing

Maturity Date of September 15, 2025, as if the springing maturity feature discussed above were triggered. As of

December 31, 2023, the Company expects to be able to satisfy the requirements in the 2028 SecuredNotes Indenture

to avoid triggering the springing maturity feature of the 2028 Secured Notes.

Payments due by period ended
December 31,

2025 Convertible
Notes

2027 Convertible
Notes

2028 Secured
Notes

Other long-
term

secured debt Total

2024 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 539 $ 539

2025 650,000 0 500,000 570 1,150,570

2026 0 0 0 600 600

2027 0 1,050,000 0 8,633 1,058,633

2028 0 0 0 0 0

Thereafter 0 0 0 0 0

Total $650,000 $1,050,000 $500,000 $10,342 $2,210,342

(9) Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Commitments

From time to time, the Company enters into certain types of contracts that require it to indemnify parties against

third-party claims. These contracts primarily relate to agreements under which the Company assumes indemnity

obligations for intellectual property infringement, as well as other obligations from time to time depending on

arrangements negotiated with customers and other third parties. The conditions of these obligations vary. Thus, the

overallmaximumamount of the Company’s indemnification obligations cannot be reasonably estimated. Historically,

the Company has not beenobligated tomake significant payments for these obligations anddoes not currently expect

to incur anymaterial obligations in the future. Accordingly, the Company has not recorded an indemnification liability

on its Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 or December 31, 2022.

The following table shows future minimum payments related to noncancelable purchase agreements with

initial terms of greater than one year and anticipated payments related to the mandatory deemed repatriation

transition tax resulting from the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (‘‘Transition Tax’’) based on the expected due dates of the

various installments as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Year
Purchase
Obligations

Transition
Tax

2024 $ 22,003 $ 7,379

2025 31,633 9,223

2026 57,132 0

2027 25,000 0

2028 0 0

Thereafter 0 0

$135,768 $16,602

(b) Contingencies

Brazil Matter

Following an internal review initiated in 2018, the Company believes that its Brazilian subsidiary failed or likely failed

to comply with local procurement regulations in conducting business with certain Brazilian government entities.

On February 6, 2020, the Company learned that a Brazilian court authorized the Brazilian Federal Police to use certain

investigative measures in its investigation into alleged corruption and procurement fraud involving certain

government officials, pertaining to a particular transaction. The transaction at issue is part of the basis of the
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previously reported failure or likely failure of the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary to comply with local procurement

regulations. The Company is not aware of any allegations that any former employee or the Company made any

payments to Brazilian government officials. The Brazilian Federal Police expanded the investigation to include other

possible cases of procurement fraud involving Brazilian government entities. Criminal penalties may be imposed

against individuals; however, neither employees of the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary nor the subsidiary itself have

been targets of the Federal Police investigation.

The Company has also learned that Brazil’s Federal Comptroller General filed an administrative action against the

Company’s Brazilian subsidiary with respect to the alleged procurement violations. Thesematters remain the subject

of investigation by Brazilian authorities. The Company is taking measures to attempt to resolve these matters.

On January 18, 2023, Brazil’s General Superintendence of the Administrative Council for Economic Defense

(‘‘SG/CADE’’) launched an administrative proceeding to investigate potentially anticompetitive conduct, naming

various individuals and companies as defendants including the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary. The proceeding

involves conduct relating to transactionswith certain Brazilian public and private entities that is part of the basis of the

foregoing failure or likely failure of the Brazilian subsidiary to comply with local procurement regulations. The

proceeding was precipitated by the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary’s voluntary disclosure of information to SG/CADE

that arose out of the internal review initiated in 2018, and the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary has secured a leniency

agreement with SG/CADE. If at the end of the proceeding, CADE’s Tribunal confirms that the leniency agreement

obligations have been fulfilled, the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary will receive full immunity from fines.

The Company believes that a loss is probable in connection with these Brazilianmatters. The Company has estimated

aminimum loss of $1.2million in respect of thesematters. Given the stage of thesematters, as of December 31, 2023,

the Company remains unable to reasonably estimate a range of loss beyond such minimum loss. The aggregate

accrued amount for thesematters is included as a component of ‘‘Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and operating

lease liabilities’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2023. No amounts were accrued as of

December 31, 2022, as the minimum loss was not estimable at such date. The final outcome of these matters may

result in a loss that is significantly greater than this accrued amount. Any loss associated with the final outcome of

thesematters may result in a material impact on the Company’s earnings and financial results for the period in which

any such additional liability is accrued. However, the Company believes that any loss associated with the final

outcome of these matters will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position.

Daedalus Matter

As previously reported, on November 4, 2020, a complaint was filed against the Company in the U.S. District Court for

the Eastern District of Virginia by a patent assertion entity called Daedalus Blue, LLC (‘‘Daedalus’’). In its complaint,

Daedalus alleges that the Company has infringed U.S. Patent Nos. 8,341,172 (the ‘‘’172 Patent’’) and 9,032,076

(the ‘‘’076 Patent’’) based on specific functionality in theMicroStrategy platform. The ’172 Patent relates to amethod

for providing aggregate data access in response to a query, whereas the ’076 Patent relates to a role-based access

control system.

On January 5, 2024, Daedalus and the Company entered into aMemorandumof Understanding (‘‘MOU’’) pursuant to

which the parties agreed to settle the matter. Under the MOU, the Company received a fully paid-up license to all

patents owned by Daedalus as of January 5, 2024, including the ’172 Patent and the ’076 Patent. The court cancelled

the trial scheduled to begin on January 8, 2024 and suspended all case deadlines. On January 29, 2024, the parties

executed a formal settlement agreementmemorializing the terms set forth in theMOUand agreed to file a stipulation

of dismissal with the court by February 27, 2024.

False Claims Act Matter

On August 31, 2022, the District of Columbia (the ‘‘District’’), through its Office of the Attorney General, filed a civil

complaint in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia naming as defendants (i) Michael J. Saylor, the Chairman

of the Company’s Board of Directors and the Company’s Executive Chairman, in his personal capacity, and (ii) the

Company. The District sought, among other relief, monetary damages under the District’s False Claims Act for the

alleged failure of Mr. Saylor to pay personal income taxes to the District over a number of years together with

penalties, interest, and treble damages. The complaint alleged that the amount of personal income taxes purportedly

involved wasmore than $25million. The complaint also alleged in the sole claim against the Company that it violated

the District’s False Claims Act by conspiring to assist Mr. Saylor’s alleged failure to pay personal income taxes. On

October 26, 2022, the Company filed a motion to dismiss the District’s complaint. On February 28, 2023, the court
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ruled on the motion to dismiss, dismissing the sole claim against the Company as well as a claim against Mr. Saylor

alleging that Mr. Saylor violated the District’s False Claims Act. The court did not dismiss claims against Mr. Saylor

alleging thatMr. Saylor failed to pay personal income taxes, interest and penalties due. On April 13, 2023, the District,

through its Office of the Attorney General, filed a motion to amend its complaint to attempt to restore claims under

the False Claims Act against both Mr. Saylor and the Company. On May 10, 2023, the court granted the District’s

motion to amend its complaint, reinstating the Company as a defendant in the case. The amended complaint alleges

that the Company violated theDistrict’s False ClaimsAct bymaking and using false records and statements in the form

of false withholding filings with the District Office of Tax and Revenue. The amended complaint also alleges that

Mr. Saylor violated theDistrict’s False Claims Act bymaking and using false records and statements and by causing the

Company tomake and use false records and statements. On June 7, 2023,Mr. Saylor and the Company filed amotion

to dismiss the District’s amended complaint with prejudice. On July 5, 2023, the District filed an opposition to the

motion to dismiss made by Mr. Saylor and the Company. On July 19, 2023, Mr. Saylor and the Company filed a reply

in support of their motion to dismiss. On July 31, 2023, the court denied Mr. Saylor’s and the Company’s motion to

dismiss the amended complaint. On August 22, 2023, the Company and Mr. Saylor filed a motion asking the court to

reconsider its July 31 decision or, in the alternative, to certify for interlocutory review two case-dispositive issues

relating to the validity of tax-related amendments to the District’s False Claims Act and authority of the Office of the

Attorney General to sue for allegedly unpaid taxes. On October 31, 2023, the court denied Mr. Saylor’s and the

Company’s motion for reconsideration or, in the alternative, certification for interlocutory review. The final outcome

of this matter is not presently determinable.

Various Legal Proceedings and Contingent Liabilities

The Company is also involved in various legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business. Although the

outcomes of these legal proceedings are inherently difficult to predict, management does not expect the resolution

of these legal proceedings to have amaterial adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations,

or cash flows.

The Company has contingent liabilities that, in management’s judgment, are not probable of assertion. If such

unasserted contingent liabilitieswere to be asserted, or becomeprobable of assertion, the Companymay be required

to record significant expenses and liabilities in the period inwhich these liabilities are asserted or become probable of

assertion.

(10) Income Taxes

U.S. and international components of (loss) income before income taxes (in thousands) were comprised of the

following for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

U.S. $(157,810) $(1,362,230) $(854,610)

Foreign 33,285 39,765 43,221

Total $(124,525) $(1,322,465) $(811,389)

The (benefit from) provision for income taxes (in thousands) consisted of the following for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Current:

Federal $ 2,774 $ 9,278 $(4,622)

State 3,376 5,362 2,184

Foreign 9,146 8,139 5,533

$15,296 $22,779 $ 3,095
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Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Deferred:

Federal $(374,800) $ 89,581 $(204,784)

State (194,374) 34,521 (74,796)

Foreign 232 451 576

$(568,942) $124,553 $(279,004)

Total (benefit) provision $(553,646) $147,332 $(275,909)

The benefit from or provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the federal statutory

income tax rate to the Company’s loss before income taxes as follows for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Income tax expense at federal statutory rate 21.0% 21.0% 21.0%

State taxes, net of federal tax effect 8.4% 7.3% 9.1%

Other international components (3.4)% (0.1)% 0.2%

Change in valuation allowance 409.5% (38.6)% 0.0%

Non-deductible officers compensation (5.5)% (0.3)% (1.0)%

Research and development tax credit 2.7% 0.1% 0.8%

Share-based compensation 3.4% (0.1)% 4.0%

Rate changes, including states 11.0% (0.3)% 0.0%

Other permanent differences(1) (2.5)% (0.1)% (0.1)%

Effective income tax rate 444.6% -11.1% 34.0%

(1) Included in the ‘‘Other permanent differences’’ category in the table above are other permanent items, each below the threshold required

for separate presentation in the table.

The Company’s U.S. and foreign effective tax rates for loss before income taxes were as follows for the periods

indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

U.S. 356.8% (10.2)% 33.0%

Foreign 28.2% 21.6% 14.1%

Combined 444.6% (11.1)% 34.0%

The change in the Company’s effective tax rate in 2023, as compared to 2022, was primarily due to (i) the release of

the valuation allowance during 2023 on the Company’s deferred tax asset related to the impairment on its bitcoin

holdings, attributable to the increase in the market value of bitcoin as of December 31, 2023 compared to

December 31, 2022, compared to (ii) the establishment of a valuation allowance during 2022 on the Company’s

deferred tax asset related to the impairment on its bitcoin holdings, attributable to the decrease in market value of

bitcoin as of December 31, 2022 compared to December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the amount of cash and cash equivalents held by the Company’s U.S. entities was

$10.5 million and $14.8 million, respectively, and by the Company’s non-U.S. entities was $36.3 million and

$29.0 million, respectively. The Company earns a significant amount of its revenues outside the United States. The

Company repatriated foreign earnings and profits of $20.3 million during 2023 and $44.7 million during 2022. As of

December 31, 2023, the Company has not indefinitely reinvested any of its undistributed foreign earnings and has

recorded a deferred tax liability of $2.9 million on undistributed foreign earnings related to foreign withholding tax

and U.S. state income taxes.

E-57



Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components

of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities (in thousands) were as follows for the periods indicated:

December 31,

2023 2022

Deferred tax assets, net:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 727 $ 723

Tax credit carryforwards 1,841 1,677

Intangible assets, including capitalized R&D 57,410 41,082

Deferred revenue 1,481 24,747

Accrued compensation 5,882 6,602

Share-based compensation expense 30,345 23,305

Digital asset impairment losses 652,280 607,659

Interest expense carryforward 11,627 1,239

Lease liability 18,197 14,861

Other 4,699 1,887

Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 784,489 723,782

Valuation allowance (1,427) (511,412)

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 783,062 212,370

Deferred tax liabilities:

Prepaid expenses and other 3,681 4,372

Property and equipment 1,062 1,786

Deferred tax on undistributed foreign earnings 2,923 2,231

Right of use asset 18,180 16,027

Total deferred tax liabilities 25,846 24,416

Total net deferred tax asset $757,216 $ 187,954

Reported as:

Non-current deferred tax assets, net 757,573 188,152

Non-current deferred tax liabilities (357) (198)

Total net deferred tax asset $757,216 $ 187,954

The Company had no U.S. NOL carryforwards as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The Company had $3.0 million and

$3.3 million of foreign NOL carryforwards as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2023,

the Company also had gross state NOLs of $10.1 million of which $9.1 million will expire by 2042 and the remainder

can be carried forward indefinitely.

The Company’s valuation allowance of $1.4million at December 31, 2023 primarily related to the Company’s deferred

tax assets related to foreign tax credits in certain jurisdictions that, in the Company’s present estimation, more likely

than not will not be realized. The Company’s valuation allowance of $511.4 million at December 31, 2022 primarily

related to the Company’s deferred tax asset related to the impairment on its bitcoin holdings, and was based on the

market value of bitcoin at December 31, 2022.

Valuation allowances have been established where the Company has concluded that it is more likely than not that

suchdeferred tax assets are not realizable. TheCompany’s ability to realize its net deferred tax assets of $757.6million

as of December 31, 2023 is primarily dependent upon generating sufficient taxable income of the proper character in

future years.Management has concluded that there is sufficient positive evidence to support the expected realization

of these deferred tax assets primarily due to the fact that the excess of themarket value of the Company’s bitcoin over
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the cost basis of the Company’s bitcoin as of December 31, 2023 results in a significant built-in gain for tax purposes

and is therefore a source of future taxable income that is expected to allow all of the U.S. net deferred tax assets to be

realized. As part of the assessment of the amount of the valuation allowance,management has asserted that it has the

ability and intent to execute tax planning strategies if necessary, including selling bitcoin with a built-in gain.

After consideration of all available evidence, the Company has concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, it is more

likely than not that its deferred tax assets, with the exception of certain foreign tax credits for which a valuation

allowance has been established,will be realized. If themarket value of bitcoin declines in future periods, the Company

would need to assess other sources of forecasted taxable income of proper character, which could result in additional

valuation allowances being recorded.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had income taxes receivable of $15.3 million and $2.5 million,

respectively, recorded in ‘‘Prepaid expenses andother current assets’’ in theCompany’s ConsolidatedBalance Sheets.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had gross unrecognized income tax benefits of $8.3million, including accrued

interest, all of whichwas recorded in ‘‘Other long-term liabilities’’ in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The

change in unrecognized income tax benefits (in thousands) is presented in the table below for the periods indicated:

2023 2022 2021

Unrecognized income tax benefits at beginning of year $5,811 $5,960 $4,293

Increase (decrease) related to positions taken in prior period 1,458 (67) 1,082

Increase related to positions taken in current period 930 318 1,146

Decrease related to settlement with tax authorities 0 (40) 0

Decrease related to expiration of statute of limitations (301) (360) (561)

Unrecognized income tax benefits at end of year 7,898 5,811 5,960

Accrued interest 352 276 272

Gross unrecognized income tax benefits at end of year $8,250 $6,087 $6,232

If recognized, $8.0 million of the gross unrecognized income tax benefits as of December 31, 2023 would impact the

Company’s effective tax rate. Over the next 12 months, the amount of the Company’s liability for unrecognized

income tax benefits shown above is not expected to change materially. The Company recognizes estimated accrued

interest related to unrecognized income tax benefits in the (benefit from) provision for income taxes. During the years

ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company released or recognized an immaterial amount of accrued

interest. The amount of accumulated accrued interest related to the above unrecognized income tax benefits was

approximately $0.4 million and $0.3 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The Company files tax returns in numerous foreign countries as well as the United States and its tax returns may be

subject to audit by tax authorities in all countries in which it files. Each country has its own statute of limitations for

making assessment of additional tax liabilities. The Company’s U.S. tax returns for tax years from 2019 and forward

are subject to potential examination by the Internal Revenue Service. However, due to the Company’s use of state

NOL carryovers in the United States, state tax authorities may attempt to reduce or fully offset the amount of state

NOL carryovers from tax years ended 2011 and forward that the Company used in later tax years. The Company’s

major foreign tax jurisdictions and the tax years that remain subject to potential examination are Italy for tax years

2017 and forward; Poland and China for tax years 2019 and forward; and Spain, Germany, and theUnited Kingdom for

tax years 2020 and forward. To date there have been no material audit assessments related to audits in the

United States or any of the applicable foreign jurisdictions.

(11) Share-based Compensation

Stock Incentive Plans

OnMay 24, 2023, the Company’s stockholders approved the Company’s 2023 Equity Plan, which became effective as

of such date. No awards may be granted under the 2023 Equity Plan more than 10 years after the 2023 Equity Plan’s

effective date. No new awards will be granted under the Company’s 2013 Equity Plan, though awards previously

granted under the 2013 Equity Plan remain outstanding in accordance with their terms. Under the Stock Incentive

Plans, the Company’s employees, officers, directors, and other eligible participants may be (with respect to the 2023

Equity Plan) and have been (with respect to both the 2023 Equity Plan and the 2013 Equity Plan) awarded various

types of share-based compensation, including options to purchase shares of the Company’s class A common stock,
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restricted stock units, and other stock-based awards. Additionally, under the 2023 Equity Plan, awards may be and

have been granted that are subject to the achievement of one or more performance measures established by the

Company’s Board of Directors or a duly authorized committee thereof. Any shares issued under the Stock Incentive

Plans may consist in whole or in part of authorized but unissued shares or treasury shares.

An aggregate of up to 1,932,703 shares of the Company’s class A common stock were initially authorized for issuance

under the 2023 Equity Plan, comprised of (i) 200,000 shares of the Company’s class A common stock authorized under

the 2023 Equity Plan and (ii) up to an aggregate of 1,732,703 shares of the Company’s class A common stock consisting

of: (a) the shares of class A common stock reserved for issuance under the 2013 Equity Plan that remained available

for grant as ofMay 23, 2023, and (b) shares of class A common stock subject to awards granted under the 2013 Equity

Plan that were outstanding as of May 23, 2023 and which subsequently expire, terminate or are otherwise

surrendered, cancelled or forfeited or repurchased by the Company at their original issuance price pursuant to a

contractual repurchase right, including shares subject to awards granted under the 2013 Equity Plan that are

delivered (either by actual delivery, attestation or net exercise) to the Company by a participant to (x) purchase shares

upon the exercise of such awardor (y) satisfy taxwithholding obligationswith respect to such awards, including shares

retained from the award creating the tax obligation, subject, in the case of incentive stock options, to any limitations

under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. As of December 31, 2023, there were 238,593 shares of class

A common stock reserved and available for future issuance under the 2023 Equity Plan.

In determining related share-based compensation expense for any award under the Stock Incentive Plans, the

Company has made an accounting policy election to account for forfeitures of awards as they occur and therefore

share-based compensation expense presented below has not been adjusted for any estimated forfeitures.

Stock option awards

Stock options granted under the Stock Incentive Plans must have an exercise price equal to at least the fair market

value of the Company’s class A common stock on the date of grant, become exercisable as established by the Board

of Directors or the Compensation Committee, and expire no later than 10 years following the date of grant. The

Company recognizes share-based compensation expense associated with such stock option awards on a straight-line

basis over the award’s requisite service period (generally, the vesting period). With the exception of stock option

awards to non-employeemembers of the Company’s Board of Directors under the 2023 Equity Plan, which vest in full

after one year, the stock option awards granted to date vest in equal annual installments over an approximately

four-year vesting period (unless accelerated in connection with a change in control event under specified conditions

as set forth in the applicable option agreement or otherwise in accordance with provisions of the Stock Incentive

Plans).

Share-based compensation expense related to stock option awards is based on the fair value of the stock option

awards on the date of grant, as estimated using the Black-Scholes valuationmodel. The Black-Scholes valuationmodel

requires the input of certain management assumptions, including the expected term, expected stock price volatility,

risk-free interest rate, and expected dividend yield. The Company estimates the term over which option holders are

expected to hold their stock options by using the simplified method for ‘‘plain-vanilla’’ stock option awards because

the Company’s stock option exercise history does not provide a reasonable basis to compute the expected term for

stock options granted under the Stock Incentive Plans. During 2021, 2022 and 2023, as a result of the significant

increase in the Company’s stock price volatility, the Company established estimates for the expected stock price

volatility by calculating a blended rate from the historical stock price volatility of its class A common stock and the

implied volatility of the Company’s traded financial instruments with similar terms to the respective award. For stock

options granted prior to 2021, the Company relied exclusively on its historical stock price volatility using a simple

average calculation method to estimate the expected stock price volatility over the expected term because the

Company believed at the date of grant that future volatility was unlikely to differ from the past. The risk-free interest

rate is based on U.S. Treasury securities with terms that approximate the expected term of the stock options. The

expected dividend yield is zero, as the Company has not previously declared cash dividends and does not currently

intend to declare cash dividends in the foreseeable future. These assumptions are based on management’s best

judgment, and changes to these assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimates and amount of

share-based compensation expense recognized.
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As of December 31, 2023, there were options to purchase 1,293,627 shares of class A common stock outstanding

under the Stock Incentive Plans. The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activity (in thousands,

except per share data and years) for the periods indicated:

Stock Options Outstanding

Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
Per Share

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual

Term (Years)

Balance as of January 1, 2021 1,157 $139.48

Granted 305 676.10

Exercised (269) 151.19 $163,427

Forfeited/Expired (26) 499.11

Balance as of December 31, 2021 1,167 268.74

Granted 440 346.15

Exercised (9) 137.51 $ 1,469

Forfeited/Expired (21) 498.69

Balance as of December 31, 2022 1,577 288.30

Granted 37 290.11

Exercised (175) 173.83 $ 36,636

Forfeited/Expired (145) 441.50

Balance as of December 31, 2023 1,294 $286.78

Exercisable as of December 31, 2023 859 $221.95 $357,749 3.4

Expected to vest as of December 31, 2023 435 $414.59 100,600 8.0

Total 1,294 $286.78 $458,349 5.0

Stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2023 are comprised of the following range of exercise prices per share

(in thousands, except per share data and years):

Stock Options Outstanding at December 31, 2023

Range of Exercise Prices per Share Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
Per Share

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual

Term (Years)

$121.43 - $200.00 727 $135.79 2.7

$200.01 - $300.00 111 $251.58 8.9

$300.01 - $400.00 3 $301.63 9.4

$400.01 - $500.00 247 $410.26 8.1

$600.01 - $691.23 206 $691.23 7.1

Total 1,294 $286.78 5.0

An aggregate of 260,625, 245,500, and 200,625 stock options with an aggregate grant date fair value of $51.6million,

$35.8 million, and $11.0 million vested during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

The weighted average grant date fair value of stock option awards using the Black-Scholes valuation model was

$194.94, $201.64, and $372.05 for each share subject to a stock option granted during the years ended December 31,

2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, based on the following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Expected term of options in years 5.5 - 6.3 6.3 6.3
Expected volatility 70.6% - 74.1% 58.4% - 75.5% 56.8% - 59.0%
Risk-free interest rate 3.7% - 4.4% 1.9% - 3.9% 0.8% - 1.1%
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
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The Company recognized approximately $44.8 million, $48.3 million, and $32.0 million in share-based compensation

expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, from stock options granted under the

Stock Incentive Plans. As of December 31, 2023, there was approximately $70.8 million of total unrecognized

share-based compensation expense related to unvested stock options, which the Company expects to recognize over

a weighted average vesting period of approximately 2.0 years.

Share-settled restricted stock units

Share-settled restricted stock units granted under the Stock Incentive Plans entitle recipients to receive a number of

shares of the Company’s class A common stock over a vesting period, as specified in the applicable restricted stock

unit agreement. Although the Companymay in its sole discretion elect to pay fully or partially in cash in lieu of settling

solely in shares, it does not currently intend to do so.

Share-based compensation expense related to share-settled restricted stock units is based on the fair value of the

Company’s class A common stock on the date of grant. The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense

associated with such share-settled restricted stock unit awards on a straight-line basis over the award’s requisite

service period (generally, the vesting period). With the exception of share-settled restricted stock unit awards to

non-employee members of the Company’s Board of Directors, which vest in full after one year, the share-settled

restricted stock unit awards granted to date vest in equal annual installments over a four-year period (unless

accelerated in connection with a change in control event under specified conditions as set forth in the applicable

restricted stock unit agreement or otherwise in accordance with provisions of the Stock Incentive Plan or applicable

restricted stock unit agreement). Upon vesting of the share-settled restricted stock units, the Company covers the

minimum tax withholding obligation in most jurisdictions by withholding shares with equivalent value based on the

closing stock price on the vesting date. For these jurisdictions, the Company then pays the withholding tax obligation

to the appropriate taxing authorities which is reflected as a financing activity on the Consolidated Statements of Cash

Flows.

As of December 31, 2023, there were 185,153 share-settled restricted stock units outstanding under the Stock

Incentive Plans. The following table summarizes the Company’s share-settled restricted stock unit activity (in

thousands) for the periods indicated:

Share-Settled Restricted Stock Units Outstanding

Units
Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Balance as of January 1, 2021 74

Granted 58

Vested (17) $ 13,803

Forfeited (10)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 105

Granted 60

Vested (28) $ 6,604

Forfeited (17)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 120

Granted 123

Vested (37) $ 14,817

Forfeited (21)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 185

Expected to vest as of December 31, 2023 185 $116,946

During the year ended December 31, 2023, 36,502 share-settled restricted stock units having an aggregate grant date

fair value of $13.5million vested, and 10,440 shareswerewithheld to satisfy tax obligations, resulting in 26,062 issued

shares. During the year ended December 31, 2022, 28,180 share-settled restricted stock units having an aggregate

grant date fair value of $12.3 million vested, and 9,467 shares were withheld to satisfy tax obligations, resulting in

18,713 issued shares. During the year endedDecember 31, 2021, 17,004 share-settled restricted stock units having an

aggregate grant date fair value of $3.3 million vested, and 5,857 shares were withheld to satisfy tax obligations,
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resulting in 11,147 issued shares. The weighted average grant date fair value of share-settled restricted stock units

granted during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021was $292.83, $246.17 and $736.46, respectively,

based on the fair value of the Company’s class A common stock. The Company recognized approximately

$17.4million, $13.4million, and $8.0million in share-based compensation expense for the years endedDecember 31,

2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, from share-settled restricted stock units granted under the Stock Incentive Plans.

As of December 31, 2023, there was approximately $49.4 million of total unrecognized share-based compensation

expense related to unvested share-settled restricted stock units, which the Company expects to recognize over a

weighted average vesting period of approximately 2.8 years.

Share-settled performance stock units

During the second quarter of 2023, the Company granted performance stock units under the 2023 Equity Plan.

Performance stock units entitle recipients to receive a number of shares of the Company’s class A common stock at a

specified date in the future based on achievement of one or more performance measures, as specified in the

applicable performance stock unit agreement. Although the Company may in its sole discretion elect to pay fully or

partially in cash in lieu of settling solely in shares, it does not currently intend to do so.

The vesting of each performance stock unit granted is subject to the Company’s achievement of a relative

total shareholder return (‘‘TSR’’) performance goal over a three-year performance period with the number of

performance stock units granted representing the number of performance stock units thatwould vest basedon target

performance. Asmore fully specified in the applicable grant agreements, the number of performance stock units that

will vest will be based on the percentile ranking of the Company’s TSR over the three-year performance period as

compared to the TSR of themembers of the Nasdaq Composite Index over the same period (the ‘‘TSR Goal’’), with the

payout factor ranging from 0% to 200% of the number of performance stock units granted. The performance stock

units, to the extent vested, will vest on the date the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors

certifies the level of achievement of the TSR Goal.

Vesting of the performance stock units is also generally subject to the provision of service through the vesting date of

the award (unless accelerated in connection with a termination following a change in control event as set forth in the

applicable performance stock unit agreement or otherwise in accordance with provisions of the 2023 Equity Plan or

applicable performance stock unit agreement).

The TSR Goal is considered a ‘‘market condition’’ under ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation. The Company

uses a Monte Carlo simulation model to determine the grant date fair value of performance awards with a market

condition. The Monte Carlo simulation takes into consideration the assumptions noted below, in addition to the

probability that the market condition will be achieved based on predicted stock price paths compared to peer

companies in the Nasdaq Composite Index. The Company did not grant any performance awards prior to 2023. The

weighted average grant date fair value of performance stock units using the Monte-Carlo simulation model was

$486.18 for each performance stock unit granted during the year ended December 31, 2023 based on the following

assumptions:

Year ending December 31,

2023

Expected term of awards in years 3.0

Expected volatility 95.6%

Risk-free interest rate 4.1%

Expected dividend yield 0.0%

Since the Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur, as long as the performance stock unit recipient provides

service to the Company during the requisite service period, share-based compensation expense associated with the

grant date fair value of the performance stock units is recognized ratably over the performance period, regardless of

the Company’s actual level of achievement against the TSR Goal.
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As of December 31, 2023, there were 25,375 performance stock units outstanding under the 2023 Equity Plan. The

following table summarizes the Company’s performance stock unit activity (in thousands) for the period indicated:

Share-Settled Performance Stock Units Outstanding

Units
Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Balance as of January 1, 2023 0

Granted 27

Vested 0 $ 0

Forfeited (2)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 25

Expected to vest as of December 31, 2023 25 $32,055

Noperformance stock units vestedduring the year endedDecember 31, 2023. For the year endedDecember 31, 2023,

the Company recognized approximately $2.3 million in share-based compensation expense from performance stock

units granted under the 2023 Equity Plan. As of December 31, 2023, there was approximately $10.0 million of total

unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to unvested performance stock units, which the Company

expects to recognize over a weighted average vesting period of approximately 2.5 years.

Other stock-based awards and cash-settled restricted stock units

During 2021, the Company granted 9,000 ‘‘other stock-based awards’’ under the 2013 Equity Plan. Other stock-based

awards were not granted in 2023 or 2022. As of December 31, 2023, there were a total of 10,250 other stock-based

awards outstanding under the 2013 Equity Plan. These other stock-based awards are similar to stock options, except

these awards are settled in cash only and not in shares of the Company’s class A common stock.

During 2021, the Company granted 900 cash-settled restricted stock units under the 2013 Equity Plan. Cash-settled

restricted stock units were not granted in 2023 or 2022. As of December 31, 2023, there were a total of 250 cash-

settled restricted stock units outstanding under the 2013 Equity Plan. These cash-settled restricted stock units are

similar to the Company’s share-settled restricted stock units, except they are settled in cash only and not in shares of

the Company’s class A common stock.

Both the other stock-based awards and the cash-settled restricted stock units are classified as liabilities in the

Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets due to the required cash settlement feature and the fair value of the awards

is remeasured each quarterly reporting period. The Company recognized approximately $3.2million and $1.4million,

respectively, in share-based compensation expense from other stock-based awards and cash-settled restricted stock

units for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company

recognized a reduction of approximately $0.5 million in share-based compensation expense from other stock-based

awards and cash-settled restricted stock units. As of December 31, 2023, therewas approximately $1.2million of total

unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to other stock-based awards and cash-settled restricted

stock units, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted average vesting period of approximately

1.1 years, subject to additional fair value adjustments through the earlier of settlement or expiration.

2021 ESPP

In 2021, the Company adopted, and the Company’s stockholders approved, the 2021 ESPP. The purpose of the 2021

ESPP is to provide eligible employees of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries with opportunities to purchase

shares of the Company’s class A common stock, commencing at such time and on such dates as the Board of Directors

of the Company shall determine. The first offering period under the 2021 ESPP commenced on February 16, 2021 and

ended on August 15, 2021. After this first offering period, the Board of Directors of the Company determined to

provide subsequent 6-month offering periods commencing on eachMarch 1 and September 1 for the remaining term

of the 2021 ESPP. An aggregate of 100,000 shares of the Company’s class A common stock has been authorized for

issuance under the 2021 ESPP. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021,

19,856 shares,15,925 shares, and 4,612 shares, respectively, of class A common stock were issued in connection with

the 2021 ESPP. As of December 31, 2023, 59,607 shares of the Company’s class A common stock remained available

for issuance under the 2021 ESPP.
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Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, shares are purchased at a price equal to 85% of the lesser of

the closing price of the Company’s class A common stock on the first or last business day of the offering period,

respectively. Share-based compensation expense is based on the grant date fair value, which consists of the

intrinsic value of the 15% discounted share purchase rights and the fair value of the look-back provision using the

Black-Scholes valuation model, recognized on a straight-line basis over the offering period. The grant date is the

offering period commencement date.

During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company recognized approximately $1.9 million,

$2.4 million and $2.6 million, respectively, in share-based compensation expense related to the 2021 ESPP. As of

December 31, 2023, there was approximately $0.3 million of total unrecognized share-based compensation expense

related to the 2021 ESPP, which the Company expects to recognize over a period of approximately 0.2 years.

Tax Benefits Related to Equity Plans

The following table summarizes the tax (benefit) expense related to the Company’s equity plans (in thousands) for the

periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Tax (benefit) expense related to:
Share-based compensation expense $(12,874) $(12,155) $ (8,260)
Exercises of stock options and vesting of share-settled restricted stock units (3,367) 1,370 (37,664)

Total tax benefit related to the Company’s equity plans $(16,241) $(10,785) $(45,924)

(12) Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (in thousands, except per

share data) for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Numerator:
Net income (loss) - Basic $429,121 $(1,469,797) $(535,480)

Effect of dilutive shares on net income (loss):
Interest expense on 2025 Convertible Notes, net of tax 5,648 0 0
Interest expense on 2027 Convertible Notes, net of tax 2,874 0 0

Net income (loss) - Diluted $437,643 $(1,469,797) $(535,480)

Denominator:
Weighted average common shares of class A common stock 11,707 9,357 8,056
Weighted average common shares of class B common stock 1,964 1,964 1,964

Total weighted average shares of common stock outstanding - Basic 13,671 11,321 10,020
Effect of dilutive shares on weighted average common shares

outstanding:
Stock options 461 0 0
Restricted stock units 54 0 0
Performance stock units 13 0 0
Employee stock purchase plan 1 0 0
2025 Convertible Notes 1,633 0 0
2027 Convertible Notes 733 0 0

Total weighted average shares of common stock outstanding - Diluted 16,566 11,321 10,020

Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic earnings (loss) per share(1) $ 31.39 $ (129.83) $ (53.44)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share(1) $ 26.42 $ (129.83) $ (53.44)

(1) Basic and fully diluted earnings (loss) per share for class A and class B common stock are the same.
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The following weighted average shares of potential class A common stock were excluded from the diluted earnings

(loss) per share calculation because their impact would have been anti-dilutive (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Stock options 590 1,462 1,233

Restricted stock units 30 119 95

Performance stock units 0 0 0

Employee stock purchase plan 5 6 2

2025 Convertible Notes 0 1,633 1,633

2027 Convertible Notes 0 733 635

Total 625 3,953 3,598

(13) At-the-Market Equity Offerings

During 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company entered into sales agreements with agents pursuant to which the

Company could issue and sell shares of its class A common stock through at-the-market equity offering programs.

Pursuant to these agreements, the Company agreed to pay the sales agents commissions for their services in acting

as agents with respect to the sale of shares through the at-the-market equity offering programs and also agreed to

provide the sales agents with reimbursement for certain incurred expenses and customary indemnification and

contribution rights. The following table summarizes the terms and provisions of each sales agreement, and sales

activity pursuant to each at-the-market equity offering program that was active during 2023, 2022, or 2021. The

maximum aggregate offering price and net proceeds (less sales commissions and expenses) for each at-the-market

equity offering program in the following table are reported in thousands.

November 2023 Sales
Agreement

August 2023 Sales
Agreement

May 2023 Sales
Agreement

2022 Sales
Agreement

2021 Sales
Agreement

Agreement effective
date November 30, 2023 August 1, 2023 May 1, 2023 September 9, 2022 June 14, 2021

Sales agents

Cowen and
Company, LLC,

Canaccord Genuity
LLC, and BTIG,

LLC (‘‘November
2023 Sales
Agents’’)

Cowen and
Company, LLC,

Canaccord Genuity
LLC, and Berenberg

Capital Markets
LLC (‘‘August 2023

Sales Agents’’)

Cowen and
Company, LLC
and Canaccord

Genuity LLC
(‘‘May 2023 Sales

Agents’’)

Cowen and
Company, LLC
and BTIG, LLC
(‘‘2022 Sales

Agents’’)

Jefferies,
LLC (‘‘2021

Sales
Agents’’)

Maximum aggregate
offering price $750,000 $750,000 $625,000 $500,000 $1,000,000

Maximum commissions
payable to sales
agents on gross
proceeds from the
sale of shares 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Date terminated n/a November 29, 2023 August 1, 2023 May 1, 2023 December 28, 2021

Shares sold under such
sales agreement
during the year
ended:

December 31, 2023 1,076,915 1,592,950 1,079,170 1,348,855 n/a

December 31, 2022 n/a n/a n/a 218,575 n/a

December 31, 2021 n/a n/a n/a n/a 1,413,767

Net proceeds received
from shares sold
under such sales
agreement during the
year ended:

December 31, 2023 $609,873 $737,760 $333,494 $338,962 n/a

December 31, 2022 n/a n/a n/a $46,219 n/a
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November 2023 Sales
Agreement

August 2023 Sales
Agreement

May 2023 Sales
Agreement

2022 Sales
Agreement

2021 Sales
Agreement

December 31, 2021 n/a n/a n/a n/a $990,463

As of December 31,
2023:

Cumulative shares sold
under such sales
agreement 1,076,915 1,592,950 1,079,170 1,567,430 1,413,767

Cumulative net
proceeds received
from shares sold
under such sales
agreement $609,873 $737,760 $333,494 $385,181 $990,463

Maximum aggregate
offering price
remaining under such
sales agreement $137,765 n/a n/a n/a n/a

The sales commissions and expenses related to each of the above at-the-market equity offering programs are

considered direct and incremental costs and are charged against ‘‘Additional paid-in capital’’ on the Consolidated

Balance Sheet in the period in which the corresponding shares are issued and sold.

(14) Treasury Stock

The Board of Directors previously authorized the Company’s repurchase of up to an aggregate of $800.0 million of its

class A common stock from time to time on the open market through April 29, 2023 under the Share Repurchase

Program. The Share Repurchase Program expired by its own terms on April 29, 2023, and no shares of the Company’s

class A common stock remain available for repurchase under the Share Repurchase Program. At the time of

expiration, the Company had repurchased an aggregate of 5,674,226 shares of its class A common stock at an average

price per share of $104.13 and an aggregate cost of $590.9 million pursuant to the Share Repurchase Program. The

average price per share and aggregate cost amounts disclosed above include broker commissions. During 2023, 2022

and 2021, the Company did not repurchase any shares of its class A common stock pursuant to the Share Repurchase

Program.

(15) Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a benefit plan to provide retirement benefits for its employees, known as the MicroStrategy

401(k) Savings Plan (the ‘‘401(k) Plan’’). Participants may make voluntary contributions to the 401(k) Plan of up to

75% (and prior to September 30, 2022, up to 50%) of their annual base pre-tax compensation, cash bonuses, and

commissions not to exceed the federally determined maximum allowable contribution amounts. Participants may

designate all or a portion of the 401(k) Plan elective deferral contributions as Roth elective deferral contributions

instead of pre-tax elective deferral contributions. The 401(k) Plan permits for discretionary Company contributions.

The Companymakes amatching contribution to each 401(k) Plan participant in the amount of 50% of the first 12% of

a participant’s contributions, up to amaximumof $5,000 per year. Further, all active participants become fully vested

in the Company’s matching contributions after completing four years of employment, vesting in 25% increments at

the end of each year of employment with the Company.

The Company made contributions to the 401(k) Plan totaling $2.8 million, $3.1 million, and $2.9 million during the

years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.
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(16) Segment Information

The Company manages its business in one reportable operating segment. The Company’s one reportable operating

segment is engaged in the design, development, marketing, and sales of its software platform through licensing

arrangements and cloud subscriptions and related services. The following table presents total revenues, gross profit,

and long-lived assets (in thousands) according to geographic region. Long-lived assets are comprised of right-of-use

assets and property and equipment, net.

Geographic regions: U.S. EMEA Other Regions Consolidated

Year ended December 31, 2023

Total revenues $284,174 $155,914 $56,173 $496,261

Gross profit $222,952 $123,510 $39,855 $386,317

Year ended December 31, 2022

Total revenues $294,697 $152,614 $51,953 $499,264

Gross profit $240,048 $120,162 $36,065 $396,275

Year ended December 31, 2021

Total revenues $282,444 $171,140 $57,178 $510,762

Gross profit $236,646 $139,704 $42,503 $418,853

As of December 31, 2023

Long-lived assets $ 75,004 $ 3,937 $ 7,343 $ 86,284

As of December 31, 2022

Long-lived assets $ 83,279 $ 6,466 $ 3,865 $ 93,610

The EMEA region includes operations in Europe, the Middle East, and Africa. The other regions include all other

foreign countries, generally comprising Latin America, the Asia Pacific region, and Canada. For the years ended

December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, no individual foreign country accounted for 10% or more of total consolidated

revenues.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, no individual customer accounted for 10% or more of

total consolidated revenues.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, no individual foreign country accounted for 10% or more of total consolidated

assets.

(17) Related Party Transactions

In June 2021,Michael J. Saylor, the Company’s Chairmanof theBoard ofDirectors and Executive Chairmanand, at that

time, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, entered into an indemnification agreement (the ‘‘Original Agreement’’)

with the Company for an initial termof 90 days and subject to successive 90-day termextensions at the election of the

Company, all of such termextensionswere exercised. Pursuant to theOriginal Agreement,Mr. Saylor provided during

the term of the agreement, from his personal funds, indemnity coverage to the Company for the benefit of the

directors and officers (‘‘D&Os’’) of the Company and its subsidiaries in the event such coveragewas not indemnifiable

by the Company, up to a total of $40 million. In return, the Company paid Mr. Saylor $388,945 for each of the initial

and successive 90-day terms.

On June 12, 2022, Mr. Saylor and the Company entered into a renewed indemnification agreement (the ‘‘Renewed

Agreement’’) for an initial term of 90 days, which became effective upon the expiration of the final 90-day extension

of the Original Agreement. In return, the Company paid Mr. Saylor a one-time fee of $388,945 for the initial 90-day

term (the ‘‘Renewal Payment’’).

On June 24, 2022, the Company boundD&O liability insurance policies (the ‘‘Initial Commercial Policies’’) with several

third-party carriers for $30 million in coverage. Concurrently, Mr. Saylor and the Company also entered into (i) an

indemnification agreement (the ‘‘Excess Agreement’’) for Mr. Saylor to provide $10 million in excess indemnity

coverage payable only after the exhaustion of the Initial Commercial Policies, and (ii) an indemnification agreement

(the ‘‘2022 Tail Agreement’’) for Mr. Saylor to provide $40 million in indemnity coverage for claims made at any time

based on actions or omissions occurring prior to the inception date of the Initial Commercial Policies. The Company

paidMr. Saylor $600,000 for a one-year term under the Excess Agreement, and $150,000 for a 90-day term under the
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2022 Tail Agreement. At the option of the Company, the Company was permitted to extend the term under the 2022

Tail Agreement for up to a total of twenty-three additional 90-day periods, for $150,000 per additional 90-day term.

In connection with the execution of the Initial Commercial Policies and the release of his obligations under the

Renewed Agreement, Mr. Saylor refunded the Company $337,086, which was the pro rata portion of the Renewal

Payment attributable to the period from the date of the Initial Commercial Policies through the end of the original

term of the Renewed Agreement.

On August 30, 2022, the Company bound additional D&O liability insurance policies (the ‘‘Excess Commercial

Policies’’) with third-party carriers for $10 million in excess coverage payable only after the exhaustion of the Initial

Commercial Policies. Effective as of the same date, the Company and Mr. Saylor executed an amendment (the

‘‘Amendment’’) to the Excess Agreement to limit Mr. Saylor’s obligation to provide indemnification under the Excess

Agreement to claims made during the term of the Excess Agreement which arise from wrongful acts occurring upon

or after the commencement of the Excess Agreement but prior to the effective date of the Amendment. In connection

with the Amendment, Mr. Saylor refunded $489,863 to the Company, representing the pro rata portion of the

$600,000 originally paid by the Company to Mr. Saylor under the Excess Agreement attributable to the period from

the date of the Amendment through the end of the original term of the Excess Agreement. During the third and

fourth quarters of 2022 and the first quarter of 2023, pursuant to the terms of the 2022 Tail Agreement, the Company

elected to extend the term of the 2022 Tail Agreement for additional 90-day periods and paidMr. Saylor $150,000 for

each such extension.

On June 12, 2023, the Company bound new D&O liability insurance policies (the ‘‘2023 Commercial Policies’’) with

third-party carriers that provide coverage substantially equivalent to the aggregate coverage provided under the

Initial Commercial Policies and the Excess Commercial Policies for a policy period running from June 12, 2023 through

June 12, 2024 except that the 2023 Commercial Policies also provide coverage for claims made with respect to

wrongful acts or omissions occurring prior to the binding of the Initial Commercial Policies subject to exclusions with

respect to claims previously noticed to and accepted by an earlier D&O insurer, claims related to acts or omissions

giving rise to such claims, and demands, investigations, suits or other proceedings entered against an insured prior to

June 24, 2022, as well as future interrelated wrongful acts (collectively, the ‘‘Excluded Claims’’).

On June 12, 2023, the Company entered into a new indemnification agreement with Mr. Saylor (the ‘‘2023 Tail

Agreement’’) pursuant to whichMr. Saylor agreed to provide coverage that is similar to the coverage provided under

the 2022 Tail Agreement, but only to cover the Excluded Claims for an initial one-year term and for a payment of

$157,000. The Companymay elect, at its option, to extend the termunder the 2023 Tail Agreement for up to a total of

four additional one-year periods, for $157,000 per each additional one-year term.

Prior to entering into the Original Agreement, Renewed Agreement, Excess Agreement, 2022 Tail Agreement, and

2023 Tail Agreement with Mr. Saylor, the Company obtained and considered market quotes for D&O liability

insurance policies. The Company determined that the policies considered at such times would have provided

insufficient coverage and would have required substantial premiums to the extent coverage were available, and that

obtaining indemnification coverage provided byMr. Saylor was appropriate and in the best interests of the Company.

(18) Subsequent Events

Since December 31, 2023 through the date immediately preceding the filing of this Annual Report, the Company has

purchased approximately 850 bitcoins for $37.2 million, or approximately $43,723 per bitcoin. All of these

approximately 850 bitcoins serve as part of the collateral for the 2028 Secured Notes.

The Company has incurred at least $28.9 million in digital asset impairment losses during the first quarter of 2024 on

bitcoin held as of December 31, 2023.

See Note 2(g), Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Note 4, Digital Assets, to the Consolidated Financial

Statements, for further detail on accounting for digital assets.

E-69



SCHEDULE II
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021
(in thousands)

Balance at the
beginning of
the period Additions(1) Deductions

Balance at
the end of
the period

Allowance for credit losses:

December 31, 2023 $ 2,564 797 (292) $ 3,069

December 31, 2022 $ 2,775 383 (594) $ 2,564

December 31, 2021 $ 2,760 669 (654) $ 2,775

Deferred tax valuation allowance:

December 31, 2023 $511,412 193 (510,178) $ 1,427

December 31, 2022 $ 999 510,488 (75) $511,412

December 31, 2021 $ 1,259 0 (260) $ 999

(1) Reductions in/charges to revenues and expenses.
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Appendix F

Excerpts from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of MicroStrategy Incorporated quarterly period ended

September 30, 2024, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 31, 2024

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Quarterly Period Ended September 30, 2024

OR

□ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 000-24435

MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

51-0323571

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification Number)

1850 Towers Crescent Plaza, Tysons Corner, VA

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)

22182

(Zip Code)

(703) 848-8600

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Trading Symbol Name of Each Exchange on which Registered

Class A common stock, par value $0.001 per share MSTR The Nasdaq Global Select Market

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant,: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant
was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes☒No□

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to
be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12months (or for
such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes☒ No□

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated
filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of ‘‘large accelerated filer,’’
‘‘accelerated filer,’’ ‘‘smaller reporting company,’’ and ‘‘emerging growth company’’ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☒ Accelerated filer □

Non-accelerated filer □ Smaller reporting company □

Emerging growth company □

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended
transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to
Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.□

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
Yes□ No☒

As ofOctober 21, 2024, the registrant had 183,003,980 and 19,640,250 shares of class A common stock and class B
common stock outstanding, respectively.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

September 30,
2024

December 31,
2023

(unaudited)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 46,343 $ 46,817

Restricted cash 1,862 1,856

Accounts receivable, net 107,169 183,815

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 30,668 35,407

Total current assets 186,042 267,895

Digital assets 6,850,879 3,626,476

Property and equipment, net 27,517 28,941

Right-of-use assets 55,308 57,343

Deposits and other assets 51,109 24,300

Deferred tax assets, net 1,172,726 757,573

Total assets $ 8,343,581 $4,762,528

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and operating lease liabilities $ 45,714 $ 43,090

Accrued compensation and employee benefits 51,686 50,045

Accrued interest 5,800 1,493

Current portion of long-term debt, net 509 483

Deferred revenue and advance payments 184,402 228,162

Total current liabilities 288,111 323,273

Long-term debt, net 4,211,949 2,182,108

Deferred revenue and advance payments 6,344 8,524

Operating lease liabilities 57,495 61,086

Other long-term liabilities 5,676 22,208

Deferred tax liabilities 357 357

Total liabilities 4,569,932 2,597,556

Commitments and Contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred stock undesignated, $0.001 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; no

shares issued or outstanding 0 0

Class A common stock, $0.001 par value; 330,000 shares authorized;

191,684 shares issued and 183,000 shares outstanding, and 157,725 shares

issued and 149,041 shares outstanding, respectively 192 24

Class B convertible common stock, $0.001 par value; 165,000 shares authorized;

19,640 shares issued and outstanding, and 19,640 shares issued and

outstanding, respectively 20 2

Additional paid-in capital 6,060,206 3,957,728

Treasury stock, at cost; 8,684 shares and 8,684 shares, respectively (782,104) (782,104)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (9,580) (11,444)

Accumulated deficit (1,495,085) (999,234)

Total stockholders’ equity 3,773,649 2,164,972

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 8,343,581 $4,762,528
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)

Revenues:

Product licenses $ 11,087 $ 24,045 $ 33,311 $ 56,979

Subscription services 27,800 20,974 74,846 59,662

Total product licenses and subscription services 38,887 45,019 108,157 116,641

Product support 61,015 66,860 185,440 198,422

Other services 16,169 17,583 49,162 56,714

Total revenues 116,071 129,462 342,759 371,777

Cost of revenues:

Product licenses 769 342 2,130 1,320

Subscription services 11,454 8,028 29,618 23,100

Total product licenses and subscription services 12,223 8,370 31,748 24,420

Product support 8,572 5,531 25,312 17,115

Other services 13,554 12,760 38,239 40,188

Total cost of revenues 34,349 26,661 95,299 81,723

Gross profit 81,722 102,801 247,460 290,054

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 35,414 35,606 103,116 109,372

Research and development 33,301 29,660 92,795 90,372

General and administrative 33,505 29,223 104,300 85,959

Digital asset impairment losses 412,084 33,559 783,807 76,613

Total operating expenses 514,304 128,048 1,084,018 362,316

Loss from operations (432,582) (25,247) (836,558) (72,262)

Interest expense, net (18,129) (11,006) (45,476) (37,031)

(Loss) gain on debt extinguishment (22,933) 0 (22,933) 44,686

Other (expense) income, net (5,034) 2,419 (2,644) 726

Loss before income taxes (478,678) (33,834) (907,611) (63,881)

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (138,504) 109,607 (411,760) (403,876)

Net (loss) income $(340,174) $(143,441) $ (495,851) $ 339,995

Basic (loss) earnings per share(1) $ (1.72) $ (1.01) $ (2.71) $ 2.91

Weighted average shares outstanding used in

computing basic (loss) earnings per share 197,273 142,214 182,695 116,648

Diluted (loss) earnings per share(1) $ (1.72) $ (1.01) $ (2.71) $ 2.39

Weighted average shares outstanding used in

computing diluted (loss) earnings per share 197,273 142,214 182,695 145,125

(1) Basic and fully diluted (loss) earnings per share for class A and class B common stock are the same.
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

(in thousands)

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)

Net (loss) income $(340,174) $(143,441) $(495,851) $339,995

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of

applicable taxes:

Foreign currency translation adjustment 3,970 (2,205) 1,864 (1,554)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 3,970 (2,205) 1,864 (1,554)

Comprehensive (loss) income $(336,204) $(145,646) $(493,987) $338,441
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(in thousands, unaudited)

Total

Class A
Common Stock

Class B Convertible
Common Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Treasury Stock

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Accumulated
DeficitShares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance at January 1, 2023 $ (383,120)104,532 $18 19,640 $2 $1,841,120 (8,684)$(782,104) $(13,801) $(1,428,355)

Net income 461,193 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 461,193

Other comprehensive income 738 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 738 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
exercise of stock options 6,750 445 0 0 0 6,750 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock under
employee stock purchase plan 2,380 127 0 0 0 2,380 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
vesting of restricted stock units, net of
withholding taxes (514) 38 0 0 0 (514) 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock under
public offerings, net of issuance costs 338,962 13,489 2 0 0 338,960 0 0 0 0

Share-based compensation expense 16,822 0 0 0 0 16,822 0 0 0 0

Balance at March 31, 2023 $ 443,211 118,631 $20 19,640 $2 $2,205,518 (8,684)$(782,104) $(13,063) $ (967,162)

Net income 22,243 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 22,243

Other comprehensive loss (87) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (87) 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
exercise of stock options 5,354 388 0 0 0 5,354 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
vesting of restricted stock units, net of
withholding taxes (242) 62 0 0 0 (242) 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock under
public offerings, net of issuance costs 333,494 10,792 1 0 0 333,493 0 0 0 0

Share-based compensation expense 15,145 0 0 0 0 15,145 0 0 0 0

Balance at June 30, 2023 $ 819,118 129,873 $21 19,640 $2 $2,559,268 (8,684)$(782,104) $(13,150) $ (944,919)

Net loss (143,441) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (143,441)

Other comprehensive loss (2,205) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (2,205) 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
exercise of stock options 2,113 95 0 0 0 2,113 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock under
employee stock purchase plan 1,575 72 0 0 0 1,575 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
vesting of restricted stock units, net of
withholding taxes (747) 40 0 0 0 (747) 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock under
public offerings, net of issuance costs 147,218 4,034 0 0 0 147,218 0 0 0 0

Share-based compensation expense 16,764 0 0 0 0 16,764 0 0 0 0

Balance at September 30, 2023 $ 840,395 134,114 $21 19,640 $2 $2,726,191 (8,684)$(782,104) $(15,355) $(1,088,360)

Net income 89,126 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 89,126

Other comprehensive income 3,911 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,911 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
exercise of stock options 16,302 826 1 0 0 16,301 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
vesting of restricted stock units, net of
withholding taxes (2,841) 120 0 0 0 (2,841) 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock under
public offerings, net of issuance costs 1,200,415 22,665 2 0 0 1,200,413 0 0 0 0
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Total

Class A
Common Stock

Class B Convertible
Common Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Treasury Stock

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Accumulated
DeficitShares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Share-based compensation expense 17,664 0 0 0 0 17,664 0 0 0 0

Balance at December 31, 2023 $2,164,972 157,725 $ 24 19,640 $ 2 $3,957,728 (8,684)$(782,104) $(11,444) $ (999,234)

Net loss (53,118) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (53,118)

Other comprehensive loss (1,725) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,725) 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
exercise of stock options 136,088 5,731 0 0 0 136,088 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock under
employee stock purchase plan 2,071 69 0 0 0 2,071 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
vesting of restricted stock units, net of
withholding taxes (1,273) 39 0 0 0 (1,273) 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock under
public offerings, net of issuance costs 137,152 1,952 0 0 0 137,152 0 0 0 0

Share-based compensation expense 15,938 0 0 0 0 15,938 0 0 0 0

Balance at March 31, 2024 $2,400,105 165,516 $ 24 19,640 $ 2 $4,247,704 (8,684)$(782,104) $(13,169) $(1,052,352)

Net loss (102,559) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (102,559)

Other comprehensive loss (381) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (381) 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
exercise of stock options 17,261 1,215 0 0 0 17,261 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
vesting of restricted stock units, net of
withholding taxes (932) 311 0 0 0 (932) 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
conversions of convertible senior notes 500,815 12,672 2 0 0 500,813 0 0 0 0

Share-based compensation expense 20,490 0 0 0 0 20,490 0 0 0 0

Balance at June 30, 2024 $2,834,799 179,714 $ 26 19,640 $ 2 $4,785,336 (8,684)$(782,104) $(13,550) $(1,154,911)

Net loss (340,174) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (340,174)

Other comprehensive income 3,970 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,970 0

Par value adjustment for class A and B
common stock issued upon stock split 0 0 157 0 18 (175) 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
exercise of stock options 4,192 193 1 0 0 4,191 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock under
employee stock purchase plan 2,233 25 0 0 0 2,233 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
vesting of restricted stock units, net of
withholding taxes (1) 53 0 0 0 (1) 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock under
public offerings, net of issuance costs 1,105,141 8,048 8 0 0 1,105,133 0 0 0 0

Issuance of class A common stock upon
conversions of convertible senior notes 144,349 3,651 0 0 0 144,349 0 0 0 0

Share-based compensation expense 19,140 0 0 0 0 19,140 0 0 0 0

Balance at September 30, 2024 $3,773,649 191,684 $192 19,640 $20 $6,060,206 (8,684)$(782,104) $ (9,580) $(1,495,085)
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023

(unaudited) (unaudited)

Operating activities:

Net (loss) income $ (495,851) $ 339,995

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash (used in) provided by operating

activities:

Depreciation and amortization 12,679 9,405

Reduction in carrying amount of right-of-use assets 6,228 6,438

Credit losses and sales allowances 262 752

Deferred taxes (419,965) (425,986)

Release of liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits (73) (162)

Share-based compensation expense 57,789 49,855

Digital asset impairment losses 783,807 76,613

Amortization of issuance costs on long-term debt 10,231 6,599

Loss (gain) on debt extinguishment 22,933 (44,686)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 27,374 6,627

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,868 (99)

Deposits and other assets (6,748) (321)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (8,318) (8,005)

Accrued compensation and employee benefits (26,383) (15,186)

Accrued interest 4,444 7,539

Deferred revenue and advance payments 3,484 9,901

Operating lease liabilities (7,832) (7,954)

Other long-term liabilities (4,637) 203

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (35,708) 11,528

Investing activities:

Purchases of digital assets (4,008,210) (687,959)

Purchases of property and equipment (2,694) (2,591)

Net cash used in investing activities (4,010,904) (690,550)

Financing activities:

Proceeds from convertible senior notes 3,213,750 0

Issuance costs paid for convertible senior notes (53,524) 0

Payments to settle conversions and redemption of convertible senior notes (398) 0

Repayments of secured debt and third-party extinguishment costs (515,325) (160,033)

Principal payments of other long-term secured debt (401) (382)

Proceeds from sale of common stock under public offerings 1,246,478 823,945

Issuance costs paid related to sale of common stock under public offerings (4,185) (4,286)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 157,541 14,217

Proceeds from sales under employee stock purchase plan 4,304 3,955

Payment of withholding tax on vesting of restricted stock units (2,173) (1,391)

Net cash provided by financing activities 4,046,067 676,025

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 77 (997)

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (468) (3,994)

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period 48,673 50,868

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period $ 48,205 $ 46,874
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of MicroStrategy Incorporated (‘‘MicroStrategy’’ or the

‘‘Company’’) are unaudited. In the opinion ofmanagement, all adjustments necessary for a fair statement of financial

position and results of operations have been included. All such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature, unless

otherwise disclosed. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results for a full year.

On July 11, 2024, the Company announced a 10-for-1 stock split of the Company’s class A common stock and

class B common stock. The stock split was effected by means of a stock dividend to the holders of record of the

Company’s class A common stock and class B common stock as of the close of business on August 1, 2024, the record

date for the dividend. Shares held in treasury by the Company were not impacted by the stock split. The dividendwas

distributed after the close of trading on August 7, 2024 and trading commenced on a split-adjusted basis at market

open on August 8, 2024. As a result of the stock split, all applicable share, per share, and equity award information has

been retroactively adjusted in the Consolidated Financial Statements andNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

to reflect the stock split for all periods presented.

The Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are presented as required by

theUnited States Securities and Exchange Commission (‘‘SEC’’) and do not contain certain information included in the

Company’s annual financial statements and notes. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the

Company’s audited financial statements and the notes thereto filed with the SEC in the Company’s Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. There have been no significant changes in the Company’s

accounting policies since December 31, 2023.

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All

significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(2) Recent Accounting Standards

Crypto Assets

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) issued Accounting Standards Update

No. 2023-08, Intangibles-Goodwill andOther-CryptoAssets (Subtopic 350-60): Accounting for andDisclosure of Crypto

Assets (‘‘ASU2023-08’’). ASU2023-08 requires in-scope crypto assets (including theCompany’s bitcoin holdings) to be

measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, with gains and losses from changes in the fair value of

such crypto assets recognized in net income each reporting period. ASU 2023-08 also requires certain interim and

annual disclosures for crypto assets within the scope of the standard. The standard is effective for the Company for

interim and annual periods beginning January 1, 2025, with a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of

retained earnings as of the beginning of the annual reporting period inwhich the Company adopts the guidance. Prior

periods will not be restated. The Company will adopt ASU 2023-08 effective January 1, 2025.

The Company expects the adoption of ASU 2023-08 will have a material impact on its consolidated balance sheets,

statements of operations, statements of cash flows and disclosures. Although the Company will continue to initially

record its bitcoin purchases at cost, upon adopting ASU 2023-08, any subsequent increases or decreases in fair value

will be recognized as incurred in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations, and the fair value of the

Company’s bitcoin will be reflected within the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets each reporting period-end.

Upon adopting ASU 2023-08, the Company will no longer account for its bitcoin under a cost-less-impairment

accounting model.

TheU.S. enacted the Inflation ReductionAct of 2022 (‘‘IRA’’) in August 2022. Amongother things, unless an exemption

by statute or regulation applies, a provision of the IRA imposes a 15% corporate alternative minimum tax (‘‘CAMT’’)

on a corporation with respect to an initial tax year and all subsequent tax years, if the average annual adjusted

financial statement income for any consecutive three-tax-year period preceding the initial tax year exceeds $1 billion.

On September 12, 2024, the Department of Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service issued proposed regulations

with respect to the application of the CAMT. As a result of the enactment of the IRA and the adoption of ASU 2023-08,
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the Company could become subject to CAMT in the tax years 2026 and beyond unless the proposed regulations with

respect to CAMT are revised to provide relief. The Company is currently evaluating the potential implications of

unrealized fair value gains and losses as they relate to CAMT as well as the broader global tax regulatory landscape.

Income Taxes

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740):

Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (‘‘ASU 2023-09’’). ASU 2023-09 requires enhanced disclosures surrounding

income taxes, particularly related to rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. In particular, on an annual

basis, companies will be required to disclose specific categories in the rate reconciliation and provide additional

information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold. Companies will also be required to disclose, on

an annual basis, the amount of income taxes paid, disaggregated by federal, state, and foreign taxes, and also

disaggregated by individual jurisdictions above a quantitative threshold. The standard is effective for the Company for

annual periods beginning January 1, 2025 on a prospective basis, with retrospective application permitted for all prior

periods presented. The Company will adopt ASU 2023-09 for the annual period ending December 31, 2025 and is

currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its disclosures.

Segment Reporting

In November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280):

Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (‘‘ASU 2023-07’’). ASU 2023-07 requires enhanced disclosures

surrounding reportable segments, particularly (i) significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the

chief operating decisionmaker (‘‘CODM’’) and included in the reportedmeasure(s) of a segment’s profit and loss and

(ii) other segment items that reconcile segment revenue and significant expenses to the reported measure(s) of a

segment’s profit and loss, both on an annual and interim basis. Companies are also required to provide all annual

disclosures currently required under Topic 280 in interim periods, in addition to disclosing the title and position of the

CODMandhow theCODMuses the reportedmeasure(s) of segment profit and loss in assessing segment performance

and allocating resources. The standard is effective for the Company for annual periods beginning January 1, 2024 and

for interim periods beginning January 1, 2025, with updates applied retrospectively. The Company will adopt

ASU 2023-07 for the annual period ending December 31, 2024 and is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance

on its disclosures.

(3) Digital Assets

The Company accounts for its digital assets, which are comprised solely of bitcoin, as indefinite-lived intangible assets

in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (‘‘ASC’’) 350, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other. The Company’s

digital assets are initially recorded at cost. Subsequently, they are measured at cost, net of any impairment losses

incurred since acquisition. Impairment losses are recognized as ‘‘Digital asset impairment losses’’ in the Company’s

Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which the impairment occurs. Gains (if any) are not recorded

until realized upon sale, at which point they are presented net of any impairment losses in the Company’s

Consolidated Statements of Operations. In determining the gain to be recognized upon sale, the Company calculates

the difference between the sales price and carrying value of the specific bitcoins sold immediately prior to sale.

The following table summarizes the Company’s digital asset holdings (in thousands, except number of bitcoins), as of:

September 30,
2024

December 31,
2023

Approximate number of bitcoins held 252,220 189,150

Digital assets carrying value $6,850,879 $3,626,476

Cumulative digital asset impairment losses $3,052,820 $2,269,013

The carrying value on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at each period-end represents the lowest fair value

(based on Level 1 inputs in the fair value hierarchy) of the bitcoins at any time since their acquisition. Therefore, these

fair value measurements were made during the period from their acquisition through September 30, 2024 or

December 31, 2023, respectively, and not as of September 30, 2024 or December 31, 2023, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s digital asset purchases and digital asset impairment losses

(in thousands, except number of bitcoins) for the periods indicated. The Company did not sell any of its bitcoins during

the nine months ended September 30, 2024 or 2023, respectively.

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Approximate number of bitcoins purchased 25,889 5,912 63,070 25,745

Digital asset purchases $1,575,073 $161,681 $4,008,210 $687,959

Digital asset impairment losses $ 412,084 $ 33,559 $ 783,807 $ 76,613

From time to time, the Company’s execution partners may extend short-term trade credits to the Company to

purchase bitcoin in advance of using cash funds in the Company’s trading account, or allow the Company to make

bitcoin purchases on a delayed settlement basis. Trade credits and delayed settlement payments, as applicable, are

due and payable in cash within days after the bitcoin purchases are completed. During the first and third quarters

of 2024, certain bitcoin of MacroStrategy LLC (‘‘MacroStrategy’’), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was

subject to a first priority security interest and lien in order to secure payments owed by the Company with respect to

these arrangements. While trade credits or delayed settlements are outstanding, the Company may incur interest

fees and be required tomaintainminimumbalances in its trading and custody accounts with such execution partners.

As of September 30, 2024, the Company had no outstanding trade credits payable or delayed settlement obligations.

As of December 31, 2023, approximately 16,081 of the bitcoins held by the Company, which had a carrying value of

approximately $263.9 million on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2023, served as part

of the collateral for the Company’s 6.125% Senior Secured Notes due 2028 (the ‘‘2028 Secured Notes’’). Upon the

redemption of the 2028 Secured Notes during the third quarter of 2024, all collateral securing the 2028 Secured

Notes, including the aforementioned bitcoin, was released. Refer to Note 5, Long-term Debt, to the Consolidated

Financial Statements for further information regarding the 2028 Secured Notes and their redemption.

(4) Contract Balances

The Company invoices its customers in accordancewith billing schedules established in each contract. The Company’s

rights to consideration from customers are presented separately in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets

depending on whether those rights are conditional or unconditional.

The Company presents unconditional rights to consideration from customers within ‘‘Accounts receivable, net’’ in its

Consolidated Balance Sheets. All of the Company’s contracts are generally non-cancellable and/or non-refundable,

and therefore an unconditional right generally exists when the customer is billed or amounts are billable per the

contract.

Accounts receivable (in thousands) consisted of the following, as of:

September 30,
2024

December 31,
2023

Billed and billable $109,303 $186,884

Less: allowance for credit losses (2,134) (3,069)

Accounts receivable, net $107,169 $183,815

Changes in the allowance for credit losses were not material for the three and nine months ended September 30,

2024.

Rights to consideration that are subject to a condition other than the passage of time are considered contract assets

until they are expected to becomeunconditional and transfer to accounts receivable. Current contract assets included

in ‘‘Prepaid expenses and other current assets’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of $2.0 million and

$1.2 million, as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, related to performance obligations or

services being rendered in advance of future invoicing associated with multi-year contracts and accrued sales and

usage-based royalty revenue. In royalty-based arrangements, consideration is not billed or billable until the royalty

reporting is received, generally in the subsequent quarter, at which time the contract asset transfers to accounts

receivable and a true-up adjustment is recorded to revenue. These true-up adjustments are generally not material.

Non-current contract assets included in ‘‘Deposits and other assets’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of
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$5.4million and $0.9million, as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, related to performance

obligations or services being rendered in advance of future invoicing associated withmulti-year contracts. During the

three and ninemonths ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, therewere no significant impairments to the Company’s

contract assets, nor were there any significant changes in the timing of the Company’s contract assets being

reclassified to accounts receivable.

Contract liabilities are amounts received or due from customers in advance of the Company transferring the software

or services to the customer. In the case ofmulti-year service contract arrangements, the Company generally does not

invoice more than one year in advance of services and does not record deferred revenue for amounts that have not

been invoiced. Revenue is subsequently recognized in the period(s) in which control of the software or services is

transferred to the customer. The Company’s contract liabilities are presented as either current or non-current

‘‘Deferred revenue and advance payments’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, depending on whether the software

or services are expected to be transferred to the customer within the next year.

The Company’s ‘‘Accounts receivable, net’’ and ‘‘Deferred revenue and advance payments’’ balances in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets include unpaid amounts related to contracts under which the Company has an

enforceable right to invoice the customer for non-cancellable and/or non-refundable software and services. Changes

in accounts receivable and changes in deferred revenue and advance payments are presented net of these unpaid

amounts in ‘‘Operating activities’’ in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Deferred revenue and advance payments (in thousands) from customers consisted of the following, as of:

September 30,
2024

December 31,
2023

Current:

Deferred product licenses revenue $ 409 $ 3,579

Deferred subscription services revenue 74,164 65,512

Deferred product support revenue 106,866 152,012

Deferred other services revenue 2,963 7,059

Total current deferred revenue and advance payments $184,402 $228,162

Non-current:

Deferred product licenses revenue $ 0 $ 0

Deferred subscription services revenue 3,373 3,097

Deferred product support revenue 2,635 4,984

Deferred other services revenue 336 443

Total non-current deferred revenue and advance payments $ 6,344 $ 8,524

During the three and ninemonths ended September 30, 2024, the Company recognized revenues of $50.2million and

$195.2million, respectively, from amounts included in the total deferred revenue and advance payments balances at

the beginning of 2024. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized

revenues of $44.6 million and $187.6 million, respectively, from amounts included in the total deferred revenue and

advance payments balances at the beginning of 2023. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and

2023, there were no significant changes in the timing of revenue recognition on the Company’s deferred balances.

The Company’s remaining performance obligation represents all future revenueunder contract and includes deferred

revenue and advance payments and billable non-cancellable amounts thatwill be invoiced and recognized as revenue

in future periods. The remaining performance obligation excludes contracts that are billed in arrears, such as certain

time andmaterials contracts. The portions ofmulti-year contracts thatwill be invoiced in the future are not presented

on the balance sheet within accounts receivable and deferred revenues and are instead included in the following

remaining performance obligation disclosure. As of September 30, 2024, the Company had an aggregate transaction

price of $380.5 million allocated to the remaining performance obligation related to subscription services, product

support, product licenses, and other services contracts. The Company expects to recognize $237.1 million within the

next 12 months and the remainder thereafter.

F-11



(5) Long-term Debt

The net carrying value of the Company’s outstanding debt (in thousands) consisted of the following, as of:

September 30,
2024

December 31,
2023

2025 Convertible Notes $ 0 $ 643,931

2027 Convertible Notes 1,040,339 1,037,306

2028 Convertible Notes 997,502 0

2030 Convertible Notes 784,194 0

2031 Convertible Notes 593,867 0

2032 Convertible Notes 786,754 0

2028 Secured Notes 0 491,193

Other long-term secured debt 9,802 10,161

Total $4,212,458 $2,182,591

Reported as:

Current portion of long-term debt, net 509 483

Long-term debt, net 4,211,949 2,182,108

Total $4,212,458 $2,182,591

Convertible Senior Notes

The Company has issued the following convertible notes (collectively, the ‘‘Convertible Notes’’) in private offerings:

• $650.0 million aggregate principal amount of 0.750% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025

(the ‘‘2025 Convertible Notes’’);

• $1.050 billion aggregate principal amount of 0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027 (the ‘‘2027 Convertible

Notes’’);

• $1.010 billion aggregate principal amount of 0.625% Convertible Senior Notes due 2028

(the ‘‘2028 Convertible Notes’’);

• $800.0 million aggregate principal amount of 0.625% Convertible Senior Notes due 2030

(the ‘‘2030 Convertible Notes’’);

• $603.8 million aggregate principal amount of 0.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2031

(the ‘‘2031 Convertible Notes’’); and

• $800.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2032

(the ‘‘2032 Convertible Notes’’).

The Convertible Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank senior in right of payment to any of

the Company’s indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Convertible Notes; equal in

right of payment to any of the Company’s unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated; effectively junior in

right of payment to any of the Company’s secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such

indebtedness; and structurally junior to all indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) of the

Company’s subsidiaries.
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The following table summarizes the key terms of each of the Convertible Notes (principal at inception, net proceeds,

and issuance costs are each reported in thousands):

2025
Convertible
Notes

2027
Convertible
Notes

2028
Convertible
Notes

2030
Convertible
Notes

2031
Convertible
Notes

2032
Convertible
Notes

Issuance Date December

2020

February

2021

September

2024

March 2024 March 2024 June 2024

Maturity Date(1) December 15,

2025

February 15,

2027

September 15,

2028

March 15,

2030

March 15,

2031

June 15,

2032

Principal at

Inception

$650,000 $1,050,000 $1,010,000 $800,000 $603,750 $800,000

Stated Interest

Rate(2)
0.750% 0.000% 0.625% 0.625% 0.875% 2.250%

Interest Payment

Dates(3)
June 15 &

December 15

February 15

& August 15

March 15 &

September 15

March 15 &

September 15

March 15 &

September 15

June 15 &

December 15

Net Proceeds $634,749 $1,025,830 $997,375 $782,000 $592,567 $786,000

Issuance Costs(4) $15,251 $24,170 $12,625 $18,000 $11,183 $14,000

Effective Interest

Rate(4)
1.23% 0.39% 1.05% 1.14% 1.30% 2.63%

Date of Holder Put

Option(5)
n/a n/a September 15,

2027

September 15,

2028

September 15,

2028

June 15,

2029

Initial Conversion

Rate(6)
25.126 6.981 5.4589 6.677 4.297 4.894

Initial Conversion

Price(7)
$39.80 $143.25 $183.19 $149.77 $232.72 $204.33

Convertible at any

time after the

following

date(8)(9)

June 13,

2024

August 15,

2026

March 15,

2028

September 15,

2029

September 15,

2030

December 15,

2031

Not redeemable by

the Company

prior to the

following date(10)

December 20,

2023

February 20,

2024

December

20, 2027

March 22,

2027

March 22,

2028

June 20,

2029

Redemption Date(11) July 15, 2024 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

(1) ‘‘Maturity Date’’ is the stated maturity date under each applicable indenture governing such notes, unless earlier converted, redeemed, or

repurchased in accordance with their terms.

(2) Holders may receive additional or special interest under specified circumstances as outlined under each applicable indenture governing the
Convertible Notes.

(3) For the Convertible Notes issued in 2024, interest payments begin on (a) September 15, 2024 for each of the 2030 Convertible Notes and the
2031 Convertible Notes, (b) December 15, 2024 for the 2032 Convertible Notes, and (c) March 15, 2025 for the 2028 Convertible Notes.

(4) ‘‘Issuance Costs’’ reflect the customary offering expenses associated with each of the Convertible Notes. The Company accounts for these
issuance costs as a reduction to the principal amount of the respective Convertible Notes and amortizes the issuance costs to interest
expense from the respective debt issuance dates through the earlier of the ‘‘Maturity Date’’ or the ‘‘Date of Holder Put Option,’’ if applicable,
at the ‘‘Effective Interest Rates’’ stated in the table.

(5) ‘‘Date of Holder Put Option’’ represents the respective dates upon which holders of the 2028 Convertible Notes, 2030 Convertible Notes,
2031 Convertible Notes, and 2032 Convertible Notes each have a noncontingent right to require the Company to repurchase for cash all or
any portion of their respective notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of such notes to be repurchased, plus any
accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding the repurchase date.

(6) The ‘‘Initial Conversion Rate’’ is stated in shares of the Company’s class A common stock per $1,000 principal amount. The conversion rates
are subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments. In addition, following certain events thatmayoccur prior to the respectivematurity dates
or if the Company delivers a notice of redemption, the Company will increase the conversion rate for a holder who elects to convert its
respective Convertible Notes in connection with such corporate event or notice of redemption, as the case may be, in certain circumstances
as provided in each indenture governing the respective Convertible Notes.

(7) The ‘‘Initial Conversion Price’’ is stated in dollars per share of the Company’s class A common stock.
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(8) On or after the stated dates until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the respective maturity
dates, holders may convert the Convertible Notes at any time. Upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, the Company will pay or deliver,
as the case may be, cash, shares of the Company’s class A common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of class A common stock, at
the Company’s election. For the 2025 Convertible Notes, the date presented is the date on which the Company delivered its notice of full
redemption of the 2025 Convertible Notes, which resulted in the 2025 Convertible Notes being convertible at any time thereafter until
5:00 p.m., New York City time, on July 11, 2024. See below under ‘‘Conversions and Redemption of 2025 Convertible Notes’’ for further
information.

(9) Prior to the respective dates, the Convertible Notes are convertible only under the following circumstances: (a) during any calendar quarter
commencing after the calendar quarter ending onMarch 31, 2021 for the 2025 Convertible Notes (of which all then outstanding notes were
redeemed on July 15, 2024), on June 30, 2021 for the 2027 Convertible Notes, on June 30, 2024 for the 2030 Convertible Notes and
2031 Convertible Notes, on September 30, 2024 for the 2032 Convertible Notes, or on December 31, 2024 for the 2028 Convertible
Notes (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of the Company’s class A common stock for at least 20 trading
days (whether or not consecutive) during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the
immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price of the respective Convertible Notes on each
applicable trading day; (b) during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period (the ‘‘measurement period’’) in
which the ‘‘trading price’’ (as defined under each applicable indenture governing the respective Convertible Notes) per $1,000 principal
amount of the respective Convertible Notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last
reported sale price of the Company’s class A common stock and the applicable conversion rate on each such trading day; (c) if the Company
calls any or all of the respective Convertible Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the second scheduled trading
day immediately preceding the redemption date; and (d) upon occurrence of specified corporate events as described in each applicable
indenture governing the respective Convertible Notes.

(10) The Companymay redeem for cash all or a portion of the Convertible Notes at its option, on or after the stated dates, if the last reported sale
price of theCompany’s class A common stock has been at least 130%of the conversionprice of the respective ConvertibleNotes then in effect
for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive), including the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the Company
provides a notice of redemption, during any 30 consecutive trading day period ending on, and including, the trading day immediately
preceding the date on which the Company provides notice of redemption. The redemption price will be equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the Convertible Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. See below
‘‘Conversions and Redemption of 2025 Convertible Notes’’ subsection for information regarding the Company’s notice of redemption of the
2025 Convertible Notes.

(11) ‘‘RedemptionDate’’ is the date onwhich theCompany redeemedall outstanding 2025ConvertibleNotes. See discussion further belowunder
‘‘Conversions and Redemption of 2025 Convertible Notes’’ pertaining to redemption of the 2025 Convertible Notes.

If the Company undergoes a ‘‘fundamental change,’’ as defined in the respective indentures governing the

ConvertibleNotes prior tomaturity, subject to certain conditions, holdersmay require the Company to repurchase for

cash all or any portion of their respective Convertible Notes at a fundamental change repurchase price equal to 100%

of the principal amount of the respective Convertible Notes to be repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest

to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date.

The respective indentures governing the Convertible Notes contain customary terms and covenants, including that

upon certain events of default occurring and continuing, either the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal

amount outstanding of the respective Convertible Notes may declare 100% of the principal of, and accrued and

unpaid interest, if any, on, all the respective Convertible Notes to be due and payable.

Although the Convertible Notes contain embedded conversion features, the Company accounts for the Convertible

Notes in their entirety as a liability because the conversion features are indexed to the Company’s class A common

stock and meet the criteria for classification in stockholders’ equity and therefore do not qualify for separate

derivative accounting.

Conversions and Redemption of 2025 Convertible Notes

On June 13, 2024, the Company announced that it delivered a notice of redemption (the ‘‘RedemptionNotice’’) to the

trustee of the 2025 Convertible Notes for redemption of all $650.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the

2025 Convertible Notes then outstanding on July 15, 2024 (the ‘‘Redemption Date’’). Due to the Company’s issuance

of the Redemption Notice, the 2025 Convertible Notes became convertible at the option of the holders of such notes

from the delivery of the Redemption Notice until 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on July 11, 2024. The Company

elected to satisfy its conversion obligationwith respect to the 2025 Convertible Notes by delivering solely shares of its

class A common stock, together with cash in lieu of any fractional shares. Holders of the 2025 Convertible

Notes requested to convert $649.7million in principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes prior to the Redemption

Date. The Company settled conversion requests in respect of $504.4 million in principal amount of

the 2025 Convertible Notes during the quarter ended June 30, 2024, resulting in the issuance of 12,672,400 shares of

theCompany’s class A common stock andpayment of a nominal amount of cash in lieu of fractional shares, and settled

conversion requests in respect of $145.3 million in principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes during July 2024,

resulting in the issuance of 3,650,650 shares of the Company’s class A common stock and payment of a nominal

amount of cash in lieu of fractional shares, in each case in accordance with the terms and provisions of the indenture

governing the 2025 Convertible Notes. On the Redemption Date, the Company redeemed $0.3 million aggregate
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principal amount of 2025 Convertible Notes, constituting all of the 2025 Convertible Notes then outstanding, at an

aggregate redemption price of $0.3 million in cash, equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2025 Convertible

Notes redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, to but excluding the Redemption Date.

Collective Convertible Notes Disclosures

As of September 30, 2024, the maximum number of shares into which the Convertible Notes could have been

potentially converted if the conversion features were triggered at the conversion rates then in effect based on the

Convertible Notes then outstanding on such date was 7,330,050 shares, 5,513,489 shares, 5,341,600 shares,

2,594,314 shares, and 3,915,200 shares for the 2027 Convertible Notes, 2028 Convertible Notes, 2030 Convertible

Notes, 2031 Convertible Notes, and 2032 Convertible Notes, respectively.

Other than the 2025 Convertible Notes (for which convertibility is discussed above under the ‘‘Conversions and

Redemption of 2025 Convertible Notes’’ subsection), the Convertible Notes were not convertible at the option of the

holders during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 or 2023.

Other than the Company’s redemption of the 2025 Convertible Notes, the Company had not redeemed any of the

Convertible Notes as of September 30, 2024.

As of September 30, 2024, and December 31, 2023, the net carrying value of the Convertible Notes was classified as

a long-term liability in the ‘‘Long-term debt, net’’ line item in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The following is a summary of the Company’s convertible debt instruments as of September 30, 2024 (in thousands):

September 30, 2024

Outstanding
Principal Amount

Unamortized
Issuance Costs

Net Carrying
Value

Fair Value

Amount Leveling

2027 Convertible Notes 1,050,000 (9,661) 1,040,339 1,439,850 Level 2

2028 Convertible Notes 1,010,000 (12,498) 997,502 1,219,252 Level 2

2030 Convertible Notes 800,000 (15,806) 784,194 1,060,704 Level 2

2031 Convertible Notes 603,750 (9,883) 593,867 629,810 Level 2

2032 Convertible Notes 800,000 (13,246) 786,754 897,515 Level 2

Total $4,263,750 $(61,094) $4,202,656 $5,247,131

The following is a summary of the Company’s convertible debt instruments as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023

Outstanding
Principal Amount

Unamortized
Issuance Costs

Net Carrying
Value

Fair Value

Amount Leveling

2025 Convertible Notes $ 650,000 $ (6,069) $ 643,931 $1,074,713 Level 2

2027 Convertible Notes 1,050,000 (12,694) 1,037,306 913,808 Level 2

Total $1,700,000 $(18,763) $1,681,237 $1,988,521

The fair value of the Convertible Notes is determined using observable market data other than quoted prices,

specifically the last traded price at the end of the reporting period of identical instruments in the over-the-counter

market (Level 2).
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For the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, interest expense related to the Convertible Notes was as

follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, 2024 Three Months Ended September 30, 2023

Contractual
Interest Expense

Amortization
of

Issuance Costs Total
Contractual
Interest Expense

Amortization
of

Issuance Costs Total

2025 Convertible Notes $ 23 $ 15 $ 38 $1,218 $ 762 $1,980

2027 Convertible Notes 0 1,012 1,012 0 1,008 1,008

2028 Convertible Notes 193 127 320 0 0 0

2030 Convertible Notes 1,250 974 2,224 0 0 0

2031 Convertible Notes 1,321 608 1,929 0 0 0

2032 Convertible Notes 4,500 659 5,159 0 0 0

Total $7,287 $3,395 $10,682 $1,218 $1,770 $2,988

For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, interest expense related to the Convertible Notes was as

follows (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023

Contractual
Interest Expense

Amortization of
Issuance Costs Total

Contractual
Interest Expense

Amortization of
Issuance Costs Total

2025 Convertible Notes $ 2,371 $1,494 $ 3,865 $3,656 $2,279 $5,935

2027 Convertible Notes 0 3,033 3,033 0 3,021 3,021

2028 Convertible Notes 193 127 320 0 0 0

2030 Convertible Notes 2,819 2,194 5,013 0 0 0

2031 Convertible Notes 2,833 1,300 4,133 0 0 0

2032 Convertible Notes 5,150 754 5,904 0 0 0

Total $13,366 $8,902 $22,268 $3,656 $5,300 $8,956

For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company paid $7.6 million and $2.4 million,

respectively, in interest related to the Convertible Notes. The Company has not paid any additional interest or special

interest related to the Convertible Notes to date.

Senior Secured Notes

On June 14, 2021, the Company issued $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2028 Secured Notes in a private

offering. The 2028 Secured Notes bore interest at a fixed rate of 6.125% per annum, payable semiannually in arrears

on June 15 andDecember 15 of each year, beginning onDecember 15, 2021. The terms of the 2028 SecuredNotes are

discussed more fully in Note 8, Long-term Debt, to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company’s Annual

Report on Form10-K for the year endedDecember 31, 2023. TheCompany redeemedall of the 2028 SecuredNotes on

September 26, 2024 at a redemption price equal to 103.063%of the principal amount of the 2028 SecuredNotes, plus

accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, September 26, 2024 (the ‘‘Redemption Price’’).

The Redemption Price consisted of a $515.3 million payment to redeem the full $500.0 million outstanding principal

amount of the 2028 SecuredNotes as of September 26, 2024 and an $8.6million payment for accrued unpaid interest

on the 2028 Secured Notes to but excluding September 26, 2024. The Company also incurred $0.1 million in

third party fees in connection with the redemption of the 2028 Secured Notes. The net carrying value of the 2028

Secured Notes as of September 26, 2024, immediately prior to their redemption, was $492.5 million, which resulted

in a $22.9 million loss on debt extinguishment recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations in

the third quarter of 2024.

As of December 31, 2023, the net carrying value of the 2028 SecuredNoteswas classified as a long-term liability in the

‘‘Long-term debt, net’’ line item in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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The following is a summary of the 2028 Secured Notes as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023

Outstanding
Principal Amount

Unamortized
Issuance Costs

Net Carrying
Value

Fair Value

Amount Leveling

2028 Secured Notes $500,000 $(8,807) $491,193 $485,070 Level 2

The fair value of the 2028 Secured Notes was determined using observable market data other than quoted prices,

specifically the last traded price at the end of the reporting period of identical instruments in the over-the-counter

market (Level 2).

For the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, interest expense related to the 2028 Secured Notes was

as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, 2024 Three Months Ended September 30, 2023

Contractual
Interest Expense

Amortization of
Issuance Costs Total

Contractual
Interest Expense

Amortization of
Issuance Costs Total

2028 Secured Notes $7,315 $423 $7,738 $7,657 $415 $8,072

For the ninemonths ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, interest expense related to the 2028 Secured Notes was as

follows (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023

Contractual
Interest Expense

Amortization of

Total
Contractual
Interest Expense

Amortization of
Issuance Costs TotalIssuance Costs

2028 Secured Notes $22,628 $1,287 $23,915 $22,969 $1,224 $24,193

For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company paid $23.9 million and $15.3 million,

respectively, in interest related to the 2028 Secured Notes.

Secured Term Loan

On March 23, 2022, MacroStrategy entered into a Credit and Security Agreement (the ‘‘Credit and Security

Agreement’’) with Silvergate pursuant to which Silvergate issued the $205.0 million 2025 Secured Term Loan to

MacroStrategy. The terms of the 2025 Secured Term Loan are discussed more fully in Note 8, Long-term Debt, to the

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,

2023. OnMarch 24, 2023, MacroStrategy and Silvergate entered into a Prepayment, Waiver and Payoff to Credit and

Security Agreement, pursuant to which MacroStrategy voluntarily prepaid Silvergate approximately $161.0 million

(the ‘‘Payoff Amount’’), in full repayment, satisfaction, and discharge of the 2025 Secured Term Loan and all other

obligations under the Credit and Security Agreement. Upon Silvergate’s receipt of the Payoff Amount on March 24,

2023, the Credit and Security Agreement was terminated and Silvergate released its security interest in all of

MacroStrategy’s assets collateralizing the 2025 Secured Term Loan, including the bitcoin that was serving as

collateral.

The Payoff Amount consisted of a $159.9 million payment to repay the full $205.0 million outstanding principal

amount of the 2025 Secured Term Loan as of March 24, 2023 and a $1.1 million payment for accrued unpaid interest

on the 2025 Secured Term Loan as of March 24, 2023. The Company also incurred $0.1 million in third party fees in

connectionwith the repayment of the 2025 Secured Term Loan. The net carrying value of the 2025 Secured Term Loan

as ofMarch 24, 2023, immediately prior to the loan’s repayment, was $204.7million, which resulted in a $44.7million

gain on debt extinguishment recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations in the first quarter

of 2023.

No interest expense related to the 2025 Secured Term Loanwas recognized after the debtwas repaid in full during the

first quarter of 2023. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, interest expense related to the 2025 Secured

Term Loan was as follows (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023

Contractual
Interest Expense

Amortization of
Issuance Costs Total

2025 Secured Term Loan $3,781 $31 $3,812
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The Company paid a final $5.1 million in interest related to the 2025 Secured Term Loan during the first quarter of

2023, $1.1 million of which was included in the Payoff Amount.

Other long-term secured debt

In June 2022, the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a secured term loan agreement in the

amount of $11.1million, bearing interest at an annual rate of 5.2%, andmaturing in June 2027. The loan is secured by

certain non-bitcoin assets of the Company that are not otherwise serving as collateral for any of the Company’s other

indebtedness. After monthly payments made under the terms of the agreement, the loan had a net carrying value of

$9.8 million and $10.2 million as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, and an outstanding

principal balance of $9.9 million and $10.3 million as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. As

of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, $0.5 million and $0.5 million of the respective net carrying values

were short-term andwere presented in ‘‘Current portion of long-term debt, net’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Maturities

The following table shows thematurities of the Company’s debt instruments as of September 30, 2024 (in thousands).

The principal payments related to the 2028 Convertible Notes are included in the table below as if the holders

exercised their right to require the Company to repurchase all of the 2028 Convertible Notes on September 15, 2027.

The principal payments related to the 2030 Convertible Notes and 2031 Convertible Notes, respectively, are included

in the table below as if the holders exercised their right to require the Company to repurchase all of the

2030 Convertible Notes and 2031 Convertible Notes on September 15, 2028. The principal payments related to the

2032 Convertible Notes are included in the table below as if the holders exercised their right to require the Company

to repurchase all of the 2032 Convertible Notes on June 15, 2029.

Payments due by
period ended
September 30,

2027
Convertible
Notes

2028
Convertible
Notes

2030
Convertible
Notes

2031
Convertible
Notes

2032
Convertible
Notes

Other long-
term
secured
debt Total

2025 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 562 $ 562

2026 0 0 0 0 0 592 592

2027 1,050,000 1,010,000 0 0 0 8,787 2,068,787

2028 0 0 800,000 603,750 0 0 1,403,750

2029 0 0 0 0 800,000 0 800,000

Thereafter 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total $1,050,000 $1,010,000 $800,000 $603,750 $800,000 $9,941 $4,273,691

(6) Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Commitments

From time to time, the Company enters into certain types of contracts that require it to indemnify parties against

third-party claims. These contracts primarily relate to agreements under which the Company assumes indemnity

obligations for intellectual property infringement, as well as other obligations from time to time depending on

arrangements negotiated with customers and other third parties. The conditions of these obligations vary. Thus, the

overallmaximumamount of the Company’s indemnification obligations cannot be reasonably estimated. Historically,

the Company has not beenobligated tomake significant payments for these obligations anddoes not currently expect

to incur anymaterial obligations in the future. Accordingly, the Company has not recorded an indemnification liability

on its Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2024 or December 31, 2023.

(b) Contingencies

Brazil Matter

Following an internal review initiated in 2018, the Company disclosed its belief that its Brazilian subsidiary failed or

likely failed to comply with local procurement regulations in conducting business with certain Brazilian government

entities.
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In 2020 the Company learned that the Brazilian Federal Policewere investigating alleged corruption and procurement

fraud involving certain government officials, including a transaction that was part of the basis of the Company’s

previously reported failure or likely failure of its Brazilian subsidiary to comply with local procurement regulations.

This investigationwas concluded in 2023. Neither employees of the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary nor the subsidiary

itself were targets of the Federal Police investigation.

The Company’s Brazilian subsidiary voluntarily disclosed information from its 2018 internal review to Brazil’s General

Superintendence of the Administrative Council for Economic Defense (‘‘SG/CADE’’) and to the Federal Comptroller

General (‘‘CGU’’). Following this voluntary disclosure and cooperation with these agencies, the Company’s Brazilian

subsidiary signed leniency agreements with the SG/CADE in September 2020 and with the CGU and the Federal

General Attorney’s Office (‘‘AGU’’) in July 2024.

In 2023, the SG/CADE launched a public administrative proceeding to investigate potentially anticompetitive conduct

by various entities and individuals in Brazil based in part on the information voluntarily disclosed by the Company’s

Brazilian subsidiary, which is also one of the defendants in the proceeding. If at the end of the proceeding, SG/CADE’s

Tribunal confirms that the Brazilian subsidiary’s obligations under the leniency agreement it signed with SG/CADE

have been fulfilled, the Brazilian subsidiary will receive full immunity from fines.

Pursuant to its leniency agreement with the CGU and the AGU, the Brazilian subsidiary (i) paid approximately BRL

6.16 million (equivalent to approximately $1.1 million) in July 2024, (ii) agreed to certain undertakings regarding its

compliance program, and (iii) has been granted immunity from debarment and other sanctions. As a result of this

leniency agreement, the CGU dismissed its pending administrative action against the Brazilian subsidiary over alleged

procurement violations.

In 2023, the Company accrued $1.2 million in respect of losses that might be incurred in connection with the

investigation by the CGU and AGU into the matters voluntarily disclosed by the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary to

them, with such accrued amount included as a component of ‘‘Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and operating

lease liabilities’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2023. During the third quarter of 2024, the

Company paid approximately $1.1 million in cash in respect of these matters as indicated above.

The Company’s Brazilian subsidiary continues to cooperate with requests from government agencies related to the

above matters. As of September 30, 2024, the Company remained unable to reasonably estimate a range of loss

beyond the third quarter payment described above.

Daedalus Matter

On November 4, 2020, a complaint was filed against the Company in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of

Virginia by a patent assertion entity calledDaedalus Blue, LLC (‘‘Daedalus’’). In its complaint, Daedalus alleged that the

Company infringed U.S. Patent Nos. 8,341,172 (the ‘‘’172 Patent’’) and 9,032,076 (the ‘‘’076 Patent’’) based on

specific functionality in theMicroStrategy platform. The ’172 Patent relates to amethod for providing aggregate data

access in response to a query, whereas the ’076 Patent relates to a role-based access control system.

On January 29, 2024, the parties executed a settlement agreement pursuant to which the Company received a fully

paid-up license to all patents owned by Daedalus as of January 5, 2024, including the ’172 Patent and the ’076 Patent

and filed a stipulation of dismissal with the court on February 27, 2024, which the court entered the same day thereby

dismissing the case with prejudice.

False Claims Act Matter

On August 31, 2022, the District of Columbia (the ‘‘District’’), through its Office of the Attorney General, filed a civil

complaint in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia naming as defendants (i) Michael J. Saylor, the Chairman

of the Company’s Board of Directors and the Company’s Executive Chairman, in his personal capacity, and (ii) the

Company. The District sought, among other relief, monetary damages under the District’s False Claims Act for the

alleged failure of Mr. Saylor to pay personal income taxes to the District over a number of years together with

penalties, interest, and treble damages. The complaint alleged in the sole claim against the Company that it violated

the District’s False Claims Act by conspiring to assist Mr. Saylor’s alleged failure to pay personal income taxes.

OnMay 31, 2024, the District, Mr. Saylor, and the Company stipulated to the entry of a Consent Order and Judgment

(‘‘Consent Order’’) with the court pursuant to which the District, upon receipt of all amounts due under the Consent

Order, released Mr. Saylor and the Company from all claims and liabilities that the District asserted, could have
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asserted, or may assert in the future based on the conduct described in the complaints filed in the case. Under the

Consent Order, Mr. Saylor and the Company did not admit to any of the allegations encompassed by the conduct

described in the complaint, any violation of law or regulation, any other matter of fact or law, or any liability or

wrongdoing, and agreed to pay $40,000,000 to theDistrict to settle the case and resolve the litigationwith theDistrict.

Pursuant to a separate agreement between Mr. Saylor and the Company, Mr. Saylor paid this settlement amount to

the District in full and the Company is not obligated tomake any contribution to this settlement payment. On July 15,

2024,Mr. Saylor and the Company entered into a separate agreementwith counsel to Tributum, LLC, the relator in the

case (‘‘Relator’’), to resolve the amount due to such counsel in satisfaction of Relator’s claims for statutory expenses,

attorneys’ fees and costs. Pursuant to the separate agreement betweenMr. Saylor and the Company,Mr. Saylor paid

this settlement amount in full and the Company is not obligated tomake any contribution to this settlement payment.

Various Legal Proceedings and Contingent Liabilities

The Company is also involved in various legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business. Although the

outcomes of these legal proceedings are inherently difficult to predict, management does not expect the resolution

of these legal proceedings to have amaterial adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations,

or cash flows.

The Company has contingent liabilities that, in management’s judgment, are not probable of assertion. If such

unasserted contingent liabilitieswere to be asserted, or becomeprobable of assertion, the Companymay be required

to record significant expenses and liabilities in the period inwhich these liabilities are asserted or become probable of

assertion.

(7) Income Taxes

The Company computes its year-to-date provision for (benefit from) income taxes by applying the estimated annual

effective tax rate to year-to-date pretax income or loss and adjusts the provision for (benefit from) income taxes for

discrete tax items recorded in the period. The estimated effective tax rate is subject to fluctuation based on the level

and mix of earnings and losses by tax jurisdiction, foreign tax rate differentials, and the relative impact of permanent

book to tax differences. Each quarter, a cumulative adjustment is recorded for any fluctuations in the estimated

annual effective tax rate as compared to the prior quarter. As a result of these factors, and due to potential changes

in the Company’s period-to-period results, fluctuations in the Company’s effective tax rate and respective tax

provisions or benefits may occur. For the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company recorded a benefit

from income taxes of $411.8million on a pretax loss of $907.6million, which resulted in an effective tax rate of 45.4%.

For the ninemonths ended September 30, 2023, the Company recorded a benefit from income taxes of $403.9million

on a pretax loss of $63.9 million, which resulted in an effective tax rate of 632.2%. During the nine months ended

September 30, 2024, the Company’s benefit from income taxes primarily related to tax benefits (i) from an increase

in the Company’s deferred tax asset related to the impairment on its bitcoin holdings and (ii) related to share-based

compensation (including the income tax effects of exercises of stock options and vesting of share-settled restricted

stock units). During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company’s benefit from income taxes primarily

related to the release of a portion of the valuation allowance on the Company’s deferred tax asset related to the

impairment on its bitcoin holdings, attributable to the increase in market value of bitcoin as of September 30, 2023

compared to December 31, 2022.

As of September 30, 2024, the Company had a valuation allowance of $1.4million primarily related to the Company’s

deferred tax assets related to foreign tax credits in certain jurisdictions that, in the Company’s present estimation,

more likely than not will not be realized. As of September 30, 2024, the excess of the market value of the Company’s

bitcoin over the cost basis of the Company’s bitcoin results in a significant built-in gain for tax purposes and is

therefore a source of future taxable income that is expected to allow all of the U.S. net deferred tax assets to be

realized. If themarket value of bitcoin declines in future periods, the Company would need to assess other sources of

forecasted taxable income of proper character, which could result in additional valuation allowances being recorded.

The Company will continue to regularly assess the realizability of deferred tax assets.

The Company records liabilities related to its uncertain tax positions. As of September 30, 2024, the Company had

gross unrecognized income tax benefits, including accrued interest, of $8.7million, ofwhich $3.9millionwas recorded

in ‘‘Other long-term liabilities’’ and $4.8 million was recorded in ‘‘Deferred tax assets, net’’ in the Company’s

Consolidated Balance Sheet. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had gross unrecognized income tax benefits,

including accrued interest, of $8.3million, all of which was recorded in ‘‘Other long-term liabilities’’ in the Company’s

Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had income taxes receivable of $5.9 million and

$15.3 million, respectively, recorded in ‘‘Prepaid expenses and other current assets’’ in the Company’s Consolidated

Balance Sheets.

(8) Share-based Compensation

Stock Incentive Plans

Prior to its expiration, the Companymaintained the 2013 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended, the ‘‘2013 Equity Plan’’),

under which the Company’s employees, officers, and directors were awarded various types of share-based

compensation, including options to purchase shares of the Company’s class A common stock, restricted stock units,

and other stock-based awards. In May 2023, the 2013 Equity Plan expired and no new awards may be granted under

the 2013 Equity Plan, although awards previously granted under the 2013 Equity Plan will continue to remain

outstanding in accordance with their terms.

The Company maintains the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the ‘‘2023 Equity Plan’’) under which the Company’s

employees, officers, directors, and other eligible participants may be awarded various types of share-based

compensation, including options to purchase shares of the Company’s class A common stock, restricted stock units,

performance stock units, and other stock-based awards. An aggregate of up to 19,327,030 shares of the Company’s

class A common stockwere authorized for issuance under the 2023 Equity Plan. As of September 30, 2024, therewere

2,525,109 shares of class A common stock reserved and available for future issuance under the 2023 Equity Plan. The

2013 Equity Plan and the 2023 Equity Plan together are referred to herein as the ‘‘Stock Incentive Plans.’’

Stock option awards

As of September 30, 2024, there were options to purchase 5,678,227 shares of class A common stock outstanding

under the Stock Incentive Plans.

The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activity (in thousands, except per share data and years)

for the nine months ended September 30, 2024:

Stock Options Outstanding

Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
Per Share

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual

Term (Years)

Balance as of January 1, 2024 12,936 $ 28.68

Granted 91 $159.47

Exercised (7,141) $ 22.06 $634,522

Forfeited/Expired (208) $ 45.25

Balance as of September 30, 2024 5,678 $ 38.50

Exercisable as of September 30, 2024 3,052 $ 34.21 $410,163 6.0

Expected to vest as of September 30, 2024 2,626 $ 43.48 $328,599 7.5

Total 5,678 $ 38.50 $738,762 6.7

Stock options outstanding as of September 30, 2024 are comprised of the following range of exercise prices per share

(in thousands, except per share data and years):

Stock Options Outstanding at September 30, 2024

Range of Exercise Prices per Share Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
Per Share

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual

Term (Years)

$12.45 - $20.00 1,650 $ 15.64 5.3

$20.01 - $30.00 1,038 $ 24.98 8.1

$30.01 - $40.00 23 $ 30.16 8.7

$40.01 - $50.00 1,688 $ 41.14 7.3

$60.01 - $70.00 1,188 $ 69.12 6.4

$150.01 - $159.93 91 $159.47 9.5

Total 5,678 $ 38.50 6.7
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Anaggregate of 1,609,650 stock optionswith an aggregate grant date fair value of $40.2million vested during the nine

months ended September 30, 2024. The weighted average grant date fair value of stock option awards using the

Black-Scholes valuation model was $111.23 and $19.09 for each share subject to a stock option granted during the

nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, based on the following assumptions:

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023

Expected term of awards in years 5.5 - 6.3 5.5 - 6.3

Expected volatility 75.1% - 82.8% 71.8% - 74.1%

Risk-free interest rate 4.2% - 4.5% 3.7% - 3.9%

Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company recognized approximately $9.9 million and

$30.0 million, respectively, in share-based compensation expense from stock options granted under the Stock

Incentive Plans. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized approximately

$10.5million and $33.9million, respectively, in share-based compensation expense from stock options granted under

the Stock Incentive Plans. As of September 30, 2024, there was approximately $45.8 million of total unrecognized

share-based compensation expense related to unvested stock options, which the Company expects to recognize over

a weighted average vesting period of approximately 1.8 years.

Share-settled restricted stock units

As of September 30, 2024, there were 1,428,401 share-settled restricted stock units outstanding under the Stock

Incentive Plans. The following table summarizes the Company’s share-settled restricted stock unit activity (in

thousands) for the periods indicated:

Share-Settled Restricted Stock Units Outstanding

Units
Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Balance as of January 1, 2024 1,852

Granted 322

Vested (428) $ 63,386

Forfeited (318)

Balance as of September 30, 2024 1,428

Expected to vest as of September 30, 2024 1,428 $240,828

During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, 427,990 share-settled restricted stock units having an aggregate

grant date fair value of $15.0 million vested, and 25,060 shares were withheld to satisfy tax obligations, resulting in

402,930 issued shares. In the second quarter of 2024, the Company transitioned from a ‘‘net settlement’’ approach,

which it previously used in nearly all jurisdictions in which restricted stock units were granted, to generally using a

‘‘sell-to-cover’’ approach for settling its share-settled restricted stock units. Under a ‘‘net settlement’’ approach,

when settling restricted stock units, the Company withholds shares equal in value to the statutory withholding

obligations and pays the tax withholding amount from its own cash reserves. Under a ‘‘sell-to-cover’’ approach,

shares underlying vested awards are issued in full and participants sell shares in the market in amounts necessary to

satisfy statutory withholding obligations. The tax withholding obligations are therefore satisfied with proceeds from

these sales rather than from the Company’s cash reserves. During the nine months ended September 30, 2023,

188,910 share-settled restricted stock units having an aggregate grant date fair value of $9.0 million vested, and

48,170 shareswerewithheld to satisfy tax obligations, resulting in 140,740 issued shares. Theweighted average grant

date fair value of share-settled restricted stock units granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and

2023 was $144.88 and $28.01, respectively, based on the fair value of the Company’s class A common stock.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company recognized approximately $6.2 million

and $18.3 million, respectively, in share-based compensation expense from share-settled restricted stock units

granted under the Stock Incentive Plans. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company

recognized approximately $4.9 million and $12.2 million, respectively, in share-based compensation expense from
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share-settled restricted stock units granted under the Stock Incentive Plans. As of September 30, 2024, there was

approximately $64.9 million of total unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to unvested share-

settled restricted stock units, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted average vesting period of

approximately 3.0 years.

Share-settled performance stock units

As of September 30, 2024, there were 302,850 performance stock units outstanding under the 2023 Equity Plan. The

following table summarizes the Company’s performance stock unit activity (in thousands) for the periods indicated:

Share-Settled Performance Stock Units Outstanding

Units
Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Balance as of January 1, 2024 254

Granted 56

Vested 0 $ 0

Forfeited (7)

Balance as of September 30, 2024 303

Expected to vest as of September 30, 2024 303 $102,121

The weighted average grant date fair value of performance stock units using the Monte-Carlo simulation model was

$307.13 and $48.62 for each performance stock unit granted during the ninemonths ended September 30, 2024 and

2023, respectively, based on the following assumptions:

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023

Expected term of awards in years 3.0 3.0

Expected volatility 92.7% 95.6%

Risk-free interest rate 4.4% 4.1%

Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

No performance stock units vested during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023. For the three and

nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company recognized approximately $2.4 million and $5.9 million,

respectively, in share-based compensation expense from performance stock units granted under the 2023 Equity

Plan. For the three and ninemonths ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized approximately $1.0million

and $1.3million, respectively, in share-based compensation expense fromperformance stock units granted under the

2023 Equity Plan. As of September 30, 2024, therewas approximately $21.0million of total unrecognized share-based

compensation expense related to unvested performance stock units, which the Company expects to recognize over a

weighted average vesting period of approximately 2.2 years.

Other stock-based awards and cash-settled restricted stock units

From time to time the Company has granted ‘‘other stock-based awards’’ and ‘‘cash-settled restricted stock units’’

under the 2013 Equity Plan. Other stock-based awards are similar to stock options, and cash-settled restricted stock

units are similar to the Company’s share-settled restricted stock units, except in each case these awards are settled in

cash only and not in shares of the Company’s class A common stock. Due to their required cash settlement feature,

these awards are classified as liabilities in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and the fair value of the awards

is remeasured each quarterly reporting period. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, the

Company recognized approximately $0.3million and $2.2million, respectively, in share-based compensation expense

from other stock-based awards and cash-settled restricted stock units. For the three months ended September 30,

2023, the share-based compensation expense from other stock-based awards and cash-settled restricted stock units

was not material. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized approximately

$1.1 million in share-based compensation expense from other stock-based awards and cash-settled restricted stock

units. As of September 30, 2024, there was approximately $0.3 million of total unrecognized share-based

compensation expense related to other stock-based awards and cash-settled restricted stock units, which the

Company expects to recognize over a weighted average vesting period of approximately 0.4 years, subject to

additional fair value adjustments through the earlier of settlement or expiration.
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2021 ESPP

The Company also maintains the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ‘‘2021 ESPP’’). The purpose of the

2021 ESPP is to provide eligible employees of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries with opportunities to

purchase shares of the Company’s class A common stock in 6-month offering periods commencing on each March 1

and September 1. An aggregate of 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s class A common stock has been authorized for

issuance under the 2021 ESPP. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, 93,668 shares of class A common

stock were issued in connection with the 2021 ESPP. As of September 30, 2024, 502,402 shares of the Company’s

class A common stock remained available for issuance under the 2021 ESPP.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company recognized approximately $0.6 million and

$1.4 million, respectively, in share-based compensation expense related to the 2021 ESPP. For the three and nine

months ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized approximately $0.4 million and $1.4 million,

respectively, in share-based compensation expense related to the 2021 ESPP. As of September 30, 2024, there was

approximately $1.1million of total unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to the 2021 ESPP, which

the Company expects to recognize over a period of approximately 0.4 years.

Tax Benefits Related to Equity Plans

The following table summarizes the tax (benefit) expense related to the Company’s equity plans (in thousands) for the

three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023:

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Tax (benefit) expense related to:

Share-based compensation expense $(3,407) $(3,417) $ (11,486) $(9,396)

Exercises of stock options and vesting of share-settled restricted stock

units (2,726) 813 (159,992) 1,098

Total tax benefit related to the Company’s equity plans $(6,133) $(2,604) $(171,478) $(8,298)

(9) Basic and Diluted (Loss) Earnings per Share

The Company has two classes of common stock: class A common stock and class B common stock. Holders of class A

common stock generally have the same rights, including rights to dividends, as holders of class B common stock,

except that holders of class A common stock have one vote per share while holders of class B common stock have

ten votes per share. Each share of class B common stock is convertible at any time, at the option of the holder, into one

share of class A common stock. As such, basic and fully diluted earnings per share for class A common stock and for

class B common stock are the same. The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends on either class A or

class B common stock. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were no shares of preferred stock

issued or outstanding.

The impact from potential shares of common stock on the diluted earnings per share calculation are included when

dilutive. Potential shares of class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options, the vesting

of restricted stock units and performance stock units considered probable of achievement, and in connectionwith the

2021 ESPP are computed using the treasury stock method. Potential shares of class A common stock issuable upon

conversion of the Convertible Notes are computed using the if-convertedmethod. In computing diluted earnings per

share, the Company first calculates the earnings per incremental share (‘‘EPIS’’) for each class of potential shares of

common stock and ranks the classes from the most dilutive (i.e., lowest EPIS) to the least dilutive (i.e., highest EPIS).

Basic earnings per share is then adjusted for the effect of each class of shares, in sequence and cumulatively, until a

particular class no longer produces further dilution.
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share (in thousands, except per

share data) for the periods indicated.

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Numerator:

Net (loss) income - Basic $(340,174) $(143,441) $(495,851) $339,995

Effect of dilutive shares on net (loss) income:

Interest expense on 2025 Convertible Notes, net of tax 0 0 0 4,255

Interest expense on 2027 Convertible Notes, net of tax 0 0 0 2,165

Net (loss) income - Diluted $(340,174) $(143,441) $(495,851) $346,415

Denominator:

Weighted average common shares of class A common stock 177,633 122,574 163,055 97,008

Weighted average common shares of class B common stock 19,640 19,640 19,640 19,640

Total weighted average shares of common stock outstanding -

Basic 197,273 142,214 182,695 116,648

Effect of dilutive shares on weighted average common shares

outstanding:

Stock options 0 0 0 4,307

Restricted stock units 0 0 0 428

Performance stock units 0 0 0 78

Employee stock purchase plan 0 0 0 2

2025 Convertible Notes 0 0 0 16,332

2027 Convertible Notes 0 0 0 7,330

Total weighted average shares of common stock outstanding -

Diluted 197,273 142,214 182,695 145,125

(Loss) earnings per share:

Basic (loss) earnings per share(1) $ (1.72) $ (1.01) $ (2.71) $ 2.91

Diluted (loss) earnings per share(1) $ (1.72) $ (1.01) $ (2.71) $ 2.39

(1) Basic and fully diluted (loss) earnings per share for class A and class B common stock are the same.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the following weighted average shares of

potential class A common stock were excluded from the diluted (loss) earnings per share calculation because their

impact would have been anti-dilutive (in thousands).

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Stock options 5,823 14,056 7,481 6,333

Restricted stock units 1,587 2,042 1,756 339

Performance stock units 606 516 576 0

Employee stock purchase plan 8 27 13 18

2025 Convertible Notes 0 16,332 6,664 0
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Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

2027 Convertible Notes 7,330 7,330 7,330 0

2028 Convertible Notes 719 0 240 0

2030 Convertible Notes 5,342 0 4,031 0

2031 Convertible Notes 2,594 0 1,863 0

2032 Convertible Notes 3,915 0 1,506 0

Total 27,924 40,303 31,460 6,690

(10) At-the-Market Equity Offerings

From time to time, the Company has entered into sales agreementswith agents pursuant towhich the Company could

issue and sell shares of its class A common stock through at-the-market equity offering programs. Pursuant to these

agreements, the Company agreed to pay the sales agents commissions for their services in acting as agents with

respect to the sale of shares through the at-the-market equity offering programs and also agreed to provide the sales

agentswith reimbursement for certain incurred expenses and customary indemnification and contribution rights. The

following table summarizes the terms and provisions of each sales agreement, and pursuant to each at-the-market

equity offering program that was active during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and the year ended

December 31, 2023. Themaximumaggregate offering price and cumulative net proceeds (less sales commissions and

expenses) for each at-the-market equity offering program in the following table are reported in thousands.

August 2024
Sales

Agreement

November 2023
Sales

Agreement

August 2023
Sales

Agreement

May 2023
Sales

Agreement

2022
Sales

Agreement

Agreement effective date
August 1,

2024
November 30,

2023
August 1,

2023
May 1,
2023

September 9,
2022

Maximum aggregate offering price $2,000,000 $750,000 $750,000 $625,000 $500,000

Maximum commissions payable to
sales agents on gross proceeds from
the sale of shares 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Date terminated n/a July 31, 2024 November 29, 2023 August 1, 2023 May 1, 2023

As of September 30, 2024:

Cumulative shares sold under such
sales agreement 8,048,449 12,720,770 15,929,500 10,791,700 15,674,300

Cumulative net proceeds received
from shares sold under such sales
agreement $1,105,141 $747,025 $737,760 $333,494 $385,181

Maximum aggregate offering price
remaining available for sale under
such sales agreement $891,286 n/a n/a n/a n/a

The following table summarizes the sales activity of each sales agreement that was active during 2024 or 2023 for the

periods indicated. The net proceeds (less sales commissions and expenses) for each at-the-market equity offering

program are reported in thousands.

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Number of shares sold under such sales agreement:

2022 Sales Agreement n/a n/a n/a 13,488,550

May 2023 Sales Agreement n/a 0 n/a 10,791,700

August 2023 Sales Agreement n/a 4,033,620 n/a 4,033,620

November 2023 Sales Agreement 0 n/a 1,951,620 n/a

August 2024 Sales Agreement 8,048,449 n/a 8,048,449 n/a

Total shares sold pursuant to at-the-market equity

offering programs 8,048,449 4,033,620 10,000,069 28,313,870
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Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Net proceeds received from shares sold under such sales

agreement:

2022 Sales Agreement n/a n/a n/a $338,962

May 2023 Sales Agreement n/a 0 n/a 333,494

August 2023 Sales Agreement n/a 147,218 n/a 147,218

November 2023 Sales Agreement 0 n/a 137,152 n/a

August 2024 Sales Agreement 1,105,141 n/a 1,105,141 n/a

Total net proceeds received from shares sold

pursuant to at-the-market equity offering programs $1,105,141 $147,218 $1,242,293 $819,674

The sales commissions and expenses related to each of the above at-the-market equity offering programs are

considered direct and incremental costs and are charged against ‘‘Additional paid-in capital’’ on the Consolidated

Balance Sheet in the period in which the corresponding shares are issued and sold.

(11) Segment Information

The Company manages its business in one reportable operating segment which is engaged in the design,

development, marketing, and sales of its software platform through licensing arrangements and cloud subscriptions

and related services. Beginning in 2024, the Company has broken out a Corporate & Other category, which is not

considered an operating segment, and includes the impairment charges and other third-party costs associated with

the Company’s digital asset holdings. The Company’s chief operating decision maker (‘‘CODM’’), who is the

Company’s Chief Executive Officer, does not manage the software segment operating results or allocate resources to

the software segment when considering these Corporate & Other costs. The following tables present the breakout of

the operations of the software segment and the Corporate & Other costs (in thousands) for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended September 30, 2024 Three Months Ended September 30, 2023

Software
Business

Corporate &
Other

Total
Consolidated

Software
Business

Corporate &
Other

Total
Consolidated

Total revenues $116,071 $ 116,071 $129,462 $129,462

Total cost of revenues 34,349 34,349 26,661 26,661

Gross profit $ 81,722 $ 81,722 $102,801 $102,801

Total operating expenses 100,182 414,122 514,304 93,725 34,323 128,048

(Loss) income from

operations $ (18,460) $(414,122) $(432,582) $ 9,076 $(34,323) $ (25,247)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023

Software
Business

Corporate &
Other

Total
Consolidated

Software
Business

Corporate &
Other

Total
Consolidated

Total revenues $342,759 $ 342,759 $371,777 $371,777

Total cost of revenues 95,299 95,299 81,723 81,723

Gross profit $247,460 $ 247,460 $290,054 $290,054

Total operating expenses 295,541 788,477 1,084,018 283,733 78,583 362,316

(Loss) income from

operations $ (48,081) $(788,477) $ (836,558) $ 6,321 $(78,583) $ (72,262)
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The following table presents total revenues, gross profit, (loss) income from operations, and long-lived assets (in

thousands) according to geographic region. Long-lived assets are comprised of right-of-use assets and property and

equipment, net. The Corporate & Other category disclosed above is included within the U.S. region.

Geographic regions: U.S. EMEA Other Regions Consolidated

Three months ended September 30, 2024

Total revenues $ 63,958 $ 38,952 $ 13,161 $ 116,071

Gross profit $ 42,306 $ 30,874 $ 8,542 $ 81,722

(Loss) income from operations $(441,144) $ 15,062 $ (6,500) $(432,582)

Three months ended September 30, 2023

Total revenues $ 71,788 $ 40,222 $ 17,452 $ 129,462

Gross profit $ 56,723 $ 32,574 $ 13,504 $ 102,801

(Loss) income from operations $ (41,534) $ 18,461 $ (2,174) $ (25,247)

Nine months ended September 30, 2024

Total revenues $ 192,115 $114,273 $ 36,371 $ 342,759

Gross profit $ 132,949 $ 90,964 $ 23,547 $ 247,460

(Loss) income from operations $(862,349) $ 44,602 $(18,811) $(836,558)

Nine months ended September 30, 2023

Total revenues $ 212,892 $115,351 $ 43,534 $ 371,777

Gross profit $ 167,692 $ 91,080 $ 31,282 $ 290,054

(Loss) income from operations $(107,029) $ 47,864 $(13,097) $ (72,262)

As of September 30, 2024

Long-lived assets $ 72,241 $ 4,102 $ 6,482 $ 82,825

As of December 31, 2023

Long-lived assets $ 75,004 $ 3,937 $ 7,343 $ 86,284

The EMEA region includes operations in Europe, the Middle East, and Africa. The other regions include all other

foreign countries, generally comprising Latin America, the Asia Pacific region, and Canada. For the three months

ended September 30, 2024, Germany accounted for 10% or more of total consolidated revenues. For the

three months ended September 30, 2023 and the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, no individual

foreign country accounted for 10% or more of total consolidated revenues.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, no individual customer accounted for 10% or

more of total consolidated revenues.

As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, no individual foreign country accounted for 10% or more of total

consolidated assets.

(12) Related Party Transactions

Saylor Indemnification Agreements

On June 24, 2022, concurrently with binding directors and officers (‘‘D&Os’’) liability insurance policies (the ‘‘Initial

Commercial Policies’’) with several third-party carriers, the Company andMichael J. Saylor, the Company’s Chairman

of the Board of Directors and Executive Chairman, entered into (i) an indemnification agreement (the ‘‘Excess

Agreement’’) for Mr. Saylor to provide $10 million in excess indemnity coverage payable only after the exhaustion of

the Initial Commercial Policies, and (ii) an indemnification agreement (the ‘‘Tail Agreement’’) forMr. Saylor to provide

$40 million in indemnity coverage for claims made at any time based on actions or omissions occurring prior to the

inception date of the Initial Commercial Policies. The Company paid Mr. Saylor $600,000 for a one-year term under

the Excess Agreement, and $150,000 for a 90-day term under the Tail Agreement. At the option of the Company, the

Company was permitted to extend the term under the Tail Agreement for up to a total of twenty-three additional

90-day periods, for $150,000 per additional 90-day term. The Company elected to extend the term of the Tail

Agreement for three consecutive additional 90-day periods and paid Mr. Saylor $150,000 for each extension.
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On August 30, 2022, the Company bound additional D&O liability insurance policies (the ‘‘Excess Commercial

Policies’’) with third-party carriers for excess coverage payable only after the exhaustion of the Initial Commercial

Policies. Effective as of the same date, the Company andMr. Saylor executed an amendment (the ‘‘Amendment’’) to

the Excess Agreement to limit Mr. Saylor’s obligation to provide indemnification under the Excess Agreement to

claims made during the term of the Excess Agreement which arise from wrongful acts occurring upon or after the

commencement of the Excess Agreement but prior to the effective date of the Amendment. In connection with the

Amendment, Mr. Saylor refunded $489,863 to the Company, representing the pro rata portion of the

$600,000 originally paid by the Company to Mr. Saylor under the Excess Agreement attributable to the period from

the date of the Amendment through the end of the original term of the Excess Agreement.

On June 12, 2023, the Company bound new D&O liability insurance policies (the ‘‘2023 Commercial Policies’’) with

third-party carriers that provide coverage substantially equivalent to the aggregate coverage provided under the

Initial Commercial Policies and the Excess Commercial Policies for a policy period running from June 12, 2023 through

June 12, 2024 except that the 2023 Commercial Policies also provide coverage for claims made with respect to

wrongful acts or omissions occurring prior to the binding of the Initial Commercial Policies subject to exclusions with

respect to claims previously noticed to and accepted by an earlier D&O insurer, claims related to acts or omissions

giving rise to such claims, and demands, investigations, suits or other proceedings entered against an insured prior to

June 24, 2022, as well as future interrelated wrongful acts.

On June 12, 2023, the Company entered into a new indemnification agreement with Mr. Saylor (the ‘‘2023 Tail

Agreement’’) pursuant to whichMr. Saylor agreed to provide coverage that is similar to the coverage provided under

the Tail Agreement, but only for matters excluded from coverage under the 2023 Commercial Policies for an initial

one-year term for a payment of $157,000. Pursuant to the terms of the 2023 Tail Agreement, the Company has

elected to extend the termof the 2023 Tail Agreement for a period of one-year commencing on June 12, 2024, and has

paid Mr. Saylor $157,000 during the three months ended June 30, 2024. The Company may elect, at its option, to

extend the termunder the 2023 Tail Agreement for up to a total of three additional one-year periods, for $157,000 per

additional one-year term.

The Excess Agreement, Tail Agreement and other related party transactions between the Company andMr. Saylor are

described more fully in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company’s Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Allocation Agreements

In connection with the Consent Order disclosed in Note 6, Commitments and Contingencies, to the Consolidated

Financial Statements, on May 31, 2024, the Company and Mr. Saylor entered into an agreement pursuant to which

Mr. Saylor and the Company agreed that Mr. Saylor would pay $40,000,000 due to the District to settle the case and

resolve the litigation with the District. Pursuant to a separate agreement between Mr. Saylor and the Company,

Mr. Saylor paid this settlement amount to the District in full and the Company is not obligated to make any

contribution to the settlement payment. On July 15, 2024, Mr. Saylor and the Company entered into a separate

agreementwith counsel to the Relator to resolve the amount due to such counsel in satisfaction of Relator’s claims for

statutory expenses, attorneys’ fees and costs. Pursuant to the separate agreement between Mr. Saylor and the

Company, Mr. Saylor paid this settlement amount in full and the Company is not obligated to make any contribution

to this settlement payment.

(13) Subsequent Events

Digital asset impairment

The Company has incurred at least $18.9 million in digital asset impairment losses during the fourth quarter of 2024

on bitcoin held as of September 30, 2024.

See Note 3, Digital Assets, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail on accounting for digital assets.

F-29



At-the-market equity offering

On October 30, 2024, the Company filed a prospectus for a new at-the-market equity offering program pursuant to

which the Company may sell class A common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $21 billion from time

to time, through TD Securities (USA) LLC, Barclays Capital Inc., The Benchmark Company, LLC, BTIG, LLC, Canaccord

Genuity LLC, Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., Maxim Group LLC, Mizuho Securities USA LLC, and SG Americas Securities, LLC,

as agents (the ‘‘October 2024 Sales Agents’’) under a sales agreement dated October 30, 2024 (the ‘‘October 2024

Sales Agreement’’).

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Information

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this ‘‘Quarterly Report’’) contains forward-looking statements within the

meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the ‘‘Exchange Act’’). For this purpose,

any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact, including without limitation, certain

statements regarding industry prospects and our results of operations or financial position, may be deemed to be

forward-looking statements.Without limiting the foregoing, thewords ‘‘believes,’’ ‘‘anticipates,’’ ‘‘plans,’’ ‘‘expects,’’

and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. The important factors discussed under

‘‘Part II. Item 1A. Risk Factors,’’ among others, could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by

forward-looking statements made herein and presented elsewhere by management from time to time. Such

forward-looking statements represent management’s current expectations and are inherently uncertain. Investors

are warned that actual results may differ from management’s expectations.

10-for-1 stock split

OnAugust 7, 2024, we completed a 10-for-1 stock split of our class A and class B common stock. See Note 1, Summary

of Significant Accounting Policies, to the Consolidated Financial Statements, for further information. As a result of the

stock split, all applicable share and per share information presented within this ‘‘Item 2. Management’s Discussion

andAnalysis of Financial Condition andResults ofOperations’’ has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock split

for all periods presented.

Business Overview

MicroStrategy® is the world’s first and largest Bitcoin Treasury Company. We are a publicly traded company that has

adopted Bitcoin as our primary treasury reserve asset. By using proceeds from equity and debt financings, as well as

cash flows from our operations, we strategically accumulate Bitcoin and advocate for its role as digital capital. Our

treasury strategy is designed to provide investors varying degrees of economic exposure to Bitcoin by offering a range

of securities, including equity and fixed income instruments.

In addition, we provide industry-leading AI-powered enterprise analytics software, advancing our vision of

Intelligence Everywhere. We leverage our development capabilities to explore innovation in Bitcoin applications,

integrating analytics expertise with our commitment to digital asset growth. We believe our combination of

operational excellence, strategic Bitcoin reserve, and focus on technological innovation positions us as a leader in

both the digital asset and enterprise analytics sectors, offering a unique opportunity for long-term value creation.

Bitcoin Strategy

Our bitcoin strategy generally involves from time to time, subject to market conditions, (i) issuing debt or equity

securities or engaging in other capital raising transactionswith the objective of using the proceeds to purchase bitcoin

and (ii) acquiring bitcoin with our liquid assets that exceed working capital requirements. We intend to fund further

bitcoin acquisitions primarily through issuances of common stock and a variety of fixed-income instruments, including

debt, convertible notes and preferred stock.

We viewour bitcoin holdings as long-termholdings and expect to continue to accumulate bitcoin.Wehave not set any

specific target for the amount of bitcoin we seek to hold, and we will continue to monitor market conditions in

determining whether to engage in additional financings to purchase additional bitcoin. This overall strategy also

contemplates that wemay (i) periodically sell bitcoin for general corporate purposes or in connection with strategies

that generate tax benefits in accordance with applicable law, (ii) enter into additional capital raising transactions that

are collateralized by our bitcoin holdings, and (iii) consider pursuing strategies to create income streams or otherwise

generate funds using our bitcoin holdings.
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Additionally, we periodically engage in advocacy and educational activities regarding the continued acceptance and

value of Bitcoin as an open, secure protocol for an internet-native digital capital asset, and we leverage our software

development capabilities to explore innovation in Bitcoin applications.

Under our Treasury Reserve Policy, our treasury reserve assets consist of:

• cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments (‘‘Cash Assets’’) held by us that exceed working

capital requirements; and

• bitcoin held by us, with bitcoin serving as the primary treasury reserve asset on an ongoing basis, subject to

market conditions and anticipated needs of the business for Cash Assets.

During 2023 and 2024, we used proceeds from various capital raising transactions to purchase bitcoin. As of

September 30, 2024, we held an aggregate of approximately 252,220 bitcoins.

The following table presents a roll-forward of our bitcoin holdings, including additional information related to our

bitcoin purchases, sales, and digital asset impairment losses within the respective periods:

Source of
Capital Used
to Purchase
Bitcoin

Digital Asset
Original Cost
Basis

(in thousands)

Digital Asset
Impairment
Losses

(in thousands)

Digital Asset
Carrying Value
(in thousands)

Approximate
Number of
Bitcoins Held

Approximate
Average Purchase
Price Per Bitcoin

Balance at

December 31, 2022 $3,993,190 $(2,153,162) $1,840,028 132,500 $30,137

Digital asset

purchases (a) 179,275 179,275 7,500 23,903

Digital asset

impairment losses (18,911) (18,911)

Balance at March 31,

2023 $4,172,465 $(2,172,073) $2,000,392 140,000 $29,803

Digital asset

purchases (b) 347,003 347,003 12,333 28,136

Digital asset

impairment losses (24,143) (24,143)

Balance at June 30,

2023 $4,519,468 $(2,196,216) $2,323,252 152,333 $29,668

Digital asset

purchases (c) 161,681 161,681 5,912 27,348

Digital asset

impairment losses (33,559) (33,559)

Balance at

September 30, 2023 $4,681,149 $(2,229,775) $2,451,374 158,245 $29,582

Digital asset

purchases (d) 1,214,340 1,214,340 30,905 39,293

Digital asset

impairment losses (39,238) (39,238)

Balance at

December 31, 2023 $5,895,489 $(2,269,013) $3,626,476 189,150 $31,168

Digital asset

purchases (e) 1,639,309 1,639,309 25,128 65,238

Digital asset

impairment losses (191,633) (191,633)

Balance at March 31,

2024 $7,534,798 $(2,460,646) $5,074,152 214,278 $35,164

Digital asset

purchases (f) 793,828 793,828 12,053 65,861

Digital asset

impairment losses (180,090) (180,090)
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Source of
Capital Used
to Purchase
Bitcoin

Digital Asset
Original Cost
Basis

(in thousands)

Digital Asset
Impairment
Losses

(in thousands)

Digital Asset
Carrying Value
(in thousands)

Approximate
Number of
Bitcoins Held

Approximate
Average Purchase
Price Per Bitcoin

Balance at June 30,

2024 $8,328,626 $(2,640,736) $5,687,890 226,331 $36,798

Digital asset

purchases (g) 1,575,073 1,575,073 25,889 60,839

Digital asset

impairment losses (412,084) (412,084)

Balance at

September 30, 2024 $9,903,699 $(3,052,820) $6,850,879 252,220 $39,266

(a) In the first quarter of 2023, we purchased bitcoin using $179.3 million of the net proceeds from our sale of class A common stock under our
at-the-market offering program.

(b) In the second quarter of 2023, we purchased bitcoin using $336.9 million of the net proceeds from our sale of class A common stock under
our at-the-market offering program, and Excess Cash.

(c) In the third quarter of 2023, we purchased bitcoin using $147.3 million of the net proceeds from our sale of class A common stock under our
at-the-market offering program, and Excess Cash.

(d) In the fourth quarter of 2023, we purchased bitcoin using $1.201 billion of the net proceeds from our sale of class A common stock under our
at-the-market equity offering program, and Excess Cash.

(e) In the first quarter of 2024, we purchased bitcoin using $782.0 million of the net proceeds from our issuance of the 2030 Convertible Notes,
$592.3million of the net proceeds from our issuance of the 2031 Convertible Notes, $137.3million of the net proceeds from our sale of class
A common stock under our at-the-market equity offering program, and Excess Cash.

(f) In the second quarter of 2024, we purchased $793.8 million of bitcoin using net proceeds from our issuance of the 2032 Convertible Notes
and Excess Cash.

(g) In the third quarter of 2024, we purchased bitcoin using $1.105 billion of the net proceeds from our sale of class A common stock under our
at-the-market offering program, $458.2 million of the net proceeds from our issuance of the 2028 Convertible Notes, and Excess Cash.

Excess Cash refers to cash in excess of the minimum Cash Assets that we are required to hold under our Treasury

Reserve Policy, which may include cash generated by operating activities and cash from the proceeds of financing

activities.

The following table shows the approximate number of bitcoins held at the end of each respective period, as well as

market value calculations of our bitcoin holdings basedon the lowest, highest, and endingmarket prices of onebitcoin

on the Coinbase exchange (our principal market) for each respective quarter, as further defined below:

Approximate
Number of
Bitcoins Held
at End of
Quarter

Lowest
Market Price
Per Bitcoin
During
Quarter(a)

Market Value
of Bitcoin Held
at End of

Quarter Using
Lowest Market
Price (in

thousands)(b)

Highest
Market Price
Per Bitcoin
During
Quarter(c)

Market Value
of Bitcoin Held
at End of

Quarter Using
Highest Market
Price (in

thousands)(d)

Market Price
Per Bitcoin at
End of
Quarter(e)

Market Value
of Bitcoin Held
at End of

Quarter Using
Ending Market
Price (in
thousands)(f)

December 31, 2022 132,500 $15,460.00 $ 2,048,450 $21,478.80 $ 2,845,941 $16,556.32 $ 2,193,712

March 31, 2023 140,000 $16,490.00 $ 2,308,600 $29,190.04 $ 4,086,606 $28,468.44 $ 3,985,582

June 30, 2023 152,333 $24,750.00 $ 3,770,242 $31,443.67 $ 4,789,909 $30,361.51 $ 4,625,060

September 30, 2023 158,245 $24,900.00 $ 3,940,301 $31,862.21 $ 5,042,035 $27,030.47 $ 4,277,437

December 31, 2023 189,150 $26,521.32 $ 5,016,508 $45,000.00 $ 8,511,750 $42,531.41 $ 8,044,816

March 31, 2024 214,278 $38,501.00 $ 8,249,917 $73,835.57 $15,821,338 $71,028.14 $15,219,768

June 30, 2024 226,331 $56,500.00 $12,787,702 $72,777.00 $16,471,691 $61,926.69 $14,015,930

September 30, 2024 252,220 $49,050.01 $12,371,394 $70,000.00 $17,655,400 $63,462.97 $16,006,630

(a) The ‘‘LowestMarket Price Per Bitcoin DuringQuarter’’ represents the lowestmarket price for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange
during the respective quarter, without regard to when we purchased any of our bitcoin.

(b) The ‘‘Market Value of Bitcoin Held at End of Quarter Using Lowest Market Price’’ represents a mathematical calculation consisting of the
lowest market price for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange during the respective quarter multiplied by the number of bitcoins
we held at the end of the applicable period.

(c) The ‘‘Highest Market Price Per Bitcoin During Quarter’’ represents the highest market price for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase
exchange during the respective quarter, without regard to when we purchased any of our bitcoin.
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(d) The ‘‘Market Value of Bitcoin Held at End of Quarter Using Highest Market Price’’ represents a mathematical calculation consisting of the

highest market price for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange during the respective quarter multiplied by the number of bitcoins

we held at the end of the applicable period.

(e) The ‘‘Market Price Per Bitcoin at End of Quarter’’ represents the market price of one bitcoin on the Coinbase exchange at 4:00 p.m.

Eastern Time on the last day of the respective quarter.

(f) The ‘‘Market Value of Bitcoin Held at End of Quarter Using Ending Market Price’’ represents a mathematical calculation consisting of the

market price of one bitcoin on the Coinbase exchange at 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time on the last day of the respective quarter multiplied by the

number of bitcoins we held at the end of the applicable period.

The amounts reported as ‘‘Market Value’’ in the above table represent only a mathematical calculation consisting of

the price for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange (our principal market) in each scenario defined above

multiplied by the number of bitcoins held by us at the end of the applicable period. Bitcoin and bitcoin markets may

be subject to manipulation and the spot price of bitcoin may be subject to fraud and manipulation. Accordingly, the

Market Value amounts reported above may not accurately represent fair market value, and the actual fair market

value of our bitcoinmay be different from such amounts and such deviationmay bematerial.Moreover, (i) the bitcoin

market historically has been characterized by significant volatility in price, limited liquidity and trading volumes

compared to sovereign currencies markets, relative anonymity, a developing regulatory landscape, potential

susceptibility to market abuse and manipulation, compliance and internal control failures at exchanges, and various

other risks that are, or may be, inherent in its entirely electronic, virtual form and decentralized network and (ii) we

may not be able to sell our bitcoins at theMarket Value amounts indicated above, at the market price as reported on

the Coinbase exchange (our principal market) on the date of sale, or at all.

Our digital asset impairment losses have significantly contributed to our operating expenses. During the threemonths

ended September 30, 2024, digital asset impairment losses of $412.1 million represented 80.1% of our operating

expenses, compared to digital asset impairment losses of $33.6 million, representing 26.2% of our operating

expenses, during the three months ended September 30, 2023. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024,

digital asset impairment losses of $783.8 million represented 72.3% of our operating expenses, compared to digital

asset impairment losses of $76.6 million, representing 21.1% of our operating expenses, during the nine months

ended September 30, 2023.

As of October 30, 2024, we held approximately 252,220 bitcoins that were acquired at an aggregate purchase price of

$9.904 billion and an average purchase price of approximately $39,266 per bitcoin, inclusive of fees and expenses. As

of October 30, 2024, at 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time, the market price of one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange

was $71,812.70.

Enterprise Analytics Software Strategy

MicroStrategy is a pioneer in AI-powered business intelligence (BI), and a global leader in enterprise analytics

solutions. We provide software and services designed to turn complex, chaotic data environments into rich, reliable,

and convenient information feeds for our customers. Our vision is tomake everyworker a domain expert by delivering

Intelligence Everywhere™.

Our cloud-native flagship, MicroStrategy ONE™, powers some of the largest analytics deployments in the world for

customers spanning a wide range of industries, including retail, banking, technology, manufacturing, insurance,

consulting, healthcare, telecommunications, and the public sector.

Integral to the MicroStrategy ONE platform are Generative AI capabilities that are designed to automate and

accelerate the deployment of AI-enabled applications across our customers’ enterprises. By making advanced

analytics accessible through conversational AI, MicroStrategy ONE provides non-technical users with the ability to

directly access novel and actionable insights for decision-making.

MicroStrategy ONE combines the flexibility and scalability afforded by amodern, cloud application with the reliability

and security of our robust data governance model. It empowers users by making rich analytics easily accessible and

personalized, while enabling organizations to harness the value of their data wherever it is needed.

As we continue to transition our business strategy and product offerings to a cloud-native model, we are enhancing

our go-to-market and sales strategies with the goal of focusing on acquiring new customers, driving revenue growth,

increasingmargins, and streamlining our operations. As part of this transition,we have taken andwill continue to take

measures, including headcount optimization, to reorganize and increase efficiency across our business functions.
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Operating Highlights

The following table sets forth certain operating highlights (in thousands) for the three and nine months ended

September 30, 2024 and 2023:

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Revenues

Product licenses $ 11,087 $ 24,045 $ 33,311 $ 56,979

Subscription services 27,800 20,974 74,846 59,662

Total product licenses and subscription services 38,887 45,019 108,157 116,641

Product support 61,015 66,860 185,440 198,422

Other services 16,169 17,583 49,162 56,714

Total revenues 116,071 129,462 342,759 371,777

Cost of revenues

Product licenses 769 342 2,130 1,320

Subscription services 11,454 8,028 29,618 23,100

Total product licenses and subscription services 12,223 8,370 31,748 24,420

Product support 8,572 5,531 25,312 17,115

Other services 13,554 12,760 38,239 40,188

Total cost of revenues 34,349 26,661 95,299 81,723

Gross profit 81,722 102,801 247,460 290,054

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 35,414 35,606 103,116 109,372

Research and development 33,301 29,660 92,795 90,372

General and administrative 33,505 29,223 104,300 85,959

Digital asset impairment losses 412,084 33,559 783,807 76,613

Total operating expenses 514,304 128,048 1,084,018 362,316

Loss from operations $(432,582) $ (25,247) $ (836,558) $ (72,262)

We have incurred and may continue to incur significant impairment losses on our digital assets, and we have

recognized andmay continue to recognize gains upon sale of our digital assets in the future, which are presented net

of any impairment losses within operating expenses. In addition, we base our internal operating expense forecasts on

expected revenue trends and strategic objectives in our enterprise analytics software business. Many of our

expenses, such as office leases and certain personnel costs, are relatively fixed. Accordingly, any decrease in the price

of bitcoin during any quarter, any sales by us of our bitcoin at prices above their then current carrying costs or any

shortfall in revenue in our software business may cause significant variation in our operating results. We therefore

believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results may not be a good indication of our future

performance.

Employees

As of September 30, 2024, we had a total of 1,637 employees, of whom 478 were based in the United States and

1,159 were based internationally. The following table summarizes employee headcount as of the dates indicated:

September 30,
2024

December 31,
2023

September 30,
2023

Subscription services 97 100 105

Product support 168 154 161

Consulting 305 399 411
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September 30,
2024

December 31,
2023

September 30,
2023

Education 10 13 12

Sales and marketing 316 390 398

Research and development 529 642 645

General and administrative 212 236 252

Total headcount 1,637 1,934 1,984

Share-based Compensation Expense

As discussed inNote 8, Share-based Compensation, to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we have awarded stock

options to purchase shares of our class A common stock, restricted stock units, performance stock units, and certain

other stock-based awards under our Stock Incentive Plans. Each restricted stock unit and performance stock unit

represents a contingent right to receive a share of our class A common stock upon the satisfaction of applicable

vesting requirements.We also provide opportunities for eligible employees to purchase shares of our class A common

stock under our 2021 ESPP. Share-based compensation expense (in thousands) from these awards was recognized in

the following cost of revenues and operating expense line items for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Cost of subscription services revenues $ 98 $ 101 $ 287 $ 254
Cost of product support revenues 966 565 2,951 1,597

Cost of consulting revenues 468 535 1,349 1,423

Cost of education revenues 37 28 99 72

Sales and marketing 3,153 3,221 11,719 12,532

Research and development 3,542 3,269 10,659 9,426

General and administrative 11,113 9,087 30,725 24,551

Total share-based compensation expense $19,377 $16,806 $57,789 $49,855

The $2.6million increase in share-based compensation expense during the threemonths ended September 30, 2024,

as compared to the same period in the prior year, was primarily due to the grant of additional awards under the Stock

Incentive Plans, partially offset by the forfeiture of certain stock awards and certain awards that became fully vested.

The $7.9 million increase in share-based compensation expense during the nine months ended September 30, 2024,

as compared to the same period in the prior year, was primarily due to the grant of additional awards under the Stock

Incentive Plans and the revaluation and exercise of certain liability-classified stock-based awards, partially offset by

the forfeiture of certain stock awards and certain awards that became fully vested. As of September 30, 2024, we

estimated that an aggregate of approximately $133.1 million of additional share-based compensation expense

associated with the Stock Incentive Plans and the 2021 ESPP will be recognized over a remaining weighted average

period of 2.4 years.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our Consolidated

Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of our Consolidated

Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,

liabilities, and equity, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results and outcomes could differ

from these estimates and assumptions.

Critical accounting estimates involve a significant level of estimation uncertainty and are estimates that have had or

are reasonably likely to have amaterial impact on our financial condition or results of operations.We consider certain

estimates and judgments related to revenue recognition to be critical accounting estimates for us, as discussed under

‘‘Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Critical Accounting

Estimates’’ included in our Annual Report on Form10-K for the fiscal year endedDecember 31, 2023. There have been

no significant changes in such estimates and judgments since December 31, 2023.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

Revenues

Except as otherwise indicated herein, the term ‘‘domestic’’ refers to operations in the United States and Canada and

the term ‘‘international’’ refers to operations outside of the United States and Canada.

Product licenses and subscription services revenues. The following table sets forth product licenses and subscription

services revenues (in thousands) and related percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
September 30, %

Change

Nine Months Ended
September 30, %

Change2024 2023 2024 2023

Product Licenses and Subscription Services

Revenues:

Product Licenses

Domestic $ 3,109 $10,338 -69.9% $ 12,920 $ 29,404 -56.1%

International 7,978 13,707 -41.8% 20,391 27,575 -26.1%

Total product licenses revenues 11,087 24,045 -53.9% 33,311 56,979 -41.5%

Subscription Services

Domestic 17,579 13,515 30.1% 47,087 38,718 21.6%

International 10,221 7,459 37.0% 27,759 20,944 32.5%

Total subscription services revenues 27,800 20,974 32.5% 74,846 59,662 25.5%

Total product licenses and subscription

services revenues $38,887 $45,019 -13.6% $108,157 $116,641 -7.3%

Product licenses revenues. Product licenses revenues decreased $13.0 million and $23.7 million for the three and

ninemonths ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the sameperiods in the prior year, primarily due to anoverall

decrease in the volume and average size of deals. Our product licenses revenuesmay continue to experience declines

in future periods as we continue to promote our cloud offering to new and existing customers.

Subscription services revenues. Subscription services revenues are derived from our MCE cloud subscription service

and are recognized ratably over the service period in the contract. Subscription services revenues increased

$6.8 million and $15.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the same

periods in the prior year, primarily due to conversions to cloud-based subscriptions from existing on-premises

customers, a net increase in the use of subscription services by existing customers, and sales contracts with

new customers. We expect our subscription services revenues to continue to grow in future periods as we continue

to promote our cloud offering to new and existing customers.

Product support revenues. The following table sets forth product support revenues (in thousands) and related

percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
September 30, %

Change

Nine Months Ended
September 30, %

Change2024 2023 2024 2023

Product Support Revenues:

Domestic $35,891 $39,510 -9.2% $110,348 $119,064 -7.3%

International 25,124 27,350 -8.1% 75,092 79,358 -5.4%

Total product support revenues $61,015 $66,860 -8.7% $185,440 $198,422 -6.5%

Product support revenues are derived fromproviding technical software support and software updates and upgrades

to customers. Product support revenues are recognized ratably over the term of the contract, which is generally one

year. Product support revenues decreased $5.8 million and $13.0 million for the three and nine months ended
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September 30, 2024, as compared to the same periods in the prior year, primarily due to certain existing customers

converting from perpetual product licenses with separate support contracts to our subscription services offerings.

Our product support revenues may experience declines in future periods as we continue to promote our cloud

offering to new and existing customers.

Other services revenues. The following table sets forth other services revenues (in thousands) and related percentage

changes for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
September 30, %

Change

Nine Months Ended
September 30, %

Change2024 2023 2024 2023

Other Services Revenues:

Consulting

Domestic $ 7,105 $ 8,392 -15.3% $21,424 $26,639 -19.6%

International 8,384 8,284 1.2% 25,484 27,354 -6.8%

Total consulting revenues 15,489 16,676 -7.1% 46,908 53,993 -13.1%

Education 680 907 -25.0% 2,254 2,721 -17.2%

Total other services revenues $16,169 $17,583 -8.0% $49,162 $56,714 -13.3%

Consulting revenues. Consulting revenues are derived from helping customers plan and execute the deployment of

our software. Consulting revenues decreased $1.2 million and $7.1 million for the three and nine months ended

September 30, 2024, as compared to the same periods in the prior year, primarily due to a decrease in demand for

domestic consulting services.

Education revenues. Education revenues are derived from the education and training that we provide to our

customers to enhance their ability to fully utilize the features and functionality of our software. These offerings

include self-tutorials, custom course development, joint training with customers’ internal staff, and standard course

offerings, with pricing dependent on the specific offering delivered. Education revenues did notmaterially change for

the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the same periods in the prior year.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of revenues. The following table sets forth cost of revenues (in thousands) and related percentage changes for

the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
September 30, %

Change

Nine Months Ended
September 30, %

Change2024 2023 2024 2023

Cost of Revenues:

Product licenses and subscription services:

Product licenses $ 769 $ 342 124.9% $ 2,130 $ 1,320 61.4%

Subscription services 11,454 8,028 42.7% 29,618 23,100 28.2%

Total product licenses and subscription

services 12,223 8,370 46.0% 31,748 24,420 30.0%

Product support 8,572 5,531 55.0% 25,312 17,115 47.9%

Other services:

Consulting 13,005 12,134 7.2% 36,546 38,326 -4.6%

Education 549 626 -12.3% 1,693 1,862 -9.1%

Total other services 13,554 12,760 6.2% 38,239 40,188 -4.8%

Total cost of revenues $34,349 $26,661 28.8% $95,299 $81,723 16.6%

Cost of product licenses revenues. Cost of product licenses revenues consists of referral fees paid to channel partners,

the costs of product manuals and media, and royalties paid to third-party software vendors. Cost of product licenses

revenues did notmaterially change for the threemonths ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the same period

in the prior year. Cost of product licenses revenues increased $0.8 million for the nine months ended September 30,

2024, as compared to the sameperiod in theprior year, primarily due to the amortization of the prepaid patent license

received as part of the settlement agreement with Daedalus, as described in Note 6, Commitments and

Contingencies, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Cost of subscription services revenues. Cost of subscription services revenues consists of equipment, facility and

other related support costs (including cloud hosting infrastructure costs), and personnel and related overhead costs.

Cost of subscription services revenues increased $3.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024, as

compared to the same period in the prior year, primarily due to a $2.9million increase in cloud hosting infrastructure

costs, which is a result of the increased usage by new and existing cloud subscription services customers. Cost of

subscription services revenues increased $6.5million for the ninemonths ended September 30, 2024, as compared to

the same period in the prior year, primarily due to a $6.2 million increase in cloud hosting infrastructure costs, which

is a result of the increased usage by new and existing cloud subscription services customers.

Cost of product support revenues. Cost of product support revenues consists of personnel and related overhead

costs. Cost of product support revenues increased $3.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024, as

compared to the same period in the prior year, primarily due to (i) a $1.1 million increase in severance costs due to

headcount reductions, (ii) a $0.7million increase in salaries and personnel costs, (iii) a $0.5million increase in variable

compensation, and (iv) a $0.4 million net increase in share-based compensation expense. Other than the increase in

severance costs, these changes were primarily attributable to an increase in average staffing levels from the internal

transfer of certain employees to product support functions, partially offset by the discontinuance of our Enterprise

Support program in the current year, which previously resulted in compensation costs for certain consulting

personnel being allocated to cost of product support revenues. Cost of product support revenues increased

$8.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the same period in the prior year,

primarily due to (i) a $2.3 million increase in salaries and personnel costs, (ii) a $2.2 million increase in variable

compensation, (iii) a $1.4 million net increase in share-based compensation expense, (iv) a $1.1 million increase in

severance costs due to headcount reductions, and (v) a $0.6million increase in facility andother related support costs.

Other than the increase in severance costs, these changes were primarily attributable to an increase in average

staffing levels from the internal transfer of certain employees to product support functions, partially offset by the

discontinuance of our Enterprise Support program in the current year.

Cost of consulting revenues. Cost of consulting revenues consists of personnel and related overhead costs. Cost of

consulting revenues increased $0.9million for the threemonths ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the same

period in the prior year, primarily due to (i) a $1.1 million increase in severance costs due to headcount reductions,

partially offset by (ii) a $0.2 million decrease in salaries and personnel costs attributable to a decrease in average

staffing levels, substantially offset by the discontinuance of our Enterprise Support program (pursuant to which costs

associated with certain consulting personnel had been recognized in cost of product support revenues) in the current

year. Cost of consulting revenues decreased $1.8million for the ninemonths ended September 30, 2024, as compared

to the same period in the prior year, primarily due to (i) a $1.8 million decrease in variable compensation and (ii) a

$0.9 million decrease in salaries and personnel costs attributable to a decrease in average staffing levels, partially

offset by the discontinuance of our Enterprise Support program (pursuant to which costs associated with certain

consulting personnel had been recognized in cost of product support revenues) in the current year, and (iii) a

$0.4 million decrease in facility and other related support costs, partially offset by (iv) a $0.8 million increase in

subcontractor costs, and (v) a $0.7 million increase in severance costs due to headcount reductions.

Cost of education revenues. Cost of education revenues consists of personnel and related overhead costs. Cost of

education revenues did notmaterially change for the three andninemonths ended September 30, 2024, as compared

to the same periods in the prior year.

Sales and marketing expenses. Sales and marketing expenses consist of personnel costs, commissions, office

facilities, travel, advertising, public relations programs, and promotional events, such as trade shows, seminars, and

technical conferences. The following table sets forth sales and marketing expenses (in thousands) and related

percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
September 30, %

Change

Nine Months Ended
September 30, %

Change2024 2023 2024 2023

Sales and marketing expenses $35,414 $35,606 -0.5% $103,116 $109,372 -5.7%

Sales and marketing expenses did not materially change for the three months ended September 30, 2024, as

compared to the same period in the prior year, primarily due to (i) a $2.1 million decrease in variable compensation

primarily attributable to an increase in net capitalized commissions, partially offset by an increase in commissions

earned, (ii) a $0.8 million decrease in employee salaries primarily attributable to a decrease in average staffing levels
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(including from the internal transfer of certain employees to product support functions), partially offset by wage

increases, (iii) a $0.2 million decrease in non-income taxes, (iv) a $0.2 million decrease in recruiting costs, (v) a

$0.2 million decrease in facility and other related support costs, and (vi) a $0.1 million net decrease in share-based

compensation expense primarily attributable to the forfeiture of certain awards and the internal transfer of certain

employees to product support functions, substantially offset by the grant of additional awards under the Stock

Incentive Plans, substantially offset by (vii) a $2.8 million increase in severance costs due to headcount reductions,

and (viii) a $0.8 million increase in marketing costs.

Sales andmarketing expenses decreased $6.3million for the ninemonths ended September 30, 2024, as compared to

the same period in the prior year, primarily due to (i) a $6.7 million decrease in variable compensation primarily

attributable to an increase in net capitalized commissions, partially offset by an increase in commissions earned, (ii) a

$4.4 million decrease in employee salaries primarily attributable to a decrease in average staffing levels (including

from the internal transfer of certain employees to product support functions), partially offset by wage increases,

(iii) a $1.0 million decrease in facility and other related support costs, (iv) a $0.8 million net decrease in share-based

compensation expense primarily attributable to the forfeiture of certain awards and the internal transfer of certain

employees to product support functions, partially offset by the grant of additional awards under the Stock Incentive

Plans and the fair value remeasurement of certain liability-classified awards upon exercise or at the end of the

reporting period, (v) a $0.6 million decrease in cloud hosting infrastructure costs, and (vi) a $0.5 million decrease in

recruiting costs, partially offset by (vii) a $2.6 million increase in severance costs due to headcount reductions, (viii) a

$2.5million increase inmarketing costs, and (ix) a $2.4million increase in personnel costs primarily attributable to an

increase in employer payroll taxes related to the exercise or vesting of certain awards under the Stock Incentive Plans.

Research and development expenses. Research and development expenses consist of the personnel costs for our

software engineering personnel and related overhead costs. The following table summarizes research and

development expenses (in thousands) and related percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
September 30, %

Change

Nine Months Ended
September 30, %

Change2024 2023 2024 2023

Research and development expenses $33,301 $29,660 12.3% $92,795 $90,372 2.7%

Research and development expenses increased $3.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024, as

compared to the same period in the prior year, primarily due to (i) a $5.1 million increase in severance costs due to

headcount reductions, and (ii) a $0.3million net increase in share-based compensation expense primarily attributable

to the grant of additional awards under the Stock Incentive Plans, partially offset by the forfeiture of certain awards,

partially offset by (iii) a $0.8 million decrease in employee salaries primarily attributable to a decrease in average

staffing levels, partially offset by wage increases, and (iv) a $0.7 million decrease in variable compensation.

Research and development expenses increased $2.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as

compared to the same period in the prior year, primarily due to (i) a $5.1 million increase in severance costs due to

headcount reductions, (ii) a $1.4 million increase in personnel costs primarily attributable to an increase in employer

payroll taxes related to the exercise or vesting of certain awards under the Stock Incentive Plans and (iii) a $1.3million

net increase in share-based compensation expense primarily attributable to the grant of additional awards under the

Stock Incentive Plans, partially offset by the forfeiture of certain awards, partially offset by (iv) a $3.5million decrease

in employee salaries primarily attributable to a decrease in average staffing levels, partially offset by wage increases,

(v) a $0.8 million decrease in variable compensation, (vi) a $0.6 million decrease in cloud hosting infrastructure costs,

and (vii) a $0.5 million decrease in facility and other related support costs.

General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses consist of personnel and related

overhead costs, and other costs of our executive, finance, human resources, information systems, and administrative

departments, as well as third-party consulting, legal, and other professional fees, and third-party costs associated

with our digital asset holdings. The following table sets forth general and administrative expenses (in thousands) and

related percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
September 30, %

Change

Nine Months Ended
September 30, %

Change2024 2023 2024 2023

General and administrative expenses $33,505 $29,223 14.7% $104,300 $85,959 21.3%
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General and administrative expenses increased $4.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024, as

compared to the same period in the prior year, primarily due to (i) a $2.0 million net increase in share-based

compensation expense primarily attributable to the grant of additional awards under the Stock Incentive Plans,

partially offset by certain awards that became fully vested, (ii) a $1.6 million increase in legal, consulting, and other

advisory costs, (iii) a $1.0 million increase in custodial fees incurred on our bitcoin holdings, and (iv) a $0.6 million

increase in severance costs due to headcount reductions, partially offset by (v) a $0.7 million decrease in employee

salaries primarily attributable to a decrease in average staffing levels, partially offset by wage increases.

General and administrative expenses increased $18.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as

compared to the same period in the prior year, primarily due to (i) a $7.6 million increase in personnel costs primarily

attributable to an increase in employer payroll taxes related to the exercise or vesting of certain awards under the

Stock Incentive Plans, (ii) a $6.1 million net increase in share-based compensation expense primarily attributable to

the grant of additional awards under the Stock Incentive Plans, partially offset by certain awards that became fully

vested and the forfeiture of certain awards, (iii) a $5.5 million increase in legal, consulting, and other advisory costs,

(iv) a $2.5 million increase in custodial fees incurred on our bitcoin holdings, (v) a $0.9 million increase in severance

costs due to headcount reductions, and (vi) a $0.6million increase in costs related to themaintenance and operations

of our corporate aircraft, partially offset by (vii) a $2.3 million decrease in employee salaries primarily attributable to

a decrease in average staffing levels, partially offset by wage increases, (viii) a $1.2 million loss recorded in the prior

year with respect to the Brazilian matters noted in Note 6, Commitments and Contingencies, to the Consolidated

Financial Statements, (ix) a $0.7million decrease in business insurance costs, and (x) a $0.5million decrease in variable

compensation.

Digital asset impairment losses.Digital asset impairment losses are recognized when the carrying value of our digital

assets exceeds their lowest fair value at any time since their acquisition. Impaired digital assets are written down to

fair value at the time of impairment, and such impairment loss cannot be recovered for any subsequent increases in

fair value. Gains (if any) are not recorded until realized upon sale. The following table sets forth digital asset

impairment losses (in thousands) and related percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
September 30, %

Change

Nine Months Ended
September 30, %

Change2024 2023 2024 2023

Digital asset impairment losses $412,084 $33,559 1127.9% $783,807 $76,613 923.1%

We did not sell any of our digital assets during the ninemonths ended September 30, 2024 or 2023.Wemay continue

to incur significant digital asset impairment losses in the future. For example, we have incurred at least $18.9 million

in digital asset impairment losses during the fourth quarter of 2024 on bitcoin we held as of September 30, 2024.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, primarily relates to the contractual interest expense and amortization of issuance costs related

to our long-term debt arrangements. The following table sets forth interest expense, net (in thousands) for the

periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Interest expense, net:

2025 Convertible Notes $ 38 $ 1,980 $ 3,865 $ 5,935

2027 Convertible Notes 1,012 1,008 3,033 3,021

2028 Convertible Notes 320 0 320 0

2030 Convertible Notes 2,224 0 5,013 0

2031 Convertible Notes 1,929 0 4,133 0

2032 Convertible Notes 5,159 0 5,904 0

2028 Secured Notes 7,738 8,072 23,915 24,193

2025 Secured Term Loan 0 0 0 3,812

Other interest (income) expense, net (291) (54) (707) 70

Total interest expense, net $18,129 $11,006 $45,476 $37,031
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Interest expense, net, increased $7.1 million and $8.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30,

2024, respectively, as compared to the same periods in the prior year, primarily as a result of (i) interest incurred

related to the 2032 Convertible Notes (which were issued in June 2024), (ii) interest incurred related to the

2030 Convertible Notes and 2031 Convertible Notes (which were each issued in March 2024), (iii) interest incurred

related to the 2028 Convertible Notes (which were issued in September 2024), partially offset by (iv) the repayment

of the 2025 Secured Term Loan inMarch 2023 (for the comparison of the ninemonths ended September 30, 2024 and

2023), (v) the 2025 Convertible Notes having been converted or redeemed in their entirety by July 15, 2024, and

(vi) the 2028 Secured Notes having been redeemed in their entirety on September 26, 2024.

Interest expense for the fourth quarter of 2024 is expected to increase compared to the same period in 2023 as a

result of the issuances of our 2028 Convertible Notes, 2030 Convertible Notes, 2031 Convertible Notes, and

2032 Convertible Notes, partially offset by the 2028 Secured Notes having been redeemed in their entirety on

September 26, 2024 and the 2025 Convertible Notes having been converted or redeemed in their entirety by July 15,

2024. Refer to Note 5, Long-term Debt, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

(Loss) Gain on Debt Extinguishment

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, the $22.9 million loss on debt extinguishment resulted

from the redemption of the 2028 Secured Notes. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the $44.7 million

gain on debt extinguishment resulted from the repayment of the 2025 Secured Term Loan. Refer toNote 5, Long-term

Debt, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Other (Expense) Income, Net

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, other expense, net, of $5.0 million and $2.6 million,

respectively, were comprised primarily of foreign currency transaction net losses. For the three and nine months

ended September 30, 2023, other income, net, of $2.4million and$0.7million, respectively,were comprisedprimarily

of foreign currency transaction net gains.

Income Taxes

We recorded a benefit from income taxes of $411.8 million on a pretax loss of $907.6 million that resulted in an

effective tax rate of 45.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to a benefit from income

taxes of $403.9 million on a pretax loss of $63.9 million that resulted in an effective tax rate of 632.2% for the nine

months ended September 30, 2023. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, our benefit from income

taxes primarily related to (i) a tax benefit from an increase in our deferred tax asset related to the impairment on our

bitcoin holdings and (ii) a tax benefit related to share-based compensation (including the income tax effects of

exercises of stock options and vesting of share-settled restricted stock units). During the nine months ended

September 30, 2023, our benefit from income taxes primarily related to the release of a portion of the valuation

allowance on our deferred tax asset related to the impairment on our bitcoin holdings, attributable to the increase in

market value of bitcoin as of September 30, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022.

As of September 30, 2024, we had a valuation allowance of $1.4 million primarily related to our deferred tax assets

related to foreign tax credits in certain jurisdictions. The largest deferred tax asset relates to the impairment on our

bitcoin holdings. During 2023, the value of bitcoin increased substantially which allowed us to release the valuation

allowance recorded against the deferred tax asset for impairment on our bitcoin holdings. Changes to the valuation

allowance against the deferred tax asset are largely dependent on the change in themarket value of bitcoin from the

previous reporting date. If the market value of bitcoin declines or we are unable to regain profitability in future

periods, we may be required to increase the valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets, which could result

in a charge that would materially adversely affect net income (loss) in the period in which the charge is incurred. We

routinely consider actions necessary to preserve or utilize tax attributes. We will continue to regularly assess the

realizability of deferred tax assets.

Our effective tax ratemay fluctuate due to changes in our domestic and foreign earnings and losses, material discrete

tax items, or a combination of these factors resulting from transactions or events.

TheU.S. enacted the Inflation ReductionAct of 2022 (‘‘IRA’’) in August 2022. Amongother things, unless an exemption

by statute or regulation applies, a provision of the IRA imposes a 15% corporate alternative minimum tax (‘‘CAMT’’)

on a corporation with respect to an initial tax year and all subsequent tax years, if the average annual adjusted
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financial statement income for any consecutive three-tax-year period preceding the initial tax year exceeds $1 billion.

On September 12, 2024, the Department of Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service issued proposed regulations

with respect to the application of the CAMT. Our adoption of Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-08, Intangibles-

Goodwill and Other-Crypto Assets (Subtopic 350-60): Accounting for and Disclosure of Crypto Assets (‘‘ASU 2023-08’’)

will require us to recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of our retained earnings as of

January 1, 2025 and to recognize unrealized gains or losses from changes in the fair value of digital assets in future

reporting periods as income or losses. Unless the proposed regulations with respect to CAMT are revised to provide

relief, for purposes of calculating the adjusted financial statement income, the cumulative-effect adjustment to the

opening balance of our retained earnings as of January 1, 2025 would be ratably allocated over a 4-year period from

2025 through 2028.When determiningwhether we are subject to CAMT andwhen calculating any related tax liability

for an applicable tax year, the proposed regulations provide that our adjusted financial statement income must

include the ratable portion of the cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of our retained earnings as of

January 1, 2025, in addition to any unrealized gains or losses reported in the applicable tax year. As a result, we could

become subject to CAMT in the tax years beginning in 2026. As the taxes to which we are subject will depend in

significant part on the future price of bitcoin and the size of our bitcoin holdings, we are not able to estimate the

impact of CAMTonour future income tax expense. See ‘‘Risk Factors-Risks Related toOur Business inGeneral-Wemay

have exposure to greater than anticipated tax liabilities, including the potential taxation of unrealized gains on our

bitcoin holdings.’’

Deferred Revenue and Advance Payments

Deferred revenue and advance payments represent amounts received or due from our customers in advance of our

transferring our software or services to the customer. In the case of multi-year service contract arrangements, we

generally do not invoice more than one year in advance of services and do not record deferred revenue for amounts

that have not been invoiced. Revenue is subsequently recognized in the period(s) in which control of the software or

services is transferred to the customer.

The following table summarizes deferred revenue and advance payments (in thousands), as of:

September 30,
2024

December 31,
2023

September 30,
2023

Current:

Deferred product licenses revenue $ 409 $ 3,579 $ 2,814

Deferred subscription services revenue 74,164 65,512 45,737

Deferred product support revenue 106,866 152,012 126,087

Deferred other services revenue 2,963 7,059 4,529

Total current deferred revenue and advance payments $184,402 $228,162 $179,167

Non-current:

Deferred product licenses revenue $ 0 $ 0 $ 9

Deferred subscription services revenue 3,373 3,097 2,845

Deferred product support revenue 2,635 4,984 4,304

Deferred other services revenue 336 443 480

Total non-current deferred revenue and advance payments $ 6,344 $ 8,524 $ 7,638

Total current and non-current:

Deferred product licenses revenue $ 409 $ 3,579 $ 2,823

Deferred subscription services revenue 77,537 68,609 48,582

Deferred product support revenue 109,501 156,996 130,391

Deferred other services revenue 3,299 7,502 5,009

Total current and non-current deferred revenue and advance

payments $190,746 $236,686 $186,805

The portions of multi-year contracts that will be invoiced in the future are not presented on the balance sheet in

‘‘Accounts receivable, net’’ and ‘‘Deferred revenue and advance payments’’ and instead are included in the remaining

performance obligation disclosure below. Total deferred revenue and advance payments decreased $45.9 million as

of September 30, 2024, as compared to December 31, 2023, primarily due to (i) a decrease in deferred product

support revenue due to the timing of product support renewals and an increase in conversions from on-premises to
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subscription services contracts and (ii) decreases in deferred other services revenue and deferred product licenses

revenues, partially offset by (iii) an increase in deferred revenue from subscription services contracts. Total deferred

revenue andadvancepayments increased$3.9million as of September 30, 2024, as compared to September 30, 2023,

primarily due to (i) an increase in deferred revenue from subscription services contracts, partially offset by (ii) a

decrease in deferred product support revenue from an increase in conversions from on-premises to subscription

services contracts.

Our remaining performance obligation represents all future revenue under contract and includes deferred revenue

and advance payments and billable non-cancellable amounts thatwill be invoiced and recognized as revenue in future

periods. The remaining performance obligation excludes contracts that are billed in arrears, such as certain time and

materials contracts. As of September 30, 2024, we had an aggregate transaction price of $380.5 million allocated to

the remaining performance obligation related to subscription services, product support, product licenses, and other

services contracts. We expect to recognize approximately $237.1 million of the remaining performance obligation

over the next 12months and the remainder thereafter. However, the timing and ultimate recognition of our deferred

revenue and advance payments and other remaining performance obligations depend on our satisfaction of various

performance obligations, and the amount of deferred revenue and advance payments and remaining performance

obligations at any date should not be considered indicative of revenues for any succeeding period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity. Our principal sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents and on-going collection of our accounts

receivable. Cash and cash equivalents may include holdings in bank demand deposits, money market instruments,

certificates of deposit, and U.S. Treasury securities. Under our Treasury Reserve Policy and bitcoin acquisition

strategy,weuse a significant portion of our cash, including cash generated fromcapital raising transactions, to acquire

bitcoins, which are classified as indefinite-lived intangible assets. On August 1, 2024, we filed a prospectus for a new

at-the-market equity offering program pursuant to which we may sell class A common stock having an aggregate

offering price of up to $2.0 billion from time to time. As of September 30, 2024, approximately $891.3 million of our

class A common stock remained available for issuance and sale pursuant to the August 2024 Sales Agreement. On

October 30, 2024, we filed a prospectus for a new at-the-market equity offering program pursuant to which we may

sell class A common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $21 billion from time to time. For additional

information, see ‘‘-At-the-Market Equity Offerings’’ below.

As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the amount of cash and cash equivalents held by our U.S. entities

was $15.6 million and $10.5 million, respectively, and by our non-U.S. entities was $30.7 million and $36.3 million,

respectively.Weearn a significant amount of our revenues outside theUnited States.We repatriated foreign earnings

and profits of $6.5 million and $10.0 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023.

Our material contractual obligations and cash requirements consist of:

• principal and interest payments related to our long-term debt, which includes:

� principal due upon maturity of our long-term debt instruments in the aggregate of $4.272 billion;

� $3.2 million in coupon interest due each semi-annual period for the 2028 Convertible Notes;

� $2.5 million in coupon interest due each semi-annual period for the 2030 Convertible Notes;

� $2.6 million in coupon interest due each semi-annual period for the 2031 Convertible Notes;

� $9.0 million in coupon interest due each semi-annual period for the 2032 Convertible Notes; and

� $0.1 million due monthly in principal and interest related to our other long-term secured debt.

• rent payments under noncancellable operating leases;

• payments related to the mandatory deemed repatriation transition tax (the ‘‘Transition Tax’’) under the

U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the ‘‘Tax Act’’);

• payments under various purchase agreements, primarily related to third-party cloud hosting services and

third-party software supporting our products, marketing, and operations; and

• ongoing personnel-related expenditures and vendor payments.
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The above items are explained in further detail in Note 5, Long-term Debt, to the Consolidated Financial Statements

included in this Quarterly Report as well as under ‘‘Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations-Liquidity and Capital Resources’’ included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 and in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included therein.

Other than (i) our issuances of the 2030 Convertible Notes, 2031 Convertible Notes, 2032 Convertible Notes, and

2028 Convertible Notes, (ii) the conversions and redemption of the 2025 Convertible Notes, and (iii) the redemption

of the 2028 Secured Notes, all of which are described more fully below and in Note 5, Long-term Debt, to the

Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report, there have been no changes to our material

contractual obligations and cash requirements since December 31, 2023.

We believe that existing cash and cash equivalents held by us and cash and cash equivalents anticipated to be

generated by us are sufficient to meet working capital requirements, anticipated capital expenditures, and

contractual obligations for at least the next 12months. Beyond the next 12months, our long-term cash requirements

are primarily for obligations related to our long-term debt.We also have long-term cash requirements for obligations

related to our operating leases, the Transition Tax, and our various purchase agreements. As of September 30, 2024,

we do not expect cash and cash equivalents generated by our enterprise analytics software business to be sufficient

to satisfy these obligations. As a result, we would seek to satisfy these obligations through various options that we

expect to be available to us, such as refinancing our debt or generating cash from other sources, which may include

the issuance and sale of shares of our class A common stock, borrowings collateralized by bitcoin, or the sale of our

bitcoin. Furthermore, if the conditional conversion features of the Convertible Notes are triggered, we may elect to

settle the conversions of ConvertibleNotes in shares of our class A common stock, or a combination of cash and shares

of class A common stock, rather than in all cash, which may enable us to reduce the amount of our cash obligations

under the Convertible Notes.

In addition, while the 2028 Convertible Notes, the 2030 Convertible Notes, the 2031 Convertible Notes, and the

2032 Convertible Notes have maturity dates of September 15, 2028, March 15, 2030, March 15, 2031, and June 15,

2032, respectively, the holders of these Convertible Notes each have the right to require us to repurchase for cash all

or any portion of these Convertible Notes on September 15, 2027, in the case of the 2028 Convertible Notes,

September 15, 2028, in the case of the 2030 Convertible Notes and the 2031 Convertible Notes, or June 15, 2029, in

the case of the 2032 Convertible Notes, at a repurchase price in each case equal to 100% of the principal amount of

the applicable Convertible Notes to be repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding the

repurchase date.

As of September 30, 2024,weheld approximately 252,220bitcoins, all ofwhich are unencumbered.Wedonot believe

we will need to sell or engage in other transactions with respect to any of our bitcoins within the next twelve months

to meet our working capital requirements, although we may from time to time sell or engage in other transactions

with respect to our bitcoins as part of treasury management operations, as noted above. The bitcoin market

historically has been characterized by significant volatility in its price, limited liquidity and trading volumes compared

to sovereign currencies markets, relative anonymity, a developing regulatory landscape, susceptibility to market

abuse andmanipulation, compliance and internal control failures at exchanges, and various other risks inherent in its

entirely electronic, virtual form and decentralized network. During times of instability in the bitcoin market, we may

not be able to sell our bitcoins at reasonable prices or at all. As a result, our bitcoins are less liquid than our existing

cash and cash equivalents and may not be able to serve as a source of liquidity for us to the same extent as cash and

cash equivalents. In addition, upon sale of our bitcoin, we may incur additional taxes related to any realized gains or

we may incur capital losses as to which the tax deduction may be limited.

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows (in thousands) and related percentage changes for the

periods indicated:

Nine Months Ended September 30, %
Change2024 2023

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (35,708) $ 11,528 409.8%

Net cash used in investing activities $(4,010,904) $(690,550) 480.8%

Net cash provided by financing activities $ 4,046,067 $ 676,025 498.5%

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities. The primary source of our cash provided by operating activities

is cash collections of our accounts receivable fromcustomers following the sales and renewals of our product licenses,
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subscription services and product support, as well as consulting and education services. Our primary uses of cash in

operating activities are for personnel-related expenditures for software development, personnel-related

expenditures for providing consulting, education, and subscription services, and for sales and marketing costs,

general and administrative costs, interest expense related to our long-term debt arrangements, and income taxes.

Non-cash items to further reconcile net (loss) income to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities consist

primarily of depreciation and amortization, reduction in the carrying amount of operating lease right-of-use assets,

credit losses and sales allowances, deferred taxes, release of liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits, share-based

compensation expense, digital asset impairment losses, amortization of the issuance costs on our long-termdebt, and

gain and losses on extinguishment of debt.

Net cash used in operating activities increased $47.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as

compared to the same period in the prior year, due to a $835.8 million decrease in net income and a $6.5 million

decrease from changes in operating assets and liabilities, which was partially offset by a $795.1 million increase in

non-cash items (principally related to changes in digital asset impairment losses and gains and losses from the

extinguishments of certain debt instruments). In particular, our cash from operations has been negatively impacted

by our continued transition of customers to subscription services offerings, which have resulted in (i) reduced cash

collections due to invoicing over multiple years, (ii) increased commissions to our sales team to incentivize cloud

migrations, and (iii) increased investments in our cloud infrastructure to support increased usage. We have also

incurred additional employer payroll taxes related to the exercise or vesting of certain awards under the Stock

Incentive Plans, legal and consulting fees, marketing costs, and bitcoin custodial fees as we continue to pursue our

dual software and bitcoin strategies. Increases in severance costs from headcount reductions were substantially

offset by decreases in salary expenses as a result of the reduced headcount. Our interest payments in 2024 have

increased compared to the prior year primarily due to the issuances of the 2030 Convertible Notes and

2031 Convertible Notes and the early extinguishment of the 2028 Secured Notes, partially offset by the

extinguishment of the Secured Term Loan in 2023. Our cash from operations was favorably impacted in the current

year by a significant reduction in income tax payments, net of refunds.

Net cash used in investing activities. The changes in net cash used in investing activities primarily relate to purchases

of digital assets and expenditures on property and equipment. Net cash used in investing activities increased

$3.320 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the same period in the prior year,

primarily due to a $3.320 billion increase in purchases of bitcoins. During the ninemonths ended September 30, 2024,

we purchased $4.008 billion of bitcoin using net proceeds from the issuances of our 2030 Convertible Notes,

2031 Convertible Notes, 2032 Convertible Notes, and 2028 Convertible Notes, net proceeds from the sale of class A

common stock under our at-the-market equity offering program, and Excess Cash, while during the nine months

ended September 30, 2023, we purchased $688.0 million of bitcoin using net proceeds from the sale of class A

common stock under our at-the-market equity offering program and Excess Cash.

Net cash provided by financing activities. The changes in cash provided by and used in financing activities primarily

relate to the issuance and subsequent repayment of long-term debt, the sale of class A common stock under our

at-the-market equity offering program, the exercise or vesting of certain awards under the Stock Incentive Plans, and

the sales of class A common stock under the 2021 ESPP. Net cash provided by financing activities increased

$3.370 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the same period in the prior year,

primarily due to (i) a $3.160 billion increase in long-term debt proceeds, net of issuance costs, during the ninemonths

ended September 30, 2024 as compared to the same period in the prior year, (ii) a $422.6 million increase in net

proceeds from our sale of class A common stock under our at-the-market equity offering programs, (iii) the

$160.0 million repayment of the 2025 Secured Term Loan and related third-party extinguishment costs during the

nine months ended September 30, 2023, which was repaid using proceeds from our sale of class A common stock

offered under our at-the-market equity offering program, and (iv) a $143.3 million increase in proceeds from the

exercise of stock options under the Stock Incentive Plans in the ninemonths ended September 30, 2024, as compared

to the sameperiod in the prior year, partially offset by (v) the $515.3million repayment of the 2028 SecuredNotes and

related third-party extinguishment costs during nine months ended September 30, 2024, which was repaid using

proceeds from the issuance of the 2028 Convertible Notes.

Long-term Debt

The terms of each of the long-term debt instruments are discussed more fully in Note 5, Long-term Debt, to the

Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report as well as Note 8, Long-term Debt, to the

Consolidated Financial Statements of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023.
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In December 2020, we issued $650.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes; in

February 2021,we issued $1.050 billion aggregate principal amount of the 2027 ConvertibleNotes; inMarch 2024,we

issued $800.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 2030 Convertible Notes and $603.8 million aggregate

principal amount of the 2031 Convertible Notes; in June 2024, we issued $800.0 million aggregate principal amount

of the 2032 Convertible Notes; and in September 2024 we issued $1.010 billion aggregate principal amount of the

2028 Convertible Notes. We principally used the net proceeds from the issuances of the Convertible Notes to acquire

bitcoin, and we used a portion of the net proceeds from the 2028 Convertible Notes to redeem the 2028 Secured

Notes, as discussed further below. During the ninemonths ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, we paid $7.6million

and $2.4 million, respectively, in interest to holders of the Convertible Notes. During the period from April 1, 2024 to

July 15, 2024, we issued 16,323,050 shares of class A common stock and paid a nominal amount of cash in lieu of

fractional shares in connection with conversions of $649.7 million aggregate principal amount of 2025 Convertible

Notes and on July 15, 2024 redeemed$0.3million aggregate principal amount of 2025 ConvertibleNotes, constituting

all of the 2025 Convertible Notes then outstanding, at an aggregate redemption price of $0.3 million, equal to 100%

of the principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, to but excluding

such date.

In June 2021, we issued $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes. We used the net

proceeds from the issuance of the 2028 Secured Notes to acquire bitcoin. During the nine months ended

September 30, 2024 and 2023, we paid $23.9 million and $15.3 million, respectively, in interest to holders of the

2028 SecuredNotes. On September 26, 2024,we redeemedall of the outstanding 2028 SecuredNotes at an aggregate

redemption price of approximately $523.9 million and all collateral securing the 2028 Secured Notes was released.

In March 2022, MacroStrategy, our wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a Credit and Security Agreement with

Silvergate Bank, pursuant to which Silvergate Bank issued the $205.0 million 2025 Secured Term Loan to

MacroStrategy. We principally used net proceeds from the 2025 Secured Term Loan to acquire bitcoin. OnMarch 24,

2023, MacroStrategy voluntarily prepaid Silvergate approximately $161.0 million (the ‘‘Payoff Amount’’), in full

repayment, satisfaction, and discharge of the 2025 Secured Term Loan, and all collateral securing the 2025 Secured

Term Loan, including the bitcoin thatwas serving as collateral, was released. During the first quarter of 2023,wemade

a final $5.1 million interest payment to Silvergate, $1.1 million of which was included in the Payoff Amount.

In June 2022, we, through one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, entered into a secured term loan agreement in the

amount of $11.1million, bearing interest at an annual rate of 5.2%, andmaturing in June 2027. During each of the nine

months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, we paid $0.8 million in principal and interest to the lender.

Other than as discussed above, during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, we did not repurchase

or prepay any of our outstanding debt. We or our affiliates may, at any time and from time to time, seek to retire or

purchase our outstanding debt through cash purchases and/or exchanges for equity or debt, in open-market

purchases, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. Such repurchases or exchanges, if any, will be upon such

terms and at such prices as we may determine, and will depend on prevailing market conditions, our liquidity

requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors. We may also prepay our outstanding indebtedness. The

amounts involved in any such repurchase or prepayment may be material. We may effect debt repurchases or

prepayments of certain debt using proceeds from the sale of our class A common stock pursuant to the August 2024

Sales Agreement (under which $891.3 million is available for sale as of the date hereof), as described in the Use of

Proceeds section of the related prospectus.

At-the-Market Equity Offerings

From time to time, we have entered into sales agreements with agents pursuant to which we could issue and sell

shares of our class A common stock through at-the-market equity offering programs. See Note 10, At-the-Market

Equity Offerings, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding sales of our class A

common stock pursuant to each of the sales agreements that were active during the nine months ended

September 30, 2024 and the year ended December 31, 2023.

On July 31, 2024, we terminated the November 2023 Sales Agreement. On August 1, 2024, we filed a prospectus for

a new at-the-market equity offering program pursuant to which we may sell class A common stock having an

aggregate offering price of up to $2.0 billion from time to time, through TD Securities (USA) LLC, The Benchmark

Company, LLC, BTIG, LLC, Canaccord Genuity LLC, Maxim Group LLC and SG Americas Securities, LLC, as agents (the

‘‘August 2024 Sales Agents’’) under a sales agreement dated August 1, 2024 (the ‘‘August 2024 Sales Agreement’’).
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On October 30, 2024, we filed a prospectus for a new at-the-market equity offering program pursuant to which we

may sell class A common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $21 billion from time to time, through

TD Securities (USA) LLC, Barclays Capital Inc., The Benchmark Company, LLC, BTIG, LLC, CanaccordGenuity LLC, Cantor

Fitzgerald & Co., Maxim Group LLC, Mizuho Securities USA LLC, and SG Americas Securities, LLC, as agents (the

‘‘October 2024 Sales Agents’’) under a sales agreement dated October 30, 2024 (the ‘‘October 2024 Sales

Agreement’’).

The following table sets forth total shares sold and total net proceeds received (net of sales commissions and

expenses) from shares sold under our at-the-market equity offering programs for the periods indicated (in thousands,

except number of shares).

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Total shares sold pursuant to at-the-market equity offering

programs 8,048,449 4,033,620 10,000,069 28,313,870

Total net proceeds received from shares sold pursuant to

at-the-market equity offering programs $1,105,141 $ 147,218 $ 1,242,293 $ 819,674

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We are providing supplemental non-GAAP financial measures below which management uses internally to help

understand, manage, and evaluate our business performance and to help make operating decisions. We believe that

these non-GAAP financial measures are also useful to investors and analysts in comparing our performance across

reporting periods on a consistent basis. We also believe the use of these non-GAAP financial measures can facilitate

comparison of our operating results to those of our competitors. These supplemental financial measures are not

measurements of financial performance under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States

(‘‘GAAP’’) and, as a result, these supplemental financial measuresmay not be comparable to similarly titledmeasures

of other companies.

Non-GAAP financial measures are subject to material limitations as they are not measurements prepared in

accordance with GAAP, and are not a substitute for such measurements. For example, we expect that share-based

compensation expense, which is excluded from certain of the non-GAAP financialmeasures below,will continue to be

a significant recurring expense over the coming years and is an important part of the compensation provided to

certain employees, officers, and directors. Similarly, we expect that interest expense arising from the amortization of

debt issuance costs on our long-termdebt, which is excluded from certain of the non-GAAP financialmeasures below,

will continue to be a recurring expense over the terms of our long-term debt arrangements. Our non-GAAP financial

measures are not meant to be considered in isolation and should be read only in conjunction with our Consolidated

Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. We rely primarily on such Consolidated

Financial Statements to understand,manage, and evaluate our business performance and use the non-GAAP financial

measures only supplementally.

Non-GAAP loss from operations

Non-GAAP loss fromoperations excludes share-based compensation expense,which is a significant non-cash expense

that we believe is not reflective of our general business performance, and for which the accounting requires

management judgment. Consequently, our accounting for share-based compensation expense could vary

significantly in comparison to other companies. The following is a reconciliation of our non-GAAP loss fromoperations

to loss from operations, its most directly comparable GAAP measure, (in thousands) for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Reconciliation of non-GAAP loss from operations:

Loss from operations $(432,582) $(25,247) $(836,558) $(72,262)

Share-based compensation expense 19,377 16,806 57,789 49,855

Non-GAAP loss from operations $(413,205) $ (8,441) $(778,769) $(22,407)
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Non-GAAP net (loss) income and non-GAAP diluted (loss) earnings per share

Non-GAAP net (loss) income and non-GAAP diluted (loss) earnings per share each exclude the impact of (i) share-

based compensation expense, (ii) interest expense arising from the amortization of debt issuance costs on our

long-term debt, (iii) gains and losses on extinguishment of debt, and (iv) related income taxes. We believe non-GAAP

net (loss) income and non-GAAP diluted (loss) earnings per share offer management and investors insight as they

exclude significant non-cash expenses, gains and losses on debt extinguishment, and their related income tax effects.

The following are reconciliations of our non-GAAP net (loss) income and non-GAAP diluted (loss) earnings per share

to net (loss) incomeanddiluted (loss) earnings per share, respectively, theirmost directly comparableGAAPmeasures

(in thousands, except per share data), for the periods indicated.

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Reconciliation of non-GAAP net (loss) income:

Net (loss) income $(340,174) $(143,441) $(495,851) $339,995

Share-based compensation expense 19,377 16,806 57,789 49,855

Interest expense arising from amortization of debt

issuance costs 3,832 2,199 10,231 6,599

Loss (gain) on debt extinguishment 22,933 0 22,933 (44,686)

Income tax effects(1) (13,764) (3,230) (180,964) 2,538

Non-GAAP net (loss) income $(307,796) $(127,666) $(585,862) $354,301

Reconciliation of non-GAAP diluted (loss) earnings per

share(2):

Diluted (loss) earnings per share $ (1.72) $ (1.01) $ (2.71) $ 2.39

Share-based compensation expense (per diluted share) 0.10 0.12 0.32 0.34

Interest expense arising from amortization of debt

issuance costs (per diluted share)(3) 0.02 0.02 0.06 0.01

Loss (gain) on debt extinguishment (per diluted share) 0.12 0.00 0.13 (0.31)

Income tax effects (per diluted share)(3) (0.08) (0.03) (1.01) 0.03

Non-GAAP diluted (loss) earnings per share $ (1.56) $ (0.90) $ (3.21) $ 2.46

(1) Income tax effects reflect the net tax effects of share-based compensation, which includes tax benefits and expenses on exercises of stock

options and vesting of share-settled restricted stock units, interest expense for amortization of debt issuance costs, and gains and losses on

debt extinguishment.

(2) For reconciliation purposes, the non-GAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share calculations use the same weighted average shares outstanding

as that used in the GAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share calculations for the same period. For example, in periods of GAAP net loss,

otherwise dilutive potential shares of common stock fromour share-based compensation arrangements and Convertible Notes are excluded

from the GAAP diluted loss per share calculation as they would be antidilutive, and therefore are also excluded from the non-GAAP diluted

earnings or loss per share calculation.

(3) For the ninemonths ended September 30, 2023, interest expense from the amortization of issuance costs of the Convertible Notes has been

added back to the numerator in the GAAP diluted earnings per share calculation (as disclosed in Note 9, Basic and Diluted (Loss) Earnings per

Share, to the Consolidated Financial Statements), and therefore the per diluted share effects of the amortization of issuance costs of the

Convertible Notes have been excluded from the ‘‘Interest expense arising from amortization of debt issuance costs (per diluted share)’’ and

‘‘Income tax effects (per diluted share)’’ lines in the above reconciliation for the nine months ended September 30, 2023.
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Non-GAAP Constant Currency Revenues, Cost of Revenues, and Operating Expenses

We present certain of our revenues, cost of revenues, and operating expenses on a non-GAAP constant currency

basis, which excludes certain changes resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. These non-GAAP

constant currency metrics allow our management and investors to compare operating results to the same period in

the prior yearwithout the effects of certain changes in foreign currency exchange rates,which are not reflective of our

general business performance and may vary significantly between periods. The following are reconciliations our

non-GAAP constant currency revenues, cost of revenues, and operating expenses to their most directly comparable

GAAP measures (in thousands) for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
September 30,

GAAP

Foreign
Currency
Exchange
Rate
Impact(1)

Non-GAAP Constant
Currency(2) GAAP

GAAP %
Change

Non-GAAP
Constant Currency

%
Change(3)

2024 2024 2024 2023 2024 2024

Product licenses revenues $11,087 $(163) $11,250 $24,045 -53.9% -53.2%

Subscription services revenues 27,800 109 27,691 20,974 32.5% 32.0%

Product support revenues 61,015 147 60,868 66,860 -8.7% -9.0%

Other services revenues 16,169 76 16,093 17,583 -8.0% -8.5%

Cost of product support revenues 8,572 40 8,532 5,531 55.0% 54.3%

Cost of other services revenues 13,554 125 13,429 12,760 6.2% 5.2%

Sales and marketing expenses 35,414 102 35,312 35,606 -0.5% -0.8%

Research and development

expenses 33,301 194 33,107 29,660 12.3% 11.6%

General and administrative

expenses 33,505 51 33,454 29,223 14.7% 14.5%

GAAP

Foreign
Currency
Exchange
Rate
Impact(1)

Non-GAAP Constant
Currency(2) GAAP

GAAP %
Change

Non-GAAP
Constant Currency

%
Change(3)

2023 2023 2023 2022 2023 2023

Product licenses revenues $24,045 $ 368 $23,677 $22,286 7.9% 6.2%

Subscription services revenues 20,974 410 20,564 16,414 27.8% 25.3%

Product support revenues 66,860 1,530 65,330 66,010 1.3% -1.0%

Other services revenues 17,583 446 17,137 20,650 -14.9% -17.0%

Cost of product support revenues 5,531 73 5,458 5,224 5.9% 4.5%

Cost of other services revenues 12,760 543 12,217 13,360 -4.5% -8.6%

Sales and marketing expenses 35,606 643 34,963 35,409 0.6% -1.3%

Research and development

expenses 29,660 (197) 29,857 30,498 -2.7% -2.1%

General and administrative

expenses 29,223 209 29,014 27,283 7.1% 6.3%
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Nine Months Ended
September 30,

GAAP

Foreign
Currency
Exchange
Rate
Impact(1)

Non-GAAP Constant
Currency(2) GAAP

GAAP %
Change

Non-GAAP
Constant Currency

%
Change(3)

2024 2024 2024 2023 2024 2024

Product licenses revenues $ 33,311 $(265) $ 33,576 $ 56,979 -41.5% -41.1%

Subscription services revenues 74,846 70 74,776 59,662 25.5% 25.3%

Product support revenues 185,440 27 185,413 198,422 -6.5% -6.6%

Other services revenues 49,162 (12) 49,174 56,714 -13.3% -13.3%

Cost of product support revenues 25,312 48 25,264 17,115 47.9% 47.6%

Cost of other services revenues 38,239 326 37,913 40,188 -4.8% -5.7%

Sales and marketing expenses 103,116 (57) 103,173 109,372 -5.7% -5.7%

Research and development

expenses 92,795 (230) 93,025 90,372 2.7% 2.9%

General and administrative

expenses 104,300 128 104,172 85,959 21.3% 21.2%

GAAP

Foreign
Currency
Exchange
Rate
Impact(1)

Non-GAAP Constant
Currency(2) GAAP

GAAP %
Change

Non-GAAP
Constant Currency

%
Change(3)

2023 2023 2023 2022 2023 2023

Product licenses revenues $ 56,979 $ (127) $ 57,106 $ 58,928 -3.3% -3.1%

Subscription services revenues 59,662 (7) 59,669 43,276 37.9% 37.9%

Product support revenues 198,422 377 198,045 199,682 -0.6% -0.8%

Other services revenues 56,714 (202) 56,916 64,824 -12.5% -12.2%

Cost of product support revenues 17,115 (43) 17,158 15,542 10.1% 10.4%

Cost of other services revenues 40,188 165 40,023 42,107 -4.6% -4.9%

Sales and marketing expenses 109,372 26 109,346 105,511 3.7% 3.6%

Research and development

expenses 90,372 (1,284) 91,656 95,811 -5.7% -4.3%

General and administrative

expenses 85,959 13 85,946 82,491 4.2% 4.2%

(1) The ‘‘Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Impact’’ reflects the estimated impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on
international components of our Consolidated Statements of Operations. It shows the increase (decrease) inmaterial international revenues
or expenses, as applicable, from the same period in the prior year, based on comparisons to the prior year quarterly average foreign currency
exchange rates. The term ‘‘international’’ refers to operations outside of the United States and Canada only where the functional currency
is the local currency (i.e., excluding any location whose economy is considered highly inflationary).

(2) The ‘‘Non-GAAP Constant Currency’’ reflects the current period GAAP amount, less the Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Impact.

(3) The ‘‘Non-GAAP Constant Currency % Change’’ reflects the percentage change between the current period Non-GAAP Constant Currency
amount and the GAAP amount for the same period in the prior year.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The following discussion about our market risk exposures involves forward-looking statements. Actual results could

differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements.

We are exposed to the impact of market price changes in bitcoin and foreign currency fluctuations.

Market Price Risk of Bitcoin.We have used a significant portion of our cash, including cash generated from capital

raising transactions, to acquire bitcoin and, as of September 30, 2024, we held approximately 252,220 bitcoins.
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The carrying value of our bitcoins as of September 30, 2024was $6.851 billion, which reflects cumulative impairments

of $3.053 billion, on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. We account for our bitcoin as indefinite-lived intangible assets,

which are subject to impairment losses if the fair value of our bitcoin decreases below their carrying value at any time

since their acquisition. Impairment losses cannot be recovered for any subsequent increase in fair value. For example,

the market price of one bitcoin on the Coinbase exchange (our principal market for bitcoin) ranged from a low of

$38,501.00 to a high of $73,835.57 during the ninemonths ended September 30, 2024, but the carrying value of each

bitcoin we held at the end of the reporting period reflects the lowest price of one bitcoin quoted on the active

exchange at any time since its acquisition. Therefore, negative swings in the market price of bitcoin could have a

material impact on our earnings and on the carrying value of our digital assets. Positive swings in the market price of

bitcoin are not reflected in the carrying value of our digital assets and impact earnings only when the bitcoin is sold at

a gain. For the nine months ended September 30, 2024, we incurred an impairment loss of $783.8 million on our

bitcoin.

Foreign Currency Risk.We conduct a significant portion of our business in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, the

currency in which we report our Consolidated Financial Statements. International revenues accounted for 44.9% and

44.5% of our total revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and 44.0% and

42.7%of our total revenues for theninemonths ended September 30, 2024 and2023, respectively.Weanticipate that

international revenueswill continue to account for a significant portion of our total revenues. The functional currency

of each of our foreign subsidiaries is generally the local currency.

Assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect as of the

applicable Balance Sheet date and any resulting translation adjustments are included as an adjustment to

stockholders’ equity. Revenues and expenses generated from these subsidiaries are translated at average monthly

exchange rates during the quarter in which the transactions occur. Transaction gains and losses arising from

transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity involved are included in the

results of operations.

As a result of transacting in multiple currencies and reporting our Consolidated Financial Statements in U.S. dollars,

our operating results may be adversely impacted by currency exchange rate fluctuations in the future. The impact of

foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on current and comparable periods is described in the ‘‘Non-GAAP

Financial Measures’’ section under ‘‘Part I. Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations.’’

We cannot predict the effect of exchange rate fluctuations upon our future results. We attempt to minimize our

foreign currency risk by converting our excess foreign currency held in foreign jurisdictions toU.S. dollar-denominated

cash and investment accounts.

As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, a 10% adverse change in foreign currency exchange rates versus

the U.S. dollar would have decreased our aggregate reported cash and cash equivalents by 4.5% and 5.4%,

respectively. If average exchange rates during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 had changed unfavorably

by 10%, our revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 would have decreased by 3.9%. During the

nine months ended September 30, 2024, our revenues were not significantly impacted by changes in weighted

average exchange rates, as compared to the same period in the prior year.
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KEEP THIS PORTION FOR YOUR RECORDS

DETACH AND RETURN THIS PORTION ONLYTHIS PROXY CARD IS VALID ONLY WHEN SIGNED AND DATED.
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

ATTN: GENERAL COUNSEL

1850 TOWERS CRESCENT PLAZA

TYSONS CORNER, VA 22182

MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR the following proposals:

Please sign exactly as your name or names appear(s) on this Proxy Card. When shares are held jointly, each holder should sign. When signing as executor, 
administrator, attorney, trustee, or guardian, please give full title as such. If a corporation or partnership, please sign in full corporate or partnership name 
by authorized officer.

1. To approve and adopt an amendment to Article Four of the MicroStrategy Incorprorated Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the 
number of authorized shares of class A common stock, par value $0.001 per share, from 330,000,000 shares to 10,330,000,000 shares ("Proposal 1").

2. To approve and adopt an amendment to Article Four of the MicroStrategy Incorprorated Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the 
number of authorized shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, from 5,000,000 shares to 1,005,000,000 shares ("Proposal 2").

3. To approve and adopt an amendment to the MicroStrategy Incorprorated 2023 Equity Incentive Plan to provide for automatic equity award grants to 
new directors upon their appointment to the Board of Directors ("Proposal 3").

4. To approve one or more proposals to adjourn the Special Meeting if necessary to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of 
the Special Meeting to approve Proposal 1, Proposal 2, and/or Proposal 3 ("Proposal 4").

SCAN TO 
VIEW MATERIALS & VOTE

VOTE BY INTERNET 
Before the Meeting - Go to www.proxyvote.com or scan the QR Barcode above

Use the Internet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of information up 
until 11:59 p.m. Eastern Standard Time on January 20, 2025. Have your Proxy Card in hand when 
you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain your records and to create an electronic 
voting instruction form.

During the Meeting - Go to www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/MSTR2025SM

You may attend the Meeting via the Internet and vote during the Meeting. Have the information that 
is printed in the box marked by the arrow available and follow the instructions.

ELECTRONIC DELIVERY OF FUTURE PROXY MATERIALS
If you would like to reduce the costs incurred by our company in mailing proxy materials, you can 
consent to receiving all future proxy statements, proxy cards, and annual reports electronically via 
e-mail or the Internet. To sign up for electronic delivery, please follow the instructions above to vote 
using the Internet and, when prompted, indicate that you agree to receive or access proxy materials 
electronically in future years.

VOTE BY PHONE - 1-800-690-6903
Use any touch-tone telephone to transmit your voting instructions up until 11:59 p.m. Eastern Standard Time
on January 20, 2025. Have your Proxy Card in hand when you call and then follow the instructions.

VOTE BY MAIL
Please fill in, date, and sign your Proxy Card and return it in the postage-paid envelope we have 
provided by January 20, 2025 or return it to Vote Processing, c/o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way, 
Edgewood, NY 11717.



V60539-S04540

Notice of Availability of Proxy Materials: 
The Notice of Special Meeting & Proxy Statement is available at www.proxyvote.com.

MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

Proxy for the Special Meeting of Stockholders 
to be held on Tuesday, January 21, 2025

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

 The undersigned, revoking all prior proxies, hereby appoint(s) Michael J. Saylor and W. Ming Shao, and each of them, with full 
power of substitution, as proxies to represent and vote, as designated herein, all shares of stock of MicroStrategy Incorporated 
(the "Company") which the undersigned would be entitled to vote if personally present at the Special Meeting of 
Stockholders of the Company to be held exclusively via live webcast at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/MSTR2025SM, 
on Tuesday, January 21, 2025 at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Standard Time, and at any adjournment thereof (the "Meeting").

 In their discretion, the proxies are authorized to vote upon such other matters as may properly come before the Meeting 
or any continuation, postponement or adjournment thereof.

 This proxy, when properly delivered, will be voted in the manner directed herein by the undersigned stockholder(s). 
If no direction is given, this proxy will be voted "FOR" with respect to Proposals 1, 2, 3 and 4 at the Meeting and 
any continuation, postponement or adjournment thereof. This proxy may be revoked by the undersigned at any 
time before its exercise by delivery of written revocation or a subsequently dated Proxy Card to the Secretary of 
the Company or by voting electronically during the Meeting.

Continued and to be signed on reverse side


